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U.S. TRADE POLICY

WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 28, 1981

HouSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS,
SuBCOMMITTEE ON TRADE,
Washington, D.C.

The subcommittee met at 10:55 a.m., pursuant to notice, in room
1100, Longworth House Office Building, Hon. Sam M. Gibbons
(chairman of the subcommittee) presiding.

[Press releases pertaining to the hearing follow:]

{Press release No. 10, Aug. 7, 1981]

CHAIRMAN SaM M. GiBeOoNS (D-FLA.), SuBcoMMITTEE ON TRADE, COMMITTEE ON
Ways AND MEeans, U.S. House OF REPRESENTATIVES, ANNOUNCES OVERSIGHT
Hearings oN U.S. TRaDE PoLicy

Representative Sam M. Gibbons (D-Fla.), Chairman of the Subcommittee on Trade
of the Committee on Ways and Means, U.S. House of Representatives, today an-
nounced that the Subcommittee will hold oversight hearings in late September or in
October on U.S. trade policy, including policy objectives, development, coordination
and administration; administration and adequacy of U.S. trade laws; trade agree-
ments policy, implementation, and enforcement; and specific trade policy issues.

Specific dates, times, location, and format of the hearings will be announced as
soon as possible.

The hearings will be limited to testimony from invited witnesses representing the
Administration and the interested public on the following illustrative list. The
Subcommittee will welcome suggestions or proposals regarding policies or programs
in addition to the topics listed.

1. U.S. trade policy framework, development, coordination, and administration.

Elements and objectives of United States trade policy, and their relationship to
policg goals of major foreign trading partners;

U.S. competitive position overall and for major sectors in the near and long-term;

Role and functions of the U.S. Trade Representative and of other Executive
branch agencies in trade policy development and administration, interagency trade
policy coordination;

Role of non-trade agencies and of the private sector in developing trade policy;

Relationship of trade policy goals to non-trade considerations (e.g., national secu-
rity, foreign policy, inflation, employment, budget).

2. Multilateral and bilateral trade agreement policy, issues, and implementation.

Multilateral Trade Negotiations agreements, in particular the agreements on
government procurement (including NTT agreement with Japan), subsidies/counter-
vailing duties (including U.S. subsidy commitment and countervailing duty policy
toward developing countries), antidumping, customs valuation, product standards,
and civil aircraft; implementation, monitoring and enforcement by Executive
branch agencies (including the Foreign Commercial Service); foreign government
compliance; GATT dispute settlement;

GATT and OECD issues and work programs on remaining trade barriers and
international trading rules (trade in services, international safeguards agreement,
counterfeiting code, rules of origin, international fair labor standards, agriculture,
steel, export financing, etc.);

Bilateral trade objectives and issues (e.g., Japan, European Communities, Canada,
Mexico); relationship of bilateral arrangements to a multilaterial trading system.

(oY)



2

3. Domestic trade policy, including administration and adequacy of U.S. trade
lav:is and industry competitiveness policies; specific international trade policy goals
and issues.

Administration and adequacy of U.S. trade laws, in particular, import relief,
section 337, section 301, antidumping (including steel trigger price mechanism),
countervailing duties, customs, agricultural laws;

Industrial policy and analysis, including trade monitoring; productivity and tech-
nology improvement for domestic and export competitiveness; structural adjustment
measures; developments in major industry sectors (e.g., aircraft, electronics and
telecommunications, steel, automotive, textiles, including renewal of the Multifiber
Arrangement);

Export policy and administration, including legislation on trade disincentives;
export promotion efforts, export financing, and export controls;

Investment policy and issues, including trade distorting incentives and disincen-
tives (e.g., foreign domestic-content and performance requirements);

Developing country policy and issues, including Caribbean Basin policy, General-
ized System of Preferences, North/South issues, and commodity agreements; East/
West trade policy.

Testimony will be received by the Subcommittee from invited public witnesses
following appearances by officials from the Executive branch. Any interested person
or organization may file a written statement for inclusion in the printed record.

Further details will be announced in a future press release.

[Press Release No. 11, Sept. 25, 1981]

Hon. Sam M. GiBeonNs (D-Fra)., CHAIRMAN, SUBCOMMITTEE ON TRADE, CoMMIT-
TEE ON WAyYs AND MEANs, U.S. House oF REPRESENTATIVES, ANNOUNCES DATES
oF OvERsiIGHT HEARINGS oN U.S, PoLicy

The Honorable Sam M. Gibbons (D-Fla.), Chairman of the Subcommittee on
Trade, Committee on Ways and Means, U.S. House of Representatives, today an-
nounced that the first phase of oversight hearings on U.S. trade policy to be held by
the Subcommittee on Trade, as previously announced on August 7 in Press Release
No. 10, is now scheduled to begin on Wednesday, October 28, 1981. The hearing will
be held in the Committee on Ways and Means main hearing room, 1100 Longworth
House Office Building, beginning at 10:00 a.m. on each day.

In order to provide in-depth as well as comprehensive treatment, this first phase
of the hearings will consist of testimony only from the Administration and other
public agencies, focusing on specific subject areas each day.

In the second phase of the hearings, the Subcommittee will receive testimony
from invited private-sector witnesses on dates to be announced later in light of the
full Committee’s schedule. The Subcommittee welcomes requests for invitations,
which should be addressed to John J. Salmon, Chief Counsel, Committee on Ways
and Means, U.S. House of Representatives, Room 1102 Longworth House Office
Building, Washington, D.C. 20515, telephone (202) 225-3627. The request should
include a description of the particular subjects or issues which the testimony would
address. Also, in lieu of a personal appearance, any interested person or organiza-
tion may file a written statement for inclusion in the printed record.

[Press release No. 12, Oct. 23, 1981}

CHaAIRMAN Sam M. Gissons (D., FLA.), SUBCOMMITTEE ON TRADE, COMMITTEE ON
Ways AND MEeaNns, U.S. House oF REPRESENTATIVES, ANNOUNCES DETAILS OF
OvEersiGHT HEARINGS oN U.S. TraDE Poricy

Representative Sam M. Gibbons (D., Fla.), Chairman of the Subcommittee on
Trade of the Committee on Ways and Means, U.S. House of Representatives, today
announced that the first phase of oversight hearings on U.S. trade policy (previously
announced in press releases #10 and #11) will begin on Wednesday, October 28, at
10:30 a.m. and continue on October 29, 30, and November 2 and 3. The hearing will
be held each day in the Committee on Ways and Means main hearing room, 1100
Longworth House Office Building.

This first phase of the hearings will be limited to testimony from Administration
and other public agencies appearing individually and in panels on particular subject
areas as listed below. Panels on the administration of U.S. import laws (antidump-
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ing, countervailing duties, import relief, section 337, section 22) will be scheduled at
a later date.

The dates for the second phase of the hearing in which testimony will be received
from invited private-sector witnesses will be announced as soon as possible in light
of the full committee’s schedule.

SCHEDULE OF WITNESSES

Wednesday, October 28

10:30 a.m. Ambassador William E. Brock, U.S. Trade Representative; accompanied
by: Ambassador David Macdonald, Deputy U.S. Trade Representative; Ambassador
Michael B. Smith, Deputy U.S. Trade Representative.

Thursday, October 29

9:30 a.m. The Honorable John R. Block, Secretary of Agriculture; Myer Rashish,
Under Secretary for Economic Affairs, Department of State; Malcolm R. Lovell,
Under Secretary, Department of Labor.

1:00 p.m. Murray L. Weidenbaum, Chairman, Council of Economic Advisers.

PANEL: TRADE AGENDA FOR THE 1980’8; MULTILATERAL AND BILATERAL WORK
PROGRAMS

Office of the U.S. Trade Representative: Ambassador William E. Brock, U.S.
Trade Representative; Ambassador Michael B. Smith, Deputy U.S. Trade Repre-
sentative.

A f}f)e.partment of the Treasury: Beryl W. Sprinkel, Under Secretary for Monetary
airs.

Department of State: Robert D. Hormats, Assistant Secretary for Economic and
Business Affairs.

Department of Commerce: Raymond J. Waldmann, Assistant Secretary for Inter-
national Economic Policy.

Department of Agriculture: Thomas A. Hammer, Deputy Under Secretary for
International Affairs.

Friday, October 80—9:30 a.m.

PANEL: MTN AGREEMENT IMPLEMENTATION; DISPUTE SETTLEMENT

Office of U.S. Trade Representative: W. Douglas Newkirk, Assistant U.S. Trade
Representative for GATT Affairs.

Department of Commerce: Raymond J. Waldmann, Assistant Secretary for Inter-
national Economic Policy.

Department of Agriculture: Dr. Leo Mayer, Associate Administrator, Foreign
Agricultural Service.

Department of State: William Edgar, Director, Office of International Trade.

PANEL: EXPORT DEVELOPMENT,; FOREIGN COMMERCIAL SERVICE, FOREIGN
AGRICULTURAL SERVICE, AND U.S. EMBASSY ROLES AND OPERATIONS

Department of Commerce: William Morris, Assistant Secretary for Trade Develop-
ment; Erland H. Heginbotham, Director General of the Foreign Commercial Service.
1l%gpa_rtment of Agriculture: Richard A. Smith, Administrator, Foreign Agricultur-
al Service.
Department of State: William Edgar, Director, Office of International Trade.

PANEL: TRADE-RELATED INVESTMENT ISSUES

Office of U.S. Trade Representative: Harvey Bale, Assistant U.S. Trade Repre-
sentative for Investment Policy.

Department of Commerce: Joseph F. Dennin, Deputy Assistant Secretary for
Finance and International Services.

Department of State: Elinor G. Constable, Deputy Assistant Secretary for Interna-
tional Finance and Development.

Department of the Treasury: Frank G. Vukmanic, Director, Office of Internation-
al Investment.

Monday, November 2

10:00 a.m. The Honorable Malcolm Baldrige, Secretary of Commerce; Beryl W.
Sprinkel, Under Secretary for Monetary Affairs, Department of the Treasury.
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PANEL: EXPORT CONTROL POLICY AND ADMINISTRATION

Department of Commerce: Lawrence Brady, Assistant Secretary for Trade Admin-
istration.
1l%(épartment of Agriculture: Richard A. Smith, Administrator, Foreign Agricultur-
al Service
Department of State: Harry Kopp, Deputy Assistant Secretary for Trade and
Commercial Affairs.
Department of Defense: Dr. Stephen Bryen, Deputy Assistant Secretary for Inter-
national Economics, Trade, and Security Policy.

PANEL: EXPORT FINANCE POLICY

al]l)&?a.rtment of the Treasury: Marc E. Leland, Assistant Secretary for Internation-

airs.

ChEgport—Import Bank of the United States: William H Draper III, President and
airman.

Office of the U.S. Trade Representative: William Krist, Acting Assistant U.S.
Trade Representative for Industrial Trade Policy and Energy, accompanied by
Steven Piper, Coordinator, Aerospace Trade Policy.

Department of Commerce: Raymond J. Waldmann, Assistant Secretary for Inter-
national Economic Policy.

Department of State: Elinor G. Constable, Deputy Assistant Secretary for Interna-
tional Finance and Development.

Department of Agriculture: Alan Tracy, Associate Administrator and General
Sales Manager, Foreign Agricultural Service.

Tuesday, November 3, 9:30 a.m.

PANEL: U.S. INDUSTRIAL COMPETITIVENESS

Department of Commerce: Lionel H. Olmer, Under Secretary for International
Trade.

Office of the U.S. Trade Representative: William Krist, Acting Assistant U.S.
Trade Representative for Industrial Trade Policy and Energy; accompanied by
Steven Piper, Coordinator, Aerospace Trade Policy.

De};lartment of Labor: Michael Aho, Director, Office of Foreign Economic Re-
search. .

PANEL: U.S. BALANCES OF TRADE AND PAYMENTS AND THE IMPACT OF U.S.
MONETARY AND FISCAL POLICIES

al]g‘ef?a_rtment of the Treasury: Marc E. Leland, Assistant Secretary for Internation-
airs.
Federal Reserve System: Henry C. Wallich, Governor, Board of Governors.
Council of Economic Advisers: William A. Niskanen, Member.
Office of U.S. Trade Representative: Harvey Bale, Assistant U.S. Trade Repre-
sentative for Investment Policy.
Aflf)e_partment of Commerce: Robert Dederick, Assistant Secretary for Economic
airs.

ghairman GiBBONS. Good morning. The meeting will come to
order.

I always hate to start things with an apology, but I have been
over with another committee as the principal witness on the coal
severance tax bill that I introduced. I thought if I started at 9:30 I
could get away, but they would not turn me loose; so I apologize for
inconveniencing any of you.

As all of you know and as the attention in this room reflects, this
is a major oversight hearing on U.S. international trade policy. We
intend to conduct a complete, thorough, and a not too hurried look
at what our international trade policy is, where we stand, how it is
conducted, and what the plans are for the future.

We hope through this that the members of this subcommittee
can become better informed as to the subjects that I talked about,
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and that also the administration, with the pressure through over-
sight we have, can help pull its own program together.

That is not a specific criticism of this administration. I think all
of us who have been involved in international trade for a long time
realize that America is just developing a policy in this area, a
strong, coordinated policy. And we are fortunate today to have as
our first witness a friend of ours, a distinguished American, one
who has gained quite a reputation for himself as a member of
Congress, as a leader of a political party, and as a man who is
sensitive and has expertise in the area of international trade. He
has with him two fine assistants known to all of us.

Ambassador Brock, I again apologize for keeping you waiting,
and I look forward to hearing from you this morning. You may
proceed as you wish.

Excuse me. Are there other members who would like to make an
opening statement?

Mr. FrRENzZEL. No. We just want to second your thoughts.

Mr. CoNaBLE. We are just thrilled to be open, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Thank you very much.

Ambassador.

STATEMENT OF AMBASSADOR WILLIAM E. BROCK, U.S. TRADE
REPRESENTATIVE, ACCOMPANIED BY AMBASSADOR DAVID
MACDONALD, DEPUTY U.S. TRADE REPRESENTATIVE; AND
AMBASSADOR MICHAEL B. SMITH, DEPUTY U.S. TRADE REP-
RESENTATIVE

Ambassador Brock. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

As you noted, I am accompanied by Ambassador Macdonald and
Ambassador Smith, our two Deputies at USTR.

Perhaps I can lead off the series of oversight hearings by calling
the committee’s attention to three of the most critical issues pres-
ently affecting the position of the United States in the internation-
al trade arena.

They are the restoration of U.S. competitiveness, the trade dis-
tortions caused by export financing practices, and the growing role
of developing countries in international trade.

First, the restoration of U.S. competitiveness. Our concern for
the restoration of our competitive strength overseas is very strong.
During no other period in our history has our trade performance
been more vital to the growth of our economy. Exports doubled as
a percentage of GNP in the last 10 years, so that over 19 percent of
all U.S. goods are shipped to foreign markets today.

Export-related employment has grown several times faster than
{)(itahemployment. More than ever, trade is part of our Nation'’s life

ood.

Even before this period of rapid trade expansion the United
States began to show signs of faltering competitive strength, large-
ly as a result of domestic economic ills. Low rates of savings,
investment, and expenditures on R. & D., and high rates of infla-
tion affected the international competitiveness of American goods
and contributed to a merchandise trade deficit of $24 billion or
more every year since 1977.

Recent trends in productivity and investment have weakened our
ability to compete abroad and have eroded our industrial base at
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home. While the United States has one of the highest levels of
capital per worker and productivity in the world, our advantage in
these areas is rapidly diminishing.

Surveys have indicated that recent expenditures of R. & D. as a
percentage of GNP have declined, while developing countries are
increasing their share of GNP allocated to development.

We cannot continue without losing our competitive technological
lead. Therefore, this administration together with Congress has
taken numerous steps to increase savings and investment while
reducing inflation and the size of the Government.

Our economic ills are now of such long duration that they have
threatened to modify our economic behavior permanently. Thus,
our program will make progress in reversing these ominous
changes, but it will take time.

What we can expect on the trade side is that as progress is made
in the revitalization of our domestic economy, our international
competitiveness will improve, and our economy will adjust more
easily to changing conditions in international markets.

Let me proceed, and I will try to summarize, Mr. Chairman, in
order to expedite the testimony part.

Ch?iirman GiBBoNs. We will put your entire statement in the
record.

Ambassador Brock. Thank you, sir.

Second, the distortions caused by export financing practices of
our competitors. If we are to realize fully the benefits of open trade
and if the trading system is to allocate resources sufficiently on a
global scale, trade flows must reflect natural competitive advan-
tage and not government manipulation of the conditions of trade.

It is a fact that governments still engage in a variety of trade
distorting practices designed to undermine the judgment of the
marketplace. Import restraints are erected to protect the domestic
markets from more competitive goods and services. Targeted indus-
tries are directly supported by governments, enabling them to
assume a strength that they would not otherwise possess.

Export subsidies likewise inhibit the normal competitive forces
in the international marketplace. One of the most difficult and
damaging export subsidy problems facing the United States today
is in the area of government export financing.

As market interest rates have soared, the latitude for subsidiza-
tion through cheap official export credits has grown dramatically.
Some governments have been increasingly tempted to compensate
for noncompetitive exports through heavily subsidized financing
packages. This is particularly true, of course, with respect to the
major big ticket items such as nuclear powerplants and large com-
mercial transportation systems where financial arrangements are
an important competitive factor.

Unfortunately, however, it is in just these products where the
United States is very competitive and has traditionally dominated
the world market. We have been concerned, for example, with the
extent of export credit subsidies permitted under current interna-
tional agreements concerning such goods as aircraft, powerplants,
draglines, oil drilling machinery and so forth.

These and other high cost, capital intensive, high technology
products have developed over decades through investment in
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R. & D. and production technology, careful attention to customer
service and a commitment to quality. Yet, our producers of such
goods now frequently lose sales to foreign competitors, not neces-
sarily because the competition has a better product but because
they are able to draw on their national treasury for subsidized
export financing.

The annual cost of interest rate subsidies paid by the major
OECD countries is estimated to have been at least $5% billion in
1980. It is possible in 1981 that that figure could reach over $10
billion. France alone provided $2.3 billion in subsidies, the United
Killllgdom $1 billion, Japan $566 million, and the United States $315
million.

Clearly, these amounts must be reduced. Accordingly, the admin-
istration has acted forcefully on the international front to reform
the OECD arrangement on export credits. We have just concluded
an agreement with 21 other OECD participants to increase the
Arrangement’s minimum interest rate level at 2% to 2% percentage
points. This should result in a reduction of 20 to 25 percent in
export credit subsidies.

In addition, we have for the first time some limited acceptance of
the principle that minimum interest rates sanctioned by the ar-
rangement should be differentiated by currency. Japan and other
low interest rate countries are now authorized to key their official
export credit rates to their financial market rates down to a floor
of 9% percent. And the participants have agreed to meet in March
to review the entire arrangement with the objective of bringing its
interest rates more into line with market rates prevailing at the
time.

Another noteworthy accomplishment was the recent decision by
major producers of commercial jet aircraft to adhere to a common
set of guidelines concerning the financing of such aircraft. Al-
though the OECD standstill for aircraft financing contains no disci-
pline on interest rates, these recent informal discussions with some
of our major trading partners contemplate that dollar financing
will be at a 12-percent interest rate.

I think these two achievements constitute the most significant
improvement to international rules governing export finance since
the arrangement was signed in 1978. While we are pleased with
the progress of the last few weeks, we are under no illusions that
the job is finished. Export credits must, in the final analysis, be
eliminated.

The administration’s position is that finance must be a neutral
element in international trade competition, and we are following a
plan designed to return it to the appropriate position. We will
press for a continued reform of the OECD arrangement at the
highest political level, and we will explore how other trade options
can be helpful. We will continue to target our resources to those
sectors where financing is critical to securing the sale. We will
consider a number of strategies designed to improve the competi-
tiveness of our financing packages.

One proposal which I believe deserves serious consideration is
the creation of an interest subsidy program which would afford us
the flexibility to match the subsidized financing offers of foreign
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governments, particularly in those sectors where predatory financ-
ing practices will continue despite arrangement reform.

The interest subsidy approach to financing could not only enable
us to neutralize financing as an element in international competi-
tion in the short term, it could increase our negotiating leverage at
future OECD arrangement discussions.

In reviewing propoals that could increase the cost of export
credits, careful consideration, of course, must be given to progress
in the international negotiations and to our domestic and economic
budgetary concerns in order to insure that they are consistent with
the broader economic objectives of the administration, including
avoidance of increased Federal intervention in capital markets.

Another point that needs to be emphasized is that the Govern-
ment subsidization of export financing for manufactured goods not
only threatens U.S. exports, but it can also seriously distort trade
here in our own market. Let me note that the subsidies agreement
clearly states that such assistance should not adversely affect the
trade interests of others. Our companies and our trading partners
should know that we are prepared to act firmly using such availa-
ble remedies as are appropriate to the particular circumstances to
insure that goods are fairly traded in the U.S. market without
being dumped or subsidized i1n an injurious way.

Essential to our efforts on both the international and domestic
fronts is working closely with the Congress so that a lasting solu-
tion to the trade distorting practice of subsidized export credits can
be reached quickly, and U.S. exporters will no longer be unfairly
penalized.

The third component is U.S. trade relations with developing
countries. Free international competition and an open global trad-
ing system is in the economic interest of all countries, not only the
United States. The free flow of goods and services provides an ever-
increasing market for all trading nations. Subsidization, either of
exports or export financing, prevents resources from being effi-
ciently allocated and narrows the range of economic opportunities
for citizens in all countries.

That said, we would be naive to think that some countries are
not delighted to buy exports subsidized by the taxpayers in another
country. This is especially true in the case of credit subsidization
for exports to developing countries for whom high borrowing costs
are a serious drag on development plans.

This is shortsighted, however, as scarce international resources
will end up in second or third best uses, and tomorrow everyone,
including developing countries, will be paying unnecessarily high
prices for today’s subsidized goods.
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Following last week’s summit in Cancun, much attention is being
focused on developing countries’ economies. I would like to elabo-
rate on the contribution trade makes to foreign economic develop-
ment and what role the United States has played in spurring this
process.

Developing countries experienced an impressive expansion of
trade during the last decade. The volume of exports from the oil
importing developing countries grew at an average rate of 6.3
percent in the seventies compared to average annual growth of 5%
percent for industrial nations. However, trade expansion in the
Third World, especially in the manufacturing sector, has been
highly concentrated among less than a dozen countries.

The sharp differences among LDC’s trade performances despite
comparable access to international markets suggests that the poli-
cies and circumstances of the individual LDC’s are the major deter-
minants of trade success.

This hypothesis was demonstrated during a 10-nation trip I took
to Asia this summer. In the space of a month, I met with finance,
trade, and agricultural ministers of these countries and in many
cases with their heads of state.

I was particularly struck by the dynamic growth of the ASEAN
nations which today constitute our fifth largest trading partner.
The total trade between us and the ASEAN nations has nearly
tripled since 1974. Should these unusually high rates of growth
continue, the ASEAN countries could be our No. 1 trading partner
by the end of this century.

I found a number of trade policies common to many of these
nations which merit review. Foremost among these policies was the
progressive elimination of economic rigidities induced by import
substitution and export subsidization policies, greater domestic reli-
ance on the free market, encouragement of foreign direct invest-
ment through forums such as the U.S.-ASEAN Business Council
and, with the exception of Thailand which is now considering
accession, through active participation in the GATT.

Again, the critical ingredient to success appears to be a willing-
ness to maintain open markets. The United States will continue to
encourage the progressive reduction of trade barriers in our major
LDC trading partners, and especially in the more advanced econo-
mies.

The U.S. contribution to LDC trade expansion over the past
decade should be viewed in terms of a consistent commitment to
open markets, a position sometimes not shared by some of our
major industrial trading partners.
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Historically, the United States has provided one of the most open
markets in the world. The average duty collected on dutiable ex-
ports has been 10 percent or lower since 1970. In 1980 the average
duty collected was 5.5 percent. When we complete the implementa-
tion of our MTN tariff reductions, this rate will fall to approxi-
mately 4 percent for industrial products. U.S. quantitative restric-
tions on imports are few, and our customs procedures are highly
transparent and predictable.

In addition to the general openness of our market, for the past 6
years the United States has maintained the generalized system of
preferences, which provides developing countries with preferential
duty-free treatment on many products.

Although the overall volume of trade affected by the U.S. GSP is
quite small, it is generally felt that the program has helped devel-
oping countries diversify their economies and increase export earn-
ings. This development through trade lessens developing country
need for external aid and promotes the fuller integration of devel-
oping countries in the international trading system.

Statutory authority for the U.S. GSP expires in January 1985.
The administration has decided to seek an extension of that au-
thority, but before submitting extension legislation to Congress, we
will take a fresh look at the program’s purpose, its role within
overall U.S. trade policy with the developing countries, its oper-
ation and its impact on different beneficiaries. In this respect, the
administration will work closely with the Congress.

In addition, we plan to conduct public hearings next spring
throughout the United States at which we will solicit comments
from all interested parties on the GSP. We would hope then to be
able to put together a program closely tailored to LDC needs and
U.S. trade goals in the eighties.

The administration will take advantage of this introspective
period to explore with the other 18 GSP donor countries the feasi-
bility of developing an internationally harmonized GSP program.
At present, the operational aspects of the major programs differ
widely, placing an unnecessary burden on LDC exporters.

We will take the initiative—and in fact, I have already begun
informal consultations with the EC and Japan—in seeking a sim-
plification of the international GSP network.

The foreign exchange that developing countries earn through
trade dwarfs the funds available to them through development
assistance. In 1980, for example, the value of exports from the non-
OPEC developing countries to the United States was $63.4 billion.
It was more than twice as great as the total net official develop-
ment assistance received by developing countries from all bilateral
and multilateral sources combined. In so many words, LDC’s are
earning twice the dollars that they are receiving in grant form just
by selling in this market.

In the past 2 years alone the non-OPEC developing countries
have earned more from exports to the United States—$114.5 bil-
lion—than the entire Third World has received from the World
Bank in the 36 years of that institution’s existence.

Trade’s contribution to development can be enhanced substan-
tially by complementary flows of private investment and develop-
ment assistance. Such an integrated and complementary develop-
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ment perspective plays a vital role in the Caribbean Basin initia-
tive.

In the past few months the administration has engaged in inten-
sive analysis and developed numerous options in consultation with
other concerned countries, interested private groups and potential
beneficiaries. I am excited about three aspects of our approach.

First, we are attempting to combine trade, aid, and investment
tools to provide an effective stimulation for growth. Second, we
realize that to be successful we must limit the role of our Govern-
ment and engage the vitality and energy of the private sector.
Third, this is the first attempt of which I am aware where we are
working with other donor countries, including some at different
levels of economic development, to assist a particular region.

We are ready to make a major effort, and I will soon be bringing
specific proposals to the Congress for consideration by this subcom-
mittee.

My comments thus far have focused on what contribution trade
has made to the development of the Third World. This process has
been encouraged every step of the way by the United States. We
have done so not only because this country has traditionally taken
a great interest in helping those in need to reach their develop-
ment goals, we have also done so because economic growth abroad
translates into economic strength at home.

Developing countries provide the fastest growing markets for
U.S. exports. For the period 1973 to 1980 real GNP grew at an
average rate of 5 percent in oil importing developing countries
compared to an average annual growth rate of just 2 percent in
industrial countries.

The products that these dynamic economies are absorbing-—capi-
tal goods and heavy machinery, as well as agricultural products—
are precisely those items in which the United States is extremely
competitive in the international market.

During the seventies o0il importing developing countries absorbed
about one-quarter of all U.S. exports of manufactures, and this
share is increasing. At the same time, these countries buy approxi-
mately one-third of all our agricultural shipments. It is very
simple: The more we encourage their development, the more they
will encourage ours.

One other point should be raised concerning the importance of
developing country economies to the economic health of the United
States. The oil shocks of the past several years have very severely
affected the foreign payments accounts of oil importing LDC’s. The
aggregate annual current account deficit for these countries rose
from $37 billion in 1978 to $82 billion in 1980 and may reach $97
billion this year.

Outstanding medium and long-term debt of LDC’s has risen sub-
stantially and surpassed $425 billion in 1980, of which oil importing
LDC’s accounted for $300 billion. A great deal of this debt is held
by U.S. banks.

The openness of industrial markets to LDC exports is not just
essential to LDC prospects for growth, but also to their ability to
meet their international financial obligations and to finance future
borrowing for development. If substantial financial resources are
going to continue to flow to LDC borrowers, then trade policy
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should help keep risks in an acceptable range by maintaining open
markets for LDC exports. LDC’s require substantial and continued
export earnings to meet that obligation.

Furthermore, private creditors in the future will be unlikely to
expand their lending to countries with poor export performances.
The administration’s trade policy, which promotes open markets
both in the United States and abroad, must be characterized as one
of the soundest guarantees for outstanding LDC loans and for the
?mooth operation of the international financial system in the
uture.

It is in the economic interest of the United States to encourage
further developing country participation in the international trad-
ing system. We cannot afford to have those markets which are so
important to the vitality of the U.S. economy operating outside the
accepted rules of international trade and outside the GATT.

In this regard, the United States took the lead during the MTN
and encouraged developing country participation in bilateral tariff
agreements, as well as in the multilateral nontariff measures
codes. Our efforts will continue.

The 1982 GATT ministerial provides an excellent opportunity to
strengthen this process. We intend to work closely with developing
countries in preparing for the ministerial, and we hope the post-
ministerial work plan will lay the groundwork for more active,
responsible participation by developing countries in the GATT
during the next decade.

Mr. Chairman, U.S. trade policy faces great challenges in the
next couple of years, but I think these are opportunities to broaden
and increase the export potential of the United States. We cannot
do this alone. I do intend to work closely with each of you in the
months ahead, and I appreciate the spirit of cooperation which I
have shared with this committee.

Thank you.

[The prepared statement follows:]

SratEMENT oF HoN. WiLLiaM E. Brock, U.S. TRADE REPRESENTATIVE

Mr. Chairman, I would like to lead off this series of Oversight Hearings by calling
the Committee’s attention to three of the most critical issues presently affecting the
position of the United States in the international trading arena. They are: the
restoration of U.S. competitiveness; the trade distortions caused by export financing
practices; and the growing role of developing countries in international trade.

THE RESTORATION OF U.S. COMPETITIVENESS

Our concern for the restoration of U.S. competitiveness overseas is very strong.
During no other period in our nation’s history has our trade performance been more
vital to the growth in our economy. Exports doubled as a percentage of GNP in the
last ten years so that today over 19 percent of all U.S. goods are shipped to foreign
markets. Export-related employment has grown several times faster than total
employment in recent years and more than 5 million American workers are now
ii'cfa‘pgmnt on the export of goods. More than ever, trade is part of our nation’s
ifel .

Even before this period of rapid trade expansion, the U.S. began to show signs of
faltering competitive strength, largely as a result of domestic economic ills. Low
rates of savings, investment and expenditures on R&D and high rates of inflation
affected the international competitivess of American goods and contributed to a
merchandise trade deficit of $24 billion or more every year since 1977.

Recent trends in U.S. productivity and investment have weakened our ability to
compete abroad and eroded our industrial base at home. While the United States
has one of the highest levels of capital per worker and productivity in the world,
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our advantage in these areas is rapidly diminishing. A recent survey of 19 industrial
countries indicated that the United States now ranks 17th in the rate of productiv-
ity growth and 19th in the rate of investment. Other surveys have indicated that
U.S. expenditures on research and development as a share of GNP have declined,
while other developed countries are increasing their share of GNP allocated to
research and development. The United States is losing its technological lead, and
this is bound to have serious consequences for the international competitiveness of
U.S. products.

Therefore, this Administration together with the Congress has taken numerous
steps to increase savings and investment while reducing inflation and the size of
government. Our economic ills are now of such long duration that they have
threatened to modify our economic behavior permanently. Our program will make
progress in reversing these ominous changes but it will take time. What we can
expect on the trade side is that, as progress is made in the revitalization of our
domestic economy, our international competitiveness will improve and our economy
will adjust more easily to changing conditions in international markets.

The outlook for improved economic strength gives us all the more reason to take
the lead in preserving the open international system of trade which offers U.S.
exporters the greatest opportunity to benefit from improved competitiveness. Like-
wise, it will provide other nations, particularly developing countries, with the best
environment for achieving their aspirations for high incomes and more efficient use
of their resources.

The economic difficulties of the last few years have not been limited to the United
States. Internal pressures to reduce access for imports have grown in both developed
and developing countries as economic performance deteriorated. We therefore have
taken the opportunity, on every available occasion, to encourage our trading part-
ners to support an open international trading system. At major international eco-
nomic meetings at the GATT and OECD in June of this year, we strongly supported
international cooperation to avoid any progressive erosion of the open, multilateral
trading system and to fully and effectively implement the Tokyo Round agreements.

Furthermore, steps have been taken to gegin to deal with a series of new,
unresolved trade problems which pose major constraints to trade expansion in the
1980s. The Consultative Group of Eighteen, the GATT’s high-level steering group
agreed to recommend the convening of a full scale GATT Ministerial meeting in
November 1982 to examine the major trade issues of the 1980s. I will cover in
greater detail tomorrow this GATT initiative, which was given early support during
the Ottawa Summit. The OECD also has been charged by its members to report on
the major trade issues of the 1980s. This issues agenda being developed at the OECD
secretariat and the work to be done at the GATT will be important milestones in
our efforts to bring such important areas as barriers to trade in services, trade-
related investment practices, and LDC trade under international review and agree-
ment during the 1980’s.

THE DISTORTIONS CAUSED BY EXPORT-FINANCING PRACTICES OF OUR COMPETITORS

If we are to realize fully the benefits of open trade, and if the trading system is to
allocate resources efficiently on a global scale, trade flows must reflect natural
competitive advantage and not government manipulation of the conditions of trade.
It is a fact that governments still engage in a variety of trade-distorting practices,
designed to undermine the judgement of the marketplace. Import restraints are
erected to protect domestic markets from more competitive goods and services.
Targetted industries are directly supported by governments enabling them to
assume a strength they would not otherwise possess. Export subsidies likewise
inhibit the normal competitive forces in the international marketplace.

One of the most difficult and damaging export subsidy problems facing the United
States today is in the area of official export financing. As market interest rates have
soared, the latitude for subsidization through cheap official export credit has grown
dramatically. Some governments have been increasingly tempted to compensate for
noncompetitive exports through heavily subsidized financing packages. This is par-
ticularly true, of course, with respect to big ticket items such as nuclear power
plants and large commercial transportation systems where financial arrangements
are an important competitive factor. Unfortunately, however, it is in just these
products where the United States is very competitive and has traditionally dominat-
ed the world market.

We have been concerned, for example, with the extent of export credit subsidies
permitted under current international agreements concerning such goods as air-
craft, power plants, draglines, oil drilling machinery, etc. These and other high cost,
capital intensive, high technology products have been developed over decades
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through investment in R&D and production technology, careful attention to custom-
er service, and a commitment to quality. Yet, our producers of such goods now
frequently lose sales to foreign competitors, not necessarily because the competition
has a better product, but because they are able to draw on their national treasury
for subsidized export financing. The annual cost of interest rate subsidies paid by
the major OECD countries is estimated to have been at least $5.5 billion in 1980.
France alone provided $2.3 billion of such subsidies, the U.K. $1 billion, Japan $566
million, and the United States $315 million. Clearly, these amounts must be
reduced.

Accordingly, the Administration has acted forcefully on the international front to
reform the OECD Arrangement on Export Credits. We have just concluded an
agreement with 21 other OECD participants to increase the Arrangement’s mini-
mum interest rate levels by 2.25-2.50 percentage points. This should result in a
reduction of 20-25 percent in export credit subsidies. In addition, we have for the
first time won some limited acceptance of the principle that minimum interest rates
sanctioned by the Arrangement should be differentiated by currency; Japan and
other low interest rate countries now are authorized to key their official export
credit rates to their financial market rates, down to a floor of 9.25 percent. And the
participants have agreed to meet again next March to review the entire Arrange-
ment with the objective of bringing its interest rates even more into line with
market rates prevailing at the time.

Another noteworthy accomplishment was the recent decision by major producers
of commercial jet aircraft to adhere to a common set of guidelines concerning the
financing of such aircraft. Although the OECD “Standstill” for aircraft financing
contains no discipline on interest rates, these recent informal discussions with some
of our major trading partners contemplate that dollar financing will be at a 12
percent interest rate.

These two achievements constitute the most significant improvements in interna-
tional rules governing export finance since the Arrangement was first signed in
1978. While we are pleased with the progress of the last few weeks, we are under no
illusions that the job is finished. Export credit subsidies must be eliminated.

The Administration’s position is that finance must be a neutral element in
international trade competition, and we are following a plan designed to return it to
this appropriate position. Our plan consists of a multifaceted negotiating strategy
aimed fundamentally at reducing export credit subsidization. As part of this strat-
egy we will press for continued reform of the OECD Arrangement at the highest
political level and we will explore how other trade options can be helpful. We will
continue' to target our resources to those sectors where financing is critical to
securing the sale, and to consider a number of strategies designed to improve the
competitiveness of our financing packages.

One proposal, among others, that I believe deserves consideration is an interest
subsidy program which would afford us the flexibility to match the subsidized
financing offers of foreign governments, particularly in those sectors where predato-
ry financing practices will continue despite Arrangement reform. The interest subsi-
dy approach to financing could not only enable us to neutralize financing as an
element in international competition in the short-term, it could increase our negoti-
ating leverage at future OECD Arrangements discussions.

In reviewing proposals that could increase the cost of export credits, careful
consideration, of course, must be given to progress in the international negotiations
and to our domestic economic and budgetary concerns in order to ensure that they
are consistent with the broader economic objectives of the Administration, including
avoidance of increased federal intervention in capital markets.

Another point that needs to be emphasized is that government subsidization of
export financing for manufactured goods not only threatens U.S. exports, but it can
also seriously distort trade here in our own market. Let me note that the Subsidies
Agreement clearly states that such assistance should not adversely affect the trade
interests of others. Our companies and our trading partners should know that we
are prepared to act firmly, using such available remedies as are appropriate to the
particular circumstances, to ensure that goods are fairly traded in the U.S. market
without being dumped or subsidized in an injurious way.

Essential to our efforts on both the international and domestic fronts is working
closely with the Congress so that a lasting solution to the trade distorting practice
of subsidized export credits can be reached quickly and U.S. exporters will no longer
be unfairly penalized.
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U.S. TRADE RELATIONS WITH DEVELOPING COUNTRIES

Free international competition in an open, global trading system is in the econom-
ic interest of all countries, not only the United States. The free flow of goods and
services provides an ever increasing market for all trading nations. Subsidization,
either of exports or export financing, prevents resources from being efficiently
allocated and narrows the range of economic opportunities for citizens in all coun-
tries. That said, we would be naive to think that some countries are not delighted to
buy exports subsidized by the taxpayers in another country. This is especially true
in the case of credit subsidization for exports to developing countries, for whom high
borrowing costs are a serious drag on development plans. This is short sighted,
however, as scarce international resources will end up in second- or third-best uses
and tomorrow everyone, including developing countries, will be paying unnecessar-
ily high prices for today’s subsidized goods.

Following last week’s Summit in Cancun much attention is being focused on
developing countries’ economies. I would like to elaborate on the contribution trade
makes to foreign economic development and what role the United States has played
in spurring this process.

Developing countries experienced an impressive expansion in trade during the
last decade. The volume of exports from the oil importing developing countries grew
at an average annual rate of 6.3 percent in the 1970’s compared to average annual
growth of 5.5 percent for industrial countries. However, trade expansion in the
Third World, especially in the manufacturing sector, has been highly concentrated
among less than a dozen countries.

The sharp differences among LDC’s trade performance despite comparable access
to international markets suggests that the policies and circumstances of the individ-
ual LDCs are the major determinants of trade success. This hypothesis was con-
firmed during a ten nation trip I took to Asia this summer. In the space of a month
I met with the Finance, Trade and Agriculture Ministers of these countries and in
many cases with their Heads of States. I was particularly struck by the dynamic
growth of the ASEAN nations which today constitute our fifth largest trading
partner. Total trade between the United States and the ASEAN countries has
nearly tripled since 1974. Should these unusually high rates of growth continue, the
ASEAN countries could be our number one trading partner by the end of this
century.

I found a number of trade policies common to many of these ASEAN countries
which merit review. Foremost among these policies was the progressive elimination
of economic rigidities induced by import substitution and export subsidization poli-
cies, greater domestic reliance on the free market, encouragement of foreign direct
investment through forums such as the U.S.-ASEAN Business Council and, with the
exception of Thailand which is considering accession, through active participation in
the EATT. Again, the critical ingredient to success appears to be a willingness to
maintain open markets. The United States will continue to encourage the progres-
sive reduction of trade barriers in our major LDC trading partners, and especially
in the more advanced economies.

The U.S. contribution to LDC trade expansion over the past decade should be
viewed in terms of a consistent commitment to open markets—a position sometimes

. not shared by some of our major industrial trading partners. Historically, the
United States has provided one of the most open markets in the world. The average
duty collected on dutiable imports has been 10 percent or lower since 1970. In 1980
the average duty collected was 5.5 percent. When we complete the implementation
of our MTN tariff reductions, this rate will fall to approximately 4 percent for
industrial products. U.S. quantitative restrictions on imports are few, and our
customs procedures are highly transparent and predictable.

In addition to the general openness of our market, for the past six years the
United States has maintained the Generalized System of Preferences, which pro-
vides developing countries with preferential duty-free treatment on many products.
Although the overall volume of trade affected by the U.S. GSP is quite small, it is
generally felt that the program has helped developing countries deversify their
economies and increase export earnings. This development through trade lessens
developing country need for external aid and promotes the fuller integration of
developing countries in the international trading system.

Statutory authority for the U.S. GSP expires in January 1985. The Administra-
tion has decided to seek an extension of that authority, but before submitting
extension legislation to Congress we will take a fresh look at the program’s purpose,
its rule within overall U.S. trade policy with the developing countries, its operation,
and its impact on different beneficiaries. In this connection, the Administration will
work closely with the Congress. In addition, we plan to conduct public hearings next
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spring throughout the United States in which we will solicit comments from all
interested parties on the GSP. We would hope to be able then to put together a
program closely tailored to LDC needs and U.S. trade goals in the 1980s.

The Administration will take advantage of this introspective period to explore
with the other 18 GSP donor countries the feasibility of developing an international-
ly harmonized GSP program. At present the operational aspects of the major
programs differ widely, placing an unnecessary burden on LDC exporters. We will
take the initiative—and in fact have already begun informal consultations with the
EC and Japan—in seeking a simplification of the international GSP network.

The foreign exchange that developing countries earn through trade dwarfs the
funds available to them throt_lgh development assistance. In 1980, for example, the
value of exports from the non-OPEC developing countries to the United States ($63.4
billion) was more than twice as great as total net official development assistance
received b{; developing countries from all bilateral and multilateral sources com-
bined. In the past two years alone, the non-OPEC developing countries have earned
more from exports to the United States ($114.5 billion) than the entire Third World
has received from the World Bank in the 36 years of that institution’s existence.

Trade’s contribution to development can be enhanced substantially by comple-
mentary flows of private investment and development assistance. Such an integrat-
ed and complementary development assistance. Such an integrated and complemen-
tary development perspective plays a vital role in the Caribbean Basin Initiative. As
you know, I have been charged with designing and coordinating a pilot development
plan tailored to the specific needs of the Caribbean.

During the J)ast few months the Administration has engaged in intensive analysis
and developed numerous options in consultation with other concerned countries,
interested private groups and potential beneficiaries. I am excited about three
aspects of our approach. First, we are tl;ying to combine trade, aid, and investment
tools to provide an effective stimulant for growth. Secondly, we realize that to be
succcessful we must limit the role of our Government and engage the vitality and
energy of the private sector. Thirdly, this is the first endeavor, of which I am aware,
where we are working with other donor countries, including some at different levels
of economic development, to assist a particular region. We are ready to make a
major effort, and Fwill soon be bringing specific proposals to the Congress for
consideration by this Subcommittee.

M{ comments thus far have focused on what contribution trade has made to
development in the Third World. This process has been encouraged every step of the
way by the United States. We have done so not only because this country tradition-
ally has taken a great interest in helping those in need to reach their development
goals. We have also done so because economic growth abroad translates into eco-
nomic strength at home. Developing countries provide the fastest growing markets
for U.S. exports. For the period 1973-1980 real gNP grew at an average annual rate
of 5 percent in oil-importing developing countries compared to an average annual
growth rate of just 2 percent in industrial countries. The products that these
dynamic economies are absorbing—capital goods and heavy machinery as well as
agricultural products—are just those items in which the United States is extremely
competitive in the international market. During the 1970’s oil-importing developing
countries absorbed about one-quarter of all U.S. exports of manufactures and this
share is increasing. At the same time, these countries buy approximately one-third.
of all our agricultural shipments. It's very simple. The more we encourage their
development, the more they will encourage ours.

One other point should be raised concerning the importance of developing country
economies to the economic health of the United States. The oil shocks of the -past
several years have very severely affected the foreign payments accounts of oil-
importing LDCs. The aggregate annual current account deficit for these countries
rose from $37 billion in 1978 to $82 billion in 1980 and may reach $97 billion this
year. Outstanding medium and long-term debt of LDCs has risen substantially and
surpassed $425 billion in 1980, of which ocil-importing LDCs accounted for $300
billion. A great deal of this debt is held by U.S. banks.

The openness of industrial markets to LDC exports is not just essential to LDC
prospects for growth but also to their ability to meet their international financial
obligations and to finance future borrowings. If substantial financial resources are
going to continue to flow to LDC borrowers, then trade policy open markets for LDC
exi)orta. LDCs require substantial and continued export earnings to meet debt
obligations. Furthermore, private creditors in the future will be unlikely to expand
their lending to countries with poor export performances. The Administration’s
trade policy which promotes open markets both in the United States and abroad
must be characterized as one of the soundest guarantees for outstanding LDC loans
for the smooth operation of the international financial system in the future.
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It most certainly is in the economic interest of the United States to encourage
further developing country participation in the internaitonal trading system. We
cannot afford to have those markets which are so important to the vitality of the
U.S. economy operating outside the accepted rules of international trade. In this
regard, the United States took the lead during the MTN in encouraging developing
country participation in bilateral tariff agreements as well as in the multilateral
non-tariff measures codes. Our efforts will continue. The 1982 GATT Ministerial
provides an excellent opportunity to strengthen this process. We intend to work
closely with developing countries in preparing for the Ministerial and we hope that
the post-Ministerial work plan will lay the groundwork for more active, responsible
participation by developing countries in the GATT during the next decade.

U.S. trade policy faces great challenges in the next couple of years. But I consider
these challenges as opportunities to broaden and increase the export potential of the
U.S. economy. The Administration cannot do this alone, however, I intend to work
closely with each of you in the months ahead in order to ensure that this goal is
met.

Chairman GiBeoNs. Thank you, Mr. Ambassador.

I personally want to express my appreciation for the fine cooper-
ation we have had with you and your staff. I have no criticism at
all on that.

Ambassador Brock. Thank you.

Chairman GiBBons. I look forward to continuing to work with
you on that kind of basis.

You know, this committee looks upon your office as being the
principal voice of our government as far as trade policy is con-
cerned. We realize that the execution of trade policy is somewhat
fragmented in our country. We are exploring constantly ways to
improve that, so my questions are going to be about that and about
your statement also.

First, could you refresh my recollection and that of the commit-
tee’s as to where we stand on our balance of trade, all trade. Where
did we? stand last year? What are your predictions for trade in the
future?

Ambassador Brock. The merchandise trade deficit, as I men-
tioned in my statements, is substantial and maintains a substantial
negative position. The current account was fairly well balanced
until recently. The problem we face in the next several months is
that the strength of the dollar has become a major factor in the
trade balance we face.

We have the prospect of far less competitive U.S. prices overseas
and far more competitive prices for imports. We have seen in the
last few months, particularly in areas like steel, a very sizable
surge of imports because of the relative devaluation of other cur-
rencies vis-a-vis the U.S. dollar.

If you would like, Mr. Chairman, I can submit for the record a
response in precise terms to your question, a table which shows the
U.S. merchandise trade balances monthly and quarterly running
through each month of this year and the merchandise trade by
product area.

Chairman GiBBoNs. I am interested not only in merchandise
trade but in all trade, trade in services. As I recall, last year we
were about in balance as far as total trade was concerned, mer-
chandise, services, and everything else.

Is it your prediction that this year in merchandise and services
we're going to be in deficit?

Ambassador Brock. Yes, sir.
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Chairman GiBBoNSs. By how much do you think we will be in
deficit?

Ambassador Brock. If I can just summarize the numbers for you:
January through June of this year the deficit in merchandise trade
was $11% billion.

Chairman GiBBoNs. January through June, merchandise only
$11% billion?

Ambassador Brock. The services-trade balance was $20 billion
plus. Military trade was a negative $1.1 billion. Unilateral trans-
fers was $3 billion negative. So the current account in the first 6
months of the year was positive, $4 billion.

I am concerned that it is going to be very difficult to sustain that
positive number. We have been in deficit. In 1980, we were in
deficit in merchandise by $25 billion. That was completely offset by
services, fortunately, so that we ended up with a current account
balance of $3.7 billion. We improved on that in the first 6 months.

What we are seeing now, though, Congressman Gibbons, is a
slowing, or more accurately, a stablizing, of our export perform-
ance. It seems to be on a plateau, while we have had a significant
increase in imports. As a consequence, I am fearful that the cur-
rent account will be in deficit, if not by the end of the calendar
year, it certainly will be for the fiscal year, unless the dollar
changes in relationship to other currencies.

Chairman GiBBoNSs. And you attribute that primarily to the
strength of the dollar and the fact that it makes imports much
more attractive in this country.

Ambassador Brock. I would have to add one other factor. The
major factor has been the strength of the dollar, and frankly, that
is not something we can complain about, because that is precisely
what we have been seeking to do—to demonstrate a strong U.S.
economy and the willingness to deal with inflation.

But when you couple as much as a 35 to 40 percent relative shift
in the value of the dollar vis-a-vis the currencies of most of our
major trading partners in Europe with the fact that the European
economy has been very, very troubled of late, it just is not a very
good market for us. And we go in with higher-priced U.S. goods
because the dollar is strong at the very time when there is not a
great demand for any product in Europe. And where we are still
maintaining pretty good trade is frankly in the developing nations.
Even there the value of the dollar is making it more difficult for us
to be competitive.

Chairman GisBoNs. Mr. Ambassador, I want to go over with you
a little bit how trade policy is made in the United States. And I
realize that this administration is still young, and it has had other
problems that it probably considered more urgent to deal with.

But we have a number of agencies set up. The Congress has
delegated most of its trade functions to the executive. You are the
principal officer of the executive to receive the delegated authority
there. And then the executive has set up a number of agencies to
coordinate and implement that policy.

I am just trying to get an overview of how active these agencies
actually are. The first thing we have is your agency. Can you tell
me how many people you have in your agency, and what the
budget is, and whether it is moving up or down?



19

Ambassador Brock. You are in a painful area, Mr. Chairman.
[Laughter.]

We have 113 permanent positions in this massive bureaurcracy
of the Trade Office, and our budget will be approximately $10
million. We have been subject, as have been all agencies, to a
substantial reduction in that number, which is most uncomfortable
because we do not have anything in our budget other than people
and travel money. We have no major programs that we administer
that could be reduced or terminated.

But an approximately $10 million budget and 1138 people is the
answer.

Chairman GiBBONs. I was going to ask you if you think that is
adequate, but that would be an embarrassing question.

Ambassador BrRock. Yes, it would.

Mr. FrRENzEL. Would the Chairman yield?

Chairman GisBoNS. Certainly.

Mr. FRENZEL. When we worked with the previous administration
to make the reorganization, we contemplated at the time that
USTR would require 130 people; so there has been a substantial
reduction.

Ambassador Brock. We had hoped for some expansion, primarily
because the Congress did substantially increase the duties of the
U.S. Trade Representative’s Office in the reorganization of 2 years
ago.

In the services area we have now a great deal of work ahead of
us. The world traumatization program we are involved in and also
the GATT ministerial will be very demanding of our time in the
next year. But we have to live with the constraints every agency
does, and we simply have to get this budget under control. Every
office has to carry a share, so we have to cut back from $10 to $9
million, and we will have to make do with what we have.

Chairman GiBBoNs. How often does the Trade Policy Committee
meet, or has it ever met?

Ambassador BRock. It met once in the year preceding my arriv-
al. It has met probably every 3 weeks this year since I have been in
office. It has been a good, solid, active committee and very, very
helpful in the process of trade policy formulation.

Chairman GiseoNs. Did the Secretaries actually attend or do
they send their deputies?

Ambassador BRock. Most of the time we have Cabinet officers in
attendance. I can think of no occasion in which there were less
than half the Cabinet members present. There has been very good,
solid participation which makes it possible for it to work. Other-
wise, the Trade Policy Review Group at the Assistant Secretary
level would be used as the decisionmaking forum.

Chairman GiBeoNs. You are not actually negotiating under the
MTN or anything like that. Is it necessary for the Trade Negotiat-
ing Committee to meet now, or is that relatively inactive?

Ambassador Brock. It is relatively inactive at the moment, since
USTR is not involved in a major negotiation.

Chairman GiBeoNs. How about the Trade Policy Review Group;
that is, Mr. Macdonald’s group?

Ambassador Brock. That has been an active group. David Mac-
donald will comment on that.



20 -

Chairman GieBoNs: How many times have you met?

Mr. MacpoNALD. Mr. Chairman, it has sharply increased its
activities in the last 4 weeks or so. We have met about 4 times in
the last 2 months. Prior to that the Trade Policy Staff Committee
had been carrying much of the burden that we moved into the
Trade Policy Review Group over the last 2 months.

Chairman GiBoNns. I am glad to see that increase in the use of
the function, because as I say, you have set up a very small agency.
You are now down to 113 people with a small budget to try to
coordinate this massive Government that we have here and all of
its trade functions; and it is going to take a very active role of
leadership to carry out those functions.

I have some other questions, but I will yield now to Mr. Frenzel,
then to Mr. Jenkins.

Ambassador Brock. Perhaps I could make one self-serving com-
ment. We only have 113 people, but they are the best people in the
town.

We have a very high quality of staff, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate
having the opportunity to work with them.

Mr. Frenzer. That stands in lieu of a raise for all of your
employees. [Laughter.]

Ambassador Brock. Something has to stand in lieu of a raise,
Congressman. [Laughter.]

Mr. FrenzeL. Mr. Chairman, I want to welcome Ambassador
Brock and Ambassador Macdonald and Ambassador Smith to these
hearings, and I particularly want to do so in the name of Congress-
man Vander Jagt, the ranking Republican, who is necessarily
absent; but he wanted to convey his greetings and his thanks to
you for the splendid job you have been doing. And I want to second
his comments, because the subcommittee had a chance to follow
you through the Far East, Mr. Ambassador and to observe your
work at the Shimoda Conference. And we are very proud of the
work you are doing, and we want to be supportive in what is a
cooperative and joint effort.

Your testimony is very interesting today but of necessity can
only touch a few points on a very, very broad subject, and all of us
have a number of questions that they want to tender. Some of
them you may want to respond to at length for the record, and
some you may want to answer directly.

Of course, one of the items that you touched on in your testimo-
ny relates to export financing, and you make a statement on page 8
about our intention to act very firmly. I was wondering exactly
what that means and whether you might be willing to be more
specific than your written and oral testimony.

I would like to leave you free to answer or to comment in that
area in the way you would want to give us a little better idea of
how you personally feel in this area.

Ambassador Brock. I appreciate that. First of all, let’s look
broadly at the problem. The problem is that Government subsidy of
export credits is clearly a trade-distorting mechanism.

In the subsidies agreement that we signed with most of our
trading partners we agreed that such practices would not impact in
an injurious fashion upon another trading partner. That was part
of the agreement.
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Second, it just doesn’t make sense for us to subsidize exports to
Europe and Europe to subsidize exports to us in a fashion that just
displaces workers in both countries to no logical end product.

What we have been trying to do is to negotiate a resolution of
the abuse. We have made, as I mentioned, a good deal of progress.
We achieved the raise to 10 percent with the exception of Japan,
which goes to a market rate or a minimum of 9%. We finally were
successful in getting our trading partners to address the problem of
mixed credits, which has been an area of substantial abuse. This is
only a 6-month agreement, and I think that is good because it gives
us 6 months in which to improve the work product because this
certainly is not an end result.

4 l\fl?r. FrENZEL. Where was this agreement achieved, Mr. Ambassa-
or?

Ambassador Brock. In Paris.

Mr:, FreEnzeL. It is an OECD agreeement, not a GATT agree-
ment?

Ambassador Brock. That is correct. While we have made some
progress, we continue to see a problem when the Eximbank has to
borrow at the Federal funds rate of 15% percent and loan at 10%. It
is hard to make that up on volume; we just cannot do it.

We must deal with the problem of eliminating the trade distor-
tions that occur from officially subsidized export credit. So again,
the first step is in the negotiating area, and I think that perhaps
we have limited tools with which to deal. We frankly do not have
much leverage, because we have put a ceiling on Eximbank, and
that would be one very nice negotiating tool if we were not under
such severe budgetary constraints. As I suggested, we should look
at alternative financing devices that might result in budgetary
savings while at the same time allowing us a greater competitive
strength in order to insure a stronger competitive position.

Finally, it is fair to state that we have an obligation under U.S.
law to be sure that our workers are not disadvantaged by subsidies,
and that injury is not caused under such a circumstance. In the
final analysis, we must comply with U.S. law and be certain that
does not occur.

Mr. FrEnzEL. With respect to that, can we use section 201 to
attack subsidized financing?

Ambassador Brock. Section 301, I think, is the preferred route.

Mr. FrenzeL. OK. And do you expect that such use of the stat-
utes might be contemplated? I assume you would prefer to negoti-
ate out some conclusions with our trading partners.

Ambassador Brock. Negotiation is a better way to do it. Howev-
er, negotiations should not preclude or substitute for or restrict in
any way the use of U.S. law.

Mr. FrENzeL. Getting back to your statement with respect to
expanding our potential under Eximbank, I know you have been
interested in this since your Senate Banking Committee days, and
there have been suggestions about going from a unified budget
which scores every loan as an expense to going to a subsidized
interest system which would reduce the impact of a similar amount
of borrowing on the budget for that particular year.

There has been some strong congressional interest in this, and I
realize there are a lot of voices to be heard from in the administra-
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tion. But I am wondering if this is not a fruitful area for us to
investigate.

Ambassador Brock. I would like to explore almost any such
option. There have been submissions to the Congress of legislative
initiatives suggesting a 1-year direct appropriation for a subsidy.
That is one way to look at it. We might also consider in the short
term a substitution of direct credit subsidy on a continuing basis
for about 3 or 4 years as an alternative to direct loans.

I am hopeful that we will not walk away from the problem; we
will not just let it lie where it is. We need to spend a lot more time
talking to each other and exploring what would be the best.

We all know we have a budget problem. We cannot add more
expenditures, but maybe there are different ways of financing that
would address the budget problem at the same time they address
the competitive need problem.

And we really do have a competitive problem, Congressman. I
cannot tell you how many times around the world I have seen U.S.
businesses losing business because we are not being given a chance
to compete. It is a very tough problem.

We have some awfully fine people at the Eximbank, but they are
operating under severe constraint right now.

Mr. FrenzEL. Thank you, Mr. Ambassador. I do not want to
impose on the other members. I do have some questions. I thought
I might just ask one for the record before passing the baton here.
And that is about the 301 case of the U.S. flour milling industry
against the European Community; and I do not want you to answer
right now, particularly because there is a special regional interest
to me; but perhaps for the record we might let the committee know
exaﬁtly where that case stands and how we are moving forward
with it.

Mr. Chairman, I yield whatever is left of my overextended time,
but I would like to get a chance to question later if possible.

Ambassador Brock. Let me give you a quick answer to that just
so you know where we are. In September, we decided to proceed to
GATT dispute settlement on the wheat flour case. Under the subsi-
dy code, we requested consultations with the EC under article 12.3
of the code. Consultations are being held in Geneva today. If these
are unsuccessful, we will request a conciliation, and if that fails, we
will request review by a GATT panel.

We are proceeding actively on the case. We intend to see it
through.

Mr. FrRENZEL. Thank you, Mr. Ambassador.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Mr. Jenkins.

Mr. JENKINS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you, Mr. Ambas-
sador, for your statement.

I want to utilize my time in getting somewhat parochial in a
couple of areas if I may.

As you are aware, a coalition of 12 or 14 poultry trade groups,
including 2 or 3 from my area, recently petitioned your office to
seek relief from a trade-distorting practice as alleged by them; and
that is, the European Community subsidies on poultry meat ex-
ports.

The information I have and they allege is that the EC countries
last year spent over $100 million for such subsidies as a part of its
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common agricultural policy, and these subsidies are causing, obvi-
ously, a considerable concern throughout the entire poultry indus-
try in this country.

So could you tell me first of all, if you are in a position at this
time, what action does the Government expect to take in response
to this practice?

Ambassador Brock. Congressman, we have reviewed the petition
very carefully. We believe there is sufficient merit to the case to
begin the investigative process, and we will do so this week.

Mr. JENKINS. You do intend then to accept the petition and
commence with an investigation? ‘

Ambassador Brock. Yes, we do.

Mr. JENKINS. In that regard—and I do not know that you will be
able to respond to this—but I have read recently that some EC
officials regard this agricultural policy, the common agricultural
policy, with particular reference to the export subsidization pro-
grams, as immune from challenge under the subsidies code on the
basis of informal agreements made between the U.S. and the Euro-
pean Community during the MTN.

Are you familiar with any of those?

Ambassador Brock. No, sir, I am not.

Mr. JeENkINS. Let me get to one other area during my time,
which is familiar ground for me, as you know, in the textile area.
Textile and apparel imports to the United States have been grow-
ing faster than the market has been growing according to the
figures I have.

I am well aware of the strong position that the President took
prior to his election in a letter to Senator Thurmond where he
made a statement that he would make sure that the 2% million
jobs in this industry would remain in this country, and he would
work to strengthen the MFA by relating import growth from all
sources to domestic market growth.

Now, according to some press reports, the administration’s MFA
proposal in Geneva would allow the United States to take special
action against particularly troublesome exports from a few major
suppliers.

I do not understand, first of all, how limiting some of the ship-
ments of just a few suppliers is going to meet the commitment of
relating import growth from all sources to the domestic market
growth.

Are you in a position to comment on that?

Ambassador Brock. Yes. First of all, as you know Congressman,
I have almost a unique position in the sense that I have a dual
responsibility to both the President and the Congress. International
trade is a delegated duty from the Congress under the Constitution,
and I am very aware of that fact. But I should say very clearly that
I also follow the instructions of my boss. And the President stated
his position with absolute clarity last year several times, and I
have a mandate. The mandate is well understood, and we are
pursuing that as the goal of our negotiating status.

If you look at the history of imports in this particular industry or
industrial sector, the overwhelming majority has come from ap-
proximately three major suppliers that are very developed and
very competitive in this field. Our own best judgment is that we



24

are going to have a successful renewal on the MFA. The MFA does
constitute an important tool for us because it is the authority by
which we then can negotiate in bilateral negotiations. We must
have the MFA as the authorizing international agreement.

In order to have a successful renewal of the MFA, we have to
understand that there must be gradations of approach between
differing countries. We are trying very consciously now in this
administration as a matter of policy to maintain as much opportu-
nity in all areas for the smaller countries and the new entrants to
the process as we can. If we are going to do that, there must be
fairly severe constraints upon those that are fully competitive.

What we have suggested in MFA as the U.S. position is a grada-
tion of approach which makes a distinction between those countries
that are competitive and those that are new and small entrants to
the marketplace. If we are successful in this approach—and I think
we will be because the United States is so important to the ability
of these nations with such disparate views—we can move well in
the path that the President suggested a year ago toward maintain-
ing the strength and the competitive opportunity for domestic in-
dustry to compete fully and without fear of being displaced by
inequitable competition.

Mr. JENKINS. I appreciate those remarks. I was a little more
concerned when I read last week in the Washington Post a state-
ment by Secretary Regan reporting on the Cancun Conference,
where he said the United States will be prepared “as time goes by”’
to discuss a liberalization of the Multifiber Agreement which re-
stricts textile imports. And I did not know whether or not that
signaled a different approach by the administration or not or
whether we are going to be able to depend upon the assurances
that we were originally given.

Ambassador BrRock. The President sets the policy, Congressman,
and I am informed that that was not an accurate quotation from
the Secretary. I do not know precisely what he did say, because I
have not had a chance to talk to him. But I am advised by his
agency that that is a misconstruction of what he said.

Mr. JENKINS. At any rate, the administration intends to work to
strengthen the MFA by related import growth from all sources to
the domestic market growth in this country, is that correct?

Ambassador Brock. We intend to strengthen MFA. The second
part of your statement would have to go to the bilateral approach.

Mr. JENkiINs. I was relating to the President’s letter. I read from
his letter. He said, ‘“The MFA expires at the end of 1981 and needs
to be strengthened by related import growth from all sources to
domestic market growth.” Those were not my words; those were
his. That is the reason I chose those words. [Laughter.]

Ambassador BrRock. I am quite aware of that. We are in agree-
ment on the objective. My own approach has been to strengthen
the MFA in order to allow us to reach that objective through the
bilateral process.

Mr. JENKINS. I appreciate very much your being here. I would
like to pursue several other questions, but a lot of other members
have questions. And I do not want to only talk about poultry and
textiles, because I realize there are a lot of other areas we need to
get to.
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Thank you very much.

Chairman GiBons. Mr. Brodhead.

. Mr. BRoDHEAD. No questions, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GisBons. Mr. Pease.

Mr. Pease. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

I would like also to welcome our witnesses.

Ambassador Brock, a fundamental basis for a trade policy and of
the international trading system generally under GATT for the
past 35 years has been achieving and maintaining the MFN princi-
ple of nondiscriminatory trading treatment.

In recent years we have seen a tremendous growth in preferen-
tial bilateral and regional trade agreements among and between
developed and nondeveloped or developing countries. We have long
been concerned about the growth of bilateral arrangements and
commitments among foreign countries. And yet there now seems to
be some appearance that our own approach is moving in the direc-
tion of bilateral negotiations with our major trading partners as
well as with developing countries.

Could you please comment on this apparent erosion of the MFN
principle?

Ambassador Brock. I have expressed, as I think you know, some
concern about creeping bilateralism, as a derogation of the basic
principles of the MFN and of the GATT. We must be cautious
about condemning such arrangements across the board because
some are trade enhancing and some are trade limiting. It is with
regard to the latter category that I would express concern.

If we can find a way to expand trade through some of these
relationships, it is to our long-term interest to do so. By expanding
trade, we can increase the commitment of other countries to the
trading system itself which allows for such progress to be made.

Let me give you an example. One of the exceptions that is
allowed under the GATT is the generalized system of preferences,
which we practice in this Nation. It is a very important program
for us to help developing nations by providing them preferential
access duty free to the U.S. market.

As [ said in my testimony, if you look at what this country has
done for the Third World in recent years by keeping our markets
open to their products, 51 percent of all that they sell to us comes
in duty free now. They are our largest trading partner. We do more
business with the Third World than we do with Europe and Japan
combined. What we have done for them is to give them a chance to
achieve economic growth by earning their way. Buying their prod-
ucts is good for us and it is good for them. As their economies
develop, they become better markets for us. And we have to keep
our markets up.

But that is not a disadvantageous bilateral arrangement; it is a
very advantageous one. So we must make that conscious distinc-
tion. Your point is well taken that we have to be very careful that
we do not walk into the other side of the problem and begin to
allow more relations of a disadvantageous type.

Mr. PEase. In terms of the disadvantageous types, would you
agree that there appears to be a trend on the part of our own
nation to pursue more bilateral agreements rather than going to a
multilateral basis?
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Ambassador Brock. No; I do not think so.

Mr. Pease. You do not think so?

Ambassador Brock. No; I do not know what example you would
use to demonstrate that we are doing more than we used to. I
think we are probably doing less.

Mr. Peask. The examples that I have been given were in relation
to Japan, Mexico, Canada, the European Community. Perhaps
those fall in your definition of advantageous. [Laughter.]

Ambassador Brock. Some do. But let us take one of the more
intractable problems we have. That is the problem with Mexico.
The problem with Mexico is that Mexico does not belong to the
GATT. They made a decision in their own government for their
own reasons, and they have every sovereign right to make that
judgment that it was not in their interest to belong to the interna-
tional trading system.

I wish that they would. I think it is in the world’s interest and
Mexico’s, in the long term, for them to participate. But when they
decided not to, we then lost any normal dispute settlement mecha-
nism that we had to set up a bilateral process.

Secretary of Commerce Baldrige and I cochaired this process
with Secretary Vega on the Mexican side in order to have some
basis for recognizing trade, and the hazard of recognizing disputes.
I do not think we had any choice, because they consciously chose
not to belong to the international system. I do not consider that an
aberration. It is an acceptance of reality.

Mr. PEASE. Thank you. Finally, my colleague from Georgia men-
tioned what I think he called the slightly parochial issue of tex-
tiles, the pillar of the economy of his part of the country. One of
the pillars of the economy in my part of the country, as you know,
is automobiles. Can you give us, give me, a current report on where
we stand with imports of automobiles from Japan and what you
see as the ultimate goal over the next year or year and a half?

Ambassador Brock. Yes. Under the Japanese decision to con-
strain imports to approximately 1,850,000 units, as we would count
them, or 1.7 million, as they count them, they have the option to
appraise estimated market growth for next year and to ship an
additional 16.5 percent of that additional estimate. If we assume
that domestic sales would be up half a million units next year,
then they could add approximately 82,500 units of automobile sales
to the base level of their 1.7 million units. That estimate has not
been made yet. We will be consulting with them on whether it is,
in fact, valid.

So far this year they have obviously complied fully and very
consciously with their stated objective. My own belief is that they
will probably not be able to sell as many units in this country as
they were allowed to sell, not because of a lack of effort but
because the interest rates in this country are so high.

I found it astonishing to learn last week that the largest Japa-
nese automobile dealer in this area is offering a $1,000 discount on
new model cars. I have never seen even a U.S. manufacturer do
that. They are having trouble competing in this market, like every-
body else. No one is selling any cars. The basic problem is we have
to get our interest rates down.

Mr. PEask. Right. Thank you very much.
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Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiBoNs. Mr. Brodhead.

Mr. BRoDHEAD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Ambassador, on the same topic, the question of automobiles,
I am concerned about the countries which have the local content
requirement, such as Mexico, Brazil, and others. One of the effects
of that, of course, is to take supplier production, parts supplier
production, out of the United States and put it into those countries.
And as I am sure you are aware, there are probably three supplier
jobs in the auto industry for every assembly job.

So it is a much bigger industry than just General Motors, Ford,
Chrysler, and American Motors. It is a much bigger industry, and
we seem to be losing an awful lot of jobs because of these content
requirements that other countries have.

Now, what sort of a strategy do we have to combat this? It seems
to me that ideally everybody ought to have—the world market
ought to be open. And it is not. We are the only country that really
does not, the only country with an auto industry that does not
protect it in some kind of way. And yet we allow other countries to,
in effect, steal our jobs by imposing, such as Mexico does, a local
content requirement.

Ambassador BrRock. I do not know how I can add to what you
have said. You are absolutely on the mark. It is a problem that is
not only serious but growing more so. It is frankly becoming a
common practice in areas beyond automobiles now.

One of the complaints that has been made about Canadian prac- -
tices under the Foreign Investment Review Authority or the Cana-
dian national energy program is the possibility that performance
requirements or export requirements would be mandated into in-
vestments made in that country. Mexico clearly has a very strong
policy in this area. Several countries do.

I do not have a very good answer. We are going to try to bring
the issue before the GATT ministerial-level session next year. We
are encouraging other nations to join with us in expressing some
concern about the area, because ultimately, it is going to have a
severe worldwide impact, not just on us but on all trading nations.
If such problems continue, damage will be done to that which we
are trying to achieve.

Mr. BRoDHEAD. You are the expert in this area. How you work
these things out, of course, is very difficult for an elected official—
and you have had that experience—to go back to one State district
and say, “Well, the Ambassador said we are going to negotiate on
this thing maybe next year. We are working on the problem.” Is
there not something, is there not precedent really for some strong-
er, more direct action, perhaps legislation, which would call for us
to respond in kind to this sort of activity?

Ambassador BrRock. Ambassador Smith tells me that the only
one we have right now is article III of the GATT. But that does not
work very well with the case of Mexico, which is not in the GATT.

Mr. BropHEAD. Right.

Ambassador Brock. You have a different problem.

Mr. BrRoDHEAD. I was just looking at the list here. Brazil has a 95
percent local content requirement. And, of course, they are grow-
ing auto suppliers, as you know. Mexico has 50 percent; Venezuela,
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51; South Africa, 66; Spain, 63; Argentina, 96; Australia, 85 per-
cent. That is just some of them.

It is pretty rough for the American auto manufacturers if they
have to do business in these countries that want to do business
here and you, and I, and everybody want to encourage them to do
business in Mexico, to sell their cars in Mexico. But the price of
that is that they have to take American jobs with them.

I do not think that these countries have a legitimate conceérn
now. They may have a concern that Japan or some other country is
going to come in and take over their auto market. I do not think,
given the price of oil in the configuration of American cars for
better or for worse, we are not really about to take over the market
with assembled cars in these countries. But we are competing as
suppliers.

American industry, as you know, has a difficult enough time, the
auto industry particularly, competing on a level field. They are
trying to catch up, but they frankly have a great deal of difficulty
competing on a level field. In these lists of countries, the field is
not level.

I am just wondering what we can do consistent with the adminis-
tration’s commitment and our commitment to cooperatively work-
ing with our trading partners and working for open and freer
trade? What strong action can we take consistent with those com-
mitments?

Ambassador Brock. I have served in both this and the other
body, and I have some sense of the frustration that exists in the
Congress. Every time a new administration takes office, obviously
the new administration wants to try to settle things amicably
before they go out with a 2 by 4. That means at least once every 8
years, and it -has been every 4 for the last decade Members of
Congress suffer the agony of waiting for the administration to do
something in the first year. I respect your problem, and I under-
stand it, as a politician.

Obviously, we would prefer to negotiate an international ar-
rangement of some sort to reduce this practice. We do know that it
is prohibited by the rules of the GATT. We also have some devices,
in terms of domestic legislation, but they are limited, particularly
in regard to local performance requirements as opposed to export
performance requirements. Local content is one problem. Export
requirements is another problem.

It is relatively easy to deal with the export requirements in the
one sense, but both of them are nontariff barriers that are very
difficult and, frankly, were not envisioned when we began writing
the earlier rules.

The pertinent paragraph under article III of the GATT is rather
specific. It says:

No contracting party shall establish or maintain any internal quantitative regula-
tion relating to the mixture, processing, or use of products in specified amounts or
proportions which requires directly or indirectly that any specified amount or
proportion of any product which is the subject of a regulation must be supplied from
domestic sources.

It is very clear, and it does not deal with Mexico, but it does deal
with some of the other countries. If we are unsuccessful in our
negotiating effort, then we will have no choice but to go to GATT.



29

Mr. BropHEAD. I urge your continued attention to this issue.

Mr. Pease. Would the gentleman yield?

Mr. BrRopHEAD. You have got it.

Mr. PEasE. You read them the agreement, which is perfectly
clear. It makes it perfectly clear that these local content laws are
not consistent with GATT. Is it perfectly clear what our remedies
are if we have four or five nations which the gentleman from
Michigan has specified, which are clearly in violation of GATT by
their own admission? Is there not some immediate remedy we can
get from GATT? Or is it a matter of informal negotiations stretch-
ing out over a period of years?

Ambassador Brock. It could take quite a bit of time. The process
starts with consultations. If that fails, the parties move to concilia-
tion. If that fails, you go to a panel, and ultimately it can be
resolved by the contracting parties. But then the enforcement
mechanism is somewhat limited. So it is not a perfect answer.

Mr. Pease. Have we started down that road at all? You list a
series of steps to be taken. Have we taken even the first step?

Ambassador Brock. We have, internationally, in terms of the
opportunities under U.S. law for section 301 petitions. But the
industry has not seen fit to file a petition at this point. That is an
option that they might consider. I do not know whether it would be
productive or not. It depends on the merits of the case.

Mr. Pease. What about local content legislation of our own,
would that cause the trading partners to think twice about what
they are doing?

Ambassador Brock. I do not know how we can encourage others
to comply with the code if we constantly engage in violations of our
own, and that would be in violation. Frankly, it will come back to
injure us. It may be that one day in one country after another, we
find out the price that this involves.

It is a very expensive way for these countries to try to do busi-
ness. Their consumers are paying a horrible price for the practice.
There is a question of whether or not they can have real economic
growth if they continue to intervene in a negative fashion in a
market system. We have no legal authority to tell them what they
should do as a sovereign nation, but their consumers might.

Mr. Peasi. Thank you very much.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiBeonS. I am glad we have spent some time discuss-
ing this subject, because I have some very definite views on it. I
might as well express them here right now.

Mr. BropHEAD. How unlike you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiBBoNS. In the overall picture, we have pretty much
gotten under reasonable control matters of formal tariff barriers,
quantitative restrictions, and ad valorem taxes. But it looks to me
that as we get them under control, this whole area of nontariff
barriers has exploded. Despite the progress we made at the MTN
in negotiating them, so far the results have not proved to be very
effective.

Now, I realize that a part of that is going to be not only Govern-
ment’s interests in enforcing the MTN rules but in industry’s
interest in enforcing the MTN rules. So I would encourage industry
if they have a real complaint, whether it be an industry or a labor



30

union, to exercise it. And if we find then that in the exercising of it
we get insufficient solution to the problem, then I think the Con-
gress ought to strengthen it.

I have a great abhorrence to these local content requirements by
other countries and export performance requirements by other
countries. And if we cannot negotiate something with them pretty
quick, I am willing to tighten up our own laws so that we can take
action against them. I have no interest in whether Mexico becomes
a nll{ember of GATT or not. That is its own sovereign decision to
make.

But I want to make it clear I do not want Mexico to hide under
the rubric of not being a member of GATT and get any special
treatment because it is not a member of GATT. I do not want them
to get the advantage of an injury test under our countervailing
duty law just because they are a neighbor.

All neighbors have the duty to be good neighbors. We want to be
good neighbors. And we should not reward neighbors differently
than we reward somebody on the other side of the street, or down
the road a block, or around the world.

I hope it will be the administration’s policy in dealing with our
neighbors that we want to be fair with them; we want to be
neighborly with them, but we do not want to give them any special
advantage just because they plead a disability of not being a
member of an international organization.

I hope that in all of the 301 cases we have that you all will
vigorously pursue them and this whole matter of subsidies, and
local content, and export performance requirements.

q I assume, by your silence, that you agree with me, Mr. Ambassa-
or.

Ambassador Brock. That is a fair statement, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GisBoNs. All right. Good. We are going to get along
real well. [Laughter.]

Mr. FrENzEL. Would the gentleman yield?

Chairman GisBons. Certainly.

Mr. FReENZEL. The gentleman was as specific as I would like to be
about the injury test in Mexico. In my judgment, the Department
of Commerce made a ridiculous ruling in giving the injury test on
what has proved, I hope, to be an unimportant and unprecedent-
setting case.

But I wanted to make it very clear that there was a record on
the books where we did something for reasons unbeknownst to me.
It was clearly contrary to what I consider to be the trade policy of
this country. And the Department of Commerce, if it is around,
ought to be warned that this subcommittee and others are certain-
ly watching them and expect no repetition of that counterproduc-
tive policy.

Ambassador Brock. I think, Congressman, that it was stated at
the time and subsequently that the case did not constitute any
precedents at all. It was a unique decision based upon the under-
standing of the law in that precise instance. The matter is now
before the courts, so I do not think any of us can comment on how
it might be resolved. I am confident that the Commerce Depart-
ment is aware of your concern.
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Chairman GisBoNs. Now, Mr. Ambassador, I want to talk about
export trading companies, not just because it is one of my bills, but
because I think it is necessary that we do something about that in
order to get our country in a position in which it can trade com-
petitively throughout the world. What is the administration’s posi-
tion on the export trading legislation now pending in Congress?

Ambassador Brock. We are vigorously and actively supportive
and hopeful that it will be enacted in this calendar year before the
Congress leaves for Christmas, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Yes, sir.

Ambassador Brock. It is irrational for this country not to pro-
vide its medium and small businesses the chance to compete in the
international marketplace. They are our most productive produc-
ers. They are competitive. They are tough. And we deny them a
reasonable opportunity to be competitive internationally, because
we try to extend our laws internationally rather than encouraging
them to work cooperatively in trade wherever they can find a
market.

I hope that bill will pass just as quickly as possible. There is
some movement in the House now. I do expect to see the chairman
of the House Banking Committee today on this very matter, and I
very much hope that the Judiciary Committee will expedite its
process and move legislation along.

It does not make sense. The export trading company legislation
has been around for more than 2 years, as you well know. It passed
the Senate last year. It died in the House. It passed the Senate
again this year. I do not know of anyone in the business communi-
ty, exporting or not exporting presently, who is not supportive of it.
I know of no major objection to the concept. I pray it will be
enacted speedily, and I appreciate very much your support.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Let me ask you, who in the administration is
responsible for the lobbying on that? We are getting down to the
nitty-gritty. You have been in the House and the Senate. You know
that these things when they run into trouble, you have to have
some pressure applied. Who is applying the pressure?

Ambassador Brock. The Commerce Department has the lead
role, at their request. I have talked to the Secretary and offered to
do whatever I could in recent weeks and am proceeding to do so.
We will be as active as we can.

Chairman GisBons. I do not want to criticize Commerce, because
I do not know what they are doing. But frankly, I do not know why
this thing has not moved. It has passed the Senate twice unani-
mously. It was vigorously debated over there.

It is not one of those bills that just kind of went through when
there was nobody on the floor. But I am not aware that there is
any particular drive on by the administration to get the export
trading company bill passed.

I hope I am wrong, but I hope whoever is in charge of their
lobbying will make themselves known to me and will tell me what
they have done to get it passed, what the rest of us can do to get it
passed, because I think it is essential that we get in step for what
1s ahead of us.
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Mr. FrReNZEL. Mr. Chairman, I am going to have to leave. I know
the gentleman from Georgia has some questions. May we have
unanimous consent to submit those questions?

Chairman GiBBoNs. Certainly. You and I have a luncheon en-
gagement in 10 minutes, too. Do you remember that?

All right. Let me ask you now about export administration and
those cases. I realize that you do not directly handle the Export
Administration Act, but, as I say, you are our chief person on trade
in the administration. Every place that we go overseas we run into
complaints by American businessmen that they have trouble with
the Corrupt Practices Act and the Export Administration Act.

Is there any particular effort going on by the administration to
try to straighten out these laws?

Ambassador Brock. Yes, sir; on the export administration we
have worked very consciously to create a workable administration
position. One of the problems, however, is that we as a country
cannot unilaterally adopt a policy with regard to sales to the Soviet
bloc. We must do that in consultation and in cooperation with our
a%lies; otherwise, we simply restrain the United States but no one
else,

Chairman GisBoNS. American businessman after American busi-
nessman overseas has told me that all of our laws, the interpreta-
tion of our laws, the application of our laws, as far as exports are
concerned, is much more strict than are other people’s who are
engaged in the same operation cooperatively about not selling
things to Communist nations.

Either we are being used or we are being fools, or else I am not
properly informed about what the status is, because I guess in the
last 8 months practically every other American businessman I
have seen overseas has complained about our administration of
these laws. They say that other countries can get approval faster
and are much more generous in the interpretation of these re-
straints than we are.

Has the administration conducted any kind of investigation, or
do you contemplate any kind of investigation or any kind of consul-
tation with our trading partners in this area?

Ambassador Brock. Yes, sir; the analysis of the business commu-
nity is correct, in my judgment. We have had extensive discussions
within the administration. We will be meeting within the month
with our trading partners to develop or evolve a more precise,
understandable, and workable formula for the approach. If we can
reach an agreement, then I believe that we can establish a much
more coherent U.S. policy with a much faster response time.

Chairman GiBoNs. Do you feel that is your responsibility as
U.S.T.R. to do this, or is it somewhere else in the administration to
push this? I am just trying to fix responsibility. I am not trying to
fix blame. I am trying to find out what you feel really is the
concept of your job.

Ambassador Brock. 1 personally feel a very strong responsibility
to press for resolution on the matter. The administration of the law
is not within my direct jurisdiction, but the trade complications
that do occur therefrom do impact upon our trade position, Mr.
Chairman, and therefore I have to be involved.
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Chairman GisBoNs. Now, I have the same sort of views about the
misnamed Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. Nobody advocates cor-
ruption. A few practice it, but nobody advocates it. We apparently
have shot ourselves in the foot with that law. There are efforts
afoot in the Congress to try to straighten that out.

What is the administration’s position, and what is being done
about it?

Ambassador Brock. The administration’s position is to actively
support modification and improvement of that law. The primary
concern that we have with the FCPA is that it is so well-intended
and poorly written that it creates far more confusion than any-
thing else.

The net result is that companies around the world have with-
drawn from doing any business at all with certain countries be-
cause they do not understand the law, do not know how to comply
with it, do not know which agencies to get answers from, cannot
get any answers from the agencies that administer it. The lan-
guage of the law needs to be changed. It is an exercise in futility.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Now, who is responsible in the administra-
tion for doing the lobbying and for doing the work to get this thing
straightened out?

Ambassador BRock. I am primarily working in the area. We
have made a great deal of progress in the Senate. We have been a
little distressed that reform legislation has been stalled by other
business on the Senate calendar, but we are pleased that the bill
was approved by the committee by a very substantial majority. We
have a good workable, enforceable bill.

You have pointed out that neither the Congress nor the adminis-
tration has any interest whatsoever in condoning bribery. But if we
are going to prohibit bribery of foreign officials, if we are going to
stop the practice, let us do it in a fashion that does not have other
negative impacts that are far more deleterious to our well-being.
The present FCPA does have those negative impacts.

We have rewritten the law so that it is understandable, work-
able, and enforceable. The Senate version, S. 708, will do that. We
expect passage in the Senate, within the next month, and when
};_lllat occurs, 1 would hope that some movement will begin in the

ouse.

I have talked within the last 24 hours to the chairman of the
House Subcommittee on Telecommunications, Congressman Wirth,
and encouraged him to move. He is presently holding only over-
sight hearings on the bill, feeling that he would like to educate
himself and his committee on the FCPA, and how it is working,
before he actually takes up any particular legislation.

I do not know how long it is going to take, Congressman. We
have a good constituency of people who want change, and many
Members of Congress who are ready to see the act changed. We
have had difficulty in getting a hearing scheduled in the House.

Chairman GieeoNs. You know, I look at the 113 people that you
have on board and all of the problems that you have to wrestle
with. I know that you have access to other people. But I would urge
you to urge the President, as soon as he gets through his AWACS
problem, to put some pressure on these areas.
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I realize we constantly have budget problems, and that is always
going to be a very high priority with the administration. But it
looks to me like the trade matters, the export trading companies,
the ones we have just discussed here about export administration,
and the misnomered, misnamed Foreign Corrupt Practices Act,
have just not received the amount of determined effort that I think
they are going to need in order to get the work done.

And all the time, we are penalizing ourselves. We are penalized
in the trade picture enough. I should not say with the overvalued
dollar, but the highly valued dollar. It is going to hurt us real
badly in the merchandise area. We are going to have political
fallout from that, and I would like to see us get moving on export
trading companies, on better administration of the Export Admin-
istration Act, and on the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act just as
quickly as possible.

Ambassador Brock. Mr. Chairman, all I can say is you have my
own personal best efforts and, those of the administration. I am
honestly aware of the problems that you cite. You are absolutely
right. It is very difficult for us. You mentioned the fact that we
have 113 employees. We are now at the point where we are trying
to help specific countries with specific license applications, just to
expedite the process. That should not be our responsibility, but
somebody has to do it, and we are going to try to be helpful.

The most important step we can take is to clean up the policy
area and make a decision and then live within the parameters that
are established, whatever they are. All our business people are
asking for is a yes or no answer. And today they cannot get it in
either of these areas.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Let me ask you a little bit about the Caribbe-
an Basin policy. Personally and philosophically, I am an MFN
man, but I realize we have a special obligation in the Caribbean
Basin. We have a group of small islands isolated, largely isolated
economically and geographically. What do you feel that we are
going to be able to do in the trade area for these people?

Ambassador Brock. We have spent a great deal of time wrestling
with this problem. The problem is we are now giving these coun-
tries duty-free access for 87 percent of all they now sell us. So that
the GSP does not offer a great deal of additional opportunity.
There are certain things that we can do with agricultural stations,
inspection stations and things of that sort, which would expedite
and facilitate their ability to do more business with us. But some of
the problems are in particularly difficult areas. Textiles is one, to
get back to Mr. Jenkins point.

We must be sure that what we do is not only beneficial to them
but is within the framework of U.S. trade needs on our own part.
We are going to be very helpful if other complications do not bar
us from achieving results or counterweigh the results.

You are well aware, Congressman, of the sugar legislation and
what that would have done to the Dominican Republic. The impact
of that bill on the Caribbean would be greater than all of the trade
benefits that we have been able to dream up under all the ap-
proaches we could envision in the Caribbean. We must be fairly
constrained in answering your questions at the moment until we
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see what the final results of the farm bill are, among other pieces
of legislation.

But we have begun to evolve with the Caribbean nations, as we
do not want this to be a U.S.-imposed resolution, a fairly construc-
tive trade, investment and aid package that uses each of the three
components in a complimentary fashion.

The Caribbean Basin Initiative is going to be an important pro-
gram where it is within our power to open up our markets even
more aggressively to these nations and to provide them with great-
er economic opportunity than they now have. Otherwise, the Carib-
bean is going to be dependent upon aid, and aid is not going to

. solve the problem. It simply cannot.

Chairman GiBsoNns. I would say to you, in closing, the time is
short, that we visited Jamaica. I want to applaud the fine job that
Prime Minister Seaga is doing or attempting to do in his country
down there. He has reversed a political slip and an economic slip
that has been remarkable in its reversal.

But some kind of sympathetic effort, effective sympathetic effort
is going to have to be extended to those countries. I look at the
Caribbean, it is a source of a lot of social and economic problems in
this country, social and economic problems caused by emigration,
social and economic problems caused by importation of narcotics.

I think we have a duty and requirement to ourselves to help
those countries in order to alleviate the kind of economic condi-
tions that exist there. I realize that the tools we have are very
limited, but we are going to have to employ them as generously
and vigorously as we can.

Ambassador Brock. I could not agree more.

You may have seen the statement I made in the paper, that
illustrates the dilemma. I was quoted recently as saying, “I am not
sure we have time to hurry.” I said that consciously in the sense
that we have so many times in the last several decades made great
promises, great announcements, only to dash their hopes anew. I
just do not want to do that to those people again.

Chairman GiBsons. I agree. I agree.

Ambassador Brock. We must be very cautious and understate
wh}a;t we think we can accomplish and do it carefully and do it
right.

Chairman GieBoNs. Mr. Jenkins.

Mr. JENKINS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Ambassador, I am going to submit some additional questions
that I had prepared, since time is of the essence. But I do want to
ask a couple of questions following up on some of the questions
that Mr. Frenzel asked, and also the chairman.

I, too, have some concern with different agencies performing
parts of functions of one overall program. For instance, in the
bilaterals, your office does the negotiation, and as I understand it,
the Commerce Department then really is in charge of implementa-
tion of the entire program.

In view of the administration’s position on the textile area as far
as growth related to the market here, do you see any problem with
the Commerce Department in implementing the bilaterals that you
have ended up negotiating?

Ambassador Brock. No, sir, I do not.
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Mr. JENkINS. Do you think they will be very vigilant in the
implementation of the language?

Ambassador Brock. I certainly do.

Mr. JENKINS. Let me ask you this one final question in that
regard. In the textile field, the press recently reported that the
administration doubts that the MFA can be renegotiated by the
deadline of December 31 expiration date. In light of the absence of
a European Community negotiating position and increasing pres-
sure within the EC to delay any new agreement pending renewal
of their bilateral restraint agreements, and as you know, this Con-
gress made the MTN tariff cuts on textile products contingent
upon a continued MFA or some equally effective program of import
restraint.

Now, if the MFA fails this year, how does your office and the
administration plan to meet the congressional requirement?

Ambassador Brock. First of all, we expect and believe that the
European Community will have its mandate well before November
18 when we begin the final round of negotiations. Any statement
that indicates we do not expect the MFA to be renewed this year is
not accurate. We insist that it be renewed this year. We will
actively pursue that goal and bring as much pressure on the proc-
ess as 1s necessary to see that it is renewed by all parties. We do
not view any one group as being a barrier, but there are wide
divergences in the approaches of other countries.

But to address the real point of your question, if that particular
arrangement is no longer available to us, we could still have an
agreement with enough countries to constitute ‘“‘a suitable arrange-
ment” as the law requires. We could have enough arrangements
with producers to constitute what we would describe as “a suitable
arrangement” and still be authorized to conduct bilateral discus-
sions, even if one major consumer did not participate.

Such a situation would not be in our interest, and we do not
-intend for that to happen. But we do have some flexibility under
the law to cope with the situation, were that to occur for any
reason.

Mr. JENKINS. One final question. In the major suppliers that you
talked about earlier in the textile field, do you consider China to be
a major supplier at this point?

Ambassador Brock. It depends on the product. In most areas, no,
but in some areas, very clearly, yes.

Mr. JENKINS. They are becoming a major supplier in the textile
field now, is that correct?

Ambassador BrRock. It is growing very rapidly.

Mr. JENKINS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GisBoNs. Thank you.

We thank you, Ambassador Brock, for your very fine answers
and for your presentation.

I have some additional questions on which I would appreciate
your Office supplying answers for the record.

[The questions and answers follow:]

Question. How do you reconcile your Congressionally mandated authority with the
role of the administratively created Cabinet Councils?

Answer. The United States Trade Representative (USTR) is the President’s princi-

pal advisor on international trade policy. The USTR has statutory responsibility for
developing international trade policy and coordinating its implementation. This
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mission is carried out with the advice of the interagency Trade Policy Committee
(TPC). The Trade Policy Committee is the top level of the interagency structure
which advises the USTR on trade policy related issues.

By contrast, the Cabinet Councils are designed to operate as subgroups of the full
Cabinet. Each Cabinet Council is chaired by the President. At the same time, each
Council has a Department Secretary as chairman pro tempore who guides the
direction of the Council and serves as chairman of working sessions in which the
President is not in attendance.

Question. How do the roles of other agencies fit in with your policy responsibility?

Answer. Under section 242 of the Trade Expansion Act of 1962, the President
established an interagency trade organization to assist him in carrying out his trade
responsibilities. This organization, as it has evolved, consists of three tiers of com-
mittees, administered and chaired by USTR. These include the Cabinet-level Trade
Policy Committee (TPC), the Assistant Secretary level Trade Policy Review Group
(TPRG) and the senior staff level Trade Policy Staff Committee (TPSC). This inter-
agency organization is the principal mechanism for developing and coordinating
U.S. Government positions on international trade and investment policy issues.

Question. Would Iy)'ou describe the respective functions and role of the Trade Policy
Committee, the Cabinet Council on Commerce and Trade, and the Cabinet Council
on Economic Affairs, particularly in terms of the circumstances in which trade
related issues come before and are resolved by the Cabinet Councils.

Answer. The Trade Policy Committee (TPC), which is chaired by the USTR, is the
principal interagency mechanism for developing and coordinating U.S. Government
positions on international trade and investment policy issues.

The TPC mechanism allows for a decision-making process which is flexible in
terms of level of policy development and implementation, and which provides for
the participation of all Cabinet agencies.

As for the relationship between the TPC and the Cabinet Councils, it is under-
stood that TPC issues requiring Cabinet discussion with the President will be
reviewed in the appropriate Council with the President presiding. TPC recommen-
dations not requiring such a discussion go directly from the USTR to the President.

The decision as to which of the Cabinet Councils an issue will be referred is
coordinated with the Office of Policy Development in the White House.

Question. How do you account for the much more active role of the TPC?

Answer. The TPC is now playing a more active role as a reflection of the
increased national priority of trade issues and the need of a new administration to
develop basic trade policies, such as it did earlier this year with the White Paper on
Trade. Issues of high national priority, having greater, more far-reaching effects,
receive proportionately more attention, often with the need to be resolved at a
higher than staff level.

Question. What has been the impact of its (TPC’s) active role on the operation of
the TPSC and TPRG; for example, do those groups only decide routine, non-contro-
versial matters?

Answer. The TPSC remains as active as it has been traditionally. Approximately
90 percent of all trade issues are handled by the interagency mechanism at the staff
level. The TPRG has become increasingly more active, as a consequence of the
system operating as it was intended.

Question. The President’s budget request to the Congress on September 30 to
reduce fiscal year 1982 agency appropriations by 12 percent includes a $1.2 million
reduction in the USTR budget request from $10 million to $8.8 million.

How will such a cut be reflected in USTR’s operations?

Answer. The budget cut is reflected in the following areas: promotion freeze for
all personnel, elimination of research budget, elimination of summer intern pro-
gram, postponement of word processing and other equipment purchases, heavy cuts
in travel, deletion of the printing of our annual report and ‘“Preface to Trade”,
postponement of filling several current and expected vacancies, significant cuts in
training and career development activities, reduced funding for data acquisition and
for reimbursable details.

Ambassador Brock recently completed an internal reorganization which will allow
us to maximize the use of available resources. We have tightened up controls of
expenditures especially travel, overtime, and representation funds. We are using
every means possible and all management tools at our disposal to increase produc-
tivity and effectiveness within our diminished resources.

Question. You are on record to the effect that it is U.S. policy to reward our
friendly trading partners and treat countries who are not so cooperative less favor-
ably. Wha‘;: effect does this approach have on the principle of most-favored-nation
treatment?
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Answer. I think it is fairly obvious that within the context of our international
obligations involving the extension of most-favored-nation treatment, a certain
amount of leeway exists within which we can differentiate in our treatment of our
trading partners depending upon how they treat us. We will do so while at the same
time respecting our international obligations.

Question. What agency is responsible for monitoring Japan’s industrial goals and
policies, and how do you plan to go about it?

Answer. Analytical work concerning Japan’s industrial goods and policies which
are likely to impact on Japan’s position in the international trade system is being
done in a number of different agencies and departments throughout the govern-
ment, including the State Department, the Commerce Department, the Treasury
Department, and the ITC. The U.S.T.R. trade policy formulation process is consen-
sus oriented and draws on the expertise available throughout the Government. This
Office undertakes both to initiate trade policy measures necessary to deal with
specific trade problems as well as to act on suggestions provided both by the
Congress and the various departments involved in trade issues.

Question. Could you please elaborate on your testimony before the Joint Economic
Committee this summer in which you stated that we must prevent Japan from
using its industrial policy of high technology promotion to destroy our high technol-
ogy industries, in the same way that Japan swept over our radio, TV, auto, and
other industries?

Answer. We are closely monitoring Japan’s trade and industrial policies which
affect Japan’s export position in the high technology industries. Our objective in
this area is two-fold; firstly, to improve U.S. market access for high technology
exports to Japan; and, secondly, to ensure that U.S. high technology manufacturers
in Japan are given equal participation opportunities in Japanese government spon-
sored R&D programs.

We have recently been successful in bilateral negotiations to increase U.S. market
access in Japan for telecommunications equipment and semiconductors. The elimi-
nation of tariff and non-tariff barriers to U.S. high tech exports is a continuing
objective in our bilateral negotiations. The importance of liberalizing trade in this
sector in avoiding future bilateral trade crisis is an important focus of the U.S.
position being put forward by Deputy USTR David R. Macdonald this week in the
U.S.-Japan Trade Subcommittee meetings. By eliminating trade barriers and ensur-
ing that U.S. exporters have the opportunity to become fully integrated in the
Japanese high technology market and distribution system during their early stages
of development, I believe the difficulties experienced in the radio and TV industries
can be avoided.

With regard to the issue of government sponsored R&D programs, it is clear that
both the U.S. and Japan have the right to sponsor such domestic programs to the
extent that they are not designed to be used as a means by which to subsidize
exports. It is worth noting that the government shoulders a greater share of
R. & D. expenses in the U.S. than in Japan. We do not intend to continue to insist,
however, that U.S. manufacturers in Japan be given equal opportunity to partici-
pate in these programs.

Finally, we are working towards a joint U.S.-Japanese commitment to meet in
early 1982 to discuss the range of issues affecting trade high technology goods. Our
goals in this initiative will be an important agenda item in the upcoming GATT
Ministerial.

Question. If the Japanese target research, tax aids, and export promotion on a
product such as robots, how, exactly, does the United States plan to respond? What
is our response to plans underway for major Japanese government subsidies for
private sector development of fifth-generation computers to compete with IBM?

Answer. As noted above, the Government of Japan shoulders a smaller share of
R. & D. expenses than does the U.S. Government. It is our objective to make sure
that U.S. manufacturers are not discriminated against with regard to participation
opportunities in government sponsored R. & D. programs in Japan. Japanese high
tech industries also benefit substantially from the low interest rates available on
borrowed capital in Japan. It is an important goal of this Administration to bring
interest rates down in the U.S., which together with tax incentives, we believe will
enable our industries to undertake the investments necessary to remain competitive
internationally. This would apply to robots as well as other U.S. products. Improve-
ments in the relationship between business and government in conjunction with the
removal of export disincentives will augment U.g. manufacturer’s ability to compete
in world markets.

Questions. What are the main trade issues and concerns of our major trading
partners and to what extent do they coincide or conflict with U.S. issues and
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objectives described in your testimony? What U.S. trade practices are of greatest
concern to our trading partners which they want changed or eliminated?

Answer. For the most part I believe that there exists a general convergence of
views between our major trading partners and ourselves as to the major issues
confronting the international trading system. While the specific manifestations of
these central issues and their importance differ from country to country, they may
be summarized as (1) the need to counteract rising protectionist pressures; (2) the
necessity of maintaining and expanding open markets through increased access for
foreign exports; and (3) the continued development of, and strict adherence to the
accepted rules of the international trading system. These are all issues of great
importance to the United States and they represent priorities for the trade policy in
the Reagan Administrative, I believe that at this point in time the single develop-
ment causing the greatest concern for our foreign trading partners is the threat of
growing protectionism pressures in the U.S. market.

Questions. What are the major foreign barriers to U.S. services trade? What are
the prospects for our gaining support for international regulations for this area
given our large surplus in services trade?

Answer. The major problems we find in international trade in services are those
which hamper or prevent the penetration or expansion of U.S. service industries in
international markets; generally we refer to these as problems which affect the
right of establishment. The specific form these problems take, however, may differ
from industry to industry. For example, in aviation we find U.S. carriers encounter-
ing difficulty obtaining access to foreign reservation systems. In professional serv-
ices such as accounting or legal services we find onerous licensing or personnel
requirements. While these problems are different, the result is that they both
restrict the access of U.S. firms to foreign markets.

While it is correct the U.S. has a sizeable trade surplus in services, we are
confident our trade partners will support a multilateral effort on services. There
have, in fact, been indications by several countries of strong support for our initia-
tives. Additionally, some preliminary work has been done in the OECD which is
represented by 23 nations. We feel as more work is done in the services area the
effort will enlist additional support. Those countries who are reluctant to actively
pursue services trade problems have indicated to us that it is a matter of devoting
the necessary resources.

International trade in services has been overshadowed by trade in goods. With the
shift in trade toward services, nations are beginning to look at this area of trade.
We believe once nations have had an opportunity to poll their service industries and
educate themselves, they will realize significant problems do exist in international
services trade that affect them detrimentally. We have attempted to “prime” this
process by making available the list of problems U.S. firms encounter. Once this
education process is completed, we feel we will be only one of a group of deman-
deurs for a services effort.

Before we arrive at a negotiating stage in services, a great deal of work will need
to be done by groups of nations and by individual nations. Developing an awareness
of the issues and problems which exist is the first step each nation must undertake.
The data will need to be organized on a multilateral basis and we will have to
develop a consensus on the solutions approach. At this time we are in the early
stages of the services exercise and we do not find it surprising that the EC Commis-
sion does not have a significant amount of resources dedicated to services. As the
services effort gains momentum we expect this situation to change.

With regard the LDC’s, we have seen some countries, particularly ASEAN, ex-
press increased interest in a services effort.

Services will be on the GATT Ministerial agenda; however, it would be premature
to speculate at this stage on the precise outcome of the services topic. Certainly a
directed work program than can constitute building blocks for possible future nego-
tiations would be a positive step.

Questions. Trade-related investment policies are a major issue for the 1980’s.
Right now a major issue are Canadian investment policies under the FIRA and
NEP, the discriminatory aspects of which appear to be clear violations of the GATT
national treatment provisions as well as having trade distorting effects for U.S.
business. This issue has been under Government review since early last year and we
have had numerous consultations with Canada with little effect.

Can you tell us what options have been under consideration and what policy
decisions, if any, have been made for dealing with the Canadians on this problem.
For example, there has been talk of bringing a GATT case on what seems to be a
clear violation of the national treatment provisions of Article III. On the other
hand, there have been press statements that the White House and State Depart-
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ment oppose a strong stance against Canada and Mexico in view of our overall
relationship.

Why haven’t we instituted even formal consultations under GATT let alone
dispute settlement and doesn’t the absence of our pursuit of our GATT rights affects
the credibility of our overall position that there should be vigorous enforcement of
GATT rules through the consultation and dispute settlement process?

Answer. As you are aware, we have been engaged in intensive, senior-level
consultations with the Canadian Government regarding our concerns over certain
aspects of the NEP and FIRA. We have seen a little movement on the part of the
Canadians to meet some of our concerns. The November 12 budget presentation
included a statement by the Canadian Government that the previously announced
expansion of the FIRA mandate would be shelved for the time being, and that the
NEP policies, including those to which we object, are not appropriate for other
sectors. In addition, we have received assurances that there will be no coercion of
major project managers to use Canadian goods and services.

Despite these recent assurances, we continue to have serious problems with
numerous Canadian investment, energy and industrial policies. We are continuing
to pursue our concerns at the highest levels of the Canadian Government. In the
event our consultative approach fails to resolve our concerns, we are considering
several options, including use of appropriate multilateral mechanisms as well as
unilateral domestic action.

We have not yet brought any of these issues to the GATT because we do not want
to foreclose our most effective tool for resolving disputes, bilateral consultations,
until we have fully pursued our concerns in this fora. It is also important to note
that not all of our concerns can be addressed in the GATT, thus we are pressing for
resolution of all of our concerns in the bilateral context before pursuing other
measures. We are committed, however, to instituting the appropriate GATT mecha-
nisms if it becomes evident that the bilateral process has run its course.

Question. An international agreement on the use of import safeguards (i.e., open
procedures and criteria for import relief measures) was sought particularly by the
United States in the MTN but not achieved because of lack of agreement on what
types of measures would be subject to the disciplines and whether and under what
circumstances countries could apply relief on a selective basis against individual
countries rather than MFN.

Would you describe what the status of discussions is on reaching international
agreement, what our objectives are, particularly on coverage of such an agreement
and on the selectivity issue, and what the implications of these positions are for our
own application of import relief?

Answer. The United States continues to seek multilateral agreement on a Safe-
guards code, which should cover all actions that have the effect of protecting
domestic producers from injury as a result of competition from imported products.
?&g{h actions would include, but not be limited to, those taken under GATT Article

Multilateral efforts to secure a Safeguards code, which were unsuccessful during
the MTN, have failed to make significant progress in the post-MTN period. Follow-
ing the MTN, a Committee on Safeguards was established to continue negotiations.
The committee, chaired by Director General Dunkel, met twice in 1980 and again on
April 15, 1981. Unfortunately, discussions in these meetings indicated that only the
United States, the Nordics, and the developing countries are anxious to proceed
with serious negotiations. Other major trading partners appear content to have the
negotiations lapse and continue with the status quo.

In July, in an effort to rejuvenate the negotiations, the United States circulated a
proposal to establish a permanent Safeguards Committee in the GATT. The pro-
posed terms of reference of this Committee would allow it to receive notifications on
any type of safeguards measure from any country. The U.S. proposal is designed to
set aside final decisions on issues such as selectivity while facilitating further work
on reaching a consensus on the form of a possible safeguard agreement. In light of
opposition to the concept of a permanent committee, however, USTR is now consid-
ering revising its proposal to allow for the establishment of a work program in the
existing GATT Committee on Safeguards and to place this work in the context of
preparations for the 1982 GATT Ministerial. We will be discussing this proposal
with other delegations in Geneva and, if the response is favorable, we will seek to
schedule an early meeting of the Committee on Safeguards.

If the U.S. proposal is adopted, we would hope to make progress on developing a
factual basis for serious negotiations prior to the 1982 GATT Ministerial meeting.

U.S. application of import relief is governed by our domestic laws and therefore
not affected by current international discussions. Under current U.S. law, applica-
tion of import relief is compatible with GATT Article XIX. Achievement of the U.S.
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objective of bringing a broad range of safeguard actions under a multilateral system
of rules would not necessarily affect U.S. import relief procedures. However, this is
an issue that needs to be considered as a safeguards code is negotiated.

Question. What are the objectives of the developing countries in global negotia-
tions with respect to trade?

Answer. Since global negotiations have not taken place, it is difficult to define the

. exact objectives of developing countries with respect to trade matters. At Cancun,
participants addressed a wide range of problems during the discussion on commod-
ities, trade and industrialization including the negotiation of commodity agree-
ments, the Common Fund, protectionism, improvement of the Generalized System of
Preferences, barriers to trade in agriculture, the Multifiber Arrangement, structur-
al adjustment and aid for infrastructure projects.

Question. What trade issues is the U.S. willing to see included in the agenda?
Where and how will the agenda be prepared and what is the timetable?

Answer. The United States has neither an agenda nor a timetable for global
negotiations. In his opening statement at Cancun, the President outlined four “es-
sential understandings” that if accepted would allow the United States to engage in
a new preparatory process. The four understandings are:

“(1) The talks should have a practical orientation toward identifying, on a case-by-
case basis, specific potential for or obstacles to development which cooperative
efforts may enhance or remove. We will suggest an agenda composed of trade
liberalization, energy and food resource development, and improvement in the in-
vestment climate.

(2) The talks should respect the competence, functions and powers of the special-
ized international agencies upon which we all depend, with the understanding that
the decisions reached by these agencies within respective areas of competence are
final. We should not seek to create new institutions.

(3) The general orientation of the talks must be toward sustaining or achieving
greater levels of mutually beneficial international growth and development, taking
into account domestic economic policies; and

(4) The talks should take place in an atmosphere of cooperative spirit similar to
that which has brought us together in Cancun—rather than one in which views
become polarized and chances for agreement are needlessly sacrificed.”

The President also suggested that “officials of our governments informally confer
in the months ahead as to appropriate procedures.” This process of consultation to
ascertain if there is widespread acceptance of the President’s four understandings is
taking place in New York, Washington and overseas. If full acceptance of the
understandings is confirmed by these consultations, the United States will engage in
a new preparatory process. Therefore the agenda or timetable for global negotia-
tions will only be discussed once a consensus is reached on the four understandings.

Question. How is the U.S. trade policy position being coordinated?

Answer. The overall responsibility for the Cancun Summit rests with the State
Department. All decisions on the post Cancun action plan described earlier were
cleared through a series of interagency meetings. The U.S. trade policy position will
be coordinated by the U.S. Trade Representative through interagency meetings of
the Trade Policy Subcommittee (TPSC) and the Trade Policy Committee (TPC). The
President may also wish to discuss trade policy at meetings of the Cabinet Council
for Economic Affairs (CCEA).

Question. Of major concern is that concessions and promises will be made in the
U.N. political forum in vague language to developing countries in response to their
demands on trade which will then be sent to the GATT for negotiations and
implementation in specific terms. The dangers are two-fold: (1) that promises will be
made for foreign policy reasons that are unrealistic in terms of concrete fulfillment,
thereby raising false LDC expectations and later continued frustration; and (2) the
GATT will become yet another forum for LDC political rhetoric, undermining its
usefulness as a body where meaningful discussion and agreement on specific issues
can take place in a pragmatic way.

Assuming negotiations on specific trade issues will take place in the GATT rather
than the U.N., how do you foresee that the above dangers can be avoided?

Answer. The Administration shares the Subcommittee’s concern that vague lan-
guage in our discussions on trade could lead to serious misunderstanding. At
Cancun, the President sought to avoid the danger of misunderstanding by a clear
statement of the U.S. position on global negotiations and the GATT. The need to
respect and preserve the competence and functions of the specialized international
agencies is outlined in the second understanding. The President also stated that the
United States will not agree to negotiations which place the central body of the
United Nations in a position to overrule the GATT on trade matters.
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Question. How might global negotiations relate to the agenda for the GATT
Ministerial with respect to LDC trade issues?

Answer. The Contracting Parties of the GATT recently voted to meet at the
ministerial level in November of 1982. The purpose of the Ministerial as outlined by
the Contracting Parties would be to “examine the functioning of the multilateral
trading system and to reinforce the common efforts of the Contracting Parties to
support and improve the system for the benéfit of all nations. To this end, Ministers
would address themselves to the implementation of the results of the multilateral
trading system, problems affecting the trading sytem, the position of developing
countries in world trade and future prospects for the development of trade.”

In order to ensure that the concerns of developing countries are addressed in the
GATT Ministerial, the United States Trade Representative will be writing to several
Economic and Trade Ministers of the major developing countries to elicit their ideas
for agenda items and to encourage their participation in the preparatory phase of
the Ministerial.

We believe that the GATT ministerial holds out the best prospect for discussing in
depth the trade problems of all countries, including the developing countries.

It is difficult to anticipate how global negotiations, if they were launched, would
fit in with the GATT Ministerial. It is clear, however, that any decision on trade
matters will be made in the GATT.

Question. What do you see as the role of the OECD?

Answer. The OECD is viewed as a forum for discussing trade policy with nations
with which we share common trade interests. It does not supplant the legitimate
role of the GATT where the concerns of all the Contracting Parties, including the
developing countries are discussed and resolved.

Question. You state on page 12 of your testimony that the Administration has
decided to seek extension of our GSP program, which expires in 1985, and that you
will explore the possibilities of an international harmonized and simplified system.

At this point can you give us an idea of your timetable in terms of consultation
and submitting legislation to the Congress?

As you know, one of the major criticisms about our present program is that 60-70
percent of the benefits go to the most advanced rather than to the neediest LDCs.
Do you have any thoughts at this stage on how greater “graduation” might be
achieved, particularly under an international harmonized system given the pres-
sures from LDCs against reduction of their benefits and pressures from other
developed donors for burdensharing?

Answer. The Administration will begin evaluation of specific proposals for modify-
ing and extending the GSP next year. The first step in this process will be a series
of public hearings to be held throughout the United States in the spring to accept
public views on what form and substance a future GSP could take. We will use
these views as part of the background information to be considered in the inter-
agency process as we formulate concrete proposals for a new GSP program.

A very important part of our consultation process next year also will be discus-
sions with members of Congress on the changes they would like to see implemented
in a new GSP. The USTR GSP staff will be available to confer with any interested
Congressional staff members on any or all elements of a future GSP. We consider
this exercise to be a valuable part of the overall consultation process, and I hope
you will feel free to inform my Office of your views on any specific aspects of the
GSP or its overall administration in the coming months. I expect that legislation on
extension of the GSP will be submitted to Congress sometime in early 1983.

Our goal in enacting a new GSP program is to establish a scheme which will
benefit as many developing countries as possible, particularly the less advanced
developing countries. Clearly, meeting this objective will entail making a number of
changes in the present system, the precise nature of which the Administration is
just now beginning to consider. We are going into next year’s consultation process
with open minds and will rely a great deal on the constructive suggestions of
interested parties in formulating proposals for a new scheme.

Our aim for the international harmonization of GSPs is to consider making the
various GSP programs of industrial countries more similar so they will better serve
the needs of beneficiary developing countries which find the current system of
twenty-or-so different programs difficult to understand. To that end, I expect that
we will explore measures which will not undully complicate administration and
utilization of the GSP but which will differentiate meaningfully between developing
countries according to their degree of competitiveness and economic development.



43

Chairman GiBons. The subcommittee will reconvene tomorrow
at 9:30 a.m. in this room to hear Secretary Block.

[Whereupon, at 12:40 p.m., the subcommittee adjourned, to recon-
vene at 9:30 a.m., Thursday, October 29, 1981.]
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HouSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
CoMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS,
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Washington, D.C.

The subcommittee met at 9:45 a.m., pursuant to notice, in room
1100, Longworth House Office Building, Hon. Sam M. Gibbons
(chairman of the subcommittee) presiding.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Good morning, ladies and gentlemen. The
hearing of the Trade Subcommittee of the Ways and Means Com-
mittee will come to order.

This is our second day of trade oversight hearings and we will
continue to hear from principal witnesses from the executive
branch agencies, beginning with Agriculture Secretary William E.
Block, to be followed by Undersecretary of State for Economic
Affairs Myer Rashish, Under Secretary of Labor Malcolm R.
Lovell, and Council of Economic Advisers Chairman Murray L.
Weidenbaum.

This afternoon we will start our panel discussions beginning with
the trade agenda for the 1980’s, with witnesses from the major
trade agencies, including USTR Ambassador Brock, who will be
joining us for the second day.

It is my pleasure to welcome Secretary of Agriculture Block in
his first appearance before the Subcommittee on Trade.

Please proceed, Mr. Secretary.

STATEMENT OF HON. JOHN R. BLOCK, SECRETARY OF AGRI-
CULTURE, ACCOMPANIED BY R. E. “BUD” ANDERSON, ASSIST-
ANT ADMINISTRATOR, INTERNATIONAL TRADE POLICY, FOR-
EIGN AGRICULTURAL SERVICE

Secretary BrLock. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I am
pleased to meet with the subcommittee and have a chance to talk
about an issue that is of vital importance to the agricultural indus-
try. I have with me today by my side Mr. R. “Bud” Anderson,
Assistant Administrator, International Trade Policy, Foreign Agri-
cultural Service. Upon completion of my remarks, on some of the
questioning I may ask him to give us a little bit of help if it is all
right with you.

Chairman GieBons. Certainly. :

Secretary Brock. I would go ahead and proceed with some re-
marks here, and then open it for questions.

Chairman GiBBONS. Mr. Secretary, I will put your entire state-
ment in the record, so you may proceed in any manner that you
wish.

(45)
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" Secretary Brock. Thank you very much. I am pleased to have
this opportunity to meet with you and discuss the agricultural
trade policies and objectives of this administration.

I think our approach to agricultural trade is well known. It can
be stated very simply: The administration’s No. 1 priority for U.S.
agriculture is long term, sustainable export growth. And we believe
this growth can best be achieved in a trading system in which the
market, not government, is the primary factor.

The administration’s farm programs and policies are founded on
this philosophy. Our proposals for farm legislation would place
greater reliance on the marketplace for farm income. We want to
reduce government interference in the farmer’s production and
marketing decisions.

These programs are export-oriented. Our price support program
proposals are mindful of the need to protect farmers against eco-
nomic disaster, but they also recognize agriculture’s need to be
competitive in an expanding and increasingly competitive world
market.

American farmers are more dependent on the world market
today than ever before. We are at the point where farmers use
almost 40 percent of their cropland to produce for export, and they
have come to depend on exports for one-fourth of their marketing
income.

The importance of this agricultural export trade goes beyond the
farm. Agricultural exports sustain more than 1 million jobs produc-
ing, processing, shipping, and financing products for export. Sub-
stantial agricultural trade surpluses year in and year out help
strengthen the dollar, and agricultural exports reduce the cost of
farm programs by moving production to market rather than the
Government bin. U.S. agricultural trade helps build stronger rela-
tionships with other countries.

U.S. agricultural exports will continue to grow. They totaled
about $44 billion in fiscal 1981, and should be about $28 billion,
compared with about $27 billion in fiscal 1981.

For the longer term, foreign food demand is likely to continue to
expand at a near record rate, and purchases of food, feed, and fiber
by other countries will continue to increase, with a heightened
demand for U.S. farm exports.

Despite the world’s increasing demand for food, the future for
U.S. agricultural exports is not without problems beyond economic
factors that can have negative influences on export growth.

One of these is increasing competition. Major producers in South
America, Europe, and other areas are increasingly active in world
markets, and this was stimulated if not generated by the Soviet
embargo. The Department has stepped up its activities to help
producers and exporters penetrate and expand foreign markets,
and these will be discussed in one of the panels that have been
scheduled during these hearings.

A greater threat and a bigger challenge to U.S. agricultural
exp(l)(xit growth is the rise in protectionist sentiment in the trading
world.

I might comment very briefly on the kind of activities we see
from other countries. I am recently back from a trip to the Far
East, Korea, and China, and I found that as I talked to ministers of
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agriculture and trade and even the President there in Korea that
the ministers of agriculture and foreign trade of countries such as
Australia and Canada had also been to these countries not too
many weeks in advance of my trip. It tends to point out that we
are in a very competitive world marketing atmosphere today. The
United States must be very aggressive if we are going to hold our
own.

As I suggested at the outset of these remarks, the administra-
tion’s position on agricultural trade is well known and it is clear.
We are opposed to protectionism and favor freedom to trade.

We intend to work as closely as we can with our trading partners
to make the agreements reached in the Multilateral Trade Negotia-
tion work fairly and effectively. We intend to keep the commit-
ments made by the United States in the MTN and earlier agree-
ments. We expect other countries to do the same.

We view proposals for international agreements in the context of
our own agricultural policy, which is to help American farmers
compete effectively in markets at home and abroad. We believe the
market offers better opportunities for trade growth than multilat-
eral agreements that allocate supplies, set prices, or divide up
world trade.

We also are skeptical of bilateral agreements except under very
special circumstances. In our view they are more likely to restrict
than to foster trade.

As you know, the European Community’s common agricultural
policy protects its farmers from world price changes and encour-
ages overproduction by using high support prices and production
and other subsidies. The cost of this program has become enor-
mous, and EC policymakers have begun to shift the burden of
domestic overproduction to their trading partners in the form of
reduced access to their market and subsidized competition in third-
country markets.

We have two general concerns with the EC approach to trade.
First is the displacement of U.S. exports in third countries by
export subsidies. The other is the increased threat to access to the
EC market for American agricultural products.

We are particularly disturbed over the Community’s increasingly
aggressive use of export subsidies and their proposals to establish a
formal common export policy that would use additional measures
to dispose permanently of surplus production in international
trade. We have met with European Community leaders and told
them that we cannot and will not accept trade distorting practices.

The administration has also made clear its opposition to the
Community’s tendency toward increased border protection. We are
pleased that the EC Commission dropped from consideration a
draft proposal to impose a tax on vegetable fats and oils.

However, we still face a serious threat on another front. Pressure
from some member states is increasing to limit imports of feed-
grain substitutes, particularly corn gluten feed, by unbinding the
zero duty bound in the GATT. With a Community market in feed-
grain substitutes valued at $600 to $700 million last year at stake,
we would be forced to take immediate counteraction if the Europe-
an Community were to impair our access.
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We also are watching the Community’s enlargement process.
Greece acceded to the European Community last January and
Spain and Portugal could join as early as 1984. The direction in
which the European Community moves to make adjustments for
thedacceding countries will have important implications for U.S
trade.

We are following GATT procedures with respect to Greece to
insure that we are fully compensated for the effect of enlargement,
and will do the same with Spain and Portugal.

Those are just some of the major agricultural trade policy issues
we face with the European Community. The United States is
taking a strong stand on these issues with the Community itself,
and is seeking to work with its other trading partners and GATT
members to press the European Community to move in the direc-
tion of freer trade.

The United States-Japanese agricultural trade relationship in-
volves a high degree of interdependence. Japan is American agri-
culture’s top customer, with exports expected to reach about $7
billion this year, and the Japanese look to the United States for
about 80 percent of their imports of grains and about 95 percent of
soybean imports. They are concerned about us as a reliable suppli-
er. They ask that question on more than one occasion. I might add
furthermore they made it clear that not only were they shaken by
the embargo on soybeans back in 1973 and 1974, they were also
shaken by the Soviet grain embargo because they just did not know
what this meant. They just had to assume the United States maybe
was not very reliable.

So liberal agricultural trade is in the interest of both. However,
Japan continues to restrict imports of a number of important agri-
cultural products, and their efforts to reduce their rice surplus in
third-country markets have caused us concern. We told them that
on our trip and talked to them about it.

The United States has many bilateral understandings and agree-
ments with other countries that permit discussion of agricultural
trade issues. In addition, the Organization for Economic Coopera-
tion and Development [OECD] and the United Nations Committee
for Trade and Development [UNCTAD] provide international
forums for discussion of agricultural issues. However, trading rules
come down to the GATT and agreements reached in multilateral
negotiations, which set forth international rights and obligations
governing trade. .

Nations must look to the mechanisms contained in the MTN and
to the GATT to enforce compliance with the agreements reached in
the MTN. Our principal concern with respect to MTN compliance
is with the codes on subsidies and standards.

The Subsidies Code imposes limits on agricultural subsidies, but
it does not outlaw them and they continue to be a problem.

The Standards Code requires more open government processes in
establishing regulatory standards. However, it has become appar-
ent that the code may fail to cover some agriculture-related trade
barriers. At our initiative, the Code Committee has been discussing
the applicability of the code to disputes over production and proc-
essing methods.
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I think it is clear from this summary of U.S. objectives in inter-
national trade and the obstacles to achieving them that our policy
goals are not fully shared by our major trading partners.

Despite these and other impediments, this administration re-
mains dedicated to the principle of more open world markets and
more liberal trade as the best means of assuring the most efficient
growth in agricultural production and the best use of the world’s
agricultural resources. We will continue to work toward that goal.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

[The prepared statement follows:]

STATEMENT BY JOHN R. BLOCK, SECRETARY OF AGRICULTURE

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee: I am pleased to have this opportu-
nity to meet with you and discuss the agricultural trade policies and objectives of
this Administration.

I think our approach to agricultural trade is well know. It can be stated very
simply: The Administration’s number 1 priority for the United States agriculture is
long-term, sustainable export growth. And we believe this growth can best be
;a_chieved in a trading system in which the market, not government, is the primary

actor.

The Administration’s farm programs and policies are founded on this philosophy.
Our proposals for farm legislation would place greater reliance on the marketplace
for farm income. We want to reduce government interference in the farmer’s
production and marketing decisions.

These programs are export-oriented. Qur price support proposals are mindful of
the need to protect farmers against economic disaster but they also recognize
agriculture’s need to be competitive in an expanding and increasingly competitive
world market.

THE ROLE OF AGRICULTURAL EXPORTS

American farmers are more dependent on the world market today than ever
before. Ten years ago, for example, exports accounted for less than 40 percent of
United States wheat production; this year, almost 70 percent of the U.S. wheat
output will move into export, and the world market provides an outlet for one-third
of the U.S. corn harvest—three times the export share in 1971/72. Half our soybean
production is exported. We are at the point where farmers use almost 40 percent of
their cropland to produce for export, and they have come to depend on exports for
one-fourth of their marketing income.

Obviously, foreign markets are essential to the health and growth of the farm
-economy. But the importance of this export trade goes beyond the farm. Agricultur-
al exports sustain more than one million jobs producing, processing, shipping and
financing products for export. Substantial agricultural trade surpluses year in and
year out help strengthen the dollar. By directing significant portions of the abun-
dant production of U.S. farmers into foreign markets, agricultural exports reduce
the cost of farm programs.

A less tangible but no less important benefit of U.S. agricultural trade is to build
stronger relationships with other countries, which can lead—and in almost every
case, have led—to cooperation in areas beyond agriculture.

If you look at the top ten markets for U.S. agriculture in 1980—all of them
exceeding a billion dollars—you find a worldwide roster of countries that are impor-
tant to the United States in foreign affairs. These are Japan, The Netherlands,
Mexico, China, Canada, West Germany, South Korea, Spain, Taiwan and Italy. The
Soviet Union was No. 11, with shipments totalling over $1 billion, despite the
embargo. And taken together, the Comecon Countries of Eastern Europe looked to
U.S. agriculture for more than $2 billion worth of farm products in 1980.

EXPORT OUTLOOK

U.S. agricultural exports will continue to grow. As you know, forecasting of
supply and demand for agricultural products is not precise. There are too many
important variables—weather, international relationships, currency fluctuations,
economic conditions in customer countries, and other factors bear upon the volume
of trade in agricultural products.

This past fiscal year, for example, unforeseen factors led to a successive scaling
back of our forecasts of U.S. agricultural exports from the $48 billion projected last



50

November to exports of about $44 billion for fiscal 1981. This is a gain of 10 percent
over fiscal year 1980 instead of almost 20 percent as we had first expected. The
reduction from expectations derives, in part, from the negative effects of high
interest rates, the stronger dollar, and generally sluggish worldwide economic per-
formance.

The rise in interest rates tended to constrain the ability of developing countries to
purchase goods and services, including agricultural commodities. And it encouraged
buying only for immediate needs to avoid high costs of money tied up in stored
commodities. The appreciation of the dollar made U.S. goods more expensive on
international markets.

It is difficult to pinpoint the net effect of exchange rate fluctuations on agricultur-
al exports. However, during the past year, agricultural export volumes were moving
in accord with expectations until the dollar appreciation during the spring and
summer, after which the volume deviated down from trend.

The same factors will continue to affect U.S. agricultural trade during fiscal year
1982. However, record or near record U.S. crops of corn, wheat and soybeans should
result in a decrease in export unit values, with an increase in export volume, which
we project at about 10 percent. Overall agricultural exports in fiscal 1982 should
range in value from $44 to $48 billion.

For the longer term—bearing in mind that the uncertainties increase the further
you project into the future—we expect continued export growth. Foreign food
demand is likely to continue to expand at a near record rate of 2.5 to 2.7 percent in
volume a year in the 1980’s. At the same time, sharply rising production costs and
increased use of marginal land are expected to slow increases in foreign food output
to 2.1 to 2.4 percent per year.

Given this supply and demand situation, purchases of food, feed and fiber by
other countries will continue to increase, with a heightened demand for U.S. farm
exports.

THE AGRICULTURAL TRADE SURPLUS

As 1 suggested earlier, United States agricultural trade surpluses have been
substantial, making significant positive contributions to the total U.S. trade balance.
These surpluses should continue to grow.

In fiscal 1981, a slight decline in U.S. agricultural imports and the increase in
farm exports produced a positive agricultural trade balance of around $27 billion, a
rise of 16 percent, or almost $4 billion. Preliminary projections for fiscal 1981 show
a non-agricultural trade deficit of over $50 billion, which would be slashed by
approximately one-half by the contribution of agricultural trade.

We expect a further, but smaller, increase in the agricultural trade balance in the
current fiscal year—to $28 billion to $30 billion. Forecasts for the nonagricultural
trade balance are not yet available, but analysts expect that the strong U.S. dollar
will continue to affect trade flows, leading to the widening of the nonagricultural
trade deficit.

It is difficult to project how the agricultural trade balance will move during the
next few years. However, barring major deviations from current global economic
trends, our projections imply that by 1986 U.S. agricultural exports would total
from $65 billion to $75 billion and agricultural imports would total from $22 billion
to $28 billion. This would leave an agricultural trade surplus of about $40 billion, an
increase of 40 percent over the projected surplus for fiscal year 1982. These recur-
ring agricultural trade surpluses will continue to help soften the impact of non-
agricultural deficits on the U.S. economy.

TRADE CHALLENGES

Despite the world’s increasing demand for food, the future for U.S. agricultural
exports is not without problems beyond those that I have cited as negative influ-
ences on export growth.

One of these is increasing competition. Major producers in South America, Europe
and other areas are increasingly active in world markets, and this was stimulated if
not generated by the Soviet embargo. U.S. agriculture, with its abundant productiv-
ity, can meet fair and equitable competition, and the Department has stepped up its
activities to help producers and exporters penetrate and expand foreign markets.
We have mounted a system of commodity sales teams of developing countries, we
are seeking new ways to use credit and have developed an improved information
system and a method of pinpointing market development budgeting. These and
other initiatives will be discussed in one of the panels that have been scheduled
during these hearings.
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A greater threat and a bigger challenge to U.S. agricultural export growth is the
rise in protectionist sentiment in the trading world. Export subsidies, particularly
by the European Community, to distort markets for U.S. agricultural commodities
and those of other countries. Unnecessary import regulations are proliferating, and
bilateral agreements are on the increase as a mechanism of trade.

As I suggested at the outset of these remarks, the Administration’s position on
agricultural trade is well known and it is clear. We are opposed to protectionism
and favor freedom to trade. We.intend to pursue, and to pursue aggressively,
domestic and international policies that will liberalize, rather than restrict, trade in
agricultural products. We will attempt, in our own market, to set an example for
others to follow.

We intend to work as closely as we can with our trading partners to make the
agreements reached in the Multilateral Trade Negotiation work fairly and effective-
ly. We intend to keep the commitments made by the United States in the MTN and
earlier agreements. We expect other countries to do the same.

We view proposals for international agreements in the context of our own agricul-
tural policy, which is to help American farmers compete effectively in markets at
home and abroad. We believe the market offers better opportunities for trade
growth than multilateral agreements that allocate supplies, set prices or divide up
world trade.

We also are skeptical of bilateral agreements except under very special circum-
stances. In our view they are more likely to restrict than to foster trade.

The bilateral sales agreement with the Soviet Union is one of those special cases.
It is based on the need to offset that nation’s potential to disrupt world markets
with its variable production and massive buying ability.

The previous administration signed a minimum supply agreement with China,
and we intend to honor that agreement. Finally, we have an agreement with Mexico
that supports important foreign policy goals and recognizes the unique relationship
we have with our neighbor to the South.

The Reagan Administration has taken every opportunity to express its concern
over the trend toward the increasing use of devices that destabilize and limit the
growth of agricultural trade.

We have done so in regular consultations on agricultural and other matters, and I
have personally voiced U.S. opposition to these trends in meetings with ministers
during get-acquainted and market development missions to the European Communi-
ty and the Far East.

THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITY

As you know, the Community’s Common Agricultural Policy protects its farmers
from world price changes and encourages overproduction by using high support
prices and production and other subsidies. The cost of this program has become
enormous, representing two-thirds of the EC budget last year, and EC policy makers
have begun to shift the burden of domestic overproduction to their trading partners
in the form of reduced access to their market and subsidized competition in third
country markets.

Rising costs of the CAP have reached a crisis stage, and there are active discus-
sions under way in the Community on reform of the system. We appreciate the
responsible voices being raised in these discussions, urging that internal, rather
than external, solutions be pursued, and we hope they will prevail. Certainly, the
decision to set aside the proposal for an internal tax on vegetable o0il was a responsi-
ble act, and we commend the EC Commission for it.

We have two general concerns with the EC approach to trade. First is the
displacement of U.S. exports in third countries. For example, EC export subsidies
for wheat flour result in an artificial reduction of the U.S. market share. The other
concern is the increased threat to access to the EC market for American agricultur-
al products.

We are particularly disturbed over the Community’s increasingly aggressive use
of export subsidies and their proposals to establish a formal Common Export Policy.
This policy would use long-term bilateral agreements, special credits and an even
greater use of export subsidies to dispose permanently of surplus production in
international trade. We have told EC leaders that we cannot and will not accept
trade distorting practices.

The Administration has also made clear its opposition to the Community’s tend-
ency toward increased border protection. We are pleased that the EC Commission
dropped from consideration a draft proposal to impose a tax on vegetable fats and
oils. Such a tax would have affected soybean oil, with serious implications for U.S.
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soybean trade with the EC valued at close to $4 billion, and we expressed strong
oposition to the proposal.

However, we still face a serious threat on another front. Pressure from some
member states is increasing to limit imports of feed-grain substitutes, particularly
corn gluten feed, by unbinding the zero duty bound in the GATT. The EC is
concerned because imports of these commodities have risen dramatically in recent
years. We have pointed out that this has occurred because the EC price for the
major competing product, corn, is kept high through the Community’s own domestic
support levels and import levies. With a Community market in feed grain substi-
tutes valued at $600-3700 million last year at stake, we would be forced to take
immediate counteraction if the EC were to impair our access.

EC ENLARGEMENT

We also are watching the Community’s enlargement process. Greece acceded to
the EC last January and Spain and Portugal could join as early as 1984. Support of
the agricultural sectors in these countries will add to EC budget costs, and the
strong CAP incentives for certain fruits and vegetables may spur production in the
new member states, increasing surplus problems and creating new problems for
U.S. exports. The direction in which the EC moves to make adjustments for the
acceding countries will have important implications for U.S. trade.

We know that free access to the EC market for the new countries’ products may
result in damage to the United States because of trade diversion. Changes in the
border treatment of U.S. commodities may also restrict some U.S. sales to the new
member states as they adopt the EC tariff schedule and import regimes.

There should also be opportunities for gains. One area that may open up for us as
a result of enlargement is that of feedgrain substitutes. The zero duty binding on
some of these commodities may encourage their increased use in fee rations by
Greece, Spain and Portugal.

The United States is actively involved in a GATT Working Party review of the
terms of Greek accession. Within the next few months we expect to consult with the
EC to seek compensation for any GATT rights which have been impaired as a result
of enlargement. We will follow this same procedure with Spain and Portugal to
ensure that we are fully compensated for the effect of enlargement of the EC.

Those are just some of the major %gricultural trade policy issues we face with the
European Community. The United States is taking a strong stand on these issues
with the Community itself, and is seeking to work with its other trading partners
and GATT members to press the EC to move in the direction of freer trade. We
intend to use the GATT whereever appropriate to solve trade disputes. When other
GATT members have complaints against the EC, we will support them whenever it
is in our interests to do so. We ﬁso intend to raise our concerns over EC trade
policy in other international forums, such as the recent wheat exporters meeting
where we emphasized our concerns over the EC grain export policy. We will encour-
age other countries to do the same.

JAPAN

The U.S.-Japanese agricultural trade relationship involves a high degree of
interdependence. Japan is American agriculture’s top customer, with exports ex-
gected to reach about $7 billion this year, and the Japanese look to the United

tates for about 80 percent of their imports of grains and about 95 percent of
soybean imports.

So liberal agricultural trade is in the interest of both. However, Japan continues
to restrict imports of a number of agricultural products that are important to U.S.
agriculture, most notably beef, oranges and citrus juices; and their efforts to reduce
their rice surplus in third country markets has caused us concern.

Japan did make ma‘i'?r concessions during the MTN that benefit U.S. agricul-
ture—tariff cuts or bindings on $1.6 billion in agricultural trade (1978) to the United
States, significant expansion of imports of high-quality beef, and increases in the
orange and citrus juice quotas.

The Japanese are on schedule in their quota expansion. Consultations on the
matter are scheduled to be held during Japanese fiscal year 1982, at which time we
expect to press for complete liberalization of trade in beef, oranges and citrus juice.
We have urged that these talks be held as soon as possible.

CONSULTATIVE ARRANGEMENTS

Discussion of agricultural trade issues is not confined to trade negotiations. The
United States has many bilateral understandings and agreements with other coun-
tries that permit discussion of these issues. Some of the most important of these are
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the Agricultural consultations with Japan, the U.S.-Mexico Joint Commission on
Commerce and Trade; the U.S.-USSR grain agreement consultations; the U.S.-China
%éain agreement Consultations and semi-annual high level consultations with the

As you know, of course, the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Develop-
ment (OECD) and the United Nations Committee for Trade and Development
(UNCTAD) provide international forums for discussion of agricultural issues, but
trading rules come down to the GATT and agreements reached in multilateral
negotiations, which set forth international rights and obligations governing trade.

MTN COMPLIANCE

Nations must look to the mechanisms contained in the MTN and to the GATT to
enforce compliance with the agreements reached in the MTN. Qur principal concern
with respect to MTN compliance is with the codes on subsides and standards.

The Subsidies Code imposes limits on agricultural subsidies, but it did not outlaw
them and they continue to be a problem. We are taking the European Community
to the GATT on its damaging use of subsidies on wheat flour and sugar, and we may
do so on other products for which Section 301 petitions have been received—poultry
and pasta goods.

The Standards Code requires more open government processes in establishing
regulatory standards. However, it has become apparent that the Code may fail to
cover some agriculture-related trade barriers. At our initiative, the Code Committee
has been discussing the applicability of the code to disputes over production and
processing methods. We are concerned in particular with the dispute settlement
coverage involving meat slaughtering, packing, and plant quarantines.

I think it is clear from this summary of U.S. objectives in international trade and
the obstacles to achieving them that our policy goals are not fully shared by our
major trading partners.

EC policies of self-sufficiency in agriculture and subsidized worldwide surplus
disposal conflict in many respects with U.S. agricultural policies and export goals.
Japan, our major market, remains heavily protective in agricultural commodities
that it holds important to domestic agriculture, such as rice, fruits and meats.
Special or preferential benefits accorded to developing countries under the GATT
make it difficult to hold developing countries responsible for trade-restrictive ac-
tions, although more liberal trade in agricultural products would be of particular
benefit to many.

Despite these and other impediments, this Administration remains dedicated to
the principle of more open world markets and more liberal trade as the best means
of assuring the most efficient growth in agricultural production and the best use of
the world’s agricultural resources. We will continue to work toward that goal.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Thank you, Mr. Secretary.

We welcome you here. I have got a lot of hangups about our
agricultural policy, but I am not going to blame them all on you
because I realize you have been on the job a relatively short period
of time and have had enough trouble with the agriculture bill that
is dragging its way through Congress right now.

I noticed in your statement that you said that the administration
and you supported more of a market system in our agricultural
policy, and I applaud that. I realize that we have got a long way to
move in that regard, but is it not a little hard for us to go out into
the world and preach a market system with as many restraints as
we have got in our agricultural system?

Secretary BLock. Yes, sir. I think there are some problems, but
yet when you look at the production in the United States and the
way we function we are pretty open and pretty free in our produc-
tion, and we live for all practical purposes within the world market
structure. Our grains and our livestock prices are almost entirely
floating at the world market level. We occasionally bump down
against our loan level, but for the most part we are floating above
this level all the time, and that makes it possible that we can
compete fairly and effectively in the world market, and we have
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other trading partners that compete with us, but if they compete
on a fair basis I do not think we have any complaints. I think some
of these countries for the most part are good competitors and we
are going to have to bang head to head with them, Australia,
Argentina, and Canada to name a few. Our problem is with the
countries that do not allow their agriculture to function on a freer
basis, which puts them into competition artificially. That is what
we have to object to.

Chairman GisoNs. Well, I realize that it would be pretty diffi-
cult for us to unilaterally throw away all of our crutches and
restrictions, and I think that we are probably going to have to do it
in some multilateral negotiation. Is there any interest in the ad-
ministration in perhaps moving to a GATT-type negotiation on
international agricultural policy?

Secretary BLock. Well, I understand that there will be a ministe-
rial meeting in 1982 at which time we will be discussing some of
these issues. I think the process may be a slow one in getting all
the details ironed out. On a bilateral basis I have been talking with
the ministers of agriculture and other officials from many of our
trading partners, countries that we compete with, and we have
really had a pretty good meeting of the minds on the direction we
want to go, and I am talking about countries such as Canada,
Argentina, Australia, New Zealand, and we have a very good meet-
ing of the minds. I feel this is a first step, but I think it is the
United States’ responsibility to take some leadership here because
we le:ire looked to as a leader in agricultural production in the
world.

Chairman GiBBoNns. I applaud you for having these bilateral
discussions, and I know that they are fruitful and productive, but I
would imagine you would find in a bilateral discussion everyone a °
little uneasy about making movements because they do not know
what the third party or the fourth or fifth party who is not a party
to the discussions is going to do, so everybody tends to play their
cards pretty close to their vest in an operation like that. That is
why I suggest that perhaps it is time to set out on a very broad
bas(ils and discuss rules for agricultural trade, foreign agricultural
trade.

Mr. Secretary, barring that is there any way we can get rid of all
this mountainous supply of dairy products that we have in this
country?

Secretary BLock. If someone has a real good idea I wish they
would bring it to me. It has been a serious problem with us. The
storage costs are tremendous, and the accumulation is growing.
That is the other side of the problem. In the farm bill now there
are two versions. They are not the same, but the House version
actually projects an increase at the support level next October 1,
and we just saw a 3-percent increase in the number of dairy cows
this September. In other words, dairy cow numbers are growing,
they are not declining, and with a constant support level between
now and next October and then an increase in support then I just
cannot see how this is going to discourage excess production. I tend
to think it is going to encourage milking cows, and the end result is
going to be more dairy products and surpluses that the Govern-
ment will be obliged to buy up.
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We would like to sell this, and we have made one sale and a
major large sale to New Zealand, and next summer we will be in a
position to look toward making another sale of some kind. We have
cheese, and we are looking for markets for cheese and nonfat dry
milk, but indications are that there are not very good markets for
it, not the size that we had for the butter.

It is a big problem for us, and even when we decide we want to
sell it or if we can find that there are some markets, the way we
have to do it is, in effect, to sell it at a subsidized price, and here
we are talking today about lowering subsidy on exports and getting
out of this crazy game. We do not want to play the game, and we
do not want other countries to play this subsidy export game, and
here we have got these products and we are in quite a dilemma
because we cannot even get rid of them unless we subsidize them. I
think it is crazy, and I do not know where we are going to go
unless some sense comes into the dairy program.

Chairman GieeoNns. I agree with everything you have said in
that regard, and I do not see any way that we can ever work our
way out of this unilaterally or even bilaterally. I think we must do
it multilaterally and try to establish some reasonable rules that we
can all resort to as far as agricultural products are concerned in
export trade.

Obviously there are people in the world that need to be fed and
we need to produce enough food to feed them, but as I understand
the situation it is not a question of our capacity to feed people. It is
a question of their capacity to be able to pay a reasonable price for
what can be produced. That is the dilemma we find ourselves in.
We find ourselves with these embarrassing surpluses while some
people are literally starving. I do not know any way we can do this
other than sitting down. We have had a waiver for 25 years under
the GATT for our section 22 practices, and we got that waiver on
the understanding that it was only going to be temporary. It has
been as temporary as some of those World War II buildings that
finally got destroyed. I think we have just got to work our way out
of this dilemma.

I have got some other questions about various sectors, but I do
not want to monopolize the conversation.

Mr. Frenzel, would you like to inquire?

Mr. FRENZEL. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Secretary, we appreciate your coming in here and we are
grateful for your statement.

I guess my questions really rotate around the theme that has
already been struck by Mr. Gibbons. Members of this subcommittee
do a certain amount of travel around the country and around the
world. We have just come back from the Far East where of course
we are trying to get Japan to take more of our beef and citrus and
to return to us as a heavier supplier of soybeans. We are also
interested in selling more wheat and corn and cotton.

We were also in other parts of the Far East where we were
trying to sell rice. We keep demanding free markets abroad but we
notice, some of us to our consternation, that the agricultural sector
of our economy, while it demands more markets abroad, it seems to
be very interested in erecting barriers at home. Increasingly we are
meeting resistance out there.
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While you were abroad I believe the House passed an agriculture
bill with what is assessed by our trading partners as being a very
restrictive meat regulation. Qur dairy industry is pressing for
casein quotas which your department, thankfully, has been success-
ful in suppressing.

It used to be that we could go out there and talk with some
assurance that we had pretty open markets and we could demand
that our trading partners do a better job of opening up their
markets. I have the feeling, a little bit of a depressing feeling that
the people who need the markets abroad the most have lost sight
of that and are far more interested in building walls around Amer-
ica than they are of promoting sales of their own products abroad.

I would like to have you comment on that bottom line. I hope I
am wrong, and maybe you will tell me that I am.

Secretary BLock. Well, the whole discussion that you provided
here is of considerable concern. I was here the last 2 days when we
were debating that meat amendment in the House. In spite of some
amendments offered to try and turn it around and straighten it out
we never really did, and we ended up getting something in the
House which is not desirable, and what we have in the Senate bill
is disastrous.

Mr. FRENZEL. It is worse?

Secretary BLock. Yes, it is disastrous. It is hard to understand
why we do not have a little more commonsense in this whole
arena, because it is going to cost us in the final analysis. I just
wholeheartedly agree with what you say, and I can only ask that
you and any other members of the committee help us out in
conference to the extent that you can, because we are going to be
fighting it.

Mr. FrReNzEL. I appreciate that. I think it is important. I have
already heard from some of my counterparts in other governments,
and the response is exactly what we would tell them if they did
that to us, that two can play that game, and that we have far more
at stake than they do, and we are going to pay for it in terms of
reduced agricultural exports somewhere along the line. And so I
wish you a lot of luck in doing it, and I do want to tell you that we
as the subcommittee want to help you in your efforts to expand
your markets abroad. We are anxious to work with you. We think
agricultural products are one of this country’s most technologically
advanced fields and have had a great export record, and we think
it can be a lof better.

I am also concerned about the Common Agricultural Policy and
the surpluses that it has built up, and you referred to that in your
discussion. We are very nervous that sooner or later that has got to
be unloaded. It can only be unloaded in the same way that we
dumped our butter. You have got to sell it cheap to move it or you
have got to give it away, and I note that there is a GATT ministeri-
al coming up next year in November. Every 10 years more or less
they occur, and I wonder, is your Department prepared for another
assault on the Common Agricultural Policy at that point?

Secretary Brock. My understanding is that that issue on the
Common Agricultural Policy may be one of the issues, but it will
be much broader than that, and certainly the Common Agricultur-
al Policy should be addressed because when you look at the trade
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problems that we face in this country and the trade obstacles that
we see abroad I do not think there is any one thing that is any
more threatening than that policy right now, and not just us but
some of the other trading countries that are concerned about
market access also.

Mr. FrenzeL. Well, I suppose if we ever made the final assault
on the peak of the CAP that we would be asked about our section
22 waiver in the GATT, and I wonder whether you have any
comment on whether that might be an appropriate tradeoff.

Secretary BrLock. Well, I think it is one you have to look at. I do
not know.

Mr. ANDERSON. I think that the Community and others have
raised the issue of our section 22 waiver and we have had the
waiver for a long time, there is no question about it, but I think
what some people lose sight of is that the Community has an
equally restricted import system in the form of variable levies, and
we have never challenged those variable levies, and maybe the
tradeoff on our part would be on the variable levy side. We think
their variable levies are very, very restrictive in terms of raising
world market prices up to high internal support prices, creating
surplus production within the Community which is then exported
on the world markets through the use of export subsidies, and that
whole system has really never been addressed in the GATT. We
have, over the years, as the Community expanded from 6 countries
to 9 and now to 10 and eventually to 12, we have always accepted
the expansion of the European Community as being completely in
our interest—a stable Europe, bigger trading partner, strong ally. I
think we are to the point where they are pretty big boys now, and
along with being a major trading partner, which the Community is
now, goes responsibility, and they have to accept some responsibili-
ty of their own relative to export subsidies and relative to the level
of protection going into the Community. So, they certainly live in a
glass house like we do. They have their share of restrictions, and
we would be willing to talk about our section 22 waiver. I think it
would raise into question their whole variable levy system and how
it applies, because it is equally as restrictive.

Mr. FrenzeL. I think that is a good response, and we have got a
long way to go and a lot of work to do in that area, and I hope that
we will be able to do it. We have some difficulty in dealing with
the EC because of their $18 billion negative trade balance with us,
and obviously they are not, in that kind of a situation, in a hurry
to make concessions. They have the same relationship with us as
we do with Japan. It is hard to negotiate in those kinds of situa-
tions, but anyway I thank you for your answer and I yield the
balance of my time.

Chairman GiBBoNsS. Mr. Jones.

Mr. Jones. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I will just take a minute
because we have a vote on, but I would like to discuss specifically
your trip to Japan. You touched on it in your testimony. The first
question is, Do you see any real loosening of their protective agri-
cultural policy, particularly with regard to beef and citrus?

Secretary Brock. Well, certainly publicly they are not talking
about it, but I guess I cannot say that I would predict any move-
ment one way or the other, because they did not tip their hand to
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us. At the same time we made sure that they did understand that
we wanted to reopen or open up the trade discussions as early as
possible, and if we are not going to open them early, which I am
not so sure that they are willing to do, certainly on schedule we
want to go to work on liberalizing trade, and that is the objective of
the discussions and that is what we should be looking toward and
liberalizing it with regard to citrus, beef, and other products. That
point we made quite clearly, and I am sure you have and other
people have, but I cannot predict how easy it will be. I think we
will have some success. I have to be optimistic.

Mr. JoNges. With regard to bilateral trade, a number of us on the
committee including the chairman and myself, are cosponsoring
H.R. 4346, which implements many of the Wise Men’s suggestions.
One of those suggestions would be long-term supply and purchase
agreements with Japan on agricultural products to allay their
fears about our being an unreliable supplier. Have you or your
colleagues had a chance to look at that legislation at least insofar
as it impacts on your department? What is your comment?

Secretary BrLock. I cannot speak to specifics on that legislation.
As far as the issue that you bring up, as you look at the world as a
whole I have observed many countries are moving toward many
different kinds of supply agreements. There are more of them now
than ever as far as I can tell, and it has been our general policy to
feel that at least some types of supply agreements may not be in
our best interest or the best interest of freer trade or more trade. It
may be possible that some kind of arrangement could be made that
would be flexible enough that could provide a useful framework for
trade expansion and trade assurances in a country such as Japan.

Mr. Jones. We would appreciate it if you could look at that part
and supply the subcommittee with your comments.

Secretary BLock. We will do that, sir.

[Additional information was not supplied.]

Chairman GisBoNs. We have got to vote. We will be right back.
It will not take us more than 6 or 7 minutes, I hope.

[Recess.]

Chairman GiBBONS. We can resume now.

Mr. Hance, would you like to inquire next?

Mr. Hance. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Secretary, it is good to see you and I appreciate your being
here. I would like to ask you some questions that are very critical
to those of us who represent agricultural areas. We have come to
the realization over the last three or four administrations that
there is not going to be a farm bill per se that will solve the
agricultural problems of this Nation. I think no matter what bill
comes out, we have to depend more and more on our exports.

I have a question on our grain sale to the Soviet Union, a topic I
have discussed with you previously. We made the agreement with
the Soviets on 8 million metric tons of grain, and now we are
looking at selling more than the 8 million metric tons. It seems
that their concern has to do with article 2, that they want some
type of guarantee that the agreement is not going to be cut off
overnight. I would appreciate it if you could expound on that and
let us know the position that you all are taking on the negotiations
and the position if any that the State Department is taking.
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Secretary Brock. It is widely held that the Soviets would want
assurances of supply, and in a new agreement I would have to
assume they would be asking for assurances to whatever extent we
are willing to give them of whatever amount of supply we are
going to write into the new agreement.

In the most recent talks that Mr. Lodwick, Under Secretary of
International Affairs and Commodity Programs in the Department
of Agriculture led, I would comment that they hardly brought the
point up. They did not make a big point out of it at all. That is for
the 15 million metric tons of additional grain that we have offered.
That may well be because they did not expect it on that 15 million
metric tons, but in terms of a new agreement I am quite sure that
they will be interested in something. I do not know what it will be,
and from the question of what we will be prepared to provide in
the way of assurances I really cannot say right now. We have not
formulated the details on it. I frankly personally feel we need to
have some assurances of some kind in there, whether the length of
time or the details on it I do not know.

As far as State Department’s position on that, I cannot answer
that question because we have not sat down yet to talk about just
what the administration would be coming forward with. A date for
the new trade LTA discussions has not yet been set. I talked to
Ambassador Brock last night and he said that the date is not yet
established. In all likelihood he will be leading those discussions,
because that is his responsibility. We will be working with him of
course and we will have a major role of formulating the kind of
agreement we end up with so that we can negotiate one.

Mr. HANCE. The new agreement has to come under STR, but I
think the pressure has to come primarily from you and the USDA
to encourage them to go ahead and to move in the area of the new
agreement. If not, they will never get around to it. I would encour-
age you to continue to pressure them as much as possible, other-
wise I am afraid that it will get lost in the shuffle since they have
got so much to do.

Secretary BLock. I know how vitally important it is to agricul-
ture and to our agricultural trade. I am encouraged by your state-
ment when you point out that we cannot buy prosperity for agri-
culture out of the Government Treasury. Prosperity has to come
from markets.

Mr. Hance. This is a little off the trade subject, but I have
always believed that we ought to do away with target prices and
have higher loan prices, and if I could have written the farm bill it
would have been a different bill. But that is another matter. If you
could have written it in the House it probably would have been a
different bill also.

One last question. Under the GATT agreement, policy advisory
committees were created. Kennedy had the Agriculture Advisory
Policy Committee, and members have not been renamed or ap-
pointed to that committee as they have in labor and other areas,
and I think it is very important that we get them appointed. This
in the past has worked very well. One other thing I would mention,
in the past the members of this advisory committee had been the
best people throughout agriculture without regard to political af-
filiation. I would hope that we would have the same type of repre-
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sentation in the future, and that you would be able to make those
appointments or encourage the White House .to make those ap-
pointments as soon as possible.

Secretary BLock. I appreciate that, and we will be working on it.
I think you are right. It is important.

Mr. HaNce. Do you have any timetable?

Secretary BLock. I do not have the timetable, but I understand it
is being worked on, but I do not have any timetable on it.

Mr. HANCE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GispoNs. Thank you.

Mr. Schulze, would you like to inquire now?

Mr. ScHuLze. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you, Mr.
Secretary, for your testimony. I hope my questions are not redun-
dant. I was out of the room to vote.

During the deliberations on the farm bill as you know there was
an effort made to basically get higher prices for export products for
the farmers. I am concerned about that area and would like to see
something done, and wondered whether you had any thoughts on a
rational and reasonable way that we could do that.

Secretary BLock. I do not have any ideas on the way the Govern-
ment can do it, because I just feel that if we did it in some artificial
way, the end result would be ultimate distortions of the market,
and we would be getting into some of the games that they play in
the EC and some other countries.

I really think the only way to strengthen that price is to
strengthen demand. The only ways to really strengthen price, you
either have to have more demand or less supply, or a combination
of the two. The best way to do it is strengthening the demand, and
that is finding new markets. The other way is the supply. We are
looking toward a set-aside on wheat assuming we could ever get a
farm bill so we could have the program. That is my thought on it. I
just think it is a mistake for the Government to try and dictate
things like that. _

Mr. ScruLze. Thank you, Mr. Secretary.

Another of my concerns is the large trade deficit looming with
Japan. Do you have any thoughts, or are you satisfied with the
openness of their markets, or do you have any specific ideas on
how we can encourage them to further open their markets to
agricultural products, or is your Department doing anything along
that line?

Secretary BLock. As I reported earlier I have been back about a
week from being in Japan meeting with the Minister of Foreign
Trade, the Minister of Agriculture, and other officials, and
throughout that discussion probably one of the major items that I
was stressing to them is that we have a large crop. We are a
dependable supplier but they have as one of their responsibilities
to the people in Japan, food security, and they talk a lot about it.
Well, if they want real food security they should build more stor-
age, buy and store more of our products so they have them there
and have them on hand. I talked about this on many occasions.
Rather than just saying they would not buy any more they said
they would be willing and open to continue to talk about it and
look for ways to store more and-bring in more American products.
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Whether we are going to get anything out of this is another
question, but I think we need to continue to hammer away at this.
Many countries talk about food security, food security here and
food security there, but yet few countries are willing to do very
much about it. When you talk about doing something that means
that they should build storage, bring the crop in and the products
in and store them there instead of the United States being contin-
ually expected to be the granary for the world, and we sit here
with it and we have got it and it depresses our prices. If we could
move it someplace else it would provide food security over there
a?fd it would strengthen our price here, and we would all be better
off.

Mr. ScHuLzE. I also was in Japan recently. I do not know wheth-
er you share my impression, but my impression is that they sit and
listen politely and smile and say, yes indeed we are going to
consider that, and do absolutely nothing. The message that we
tried to transmit is that, quite frankly, we are sick and tired of a
$15 billion deficit. If they do not do something, if there is no
movement, we are going to do something. Now, I can tell you that
that is a fairly prevalent mood in Congress, and if we do start
taking some actions or moving in that direction I hope we can have
your guidance or advice and do it in a wise fashion. I for one am
fed up and I think the time has come, that we have had enough lip
service, and we have got to have some action, especially with the
large deficit that is looming. The time has come, in my opinion, to
take some action and some very firm, dramatic, and perhaps very
definitive action.

Secretary BLock. Some of what you are saying I told them. I said
the Congress is in a very militant mood on this issue with this
trade deficit that we face, and I said I am offering to you, I am
suggesting to you the best possible solution that you can have to
satisfy these concerns that we have in the United States. I am not
asking you to buy Ford automobiles, which perhaps you do not
need over there. I am asking you to buy farm products which you
do need and which is part of your internal policy for food security.
I said it is the best deal there is, and here it is. So the message you
are saying is the same one I told them.

Mr. ScauLze. Well, I also think they have been hearing that and
they do not believe it, and quite frankly we are forced to take some
action. I think we have to take some action and soon and dramatic
action that is going to kind of hit them between the eyes like the
mule and the 2 by 4. I think it is imperative that we do that. I
think it is time to stop talking and bowing and smiling and saying
isn’t that nice, and let’s keep talking about it. I think by God the
time has come for some action.

Now, one other question, Mr. Secretary. The STR has announced
that it has initiated an investigation on the EC agricultural subsi-
dies on sugar. I wonder if you can give us an update on the status
of that investigation.

Secretary Brock. I would let Bud Anderson give you that.

Mr. ANDERsSON. Yes, sir, the STR had accepted that and we of
course support that. We are working to assist the STR in the
development of our case on sugar. We will be meeting with the
European Community I am sure in the next few weeks to discuss
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this issue that is part of the consultative process, but we will be
working together with our economic research people to try to as-
certain the impact the EC subsidy program has had on our domes-
tic sugar market here. All of that will be put together and become
part of our brief and part of our arguments when we take the case
and finally consult with the Community on this issue.

Mr. Scrurze. I think since we do have probably the most open
market, or one of the most open market systems in the world, it is
time we started using the 301 device. I think you are going to see a
lot more of it, and I would hope that your Department would be
most cooperative in this area. And again, I guess it is like the mule
and the 2 by 4; these are the things we are going to have to do. I
think we should do them promptly and come down with both feet.

Mr. ANDERsON. We already have supported the Australians, so
the Australians have a complaint also against the Community,
supported by Brazil, and we have supported those complaints in
some GATT meetings that have already taken place in Geneva. So
I think we are firmly behind this case and we will give it every
support that it needs to push it hopefully to a successful conclu-
sion.

Mr. ScaurLze. Thank you very much.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Mr. Downey.

Mr. DowNEY. Mr. Block, I appreciate the problem that you have,
or that the country has, with respect to the storage of dairy prod-
ucts, but I want to explore with you in a little more detail this deal
we made with New Zealand. Now obviously we have to sell or deal
with the surplus in some way, but did we not know at the outset
that by providing New Zealand, one of the larger exporters of dairy
products, with subsidized dairy, that this butter was going to be
sold someplace else? I mean basically were we not just providing
New Zealand with a very, very good deal so that they could turn
around and sell this butter or the equivalent butter to someone
else, in this instance the Russians? Were we not aware of that at
the time we made the deal?

Secretary BLock. We certainly were aware that they would be
reselling the butter. In fact we sold it to them because they would
serve as a broker for our butter, and they have great expertise in
this. They are big marketers of dairy products around the world,
and that was the objective.

Furthermore, I guess it is probably the only place that we could
sell that kind of volume all at once and get rid of it, because there
were other smaller buyers that were knocking on our door, but
none of them were as big, and furthermore in selling to the New
Zealand Dairy Board, which is close enough to government that it
is not a private concern, we would be able to avoid being taken to
the GATT.

Mr. DowNEY. Does New Zealand or their private dairy board
have any say over what we do with our butter that we have stored?

Secretary Brock. That we export?

Mr. DowNEY. Yes.

Secretary BrLock. No, not privately what is exported.

Mr. DowNEY. I mean what we store. I mean if one afternoon we
have sold them all of this butter, the New Zealanders, and then we
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want to go out and start marketing it to some of their potential
customers?

Secretary BLock. We have an agreement with them that we will
not enter the international market without permission from them
until the end of June next year, I think it is.

Mr. DowNEY. Let me ask you about that. Does that make sense
to you? Is that good U.S. policy, to allow New Zealand basically a
veto over who we sell our butter to?

Secretary Brock. I think it made good sense at the time.

Mr. DowNEY. Is it still good sense?

Secretary Brock. Yes, I think it is still good sense now, because
they bought that volume of butter only with the understanding
that we would not move in the next day and sell to the very
markets that they intended to sell the butter to, and they would
not have bought that butter if we would have maintained the right
to move in and take these markets away from them before they
could sell.

Mr. DownNEy. Let me ask you another question. Why are they
the only people who can sell butter in foreign markets? Why can
we not make some of these deals ourselves? Why should we be put
in the position where we have to make a private marketing agree-
ment with another country that gives them some say over where
we sell reserves of dairy products in this country? What is unique
to their ability that they have that we do not have to do this sort of
thing? Why could we not have sold the butter ourselves to the
Russians or these other people?

Secretary Brock. Well, we could have sold the butter to a private
broker or anyone who would buy it, and they would in turn broker
it to anyone in the world. That was a possibility. Keep in mind the
butter is not very good butter, necessarily. Some of it is, and some
of it is not. It has been around a long time, and we really need to
move it someplace, and this was an early consideration made.

Mr. DowNEY. We are not selling bad butter, it is just not good
butter?

Mr. ANDERSON. It is salted butter, and the world market, the
United States and the British Commonwealth countries are really
the only countries that deal in salted butter. There is no market
for salted butter. This butter was, I think, in 68-pound bulk pack-
ages salted. A lot of it was dating back to 1979. An analysis was
made of the world market. We have obligations under the GATT.
The GATT says you cannot undercut, you cannot displace markets.
We felt that we knew that the only market out there was Eastern
Europe and the U.S.S.R. For foreign policy reasons we decided not
to sell directly to the Russians, and when we looked at the market
there we did have an offer from the New Zealanders. It protected
our GATT commitments of not going into the world market subsi-
dizing and undercutting. We met with our trading partners, the
European Common Market, and consulted with them, and it was
really from an international trade point of view and from our
obligations under the GATT the best situation.

Mr. DowNEY. Let me ask about this a little more. People in my
district wanted to know at a town meeting why they could not buy
the butter. They make cookies in my district, and they would love
to have that.
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You said for foreign policy reasons we did not sell the butter
directly to the Eastern European countries or to the Soviet Union.
Let me try to make this simplistic analogy. We will sell them the
grain to bake the bread, but if they want to butter the bread they
have to buy the butter from New Zealand. Is that basically what
we are saying?

Secretary BLock. All we are saying is that there is a difference
between selling subsidized products to the Soviet Union and selling
products at the world market price that are not subsidized. There
is a difference there, and whether that difference is a big enough
difference to say that we should have sold the butter to the Soviet
Union or should not have sold it, that is a judgment decision.

Mr. DowNEY. But was that your judgment, Mr. Secretary, to
make? Could we have made more money by selling the Russians
the butter directly than we did by selling it to the New Zealanders
who eventually sold it to the Russians?

Secretary BLock. It was my earlier recommendation that we sell
it to a private concern that would sell it to anyone in the world
but, as we all know, the Department of Agriculture does not run
all the Government, and in this case there were other opinions
that prevailed and there were foreign policy considerations, and I
concede that is not my responsibility.

Mr. DowNEY. I understand that, but what are the foreign policy
considerations that allow us to sell them the wheat but not the
butter? Just tell me simply so I can answer a constituent who tells
me, well, we are prepared to sell the Russians all the wheat they
need, but we are not going to sell them butter.

Secretary BLock. Subsidy is the answer. One is subsidized and
the other is at the world market.

Chairman GiBBoNsS. I think the gentleman from New York asked
some good questions.

Mr. DownNEY. The people on Long Island, there are not any big
wheat farms out there, and very few dairy cows, and they have
real trouble understanding this as I think you can appreciate. I
happen to think that if we sold them both the wheat and the
butter I would not have any problem with that. I think I can
explain that if we are making money off it. What they have some
trouble understanding is why we sell it to one person to sell it to
another.

Mr. FReNzZEL. Would the gentleman yield?

Mr. DowNEY. Of course.

Mr. FrenzeL. Your question about what kind of shape was the
butter in, whether it was good or bad butter, how long can we store
butter? How close was this to the point that you had to sell it or
whatever? What was that consideration? Was this something you
had to unload?

Mr. ANDERSON. We think about 3 years or maybe a little more.
We are not sure exactly how long on it. We would not have had to
unload it but because we had not unloaded some of the cheese yet
that we still have and some of the nonfat dry milk, but we are
l<})loking for places to sell these products somehow to get rid of
them.

ll&[;' FreENzEL. What was the average age of the butter that we
sold?
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Mr. ANDERSON. The one thing that New Zealanders took started
with the oldest butter in stock and took that and it was 100,000
tons of the oldest butter the CCC held.

Mr. FRENzZEL. Was that 1979 stocks?

Mr. ANDERSON. It dated back to May of 1979.

Mr. FrRENZEL. So it was about 2 years old.

Mr. DownEey. It is not like wine. It does not get better with age.

Mr. ANDERSON. I think the other thing you have to remember is
that there is no market for it in its current state as salted butter,
so what the New Zealanders are doing with the butter is taking it
to New Zealand, converting it to butter oil, which is the only way
of getting the salt out of it, using that butter oil to fill some of
their contracts for recombining operations in the Pacific, Southeast
Asian area, Latin America, and then this is freeing up fat in New
Zealand to produce butter to export, say, to the Soviet Union or to
Eastern Europe or whatever.

Mr. DownNEy. It is on that subsidy point that I want to be clear
in my own mind because I really do not understand this very
clearly. You said the difference between selling them wheat and
selling them butter is a question of subsidy. If we had sold the
butter to the Russians at the world market price could we not have
made up some of the cost of the subsidy that we have paid the
farmers?

Mr. ANDERSON. That was not an option we had of selling it to the
Soviet Union directly.

Mr. DowNEY. Because of foreign policy considerations?

Mr. ANDERSON. Yes.

Mr. FrReNzEL. And it was salted butter, is that right?

Mr. ANDERSON. Salted butter.

Mr. DownEY. So it was not so much a question of subsidy versus
nonsubsidy, it was simply a question that the administration did
not want to sell butter to eastern European countries and to
Europe. That is really the issue, is it not?

Mr. ANDERSON. They do not want to sell a subsidized product.

Mr. Downey. But if you sell the product at the world market
pri%e you have in fact made up for some of the subsidy, have you
not?

Secretary Brock. Keep in mind though that we would have been
selling it, right or wrong, to the Soviet Union at a price lower than
our own consumers could buy the butter. That is a little hard to
explain.

Mr. DowNEy. That is even harder to explain.

Secretary BLock. But we are in real problems. You have got to
admit it is a dilemma. There is not an easy answer to it.

Mr. ANDERSON. We took this butter at an average price of about
$1.42 a pound and the world market price is somewhere between 90
cents to $1 a pound so even if you sell it at the world market price
you have got to have butter that is packaged, unsalted in pound
packages, or whatever the market calls for. This butter would have
had to be converted so that you would be only getting about two-
thirds of your price back anyhow, and the price to New Zealand
was somewhere around the 70-cent-per-pound level. Given it was
the oldest butter and given it was salted and in bulk form it was
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discounted, really, into the market. We do not think we would have
moved that butter even if we would have put it up for bids.

Mr. DowNEY. I appreciate it. I think that it is somewhat clear.

Chairman GIBBONS. It is a slippery substance, is it not?

Mr. Conable.

Mr. CoNABLE. Mr. Chairman, I do not have any questions. I am
sorry not to have been here at the beginning of the testimony. I
understand your testimony has been excellent, Mr. Secretary, and
we are most grateful for your coming up here. Agriculture is one of
the most troublesome areas of trade, terribly important to us but,
of course, constantly afflicted by the problem of subsidy both at
home and abroad, and we understand you have a very difficult
course to follow in marketing American commodities around the
world in an appropriate way, and I appreciate your answers about
the butter deal to Mr. Downey.

Secretary Brock. Thank you.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Mr. Pease.

Mr. PeEasi. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and Mr. Secretary. Wel-
come. I am afraid I am going to have to get you back to butter
again. I hate to have that subject dominate this discussion, but I
am interested in it as well. You keep saying that there is no
market for salted butter, not much of a market in the world. Are
we capable of producing unsalted butter? Why do we not buy
unsalted butter from our farmers if that is where the market is?

Mr. ANpERSON. Well, that was discussed when we had the hear-
ings. Mr. Harkin had some hearings on the butter sale.

Right now the CCC specs on butter are for salted butter and we
take into inventory salted butter because that is the product that is
produced commercially here in the United States. We have only
been in the export business—we keep forgetting this—on the dairy
products 3 times in the last 20 years. One was in the early to
" midsixties when we had a surplus, the other was in the early
seventies when New Zealand was hit with drought, and currently
the situation that we are in right now. So we have never been
traditional exporters of dairy products and our programs have been
geared basically to the domestic side and the specs are to take
butter which is produced in bulk here domestically and it is salted
butter. The issue came up as to should we not change that, should
we not be buying unsalted butter so that we could take advantage
of the world market if the opportunity came up, and I think the
ASCS people who are involved in it are addressing that issue and
have addressed that issue to Congressman Harkin in the hearing
that he had. So it is being looked at by the Department now.

Secretary BLock. It is being looked at, but we have a couple of
problems with it. One of them is apparently our butter makers
have been making it this way and are not really prepared to
change, and too, another problem is if we start making this unsalt-
ed butter then the butter that we get rid of could be this new
unsalted butter that we are making, but we are not getting rid of
our oldest butter, we are getting rid of the new butter, and the old
butter is what we want to get rid of, so it is not an easy solution.
Unsalted butter deteriorates faster, too.

Mr. PEasE. I think as you may be aware in the House and Senate
we both adopted amendments to facilitate the distribution domesti-
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cally of butter through senior citizen feeding sites and child and
nutrition sites and food banks. Hopefully that will maybe help get
rid of some of the stock.

Secretary BLock. Thank you.

Mr. PEase. One little detailed question on the butter sale. I
understand at the time New Zealand bought the butter that Ire-
land was bidding on the butter also and for some reason the
Department did not negotiate a sale to Ireland. Can you tell us the
background on that?

Secretary BLock. Mr. Anderson has the details.

Mr. ANDERSON. They did make an offer to buy some butter at the
time, but it was for unsalted new butter. In other words, we would
have had to develop a program that would have converted some-
how or brought into CCC storage unsalted butter at that point.
Plus the bid that we got from the Irish Dairy Board was actually
below what New Zealand paid us.by some $50 a ton. So we did
consider the Irish offer. I believe I recall it was for something in
the neighborhood of 40,000 tons of butter and it was at a lower
price and it was not utilizing our oldest butter.

The New Zealanders took that oldest butter as is at the ware-
house in the United States whether it was Philadelphia or Kansas
City or the west coast. It was all one price wherever it was located
for the oldest butter.

Mr. PEASE. Secretary Block, I would like to go a step backwards
from export sales of butter and try to figure out how we are going
to slow down the accumulation of butter surpluses. You touched on
that earlier today. I gather you feel that neither the Senate nor the
House version of the farm bill will accomplish that purpose.

Secretary Brock. Well, I am very much concerned about -the
House version because the House version provides for an increase
in support level next October 1 and I am afraid that that is
certainly going to encourage more milking and more dairying
rather than discourage it.

The Senate version has a chance of bringing the situation under
control. At least it does this. It freezes, in effect, the support level
at $13.10 per hundred to the dairyman and it stays there. It just
stays there until we see the accumulation of stocks come down
below a certain level which is $750 million spent a year on Govern-
ment purchases. With inflation going up eventually that will dis-
courage dairying. I am not sure how fast it will discourage it,
however.

Really, all your livestock industry and your grain producers,
when you overproduce something, if you raise too many hogs, and 1
am a hog raiser, then the price of hogs goes down and that tells me
that I should not raise quite as many, but you need some kind of a
message in the dairy industry that the price of dairy products has
got to go down at a bare minimum. It should not go up. That is our
concern.

Mr. Pease. There was an amendment on the House floor as you
know to make the dairy subsidy less attractive. Now I am not an
expert at all on agricultural policy, and I have relatively few dairy
farmers in my district, but it seems to me that if you have a policy
which requires the support price to go down and down as the
surplus level goes up and up that it accomplishes the purpose



68

eventually, but at a very high cost to the farmers, a lot of disloca-
tion and monetary loss. It seems to me there must be some way,
whether we have to go into the tobacco allotment system or what-
ever, to try to bring down the number of people who are dairying
or the number of cows without this draconian system of reducing
the support price even below 70 percent.

Is t};ere an alternative other than just reducing those support
prices?

Secretary BrLock. I do not think that there is a better alternative
than the market system and the market system sending the signal
to the producer. What you are talking about is some kind of a
government control system. I do not know, you are asking me and 1
think the only alternative would be some kind of government
control system where you could offer a bonus if they kill three
cows, something like that, but you know they are going to kill the
three worst they have and bring in four heifers. Farmers know
what they are doing. They are smart. They are going to take
advantage of anything to make money if they can. They have to,
and there just is not any system that works much better than just
letting the market work, realizing that during low-price times it is
painful. We all live with them occasionally, and when it happens it
1s not any fun.

Mr. PeasE. One last question. I understand that President
Reagan is of the opinion that the Soviet economy is so bad that the
Soviet citizens are reduced to eating sawdust. Do you have any
information to corroborate that?

Secretary BLock. I do not have any information to support that.

Mr. Peasg. Earlier it was mentioned that foreign policy consider-
ations occasionally enter into matters affecting agricultural export
policy. It seems rather curious to me that daily at the State De-
partment we see pronouncements about the Soviets being our
mortal enemies and we have to spend billions of dollars for new
defense weapons because of the Soviets, and here .is a situation
where at least according to the President the Soviets are eating
sawdust, and yet because of our adherence to the principles of a
free market we allow them to buy wheat which will alleviate that
hunger problem of theirs. Is that really an overriding principle
even beyond our own national security?

Secretary Brock. I think that as I look at the trade opportunities
in the Soviet Union and whether we should or should not trade
with them, I am sure there are some people that think we should
not and some who think we should, but I feel that it is to our great
advantage to trade with them, because if you want to look at it
from one point of view it is a natural transfer of their resources to
the United States to buy all of this food, and that much of their
resources could not be converted to arms and munitions if that
would be their desire.

I understand that they have about $30 billion of foreign ex-
change that they take in, and they will spend over $10 billion on
agricultural food products this year. It has cost them a great deal
to buy these food products, and I think it is just to our advantage
to make these sales. And furthermore, if we do not sell to them
someone else will. I was told by the Canadians that all of these
products can easily be transshipped if we are not going to sell to
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the Soviet Union. Someone else will take a rakeoff and make
something out of our products. Grain just flows like water around
the world, and unless you have broad-based support from the grain-
producing countries to embargo something you are not going to get
it done anyway.

Mr. Peask. I appreciate that explanation. I have a little difficulty
at my town meetings explaining to people why it is that we help
out the Soviets when they are supposed to be our mortal enemies.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiBeons. Mr. Vander Jagt.

Mr. VANDER JAGT. I do not have any questions. I am sorry I was
not here to hear the statement. I will read it as soon as possible.

Secretary Brock. Thank you.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Mr. Bailey.

Mr. BaiLey. Yes, Mr. Chairman; a very quick and easy question.

Mr. Secretary, what are world grain stocks like right now, wheat,
for example, high, low, relative to the history?

Secretary Brock. This last year the production is somewhat in
excess of the year before worldwide. I think wheat stocks are up
about 5 percent. I am not sure of the exact number. We have quite
a bit of wheat worldwide, but I am optimistic on the sales of our
wheat. The exports are moving very well in wheat and the Argen-
tines have a poor crop of wheat coming on. They originally project-
ed 9.2 million metric tons and they are now talking maybe down to
as low as 7.

Mr. VANDER JAGT. I have read that.

Mr. BaiLey. I have read that if the United States really withheld,
as a matter of policy, wheat from world markets or had a consist-
ent policy of withholding wheat from sales to the Soviet Union and
that kind of thing that there is a great deal of marginal land
worldwide that would come into production. I am sure you do not
have those figures off the top of your head, but could you, if that is
so, first of all, comment and bring that into focus for me. You
know, what kind of acreage are we talking about, where, what
countries, what percentage, and how marginal is that cost per acre
or whatever that they are talking about? I have heard figures as
low as a few dollars, $1 a bushel or so that they could try to work
on. And then lastly could you just comment, and I apologize, you
have probably referred to this already, but, on the Soviet situation,
and lastly on world rice supply. I am sure Mr. Gibbons probably
asked this question, but on U.S. rice export policy and subsidies on
selling rice in Asia. Did you ask that question, Mr. Chairman? If
80, I think if the Secretary will comment.

Secretary Brock. I don’t have the details on the world production
potential, but it is very simply demonstrated in countries like
Europe, like the Common Market; they are now producing for
export and if they did not have these artificially high supports,
they would never be doing anything like that.

It brings land into production, every little backyard, every little
corner here and there; land that people never thought of producing
on; they start irrigating land that is not economical to irrigate
except under high-price-support conditions and all we have to do is
have artificially higher prices.
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I don’t know how high that might be. If that is what you would
like to know, I really don't know. But if you add $1 beyond what
the world market price is, I don’t think there is any question but
that it is going to bring in a fair amount of production.

It wouldn’t happen overnight.

It will take a couple of years or 3 years, but it will come on
pretty fast.

Once they bring this other production on, then it is there and
they are obligated, in a lot of cases, to keep farming it, especially if
they put investments into the land and irrigation structures and
then they are there to compete with you.

Another example is Argentina. Because of the Soviet grain em-
bargo, Argentina moved in quickly to fill the void that we left and
within that short period of time they increased their exports by
some 40 percent, plowed up new lands and put them into produc-
tion and it was not a big increase of price, but they got a little bit
of a premium, more than they would have otherwise, so they had
national policy to expand production of farm products. It is a very
competitive world and people will move right in and take advan-
tage of it.

In 1973, we all saw how Brazil came in with soybeans and now
they are a major, our biggest competitor in supplying soybeans
around the world.

Before that they were not anything in the soybean market, but
when we embargoed soybeans to Japan Brazil decided, now, here’s
our chance. These kinds of actions we all have to pay for.

It is surprising our memory is so short.

On production in the Soviet Union, I think we are all aware that
they do have a poor crop. They have not reduced their livestock
numbers of any consequence. They have kept their livestock num-
bers up and are holding to that and will be importing substantial
amounts of grain.

They have been buying heavily in our market, as well as a large
amount in other markets. We have offered 15 million metric tons
zilgd I think originally they said they would probably buy at least

They may buy 15, too. We don’t know, but we think it is going to
be a big market for us this year and certainly should be a record
sales year to the Soviet Union.

It just happens that that is the one country in the world that has
a terribly short crop and we are the country in the world that has
the biggest crop, a record crop.

The question about rice, I don’t know what the specific question
was on rice.

Mr. BaiLey. I think with all due deference to the other members,
we have a vote on the floor. I can get that from you later. I can call
someone on your staff or something.

Mr. FrReEnzEL. Mr. Chairman, could we have unanimous consent
to put questions to the chairman for the record?

Chairman GiBBONS. Yes, sir; we will do that. I have some too.

Mr. FRENzZEL. May I be permitted one comment?

Chairman GiBBoNs. Certainly.

Mr. FreEnzeL. 1 told the Secretary that we had done a fair
amount of traveling in pursuit of export expansion. Everywhere we
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go we find the Foreign Agricultural Service is outperforming our
other representatives abroad and aggressively promoting sales of
American goods abroad.

They are not perfect, of course, but they are miles ahead of our
other representatives so whatever you are doing with those folks,
keep on doing it, because they are splendid representatives of this
country and of your Department abroad.

Secretary BrLock. Thank you. I appreciate that compliment and I
will pass it on to them and they will work even harder, I assure
you.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Mr. Secretary, we are going to let you go
now because we have got another vote on and we want to get to
Mr. Rashish next, but we do appreciate your testimony.

I personally applaud the kind of policy you are following and 1
will try to help you implement that policy.

Thank you very much.

Mr. Rashish, if you would just come up and wait a little while,
we have got to go vote. We have an interesting operation going on
on the House floor right now.

[Recess.]

Chairman GiBBons. I wonder if we could come back to order now,
};;lease, and let me try to make some plans for all of those that are

ere.

We next have Mr. Myer Rashish who is the Under Secretary of
State for Economic Affairs.

After that Mr. Lovell and after that Mr. Weidenbaum.

After Mr. Weidenbaum, we will take a little break and come-
back at 2:30. I hope that we will have a chance to get a little
nourishment in the meantime, but I intend to go right straight on
through until we finish with Mr. Weidenbaum and we will tell the
panel that begins in the afternoon to come in at 2:30 rather than
whatever time they had expected to come in.

Mr. Myer Rashish is an old friend of ours. He is now the Under
Secretary of State for Economic Affairs.

He has overcome a lot because he was a staff member here for
many, many years, and despite all of that, he has been able to go
out and redeem himself and do a fine job for this Government.

We are proud of you, Myer, and we want to salute you and
welcome you back.

You may proceed as you wish. We will make your statement a
part of the record at this point and let you proceed.

STATEMENT OF MYER RASHISH, UNDER SECRETARY FOR
ECONOMIC AFFAIRS, DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Mr. RasHisH. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate your very
hospitable introduction.

I am delighted to be here, awkward as it is for me to be sitting
on this side of the desk.

Mr. Chairman, I have submitted for the record a longer version
of my testimony and with your permission I would like to read an
abbreviated version.

Chairman GieBoNs. Certainly.

Mr. Rasuisi. Mr. Chairman, you have my admiration for the
expansive hearings that you have undertaken on U.S. trade policy.
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Let me note immediately that the importance of the subject, not
only to our country’s economic well-being, but also to the prospect
for real economic development around the globe, fully justifies the
time and effort you have devoted to it.

The impressive list of witnesses is, in itself, testimony to the
imlportance of trade as an element of our international economic
policy.

I will not try to explain U.S. trade policy per se to a group that
has already heard from Bill Brock, nor will I try to provide an
economic justification for free trade which you will hear from
Murray Weidenbaum this afternoon.

Having heard the questions put to Secretary Brock, I would just
as well forego any questions on the agricultural aspects.

Rather, I would like to focus on the foreign policy perspective in
trade policy, a perspective which I find all the broader from my
position at the State Department.

While undeniable, it is the foreign policy angle that is least
appreciated by virtually all the other actors, whether in the execu-
tive or legislative branch of the Government, or in the private
sector, in the formulation of trade policy.

The United States recognized the importance of trade to the
reconstruction of Europe and Japan after World War II.

The United States has been the leading proponent of a freer and
more open trading system in the post-war era.

Economic and political freedom, including the ever less restricted
flow of goods and services among countries, has produced a world
of unprecedented prosperity, albeit with vast differences among
countries.

Trade has its rewards, it also has its problems. Most of those
problems devolve on the relations between nations; that is, on
foreign relations.

As the foreign sector grows in importance to the total U.S.
economy, simultaneously the potential for conflicts grows and the
intersection of trade policy and foreign policy expands.

Allow me briefly to elaborate on three aspects of our trade policy
which have required most of my attention in recent weeks

They are East-West economic relations, trade and economic de-
velopment and relations with our major trading partners, Canada,
Japan, and the European Community.

Turning first to East-West trade relations, the administration’s
trade policy toward the Eastern bloc, indeed, our overall economic
relationship with the East, cannot be divorced from our broad
political security objectives vis-a-vis these countries.

As a result, our trade policy toward the East contains some basic
and significant aspects which do not characterize our trade policies
toward other countries.

Essentially this is due to the political military situation in which
we find ourselves today.

In the first instance, and most importantly, the Soviet Union and
its Warsaw Pact allies remain the principal threat to Western
security.

This prevents us from being able to deal with the Soviet Union
a}rlld Easl,::iern Europe as we can deal with most other countries in
the world.
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Our economic policies must support our key objectives of deter-
ring Soviet adventurism, redressing the military balance between
the West and the Warsaw Pact, and strengthening the Western
alliance.

Economic relations must reflect and reinforce our political goals
of influencing the behavior of Communist governments in ways
which serve the vital interests of the United States and its allies.

In formulating our economic policies, we must also keep in mind
that trade may enhance Soviet military capabilities directly and
transfer technology not otherwise available which may make a
significant contribution to the military.

East-West trade also contributes more broadly to Soviet ability to
support military programs at levels that Western countries find
increasingly difficult to match.

Furthermore, certain economic relations with the East may lead
to levels of dependence which increase Western vulnerability to
political influence and coercion by the Soviet Union.

On the other hand, our trade ties offer certain opportunities.
There are, of course, the obvious benefits to our economy from
increased exports.

In addition, we must always keep in mind that our economic
relations may offer an opportunity to influence future Soviet and
‘Eastern European economic and political behavior.

Keeping these considerations in mind, it is very important that
the United States systematically review our policies regarding eco-
nomic relations with the Soviet Union and Eastern Europe.

I would stress the importance of achieving an acceptable balance
between our security and our commercial interests.

The United States does not have a monopoly in most areas of
high technology or even food production. We must work with our
allies to achieve a common perception of the security dimension in
our economic relations with the Soviet Union and Eastern Europe.

The President opened discussions to that end with his colleagues
at the Ottawa Summit.

We are planning to followup with a high level meeting of
COCOM later this year, the first such policy review in several
years.

Within the U.S. Government I have been asked to chair a senior
interdepartment group to coordinate the various issues in the East-
West economic field now in train.

Turning now to relations with our major trading partners, I will
briefly touch on Canada, Japan, and the EC. Trade with these
countries constitutes a majority of total U.S. trade.

We trade in similar products—from agricultural goods to sophis-
ticated machinery. We are all mature economies—suffering from
varying degrees of sclerosis which impairs our ability to adjust to
changes in patterns of trade.

Effective consultations are essential to the health of these rela-
tionships. In the case of Japan, I led the U.S. delegation for semi-
annual subcabinet consultations, supplemented by the work of a
trade subcommittee, chaired for the United States by Dave Mac-
donald, and which will meet again in September.
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The consultations with Japan are now on the same footing as the
semiannual high-level consultations which have been held with the
EC for over a decade.

In addition, our regular meetings at the OECD provide a useful
forum for discussions of general trade issues primarily affecting
developed countries, for example, trade in services and export cred-
its.

I turn first to Canada. The ties between the people of the United
States and Canada are probably as extensive as in any bilateral
relationship in the world.

Our mutual involvement cuts across virtually all facets of both
our societies.

For many years, the United States has made efforts in many
forums to support an open international investment system and to
minimize Government intervention in the decisionmaking process
related to individual investments.

We believe that Canadians have benefited significantly from the
open climate that has traditionally existed between our two coun-
tries. However, Canada’s policies since the midseventies have been
moving in an increasingly restrictive direction.

The Foreign Investment Review Agency has made entry, expan-
sion, and diversification of U.S. companies in Canada problematic.

Let me step back for a moment to the process of formulating
U.S. policy on these issues.

We must evidently start with the nature of the United States-
Canadian relationship.

Canada is a full partner in the leadership of the free world; it
has assumed responsibilities to and for the global economic system.

That is the essence, or one might say the spirit of the economic
summits; the last one having taken place in Ottawa; their raison
d’étre, if you will.

We look to Canada to formulate its policy consonant with those
responsibilities; for our part we accept inevitable differences in
approach and we must respect Canadian values.

On several tough issues we are in the middle of a solution.

For both sides, flexibility and communication must be the watch-
words if we are to avoid irreparable damage to the relationship.

In discussing Japan, there is a tendency to concentrate on
Japan’s persistent bilateral trade surplus with the United States
since the midsixties. The reason for this is largely structural, the
goods the U.S. imports from Japan match Japanese exports more
closely than American exports match Japanese import require-
ments.

Special temporary conditions such as U.S. inflation, high U.S.
interest rates, a weak yen and strong dollar, and a slowed Japanese
growth rate can exacerbate the imbalance.

Countries need not be overly concerned about bilateral trade, or
current account surpluses, or deficits as long as their overall inter-
national positions are sustainable in the long term.

The United States has enjoyed modest current account surpluses
for the past 2 years and so far in 1981, though we anticipate falling
into deficit on current account for next year.
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Japan’s current account has been in deficit for the past 2 years,
but is expected to strengthen impressively in 1982 after this year’s
estimated $7 billion surplus.

Large economies like the United States and Japan must be con-
scious of the impact of their economic policies on each other, on the
rest of the world, and on the global trading system.

Japan appears to be increasingly concerned to find ways of pre-
venting its trade surpluses with the United States and EC from
reaching levels that would strengthen protectionist forces.

The Trade Subcommittee I referred to earlier and the Commerce-
chaired Trade Facilitation Committee will be actively eéngaged in
that effort.

Japan’s Ministry of International Trade and Industry [MITI], for
example, is working to encourage the expansion of manufactures
imports.

At the same time, we must, on our side, place Japan’s trade
surplus in the context of our overall payments position and our
own efforts to improve our trade and productivity performance.

Turning briefly to the EC, the growing surplus we have enjoyed
with the European Community since the early seventies has helped
offset our deficits with Japan and other countries.

This surplus reached an alltime high of $17.4 billion this year.

While our balance in 1981 is likely to remain favorable, our
trade relations with the Community will not be easy.

Unemployment, which has been increasing in all 10-member
states, reached a communitywide level of 8.3 percent in September.

Protectionist pressures are strong in many sectors.

One area of continuing concern will be the adverse effects of the
EC’s Common Agricultural Policy on U.S. agricultural trade.

As the Community disposes of more and more of its excess pro-
duction through subsidized exports, we will have to insure the
rights and interests of our exporters are protected.

Steel is another problem area, where we face exceptionally high
levels of imports at a time when Europe is cutting back employ-
ment in an effort to modernize its industry.

These and other trade problems will require close attention and
careful management in the months to come.

On the subject of trade and development, with respect to the
developing nations of the world, the importance of trade policy is
derived directly from the key role of trade in the development
process.

As President Reagan explained in his recent speech in Philadel-
phia: “developing countries earned more from exports to the
United States in the last 2 years than the entire developing world
has received from the World Bank in the last 36 years.”

Tllle barriers to trade in our markets are among the lowest in the
world.

The United States maintains few restrictions and our customs
procedures are very predictable.

In 1980, 51 percent of our imports from developing countries
entered duty free.

The recent summit at Cancun, which was just concluded, pro-
vided an opportunity for the United States to discuss ways that
trade can be an even more effective instrument of growth.

86-595 O0—81——6
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We plan to follow up vigorously and seriously the constructive
proposals which emerged from Cancun; for example, to cite a few:

In our preparations for the GATT ministerial, we intend to give
a prominent place to issue affecting trade with developing coun-
tries. Our goal is a more integrated and better disciplined interna-
tional marketplace, in which access to export markets for all coun-
tries is improved.

Further, we plan to consult extensively and in depth with devel-
oping countries on the GATT ministerial.

Our goal here is twofold:

First, we believe that such consultations are essential if the
meeting is to succeed in pointing us toward mutually beneficial
solutions to the world’s trade problems.

Second, we believe that it would strengthen both the GATT
system and the developing countries’ trade potential for them to
become more actively involved in the GATT process.

The administration intends to seek an extension of GSP, the
generalized system of preferences. This program is relatively
modest in relation to our total trade, but all the evidence suggests
that it has been an extremely useful incentive to developing coun-
tries to rely more on their own energies and on the efficiency of
the international marketplace as a source of the economic growth
they need.

Most fundamentally, of course, the Cancun meeting underlined
the importance of the free trade posture the administration has
adopted. There are many other reasons why we must keep our
market as open as possible, but the impact of our trade pohmes on
developing countries is one we must not forget.

Before I leave the theme of our trade relations with developing
countries, I would like to underline one area to which we have
been devoting particular attention in recent months.

As you know, the political stability of the Caribbean basin area
has been very much on our minds, and we are convinced that more
vigorous economic expansion is an essential factor in encouraging
healthy political trends.

Bill Brock has already mentioned that we are working on an
innovative, integrated package of proposals to encourage their de-
velopment through trade and private investment.

Although it is somewhat off the subject of these hearings, per-
haps there would be some interest in a few words on President
Reagan’s participation in the Cancun Summit meeting last week.

I was impressed by the constructive spirit that prevailed in
Cancun. There was an excellent exchange of views among the
participants.

In contrast to other international conferences in recent years,
cooperation, not confrontation, was in the air; the United States
was sought after, not isolated.

We think this is a very positive development. We hope it marks a
new era in relations with developing countries where we can con-
centrate on concrete problems while avoiding rhetorical excesses.

The plenary sessions focused on four specific issues: food and
agriculture, trade, energy, and finance. These were identified as
the four framework topics for the Cancun meeting.
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I have already addressed the trade issues. Perhaps a few words
on the other three: '

On food security and agricultural development, the heads of state
-expressed great concern about the problem of hunger. There was a
substantial degree of agreement about some useful steps for com-
bating it, including the importance of the developing countries’
drawing up national food strategies, an interim role for food aid,
assistance in developing effective agricultural programs in develop-
ing countries, and the importance of international trade conditions
in the agricultural areas.

The problem of energy was described as a global and not a
North-South problem.

The participants underlined the need for regional and global
cooperation and for more private and public investment in the
energy area.

The discussion emphasized the serious problems developing coun-
tries face in meeting their heavy oil import bills.

There was, in addition, a wide-ranging discussion on monetary
and financial issues with a good exchange of views on the role of
private capital markets and international financial institutions.

The only piece of business that required a decision at Cancun
was the followup that should be undertaken. The question of fol-
lowup has sometimes been identified as global negotiations.

On this, the result was unclear.

While there was agreement that global negotiations should be
pursued if certain conditions were met, there was no consensus on
how to proceed to lay the basis for productive negotiations.

The United States laid out four understandings which we consid-
ered would be necessary to our participation in a global negotia-
tions process.

These were:

First, the talks should have a practical orientation toward identi-
fying, on a case-by-case basis, specific potential for or obstacles to
development which cooperative efforts may enhance or remove.

On our side, we would suggest an agenda composed of trade
liberalization, energy, and food resource development, and improve-
ment in the investment climate.

Second, the talks should respect the competence, functions, and
powers of the specialized international agencies upon which we all
depend, with the understanding that the decisions reached by these
agencies within respective areas of competence would be final and
that we should not seek to create new institutions.

Third, the general orientation of the talks must be toward sus-
taining or achieving greater levels of mutually beneficial interna-
tional growth and development, taking into account domestic eco-
nomic policies, and

Fourth, the talks should take place in an atmosphere of coopera-
tive spirit similar to that which prevailed in Cancun, rather than
one in which views become polarized and chances for agreement
are needlessly sacrificed.

Regardless of how the procedure unfolds, we are hopeful that a
new beginning of increased international understanding has been
reached.
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In the future we may hear less about the need for new interna-
tional economic orders or grandiose schemes for wealth distribu-
tion from rich countries to poor.

Instead, we can hope that the dialog with developing countries
can focus increasingly on real issues, such as the need to liberalize
international trade, dealing with world energy problems, and
facing the difficulties relating to petrodollar recycling.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

[The prepared statement follows:]

STATEMENT OF MYER RasHisH, UNDER SECRETARY FOR ECONOMIC AFFAIRS,
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

It is a pleasure to be able to speak to you today on U.S. trade policy. As you know,
Mr. Chairman, I feel especially strongly about working with this Subcommittee
after the years I spent as its Staff Director.

The ambitious scope of these hearings is itself an indication of the growing
important of trade to the United States. The world trading system spins over our
entire globe a web of relationships which are both competitive and complementary.
This inter-weaving of interests brings with it numerous advantages, but also, inevi-
tably some problems. Trade policy is thus an integral element of foreign policy. As
the Cancun Summit graphically illustrates, today’s foreign policy is increasingly
confronted with economic issues in which trade policy is an inextricable part.

These trade policy issues are of vital importance to every American. At U.S.
urging, trade liberalization, economic freedom with an international dimension,
characterizes the post-war era in economic relations. We made great progress in the
recently concluded Tokyo Round in eliminating many remaining tariff barriers to
trade expansion. We now must take advantage of the opportunities presented by
reductions in tariffs and elimination of non-tariff barriers by effectively promoting
American trade. We must also ensure that in doing so we safeguard our crucial
security interests. We must find ways of assisting the developing countries to utilize
more fully the opportunities which trade offers them for rapid progress in develop-
ment. We must make progress in securing international action to reduce further the
non-tariff barriers to trade, particularly in the service area. We must face up to the
hard problems in particular product areas: textiles, steel, EC agricultural commod-
ities, automobiles. And we must look behind trade in goods and services, to facilitate
an undistorted flow of investment among nations.

In considering the growing importance of trade to the United States, it is useful
to consider the evolution which has taken place. Trade has, of course, always been
important; indeed, taxes on imported tea and a famous tea party in Boston harbor
helped to launch us on the path to nationhood. The continental expanse of America
has provided a market more accessible and more attractive and more compatible
than distant markets overseas. The focus of most of our businessmen for much of
our history has been inwards, a disposition which became increasingly pronounced
in this century.

That focus has changed to an extraordinary extent in the short space of one
decade. In 1970 the ratio of U.S. exports to GNP was 4.3 percent, a percentage still
low enough to be considered of marginal importance. Exports have grown since then
at an unprecedented pace and have doubled in importance to our economy. Today
the ratio of exports to GNP is 8.2 percent, and that percentage is destined to
increase still further in the decade of the 1980’s.

What has happened in the United States has happened elsewhere. Countries
which were already heavily engaged in trade have become even more so. Countries
which by reason of underdevelopment or large internal markets were minor trading
nations have become trade oriented. Indeed, except for the poorest nations, virtually
all countries have seen trade become of substantially greater importance to their
economic growth and well-being, with their exports generally equal in value to 20-
50 percent or more of their GNP.

The rapid growth in world trade brought with it not only unprecedented prosper-
ity, but also specific problems of adjustment. Qur exports are someone else’s im-
ports, just as theirs are for us. But when we are confronted with domestic problems
arising out of rapid import growth, as we have been recently, it is well to remember
that the overall story is one of rapid growth in both the export and the import side
of our trade package.

In effect, what is happening in the world economy today—slowly, unevenly,
hesitatingly—is a repeat of U.S. history of 200 years ago. Restrictions on trade
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provide short-term advantages; in the long run they retard growth. A continental
trading economy is more efficient and more productive than one composed of
numerous states; a world trading economy is more efficient yet. By 1979 the average
tariff levels in the developed countries stood at 10.6 percent, a dramatic drop from
post-war levels. The cuts agreed to in the Tokyo round of multilateral trade negotia-
tions will further reduce tariff levels to 4.5 percent by 1987. Though the world is not
yet one market, we have progressed farther towards that goal than would have
seemed possible 35 years ago.

It is evident, I believe, that all the agencies concerned with trade policy agree on
its importance and on the need for continuing liberalization of the world trade
system. The special role of the Department of State is to mesh our trade and
economic interests with our foreign policy. Our role is based on a belief that unless
our trade policy and foreign policy develop in tandem, neither will achieve its
objectives. It follows from this that the State Department is actively involved both
in formulating our approach to the trade policy issues we believe will loom large in
the coming years and in devising and implementing measures to resolve our prob-
lems with particular countries. We pay especially close attention to the settings in
which we deal with other countries in pursuing our trade interests, whether multi-
lateral forums for consultations such as the OECD; the bilateral economic commis-
sions we have with many countries; or special meetings dealing with topics requir-
ing particular attention, such as the recent Summit at Cancun, and at the Septem-
ber UN Conference on the Least Developed Countries in Paris. From the nadir of
protectionism in the 1930’s, we have successfully moved to our present relatively
open world trading system by recognizing that trade liberalization is an incremental
process in which an appropriate political climate in the relevant fora can be as
important as the underlying economic realities.

Among the major areas of foreign policy-trade policy interaction are East-West
trade; trade relations with the developing countries and integration of the develop-
ing countries into the world trading system; non-tariff distortions and barriers,
where progress will require multilateral efforts; and problems of food and agricul-
tural trade.

East-West trade involves both strategic and trade considerations. This Adminis-
tration is determined to insure that economic relations with the East are consistent
with broad U.S. political and strategic objectives. The importance that the Adminis--
tration has placed on a review of economic relations with the Communist world has
been reflected in the creation of a Senior Interdepartmental Group (SIG) on East-
West Economic Matters. I have chaired several meetings on this group which have
dealt with such questions as COCOM controls and Western dependency on Soviet
energy sources.

In the trade field as in the political sphere, there are important differences among
the Eastern European countries. Not only are they at differing levels of economic
development, but some are more open to international trade than others.

Continued economic ties between these countries and the United States and the
rest of the world can be in our interest, particularly to the extent that these ties
serve to reinforce the East’s stake in the orderly functioning of the world economy
and to encourage these countries to engage in responsible international behavior.
However, we must be vigilant in insuring that this trade does not damage our own
security.

In cgrr ing out an East/West trade policy compatible with our political and
security objectives, we must work closely with our allies. The United States does not
have a monopoly in most areas of high technology and our policies must be coordi-
nated with those of our allies in order to be effective. The COCOM high level
meeting agreed to at the Ottawa Summit is an important step in this direction. We
need to achieve a common perception of the balance between security and commer-
cial interests for the Western allies as a whole.

The problems of fair trade are peculiarly difficult to deal with in the case of these
countries, as the concepts of dumping and subsidies have no place internally in an
administered price system, but we must administer U.S. laws in this area. Yet at
the same time, some have moved toward instituting a genuine pricing system and
effective tariffs; four are members of the GATT. This requires that we make every
effort possible to tailor our approach to the individual country.

CHINA

We are also witnessing the emergence of China as a growing factor in world
trade. China’s exports increased from $8 billion in 1977 to over $13.5 billion in 1979.
China’s imports grew even more rapidly, from $6.6 billion to $14.7 billion. China’s
expanded role in world trade poses challenges and opportunities for the world
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trading system, and for U.S. businessmen and policymakers. U.S. exports to China
in 1980 were $3.7 billion, or approximately half our total exports to all Communist
countries.

As China expands its trade relations with major trading nations, integrating
China more fully into the international trading system will be deserving of careful
attention.

DEVELOPING COUNTRIES

With respect to the developing countries, this Administration is deeply committed
to the effort to assist these countries in their development efforts. The President’s
speech in Philadelphia earlier this month spelled out eloquently the complexity of
development. It seems evident that trade is one of its major driving forces. Indeed,
one might almost go so far as to say that the route to development has been trodden
most successfully by a handful of countries which have emphasized trade, and that
it is the product of an open trading silsntem and internal policies which make it
possible to capitalize on an open trading system. We have a strong record in
maintaining an open market. The developing countries supply 44 percent of our
imports and buy 37 percent of our exports. Even if one excludes OPEC, the shares
are still high—26 percent of our imports and 29 percent of our exports. This is the
most dynamic export market we have.

As you know, I returned a few days ago from Cancun, where President Reagan
participated in one of the most impressive gatherings ever held of heads of state and
government from developed and developing countries. The meeting had been intend-
ed as an opportunity for a serious and realistic discussion of the problems of
development, without the posturing which so often accompanies highly publicized
ilﬁlb:milﬁonal meetings. I believe we can take great satisfaction in having achieved
this goal.

The President had private discussions with all the develo, ing country leaders
present at Cancun. I believe that these meetings and the President’s participation in
the plenary sessions have done much to dispel the notion that the U.S. lacks a
positive approach to development.

The plenary sessions focussed on four specific issues: or: food security and agricul-
tural development, energy, money and financial questions, and trade. The discussion
on trade took note of the importance of trade and industrialization in the develop-
ment process. Several participants laid particular stress on price stabilization for
international commodities. Many, including ourselves, looked to the proposed GATT
ministerial in 1982 as a forum for addressing the trade problems of developin,
countries in a pragmatic way. The role of GSP was favorably cited. We underlin
the benefit the LDCs receive from our very open market.

In the trade area we are working in a number of areas to follow up the construc-
tive proposals which emerged from Cancun.

In our preparations for the GATT Ministerial, we iutend to give a prominent
place to issues affecting trade with developing countries. Our goal is a more inte-
grated and better disciplined international marketplace, in which access to export
markets for all countries is improved. The proposed negotiations on a safeguards
code are one area in which we and the developing countries share similar concerns.
:)Ne also share their eagerness to see GATT expand its effort to reduce nontariff

arriers.

We plan to consult extensively and in dept with developing countries on the
GATT Ministerial. Our goal here is twofold: first, we believe that such consultations
are essential if the meeting is to succeed in pointinﬁeus toward mutually beneficial
solutions to the world’s trade problems. Second, we believe that it would strengthen
both the GATT system and the developing countries’ trade potential for them to
become more actively involved in the GATT process.

The administration intends to seek an extension of GSP. This program is relative-
ly modest in relation to our total trade—3 percent of our imports come in duty free
under GSP, or about 12 percent of our imports from non-OPEC developing coun-
tries. All the evidence suggests, however, that it has been an extremely useful
incentive to developing countries to rely more on their own energies and on the
efficiency of the international marketplace as a source of the economic growth they
need. We share your concern about the high concentration of GSP benefits among a
few countries which are relatively successful in international trade-—although I
would note that both the competitive need provisions of the law and our graduation
policy have brought the percentage of benefits enjoyed b&'the top five beneficiaries
down considerably since the first years of the program. We will be working closely
with you in developing proposals for an extended GSP program.

Most fundamentally, of course, the Cancun meeting underlined the importance of
the free trade posture the Administration has adopted. There are many other
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reasons why we must keep our market as open as possible, but the impact of our
trade policies on developing countries is one we must not forget.

Before I leave the theme of our trade relations with developing countries, I would
like to underline one area to which we have been devoting particular attention in
recent months. As you know, the economic health and political stability of the
Caribbean Basin area have been very much on our minds. We are convinced that
more vigorous economic expansion is essential to a political evolution which avoids
violence, bloodshed and repression.

We have had extensive consultations with the countries of the area and with
other interested governments—Canada, Venzeuela, Mexico, and a number of Euro-
pean countries—which share our concern. We are developing a series of interrelated
proposals designed to stimulate investment, especially in the private sector, and to
encourage trade, on which these small economies inevitably must rely in order to
experience solidly based economic growth. We hope that this coordinated approach
will make a real contribution to the economic development of the area. Other
donors also expect to provide parallel support for the area, through whatever means
fit in best with their development policies. Making our support economically and
politically meaningful may involve some tough choices for the Administration and
the Congress. We intend to work closely with you in moving ahead in this area.

OUR OECD PARTNERS

Despite the impressive growth in the developing countries’ participation in inter-
national trade, the other OECD countries are likely to remain extremely important
trading partners for the U.S. Over half our trade is with these countries. As these
mature economies expand, they, like us, face the challenge of adjustment in indus-
tries which are no longer competitive. They are also devoting increased attention to
sectors where we have enjoyed a strong competitive lead in world markets, services
and high technology.

Effective consultations are essential to the development of more effective relation-
ships with our trading partners. In the case of Japan, it has been agreed that Sub-
Cabinet consultations will be held semi-annually, and that the work of the Sub-
Cabinet group will be supplemented by meetings of a Trade Subcommittee which
was launched in September. We expect this arrangement will make it possible for
us to address trade issues in a more systematic and continuous fashion. Semi-annual
high-level consultations are also held with the EC. In addition, our regular meetings
with other OECD members have provided a useful forum for discussions of trade
issues, e.g., trade in services.

In discussing trade with Japan, there is a tendency to focus on the persistent
Japanese surplus in its trade in goods and services with the U.S. since the mid-
1960s. The reason for this is largely structural—the goods the U.S. imports from
Japan match Japanese exports more closely than American exports match Japanese
import requirements. Special temporary conditions such as U.S. inflation, high U.S.
interest rates, a weak yen and strong dollar, and a slowed Japanese growth rate can
exacerbate the imbalance.

Countries must not be overly concerned about bilateral trade or current account
imbalance as long as their overall international positions are sustainable in the
long-term.

The United States has enjoyed modest current accounts surpluses for the past two
years and so far in 1981, though we anticipate falling into deficit for next year.
Japan’s current account has been in deficit the past two years but is expected to
strengthen impressively in 1982 from this year’s moderate surplus.

Large economies like the U.S. and Japan should be conscious of the impact of
their economic policies on each other, on the rest of the world, and on the trading
system as a whole. Japan appears to be increasingly concerned to find ways of
preventing its trade surpluses with the U.S. and EC from reaching levels that
strengthen protectionist forces. I referred earlier to the Trade Subcommittee, under
the aegis of the U.S.-Japan sub-cabinet consultations, which will tackle this problem
and head off troublesome issues before they generate irresistible pressure for protec-
tion. Japan’s Ministry of International Trade and Industry, MITI, for example, is
working hard to encourage the expansion of manufactured imports. At the same
time, we must on our side place Japan’s trade surplus in the context of our overall
relatively favorable payments position and the knowledge that government action
designed to eliminate our bilateral trade deficit with Japan, if it has the effect of
restricting trade, would result in a net loss of economic prosperity for both regions.

e growing surplus we have enjoyed with the European Community since the
early 1970’s has helped offset our deficits with Japan and other countries. This
surplus reached an all time high of $17.4 billion this year. While our balance in
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1981 is likely to remain favorable, our trade relations with the Community will not
be easy. Unemployment, which has been increasing in all ten member states,
reached a Community-wide level of 8.3 percent in September. Protectionist pres-
sures are strong in many sectors. One area of continuing concern will be the
adverse effects of the EC’s common agricultural policy on U.S. agricultural trade.
As the EC disposes of more and more of its excess production through subsidized
exports, we will have to ensure the rights and interests of our exporters are
protected. Steel is another problem area, where we face exceptionally high levels of
imports at a time when Europe is cutting back employment in an effort to modern-
ize its industry. These and other trade problems will require close attention and
careful management in the months to come.

We will also have to work with major trading partners on some of our more
general trade concerns.

In an era of relatively low duties, non-tariff barriers act as the major impediment
to international trade. One of the major accomplishments of the Tokyo Round was
to make a start at dealing with these non-tariff barriers. The “codes’” agreed to
during these negotiations are being put into effect. We need to make them work as
effectively as possible and to develop greater international discipline, and a body of
case law and agreed procedures and rules in such key fields as export subsidies,
dumping, and international bidding for government procurement.

The United States is much interested in trade in services, as this is one of the
most dynamic areas of our economy. Our 1979 export receipts from services totaled
more than $76 billion, aimost a fourfold increase over the 1971 level of $19.1 billion.
Services account for 27 percent of U.S. exports and employ 70 percent of the non-
agricultural U.S. work force.

Investment performance requirements and incentives which are increasingly
being adopted by a number of countries, largely in the developing world, are
another source of potential trade distortion harmful to our economic interests. Qur
goal is the maintenance of an open investment system—one that is based to the
extent possible on a common framework and understanding of the basic ground
rules. In instances in which investment is attracted by incentives including protec-
tive tariffs, which alter the marketplace’s allocation of resources, the trade conse-
quences must be weighed along with the investment results. Performance require-
ments which mandate a specified level of exports likewise may distort trade pat-
terns, requiring a balancing of interests. Though formulation of “rules of the game”
will not be easy, with U.S. overseas investment totaling $192.6 billion by the end of
1975) (on a balance-of-payments basis), the desirability of attempting to do so seems
evident.

The close links between our trade goals and our ability to cooperate with our key
trade partners are only one example of the interdependence of our political rela-
tions and U.S. trade and economic policy. We believe that the President’s economic
recovery plan will lay the foundation not only for a more vigorous U.S. economy but
also for stronger and healthier ties with our allies. In this type of an international
environment the United States can more effectively pursue its broader foreign
policy goals.

The Subcommittee will be going over our trade policies in great detail in the next
few days. It is evident that in the post-Cancun period details will change and new
initiatives will be developed. Yet there is a constancy in the sweep of trade policy
and objectives which will endure. I and the Department look forward to cooperating
with you now and in the months ahead.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Mr. Secretary, we appreciate your testimony.

Let me talk about Cancun and the follow-up.

I would be very disturbed if we moved trade negotiations out of
the GATT and moved them into UNCTAD or the U.N. or any of
those places.

I would actively resist such an operation.

I want us to follow the most-favored-nation principles in these
negotiations.

I think anything else would be disastrous. I never have been an
enthusiastic supporter of GSP. I always look at it with a very
skeptical eye. Frankly, while it is not directly related, of course, to
Cancun, in dealing with our close neighbors, Canadians and Mexi-
cans and anybody else who fits into that category, I don’t see how
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we can arrive at any special deal or consideration for them just
because they are close.

I think we still should be bound by our most-favored-nation
principles and by the rules of GATT.

It really makes no difference to me whether Mexico is a member
of GATT or not, but I don’t think Mexico should be allowed to say
we are not a member of GATT, therefore, we deserve special con-
sideration.

Those are just a few of my views right off the bat and I would
like to have you comment on them. B

Mr. RasHisH. I don’t have very much trouble with your views,
Mr. Chairman. I would join you in resisting any activity that would
derogate from or subvert the established international institutions
that serve us well.

That goes not only to GATT. It goes as well to the International
Monetary Fund, the World Bank, postwar institutions which have
been the instruments for international cooperation which have
contributed capacity to adjust and take account of the changing
needs of a changing world environment which have the competence
and have the responsibility to deal with these problems.

That posture is central to the position which the United States
took at Cancun.

I am happy to say that the spirit of Cancun that I referred to
reflected a more serious and more positive orientation toward the
questions of solving the problems of development within the frame-
work of the competent institutions than has been the case for
many years in the debates that have been going on in the United
gagions and other bodies over what is called the North-South

ialog.

So, as a general principle, I am with you 100 percent and that is
" the position of the Reagan administration.

I am happy to say too that some of the editorial comment that I
have been reading since we got back from Cancun has shown great
sensitivity to that issue, even in such journals as the Washington
Post, and the New Republic, in its lead editorial this week.

When the Wall Street Journal takes that position, we are not too
surprised, but when some of these other journals do it, it is very
reassuring.

What Cancun did in this respect, as I have already indicated,
was mark a change in disposition and attitudes. Perhaps it is
because the problems that are confronting the world economy and
the developing countries in the world economy have become so
difficult and daunting that people no longer are prepared merely to
talk about these issues in a confrontational and ideological way,
but are prepared to address them in a practical way with the
perspective of solving problems.

Now, what we have to do with the spirit of Cancun is distill it
and see what we can do in practical terms to address these prob-
lems through international cooperation, but with emphasis on
these institutions such as the GATT in the trade area.

Now, addressing some of the other points you raised on GSP, I
can appreciate your skepticism with respect to GSP. The fact is, 1
suppose, that as we proceed along the path of trade liberalization,
GSP becomes a wasting asset.
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That is to say, the margin of preference if you provide for duty-
free treatment of LDC’s, the margin of preference and therefore
the benefit the GSP accords decreases as import duties decline
generally through the process of international negotiation of the
GATT as with the case of the multilateral trade negotiations.

But it is not a terribly expensive arrangement for us. There is a
process for review, the eligibility of countries for selective gradua-
tion of products and so on so that is an adjustable process as well.

In volume terms, GSP accounts for only 3 percent of our total
imports, but it has acquired a certain symbolic value. It has some
concrete benefits for selective countries and so on. On a straight
cost/benefit analysis it does not strike me that it is something we
would wish to abandon.

In fact, I think the President has already committed himself so I
have no choice on the matter. We have to derive whatever value
fv_ve can from it over the years and there is some value to be derived
rom it.

On the question of the GATT, MFN, and the role of the LDC’s, 1
share your perspective.

Article I of the GATT is the article that stipulates most-favored-
nation treatment. It is the threshold principle of the GATT. It
seems to me that as I indicated in my statement that it is both to
the interests of the world trading system as a whole as well as to
the interest of the individual developing countries to become full
participants in the GATT process.

The direction of U.S. policy on this subject is to encourage less
developed countries to become partners in trade cooperation
through the GATT system and to encourage their membership in
the GATT.

With respect to departures from MFN, there are legal con-
straints in U.S. law that inhibit such departure so that I think
these are protective measures that ought to be safeguarded.

Chairman GiBpoNs. Mr. Frenzel? ‘

Mr. FRENzEL. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Secretary, we are grateful to you for coming over here and
presenting this interesting testimony.

Like the chairman, I have some concerns about Cancun. Al-
though you have read us your four conditions, the second of which
specifies the continued use of existing institutions, and I assume
this means IMF and GATT principally, it seems to me the very fact
that you gave forth the phraseology of negotiations really does
imperil those institutions. Those of us on this committee and the
Banking Committee who have jurisdictions over these other agen-
cies, I must tell you frankly, are very nervous about it. Particular-
ly, the statements of the head of the Indian Government following
Cancun caused us even more distress. There is a good deal of
nervousness abroad that while the President escaped alive, maybe
in the eyes of the press, and perhaps America, for the long term,
he did not escape alive.

Can you give us a little more consolation than you did in your
statement about this?

Mr. RasHisH. Yes, sir.

I feel reasonably comfortable that the President not only escaped
alive, but did very well in Cancun.
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Cancun, as I indicated, was a very different kind of event from
comparable events of the past.

I think that is the most important part of Cancun.

Now, on global negotiations, that is a long and tortured story.

But, as you recall, at the Ottawa summit language was agreed to
in the communique that indicated that the seven summit countries
were prepared to participate in a mutually acceptable process of
global negotiations, lower case on the g and n, offering the prospect
of constructive results, that is at least the spirit of the language.

The use of the lower case, which has been the object of some
humor as a matter of fact, at one point, given the view of our
Canadian hosts on global communication I thought they might
print the communique all in capital letters to avoid the distinction.

Anyway, the use of the lower case g and n, global negotiations,
was designed to distance ourselves from the Global Negotiations
that started with the resolution of the General Assembly in late
1979, Resolution 34-138, and to show a certain hospitality to the
idea that while there may not, in fact, be negotiations, there is
some need to engage a dialog in a global form, a universal form
over the problems of economic development.

Cancun does, I suppose, if you look at the statement of the
cochairman, move us another inch or two toward the Global Nego-
tiations, capital G, capital N, because the text reads capital G, and
capital N, and also it talks about the U.N., which the Ottawa
summit does not talk about.

But we have stipulated the condition. We have said it has to be a
mutually acceptable process and we have to be satisfied that there
is some prospect for good and constructive results.

What is more, more and more countries, including members of
the G-77, the LDC caucus are accepting that, those conditions,
those perspectives.

I can assure you that we are not going to engage in a U.N.
process of global negotiations that does not satisfy our conditions
and needs and we are prepared to be isolated on that except that I
don’t think we will be.

I think that after Cancun there is a better appreciation of the
position. But I would not mind at all if you, Mr. Frenzel, and
members of your committees, your opposite numbers in the Senate,
kept after us and kept on reminding the administration as to what
the pitfalls are.

We do have a positive approach to this question of dialog on the
problems of development and our positive approach does, in fact,
emphasize the central role of the specialized agencies such as the
Fund, the Bank, the GATT, the FAO on the field of food.

So, as far as our orientation is concerned in the administration I
think it is clear how we proceed to negotiate on our differences
without compromising our principles is a matter that is going to
have to be worked out in the weeks ahead.

Mr. FReNzEL. Well, I thank you, Mr. Secretary.

I raised the question following the chairman’s remarks because 1
wanted to be sure that you knew our strong feelings and to be
reminded. It was, I think, in many respects a grand gesture to go to
Cancun to open the dialog in a restricted sort of forum and I hope
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you are right that that spirit will spill over into whatever large or
small GN’s that occur in the future.

But I think that those people with whom we are negotiating are
going to have to understand that criteria No. 4, that cooperative
spirit, has to go before all else and I think we should proceed in
this thing with great care. We want you to proceed but we don’t
want you to step over the line and we do not want to be writing
trade regulations in the U.N.

I think that you are very aware of that.

I would like to refer to your comments on page 14 of your
statement with respect to United States-Japan trade relations.

Mr. RasHisH. That must be my longer statement.

Mr. FRENZEL. Yes, sir; that was your longer statement. It was not
the one that you presented here verbally. It strikes me as being
either terribly diplomatic or terribly naive.

Mr. RasHisH. I would prefer the first.

Mr. FrenzeL. I don’t blame you.

This subcommittee goes to Japan more frequently than it would
like because of the difficulties of that recurring trade deficit and
your statement there appears to treat that deficit in a kind of
cavalier fashion and to place too much reliance on Japanese allega-
tions that they are going to straighten everything out any minute
or that the dollar is going to get weak and change things around.
Particularly it places a lot of reliance on MITI, which has proved
to be a paper tiger with respect to breaking down any of the
barriers that are erected and defended by other departments, par-
ticularly agriculture in Japan.

And one of the reasons that this committee and others tried to
move to reduce the role of State is because of that very attitude.
We don’t take the position that one of our former Appropriations
Subcommittees did, that the State Department exists to pass cook-
ies at receptions. But we are nervous about that kind of an attitude
}:‘hlat says, well, they are working on the problem and don’t worry,
olks.

We have seen these persistent surpluses. The chairman and I
have been sitting here with our fingers in the dikes while this
Congress throws up such things as our auto problem, the meat
amendments to the farm bill, and others. It is exactly that deficit
with Japan that is causing that kind of reaction in the Congress
and we can’t ignore it and I don’t think you can either.

I think you are being much too easy on them in this statement
and I would like to have you comment.

Mr. RasHisH. I would like to plead for diplomacy as the inspira-
tion for the words on that page.

Some members of the Appropriations Committee may have said
the State Department engages in passing cookies. After hearing
Jack Block’s statement I want to assure you that they will be
butter cookies from now on.

Chairman GisBoNs. Salted butter cookies?

Mr. FRENZEL. At market prices.

Mr. RasHisH. Since I have been at the State Department my
blood pressure has gone up and I can’t use salt anymore.
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The question about the bilateral trade deficit I wanted to raise
the point that I thought it could be subversive of intelligent eco-
nomic policy to focus exclusively on the bilateral trade.

We live in a multilateral trading and payment system and one
man’s surplus is another man’s deficit and to try to balance out
payments or trade on a bilateral basis would result in the destruc-
tion of the system.

Mr. FrENzEL. I think we would agree to that.

Mr. RasHisH. You would agree with that.

Now, at the same time clearly there is a kind of a symmetry in
our trade relations with Japan. There is a perception that is based,
I am sure, on a fair amount of reality that the U.S. market is a
more open market of Japanese goods, industrial goods, agricultural
goods or whatever, than the Japanese market is to United States
goods.

And we have to work at the business of getting that market
opened up, reducing the reasons for complaint by American export-
ers and to the extent that we are successful in the bilateral trade
balance, all the better.

We have made some progress that you are more familiar than I
am with, the NTT agreement of the past administration and semi-
conductors more recently.

When we had the last meeting of our United States-Japan con-
sultative group which reviews the whole range of issues in our
economic and to some extent political relations at the end of Sep-
tember, I opened the meeting with this statement to our Japanese
counterparts which went along the following lines: that we face a
crossroads in our trade relations and the direction we take could
influence the whole tenor and character of the world trading
system particularly at a time when the economies of industrialized
countries are in something of a slough.

That Japan had a responsibility to that system that she has not
yet fully discharged and that Japan was in fact faced with two
options, either that Japan should be perceived as realistically, hon-
estly, and straightforwardly opening up its market progressively or
that Japan would come under increasing pressure for restrictive
action in the markets of the other industrialized countries.

And we went into that at some length. Now, that is at the level
of principle. How do you pursue, and I think there was an appre-
ciation on the part of the Japanese. We were extremely candid
with them. We were even a bit tough-minded with them.

The State Department can be tough-minded occasionally. And
the question is how do you follow up or how do you work off that
principle, that perception?

I indicated in my statement that we have got this Bilateral
Trade Subcommittee that Dave Macdonald chairs that will meet
from time to time. The full committee meets only twice a year. The
subcommittee will meet frequently.

We are going to exert pressure, quietly, discreetly and effective-
ly. The Trade Subcommittee intends to focus on specific product
areas and I know that Lionel Olmer, the Under Secretary of Com-
merce who chairs that, has quite a roster of issues which he has
been scrubbing with his Japanese counterparts.
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The reference to MITI in my statement was not adequate in the
sense that I understand that the Prime Minister has in fact made a
statement along the same lines that Japan has to take measures to
encourage the expansion of manufactured imports into the Japa-
nese market. :

Again, that is a statement of principle and in our daily contacts
with the Japanese we have to keep working at the specifics of how
the Japanese market can be made more open not only to manufac-
tured imports but also the imports of agricultural goods.

And in the end, it seems to me that it is inescapable and unac-
ceptable that the Japanese would be the beneficiaries of such trade
expansion and trade liberalization.

Mr. FrenzeL. Thank you. Your statement seems far more realis-
tic to me than the written material presented. I think the fact that
we wrestle with it here every day is that there is a perception
which I believe has a fairly accurate base. The perception is that
one of our trading partners is feasting on us in a relatively open
market while denying us opportunities in its market. But that
country has already been distressed because of its decision to re-
strain shipments of autos because this Congress literally forced it
to do so, and there will be other distresses in the future unless we
change that.

We agree with you, I think on the subject of bilateral balance
but where there are blockages that are artificial I think we have a
right to demand that our trading partners restore them.

My concern, and I call it to your attention, is that in the past the
State Department has not been very aggressive in this area and
sometimes our trade representatives have labored in a kind of a
solitary adventure while all the State Department has been inter-
ested in is mutual security pacts and other important items that
can’t be ignored in that particular area and in our whole interna-
tional relations area. But I am pleased with your answer, and I
hope that you will continue to exercise pressure, lest we see the
erosion of our whole world trading scheme.

Mr. Chairman, I have run over, and I apologize.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Mr. Pease.

Mr. Pease. No questions.

Chairman Gieeons. Mr. Rashish, you are probably not going to
agree with me now but let me ask you something: What agency of
our Government was in charge of the planning of Cancun?

Mr. RasuisH. It was a collegial effort just as the planning for the
Ottawa summit was a collegial effort among the various agencies of
Government.

For the Ottawa summit I was the President’s personal repre-
sentative known in the trade as the American sherpa, we prepared
for that summit.

We had interagency groups that other relevant departments
were represented on that prepared the preparatory material. That
was essentially the process for Cancun but the lead role being
taken, if I were to identify the departments of Government that
were most active they would be State and Treasury because the
Secretary of State and the Secretary of Treasury were in attend-
ance at Cancun.
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USTR played an active role in the preparatory process. Com-
merce similarly played an active role. The NSC staff played an
active role and, of course, the White House staff itself.

Chairman GiBBoNns. Well, you know, we set up the USTR office
to be Congress representative in trade and to be the administra-
tion’s representative in trade. Nobody from USTR has complained
to me about it. Maybe I am raising something out of school. Why
did you not take somebody from USTR to Cancun?

Mr. RasHisH. Well, it was not my decision to make.

Chairman Gieeons. I know it was not but we don’t seem to get
the message through to the administration. We want the USTR
included in all of these operations where trade is involved. All of
us know there is no way we can lift these countries out of the
poverty they are in unless we trade with them. That is fundamen-
tal. There is not enough money to give to them and it probably
would not do any good anyway but trade is the name of the thing
that we are going to have to do and the principal person in trade
as far as we are concerned, as Congress is concerned, is the U.S
Trade Representative.

I don’t see why in the world that is not the first name on the
agenda after the President. He has got to get on the plane. I don’t
know why you don’t take the USTR and his staff. I don’t know why
it is not the first name after the President in any of these confer-
ences. I realize there is always a battle in any administration over
turf, but I want to tell you we are either going to get the USTR on
top of this or we are going to make the USTR so big that he will
have to invite the President to get on the plane from now on when
we get together to talk about these things. Because what happens
is that you all go to these conferences and make a lot of deals or at
least get expectations raised to a high point and then you throw it.
over to the USTR and the Congress to kind of straighten out all
this mess.

We have to deal with the constituency back here that is con-
stantly on us about trade matters and we don’t get in on the
takeoff.

I want to get that message across. I know I probably ought to
have Mr. Haig here for this but he was not available. He was
invited but I want you to take it back to him. This is a message
from the Congress. We want the USTR in on these conferences
from now on and I am upset that they were not included in
Cancun.

Now, turf battles are turf battles but the Congress is going to
sound off a little more. We are going to create such a large USTR
that you can’t leave him behind from now on unless we get a little
better cooperation.

I am sorry to have to lecture to you because you are a friend of
mine but maybe the message will get back.

Mr. RasHisH. I will certainly take your message back, Mr. Chair-
man, but let me try to offer a partial answer. If I can start in a
very personal way by reciting my credentials on the Office of the
United States Trade Representative, I was in the White House in
the Kennedy administration when the Trade Expansion Act of 1962
was put together and I guess I had more to do with that than
anyone else in the U.S. Government at the time.
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Chairman GIBBONS. I appreciate that.

Mr. RasHisH. It was I who came to Wilbur Mills one day and
said, you know how you solve your problem between State and
Commerce over who has the call on trade policy, you set someone
up in the White House called the U.S. Trade Representative and
have him act as the coordinator within the U.S. Government and
that is how the U.S. Trade Representative’s Office was founded and
the provision made in the 1962 legislation which was subsequently
enhanced in the 1974 act.

So I have great respect for and a certain paternal interest in the
role and I think—and I was also, as you know a charter member of
the President’s Advisory Committee for Trade Negotiations which
advised the USTR and the first elected chairman.

I think the Trade Representative’s Office plays a critical role in
the making and execution of trade policy in the U.S. Government
and it is the emblem, as you said, the symbol of the kind of
trilateral cooperation between the Congress, the executive branch
and the public, and that is a very important function.

Now, let me say, first of all, that really this may strike you as
naive if not diplomatic, but I don’t really think there were any turf
battles about who showed up in Cancun. That, in fact, as I have
seen the process of interagency consultation and it is absolutely
essential in the national economic policy field generally and in the
trade policy area in particular, to have a very effective interdepart-
mental, interagency decisionmaking process, consultative and do-
mestic processes.

I have seen it work and I say this without any guile. In this
administration I think it has worked damn well. I think the Trade
Representative and the Secretary of Commerce, as you know, the
Secretary of Commerce chairs a Cabinet Committee on Commerce
and Trade and have a very effective working relationship. And I
like to feel that the State Department pays a cooperative collegiate
role in that process and I think that is the way it worked.

What happens is that the kind of arrangement that where in the
Ottawa summit which were represented in Cancun was that the
leader, the head of state and government would be in attendance
with two ministers and the arrangements that were made for
Ottawa were that the ministers be foreign ministers and finance
ministers and that got replicated for Cancun.

There were, in fact, in the plenary session in Cancun in the room
where the plenary sessions took place there were only four seats
per delegation so that that, of course, does not argue for not taking
a lot of people along but I think in terms of ministerial representa-
tion I think that was the principal conditioning consideration that
there was an arrangement that was sort of agreed to by all the
parties that would be the head of government.

The policies, the positions that we took both at Ottawa and
Cancun reflected the interagency process, preparatory process
which was quite extensive. In fact, when I took over at the begin-
ning of this administration as the Special Representative for the
summit, in contrast to the way it was handled previously, I institu-
tionalized the process. I made certain that on all the subjects to be
discussed in Ottawa there would be interagency groups that re-
viewed the issues, prepared the working papers and so on and the
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STR was fully represented so I don’t think there was any question
of the STR’s participation in the policymaking process and I don’t
think there is any problem on the part of STR on the positions that
were taken either at Ottawa or at Cancun but I will certainly take
your observation back with me.

Chairman GiBeoNs. Well, I realize that Cancun was rather pre-
liminary and that actually there were no negotiations carried on
there but the USTR is more than a negotiator. As far as the
Congress is concerned he is the principal person on trade policy.
Trade policy is the only way out of this mess we live in ‘because
there is just not enough money in the world to finance all of these
great ideas that people around the world have. How are you going
to rescue the world from poverty except by trade?

All the goodwill in the world and all the monetary policy and
everything else is not worth a hoot unless there is some real trade
out there. That is why your idea was so good and why we pursue it
so vigorously.

If the nations of the world are going to get together and talk
about economic success they ought to start on trade, spend lunch
on trade and supper on trade and adjourn on trade because the
rest of it is just wishful thinking.

The Congress, only with a great deal of effort and a lot of sleight
of hand ever gets a foreign aid bill passed and a foreign aid bill,
even with all the effort we put into it, is like comparing peanuts to
watermelon as far as trade is concerned in size.

So I think that while I am just as interested in solving these
problems in a humane and satisfactory manner we are not taking
the right people to these conferences. We need to really get down
and prove to the rest of the world that we are serious and try to
work out these problems.

That is why I lecture you so strongly.

As I say, no one from USTR has even mentioned to me that they
were not invited either on the first plane, the second plane, or the
last plane to go down there.

I looked over the agenda of who went and I was surprised to see
that the USTR was not sitting right at the right elbow of the
President because that is what the whole conference was about.

He is the fellow who has got to come up here to Congress and get
out of us trade laws that will allow the President and will allow
the others in the administration to do the kind of things that are
going to have to be done in order to have a policy.

Thank you for your patience in putting up with me. I appreciate
it.

Mr. RasHisH. Well, Mr. Chairman, you may have lectured me but
I am properly instructed.

Chairman GiBBons. Thank you, sir.

We will go next to Mr. Lovell.

Mr. Lovell, you are operating under a handicap. The members
are hungry and so your statement will be placed in the record as
you wish.

86-595 O0—81—17
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STATEMENT OF MALCOLM R. LOVELL, JR., UNDER SECRETARY,
DEPARTMENT OF LABOR

Mr. LoveLL. I thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I really
prefer testifying before hungry committees because the members
are brief and I can be brief. I do have a summary statement if you
will let me present that.

Thank you for the opportunity to appear before you today to
discuss the Department of Labor’s views on U.S. trade policy. I am
convinced that American workers have a vital and growing stake
in the trade policy of the United States.

In 1980, merchandise export-related employment was 5.1 million
jobs, a T75-percent increase over the level in 1970. In 1980, roughly
2.7 million U.S. manufacturing jobs, or 1 out of every 8 U.S. manu-
facturing jobs, was related to exports; the comparable ratio was 1
in 12 in 1970.

Trl'{ade is also causing shifts among the industries where people
work.

In the 1960’s and 1970’s, exports, and therefore export-related
jobs, increased substantially in industries such as power-generating
equipment, and aircraft.

By constrast, import competition intensified in such important
industries as textiles and apparel, footwear, electronics, and later
steel and autos. Import surges of these products helped create
serious adjustment problems for the domestic industries and work-
ers producing these products.

It is very difficult to estimate employment related to imports. If
one makes some very simplifying and perhaps unrealistic assump-
tions, then for every $1 billion worth of imports of motor vehicles
and parts the direct domestic employment would be 7,800, if these
cars were produced in the United States. Perhaps as many as two
to three times the number of workers would be involved in supply-
ing industries.

The Labor Department’s role in U.S. trade policy development
reflects our concern with the relationships between trade and U.S.
jobs. The Department participates in all levels of the interagency
trade policy committee structure.

We are active in policy development relating to all trade and
investment issues. Our contribution to the policy development proc-
ess is to provide data and analyses on the employment impact of
particular policy options.

We also have the responsibility to make sure that the views of
organized labor are known and understood by our colleagues in the
other agencies. In assuring that the interests of American workers
are given full consideration in the interagency process, we seek an
applropriate convergence of foreign and domestic economic policy
goals.

The Department’s Office of Foreign Economic Research provides
data and analysis of the effects of changes in trade on domestic
employment and earnings. That office produced the President’s
Report on U.S. International Competitiveness, provided an empiri-
cal assessment of the employment effects of the MTN tariff reduc-
tions and is currently analyzing the employment effects of invest-
ment incentives and performance requirements used by other coun-
tries.
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One question asked in the committee’s letter of invitation to the
Secretary concerned the role of labor-management relations as a
factor in U.S. competitiveness, particularly in comparison to Japa-
nese industrial relations policies. As part of a cooperative research
effort with the Japanese Ministry of Labor, the Department is
conducting an analysis comparing labor market policies and proc-
esses in the two countries. That analysis will be completed early
next year and will include an assessment of the role of labor
relations practices.

The Labor Advisory Committee program administered by the
Labor Department is one of the principal current vehicles for com-
munication between the executive branch and organized labor. The
policy level Labor Advisory Committee for Trade Negotiations and
Trade Policy is made up of presidents or senior officials from 49
different unions and various departments of the AFL-CIO.

The most active component of the Labor Advisory Committee
system is the Steering Subcommittee which meets monthly.

Topics covered can range from the current status of our subsidies
problem with India to the Cancun Summit. Both the advisers and
Government officials involved consider it a very constructive forum
for exchanging views.

Mr. Chairman, I believe that American workers, who continue to
be the most productive workers in the world, despite some impres-
sions to the contrary, have generally benefited from the relatively
fair and open trading system that we enjoy today. The goal of this
administration’s policy must be to build on this system.

Our trade policy priorities for the coming decade must not only
aim to enforce the agreements negotiated in the Tokyo round, but
also to work to achieve discipline in other areas not currently
covered by trading rules.

For example, trade-related investment policies which tend to
distort trade are becoming widely used by both developing and
developed countries. Achieving rules to prevent the discriminatory
and distorting effects of these practices is an important priority.

While corporations making investments abroad may be able to
make adjustments to accommodate such practices as local content
requirements or export requirements, U.S. workers may be disad-
vantaged and cannot adjust as easily.

We welcome investment in new productive facilities in this coun-
try. Such investment enhances our economic and employment
growth. The Department of Labor has such confidence in the pro-
ductivity of American workers, we wonder why more foreign com-
panies, who enjoy significant sales in the U.S. market, do not
choose to produce their goods here.

U.S. trade policy must deal with changes brought about by the
dynamic nature of the international economy. While in the long
run workers will benefit from an open trading system, in the
shorter term, safeguard measures are sometimes necessary to ease
problems of dislocation for workers.

With respect to adjustment assistance, the amendments resulting
from the Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1981 came into
effect October 1, 1981. They reflect a shift in program emphasis
away from income maintenance to placement and employment
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s?rvic&es and benefits aimed primarily at the permanently unem-
ployed.

The new “substantial cause” standard for certification of worker
groups comes into effect for petitions filed on or after February 9,
1982. It is still too early to be precise about the effects of the
amendments. Clearly, the lower level and shorter duration of TRA
benefits will result in substantially smaller cash outlays than the
$1.6 billion in 1980 and the $1.5 billion in 1981.

Therefore, the administration has requested $238 million for
TRA in fiscal 1982, and $98.6 million to fund training, job search
and relocation under the program in 1982.

Another trade policy priority stems from our increasing trade
with developing countries. A significant portion of this trade enters
under our generalized system of preferences. The administration
has decided, as you know, to seek renewal of our legislative author-
ity for GSP.

I believe that any extended GSP program must contain provi-
sions which will assure a broader distribution of benefits among
developing countries.

The committee indicated an interest in the relationship between
U.S. productivity and competition. International comparisons of
productivity are difficult to make. The best available data show
that the United States has a higher output per employed person
than other major developed countries, but that the gap is being
narrowed. In terms of absolute levels, Japan’s productivity was
only 68 percent of the United States level in 1980 and Germany’s
was 89 percent.

On the other hand, the growth rate of productivity in U.S. manu-
facturing over the period from 1973 to 1980 was lower than that of
any of the major developed countries with the single exception of
the United Kingdom.

U.S. productivity growth in the future will depend significantly
on the success of the administration’s programs to reduce taxes as
a proportion of income and to encourage private investment. If the
administration’s programs are successfully implemented, productiv-
ity in the private sector could grow at an average annual rate 2%
times as great as that for period from 1973 to 1980.

These increases in productivity will help to improve the competi-
tive position of U.S. industry in world markets and in the domestic
market. What is more important, however, is that the increases in
productivity will enable the Nation to enjoy greater real income
gains in the future.

Thank you very much.

[The prepared statement follows:]

StaTEMENT OF MALcoLM R. LoveLL, Jr., UNDER SECRETARY, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF
LABOR

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee: Thank you for the opportunity
to appear before you today to discuss the Department of Labor’s views on U.S. trade
policy. I am convinced that American workers have a vital and growing stake in the
trade policy of the United States.

International trade has become an increasingly important factor in the U.S.
economy. In 1980, merchandise exports alone were equivalent to 8.2 percent of GNP,
up from 4.3 percent a decade ago. The ratio of merchandise imports to GNP was 9.8
percent in 1980, up from 4.3 percent in 1970.
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In 1980, merchandise export-related employment was 5.1 million jobs, a 75 percent
increase over the 2.9 million export-related jobs in 1970. In 1980, roughly 2.7 million
U.S. manufacturing jobs, or one out of every eight U.S. manufacturing jobs, was
related to exports; the comparable ratio was one in twelve in 1970.

While these numbers indicate the growing magnitude of labor’s siake in trade,
they do not tell the whole story. Trade is also causing shifts among the industries
where people work.

In the 1960’s and 1970’s, exports, and therefore export related jobs, increased
substantially during this period in industries such as power generating equipment,
and aircraft. In power generating machinery, the ratio of exports to shipments rose
from 19 percent in 1964 to over 41 percent in 1979.

By contrast, import competition in this period intensified in such important
industries as textiles and apparel, footwear, electronics and later steel and autos.
Import surges of these products helped create serious adjustment problems for the
domestic industries and workers producing these products.

It is very difficult to estimate the employment related to imports. To make such
an estimate one has to assume that the production process in the United States will
be the same without imports as it is with imports. One also has to assume that
cessation of imports will have no effects on exports to other countries. We know this
is not the case. If one makes these simplifying assumptions, then for every $1 billion
worth of imports of motor vehicles and parts the direct domestic employment would
be 7,800, if these cars were produced in the U.S. (Actual imports were $25 billion in
1980). Perhaps as many as two to three times the number of workers would be
involved in supplying industries.

The Labor Department’s role in U.S. trade policy development reflects our con-
cern over both the magnitude and the composition of our two-way trade. In assuring
that the interests of American workers are given full consideration in the inter-
agency process, we seek an appropriate convergence of foreign and domestic eco-
nomic policy goals.

The Department participates in all levels of the interagency trade policy commit-
tee structure. We are involved in the development of policy in the product areas—
textiles, steel and autos—and in such broader areas as subsidies, trade related
investment performance requirements and trade policy toward developing countries.
Our unique contribution to the policy development process is to provide data and
analysis on the employment impact of particular policy options. we also have the
responsibility to make sure that the views of organized labor are known and
understood by our colleagues in the other agencies.

The Department’s Office of Foreign Economic Research provides data and analy-
sis of the effects of changes in trade on domestic employment and earnings. In 1980,
that Office produced the President’s Report on U.S. International Competitiveness
which was mandated by Section 1110(b) of the Trade Agreements Act of 1979. The
Department also provided the empirical assessment of the employment effects of the
tariff reductions negotiated in the Multilateral Trade Negotiations (MTN). We are
currently analyzing the employment effects of alternative North American Trade
Agreements and of investment incentives and performance requirements used by
other countries.

One question in the Committee’s letter of invitation to the Secretary, was the role
of labor-management relations as a factor in U.S. competitiveness, particularly in
comparison to Japanese industrial relations policies. As part of a cooperative re-
search effort with the Japanese Ministry of Labor, the Department is conducting an
analysis comparing labor market policies and processes in the two countries. That
analysis will be completed early next year and will include an assessment of the
role of labor relations practices.

The Labor Advisory Committee program administered by the Labor Department
and authorized by the Trade Acts of 1974 and 1979 is one of the principal current
vehicles for communication between the Executive Branch and organized labor. The
policy level Labor Advisory Committee for Trade Negotiations and Trade Policy is
made up of presidents or senior officials from 49 different unions and various
departments of the AFL-CIO.

The most active component of the Labor Advisory Committee system is the
Steering Subcommittee which meets monthly. Although these meetings are open to
all the members of the full committee, it is usually attended by 15-20 research
directors or trade specialists from unions interested in trade. Topics covered can
range from the current status of our subsidies problem with India to the Cancun
Summit. I believe it is fair to say both the advisors and government officials
involved, and this includes all agencies in the trade policy field—USTR, State,
Commerce, etc., consider it a very constructive forum for exchanging views.
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The Labor Advisory Committee system also includes six subcommittees covering
various economic sectors and three functional subcommittees concerned with gov-
ernment procurement, standards, and unfair trade practices.

Mr. Chairman, I believe that American workers, who continue to be the most
productive workers in the world, despite some impressions to the contrary, have
general’};;lbeneﬁted from the relatwely fair and open trading system that we enjoy
today e goal of this Administration’s policy must be to build on this system.

An important part of this program should be the vigorous enforcement of U.S.
rights negotiated in the Tokyo Round. In today’s world, many nations rely much
less on the operation of market forces than does this country. And this tendency
appears to be increasing. If we are to promote the growth of our private sector and
with it, employment opportunities, we must be vigilant in assuring that “other
govemments do not subsidize or engage in other unfair trade or investment prac-
tices which can distort trade flows and jeopardize jobs in this country. The agree-
ment resulting from the Multilateral Trade Negotiations were just the beginning.

Our trade policy priorities for the coming decade must not only aim to maintain
what is now on the books, but work to achieve discipline in other areas not
currently covered by tradmg rules. For example, trade related investment policies
which tend to distort trade are becoming widely used by both developing and
developed countries. Our immediate neighbors to the North and to the South are
prime examples. Achieving these rules to prevent the discriminatory and distorting
effects of such practices is, in the trade and investment field, an important priority.
In interagency discussion of this issue, our role is often to point out that while
corporations making investments abroad may be able to make adjustments to ac-
commodate such practices as local content requirements or export requirements,
U.S. workers may be disadvantaged and cannot adjust as easil

We believe that all nations benefit economically from the unhampered flow of
investment. We welcome investment in new productive facilities in this country.
Such investment enhances our economic and employment growth. From the stand-
point of the Department of Labor, our confidence in the goductmty of American
workers makes us wonder why more foreign compames, o enjoy significant sales
in the U.S. market, do not choose to produce their goods here.

U.S. trade policy must necessarily deal with changes brought about by the dynam-
ic nature of the international economy. While we recognize that in the long run
workers will benefit from an open trading system, in the shorter term, safeguard
actions or such domestic measures as unemployment insurance, can ease problems
of dislocation for workers. While these measures may be important, it is the view of
this Administration that free market forces provide the best vehicle to facilitate
adjustment in affected industries.

{hhth respect to adjustment assistance, the amendments resulting from the Omni-
bus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1981 went into effect October 1, 1981. They reflect
a shifting in program emphasis by this Administration away from income mainte-
nance to placement and employment services and benefits such as training, job
search and relocatlon, aimed primarily at the permanently unemployed. The new

“substantial cause” standard for certification of worker groups will go into effect for
petitions filed on or after Februry 9, 1982. It is still too early to be precise about the
effects of the amendments. Clearly the lower level and shorter duration of Trade
Readjustment Assistance (TRA) benefits will result in substantially smaller cash
outlays than the $1.6 billion in fiscal year 1980 and the $1.5 billion in fiscal year
1981. The Administration has therefore, requested $238 million for TRA payments
in fiscal 1982, and $98.6 million to fund the activities of training, job search and
relocation under the program in fiscal year 1982.

Another trade policy priority stems from our increasing trade with developing
countries. Indeed, the less develo] countries as a group are now a more important
trading partner for the United States than the European community, Canada, or
Japan. In 1980, if one omits the OPEC nations, developing countries received 29
percent of our exports, equal to $64.5 billion and contributed 26 percent of our
1mKorts equal to $62.3 billion.

significant portion of these imports enter under our Generalized System of
Preferences (GSP) under which certain imports from developing countries are duty-
free. The Administration has decided to seek renewal of our legislative authority for
GSP. I believe that any extended GSP program must contain provisions which will
assure a broader distribution of benefits among developing countries. Sixty percent
of the benefits of GSP which is intended to improve the competitiveness of all
developing countries go to five of the most advanced of these nations. A more
equltagle GSP program can help meet the special needs of the developing countries.

The Committee indicated an interest in the relationship between U.S. productiv-
ity and competitiveness. One assertion that is often made is that U.S. industry is
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becoming less competitive because of poor productivity performance compared to
other countries. International comparisons of productivity are very difficult to
make. The best available data (provided by the Bureau of Labor Statistics) show
that the United States has a higher output per employed person than other major
developed countries, but that the gap is being narrowed. In terms of absolute levels,
Japan’s productivity was only 68 percent of the U.S. level in 1980 and Germany’s
was 89 percent. On the other hand, the growth rate of productivity in U.S. manufac-
turing over the period from 1973 to 1980 was lower than that of any of the major
developed countries with the single exception of the United Kingdom. (The figures
are: average growth rates of 1.7 percent annually for the United States, 2.2 for
Canada, 7.2 for Japan, 4.9 for France, 4.8 for Germany, 3.5 for Italy and 1.4 for the
United Kingdom.)

U.S. productivity growth in the future will depend significantly on the success of
the Administration’s programs to reduce taxes as a proportion of income and to
encourage private investment. If the Administration’s programs are successfully
implemented, productivity in the private sector could grow at an average annual
rate two and one half times as great as that for the period from 1973 to 1980.

These increases in productivity will help to improve the competitive position of
U.S. industry in world markets and in the domestic market. What is more impor-
tant, however, is that the increases in productivity will enable the nation to enjoy
greater real income gains in the future.

That completes my prepared testimony. If the Committee has any questions, 1
would be pleased to answer them.

Chairman Giseons. Thank you, Mr. Lovell. You mentioned in
your statement about foreign local content and export require-
ments and the fact that we perhaps need better international rules
and understandings on these matters.

hTell me, what has the Department of Labor been doing about
this?

Mr. LoveLL. Well, we have been discussing in the Cabinet council
meetings and the joint administration groups of which we are a
part, our concern and have discussed with them various alterna-
tives that we have.

As you know, the administration would prefer that no country
have these requirements. I think we have to examine carefully
what we do ourselves in relationship to our trade policies with
other nations.

But it is a subject of considerable concern.

Chairman Giesons. I think it is a very serious problem, and I
hope that you will be very vigorous about it. I think that, as far as
the GATT is concerned, it ought to be outlawed. I think they are a
subsidy.

Mr. LoveLL. It is certainly a nontariff barrier.

Chairman GiBBoNs. There is certainly a very serious nontariff
barrier. Export requirements are an indirect subsidy and local
content requirements amount to a quantitative restriction.

I don’t know why we haven’t been vigorously pursuing this.
Maybe it is not the diplomatic thing to do, but it certainly does
make good sense and I don’t think anybody should be allowed to
get away with it. I hope that either this govenment will bring an
action itself or that people who are adversely affected will be
encouraged to bring action to take appropriate steps.

Mr. LoveLL. This country has suffered job losses as a result of
these efforts in other countries.

Chairman GiBBons. Well, surely. It is a very unfair trade prac-
tice. I would think that somebody would vigorously move in that
area. We have got to stamp it out before it gets any worse or it is
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go&ngf to be accepted and then we will have a heck of a time getting
rid of it.

So I would hope that you or your Secretary would be very
vigorous in insisting that this be done. I don’t want to see us get
into that practice of local content because I think it is one of the
worst sorts of trade restrictions we can get into. I think we ought
to be very vigorous in demanding that we have access to other
nations’ markets.

Mr. LoveLL. I agree.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Have you all done any kind of study as to
who is practicing this and to what extent they are practicing?

Mr. LoveLL. Yes, sir, we have. For example, we have a prelimi-
nary study of Mexican and Brazilian requirements for their auto
industries and the study indicates that these requirements may
have reduced U.S. employment opportunities in the auto parts
industry by almost 4,000 jobs.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Well, I want you to know you have got a
friend here and I will be glad to do what I can to help.

Mr. LoveLL. I appreciate that, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiBBoONS. Let me ask you about trade adjustment as-
sistance. This has to come up for renewal again here soon. What
are the administration’s plans?

Mr. LoveLL. Well, as you know, a number of actions have been
taken to reduce the costs of these programs.

4 ghairman GiBBONS. Yes, sir. As a follow-on, what are we going to
07

Mr. LoveLL. The administration has not completed its judgment
as to where we are going to go in 1983 on TAA. We will be forming
that judgment——

Chairman GiBBoNS. I think this is a very important issue. I hate
to try to compare anything that is Japanese to ours, because for a
lot of reasons, no reflection upon anybody, they are a lot different
nation than we are, but they have been able to automate and to
robotize part of their industry because their labor has no fear of
losing its employment.

They apparently have better labor-management relationships
than we do because they apparently do not have the hostile type
system that we seem to have run almost to the same extreme that
the English have.

Adjustment assistance is not just related to trade, it is a part of
it. A working person has a reasonable expectation as long as he
works hard and honestly that he is going to be able to maintain his
income, his job. .

I have been impressed with the way the Japanese have been able
to do it. I don’t know that I completely understand how they do it,
but they do it for about 30 percent of their labor force, perhaps the
most sensitive part, those involved in industrial operations.

And I would hope that over in the Labor Department you will
give some serious consideration as to how we can better improve
this adjustment process that is really a part of life.

It is a part of our physical as well as our economic lives. I think
that we could spend more time trying to find ways that we could
do it harmoniously rather than over the bargaining table with
everybody increasing the ante all the time.
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I don’t want to see us get in the ridiculous position that the
English have gotten themselves in. I would much rather see us
work some of these things out for everybody’s benefit in a more
cooperative way.

I realize that is extremely complex and I don’t even have a
solution for you, but I would encourage you all to make that the
top part of your agenda. It ties in to trade adjustment assistance.
Maybe as you concentrate on trade adjustment assistance, maybe
you will begin to see ways that these other things can be worked
out.

Mr. LoveLL. It is far more, of course, than trade adjustment
assistance and it is probably one of the most fundamental trade
adjustment problems that this country will face throughout the
rest of this decade.

The whole question of redundant experienced workers, whether
it is in auto or steel or electronics or rubber, is a very serious one
and as we move into a new era of industrial production techniques
with the advanced techniques that we have, there is going to be a
continual churning in the work force.

I think there will be a very substantial increase in the total
number of jobs. There are going to be people who are thrown out of
work in one area that have to compete for work in other areas. So
I agree it is a tremendously serious and difficult problem.

I do think that the process of collective bargaining in the United
States is substantially different from that in England, but different
from that in Japan, too. Really, ours is perhaps an intermediary
approach, but it is unique, in a sense, to us.

But it has the capacity and we have already seen some indica-
tions of it, of making some of the adjustments in the American
steel industry, for example, that conceivably can approach over the
next 10 years some of the results, not some of the techniques, but
approach some of the results that the Japanese have had.

Chairman GiBeoNs. Well, as I say, I don’t think that Japanese
techniques would work in this country because we are vastly differ-
ent people than they are. It is no reflection upon them and certain-
ly no reflection upon us.

But I don’t know if the American automobile industry is ever
going to compete with the Japanese automobile industry on a
competitive basis. There is no way that we can do it with the same
amount of people in the labor force.

Mr. LoveLL. You are absolutely right.

Chairman GiBeons. I am sure you are sick of hearing it. I am
almost sick of telling it. I went through a Toyota plant in which
they take steel in on one side and bring out a painted undercoated
body on the other end and it is hardly touched by human hands.

Those robots that work on those Japanese cars were designed
here in the United States. They have taken the monotonous, repeti-
tious and the hazardous jobs and put them in the hands of a robot
and they apparently did it with the approval of the people that
work in the plant.

I say that. I can’t prove that. I didn’t read anything about any
violent strikes or anything else. If you try to do that in this
country, I am afraid we would have a terrible unrest.
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Mr. LoveLL. Well, not in the automobile industry. I think that
the automobile workers and the UAW and the various companies
are working very cooperatively together. I think that the coopera-
tive relationship in that industry today is really remarkable in
historic terms. I think both the companies and the union are being
very realistic, very pragmatic. I think the companies are finding
far more cooperation not only from the unions but from the work-
ers.

There was something I heard on the television recently about a
plant that voluntarily, on a negotiated basis, reduced wages very
substantially, and gave up work practices that had been years in
developing. You are seeing this all through the whole industry.

You are finding both at Ford and at General Motors, I don’t
think they call it quality circles, but it is the same concept, with
workers and supervisors working together in the same fashion. So
it is a much different industrial relations or labor relations atmos-
phere than 30 years ago, when I was in the industry.

Chairman GiBBoNs. I saw on television the other day, and I
realize that sometimes they have to treat things with an exaggerat-
ed touch or not a real accurate touch because they move so fast
through the news, Kawasaki up in Wisconsin, because of a drop-off
in production and a drop-off in demand for their snowmobiles and
the products they are making, instead of laying the American
workers off as has been the custom in our country, Kawasaki up
there was, in effect, keeping the workers on. I don’t know whether
that will ever catch on in this country.

I don’t know whether that is a good idea or not, but I know it is
in keeping with the Japanese tradition in their industry not to
throw people out when conditions are bad.

Frankly, I don’t know enough about how all these systems work,
but I think it is something that we need to pay some serious
attention to and adjustment assistance was a crude effort to try to
do that. It was obviously so crude that it blew up in our face and it
didn’t work.

Let me ask you, in the Department of Labor what is going on in
the way of research?

Mr. LoveLL. It is a major effort. It is one of the major targets
that we have that we are looking at in terms of our whole human
resources development philosophy. I assure you there is no more
important area of concern than this one.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Let me ask you, is management being
brought into these discussions at all?

Mr. LoveLL. Well, I can assure you that management is tremen-
dously interested.

Chairman GiBeoNs. I know they are interested, but are they
being brought in? Are they being challenged to try and think out
some of these kinds of things?

Mr. LoveLL. Yes, sir. We hold meetings with a large variety of
management groups. I met with the Business Roundtable, an asso-
ciation of business manufacturers. I was with the Chamber of
Commerce this morning talking about these problems and others,
but continuing dialog is going on and it has to be not only with
management but it has to be with the top labor officials, too.
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We are talking with a number of the officials of the AFL-CIO
about these and other problems.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Well, I am interested in seeing every Ameri-
can who wants to work have an opportunity to work and some
reasonable assurance that their job is not just going to evaporate

.from under them.

It is obvious to me that our present system is not working and
that is one of the reasons that we seem to be falling behind. I can’t
think of anything that our Government could be doing as far as the
workingman is concerned that is not more important than that,
because I don’t want to see the working portion of our population
thrown into the constant necessity to strike, strike, strike, or to use
ultimate weapons when I think something else is appropriate.

Mr. LoveLL. I must say, I don’t think American industry can
blame its lack of productivity growth on bad labor relations. Maybe
in some instances, but I think that the lack of capital investment,
some of the excessive regulations we have had and the slowness, in
some instances, to convert to the latest production techniques as a
management judgment, not one that is prohibited by unions, is
more the cause of the slowing down on productivity growth.

Not that anybody is positive exactly what it is but I do not think
that this lack of cooperation between management and labor would
be a primary factor.

Chairman GiBBons. Mr. Lovell, I don’t know enough about it to
dispute what you say, but I constantly get people from manage-
ment telling me, well, we could do that but it is these silly work
rules that the unions impose upon us.

Now, I realize that they are, to some extent, defending their own
- inadequacies or perhaps they threw away too much at the bargain-
ing table but that is a constant complaint that I get from our
industrial side and for people observing our industrial side that the
work rules and the work attitudes are just not what they ought to

Now, that may be sorry management trying to alibi out of the
incorrect decisions. I know that management always blames all of
their economic ills on imports, even when imports aren’t the prob-
lem in all of the cases, and I am afraid they perhaps do the same
thing on labor, but it is a constant tune that comes back time after
time and again.

I could get a better product, I could get a better price, but my
workers really won’t work and they are not interested and their
work rules are too restrictive.

Mr. LoveLL. I think to some extent that is right to a degree, Mr.
Chairman. I guess my only comment is that I have noticed over the
last 2 years a very dramatic change. I think what you say was
absolutely true 2 years ago, and I think that the economic realities
are beginning to seep in and I do notice a change.

Chairman Giseons. Thank you, Mr. Lovell. I appreciate it.

Mr. LoveLL. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Mr. Weidenbaum, we are delighted to have
you here. We are sorry we caught you at such a bad time.

Mr. WemENBAUM. Mr. Chairman, it is always a pleasure to
appear before your committee and I would like to read a very
boiled-down version of my statement.
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Chairman GiBBons. All right, sir.

STATEMENT OF HON. MURRAY L. WEIDENBAUM, CHAIRMAN,
COUNCIL OF ECONOMIC ADVISERS

Mr. WEIDENBAUM. I want to stress three basic points: Growth in
imports is no less important than export growth; our trade or
payments balance vis-a-vis one country is just a part of our total,
longrun picture, which should be the focus of our concern and
policy; the basic principle of, and benefits from, freedom of the
marketplace applies as much to international investment as to
flows of goods and services.

The case for freer trade is rooted in a basic economic law: The
principle of comparative advantage. The arguments in favor of
freer trade are supported by plenty of historical evidence. We had
a fine example in the sixties: The acceleration in world trade and
economic growth in the sixties following a sharp, mutual reduction
in tariff barriers.

I anticipate that this trend, and the benefits which flow from an
open trade system will continue. But only if we can successfully
resist the calls for protectionism by narrow-minded interests, both
here and abroad. In short, much of the progress which has come
about through the reduction in tariffs in recent years is threatened
by the increased use of quantitative restrictions and other nontariff
barriers.

At this point, let me state the administration’s trade and invest-
ment policies. I will start with a summary of our statement on
trade policy or “white paper” that was carefully developed last
summer.

First, the white paper places trade policy within its proper con-
text, as part of the economic recovery program. As our white paper
makes clear, free trade is both philosophically and pragmatically
the international counterpart of our domestic economic program.
Both in domestic and international markets, we are trying to
reduce government-imposed barriers. Open trade contributes to
lowering inflation. Free trade is basically a consumer issue, one of
the most important. Open trade improves the efficiency with which
we produce goods and services meaning more growth and improved
living standards for Americans. In so many ways free trade makes
for a healthier economy. A short version of our trade policy was
given by the President in his recent address to the IMF and World
Bank. He stated we are committed, ‘“to policies of free trade, unres-
tricted investment and open capital markets.”

Let me play the professor for a moment. There is a close, but not
generally appreciated, connection between imports and exports.
The only way in the long run to increase our exports is to increase
our imports. Our exporters need to find foreign buyers with the
dollars necessary to buy our goods and services. These dollars are
obtained when Americans import and pay for foreign goods and
services. I have just discussed the linkage between imports and
exports. We understand this link. But I fear there are many who
do not. I see a danger of drifting into a mindset that I call no-
mercantilism. Mercantilism was an economic doctrine of the 18th
century stressing the fallacious concept that the road to economic
health was to run large trade surpluses and receive the difference
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from trading partners in gold bullion. To accomplish this, govern-
ments adopted export subsidies and imposed onerous import re-
strictions.

Neomercantilism, as I see it developing, stresses export expan-
sion to the exclusion of all other factors. Excessive emphasis is
placed on bilateral trade balances. We must recognize that it is just
as easy to waste taxpayer dollars and scarce resources in the
inappropriate promotion of exports as it is to waste them in more
traditional examples of Federal profligacy. This administration
seeks less, not more, Government participation in the marketplace.

On the subject of trade deficits, I fully expect concern over our
overall merchandise trade deficit to grow in the coming months.
The strong dollar makes it likely that trade imbalances will contin-
ue. At the same time, we will continue to have large surpluses on
our service accounts and to attract major inflows of private capital.
That attraction will grow as our policies take hold. In other words,
we should not be alarmed if the trade deficit increases as our
economic policies revitalize the economy.

Let me turn briefly to the issue of foreign direct investment in
the United States.

Foreign direct investment is relatively small, $65 billion in a $2.5
trillion economy. We have traditionally welcomed such capital be-
cause it benefits us. It increases jobs here. It reduces pressure on
our interest rates. This is not to say that foreign investment should
be absolutely unconstrained. One obvious and proper exception is
foreign investment in activities integral to our own national de-
fense. Another exemption may arise where the foreign firm is
controlled by its government, and subsidies may give that firm an
unfair advantage. We do have laws and rules which limit foreign
investment in critical activities in the United States but we must
guard against too rigid interpretations of these criteria. The
burden of proof should be placed on those who advocate restricting
trade and investment.

Let me assure you, Mr. Chairman, that this administration is not
advocating a passive policy toward other nations’ barriers to our
trade and investment or their export subsidies. We strongly oppose
trade-distorting interventions by other governments. We will insist,
as we are in our current discussions with Canada, that our trading
partners recognize that it is in their interest as well as ours to
make trade and investment a two-way street.

Let me conclude with a few words about policymaking. One of
the great difficulties in dealing with protectionist measures is that
the beneficiaries are usually few in number but each has a large
stake in the outcome. Thus, they have incentives for vigorous activ-
ity in their behalf.

On the other hand, the costs of protection may far exceed the
benefits. But those costs, in the form of higher prices to consumers
are widely diffused among 225 million citizens. Any one person’s
stake in the outcome is small. The consumer is not aware of why
the price of a given item is going up. It is an educational challenge
to make clear the true costs and benefits of protectionism.

Finally, our white paper calls for strong national determination
and a commitment to rely on competition and free markets in
trade policy. I can assure you, Mr. Chairman, that the Council of
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Economic Advisers will continue to advocate this position and that
the support we are receiving from the entire economics profession
is bipartisan and enduring.

Thank you very much.

Chairman GiBBoONs. That is good. I am glad to hear it. I appreci-
ate your coming and telling us that. I subscribe to your views and
vigorously support them. The problem is the Congress has to look
at some things in a parochial way. I can understand Members of
Congress who have serious economic problems right in their own
districts, wanting to be seen in the forefront of trying to help
alleviate those problems. I guess the political problem of using only
the marketplace to alleviate those problems comes because market
forces generally are slow in reacting and because of a lot of disloca-
tion.

I recognize though that that is a part of the process, but we
certainly have a lot of education to do up here and a lot of back-
bone building to do. I will look forward to working with you and
the administration as long as the policy that you have announced
is what is followed here.

Mr. WEIDENBAUM. I thank the Chairman for that very kind
supportive statement and if there is any one message in my state-
ment it is that open trade is fundamentally a consumer issue and
truly consumers around the country are benefiting in a form of less
inflation, more goods and services, and a higher living standard
from open trade.

Chairman GiBBoNs. One of the things that I think we must do is
when there is an unfair practice going on by a country or by a
private company in some other country, and I realize that we are
dealing more with countries, I regret to say, we need to act vig-
orously in getting the thorn removed. I hope that in your position
as Chairman of the Council of Economic Advisers you can make
certain that those agencies within our Government must respond
to these petitions of our own private industry or must sometimes
start them on their own initiative more vigorously.

I think our international rules are good but the complaint we
hear here in the Congress is that we are the patsies. We abide by
the rules, but others don’t and our Government does not vigorously
move to protect us when other people are violating the rules.

We have tried to find better ways that there can be to make the
countervailing duty laws and the dumping laws work but it really
depends upon how fast our Government can move in these areas.
Perhaps there are some Government initiated actions that would
be helpful in proving to our trading partners that we do mean
business on the enforcing of these.

Some businesses just can’t afford, particularly businesses in trou-
ble, can’t afford to come into the Government and try to remedy a
situation because you have a heck of a time meeting the payroll
and keeping the plant operating and keeping the business going,
and then coming up to Washington and hiring a law firm and
economist and everything else to go out and ‘enforce these rights.

So I would hope that our Government would move vigorously to
try to redress these laws. I think if we did we would create a
healthier environment, a healthier political environment for carry-
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ing out the kind of marketplace criteria that you want to live by
and I want to live by.

Mr. WEIDENBAUM. Mr. Chairman, I strongly support that ap-
proach. In fact, in the discussions with foreign governments that I
have participated in, I spoke up very frankly and said that the only
way we can dilute the protectionist pressures in our country is if
they reduce and eliminate their barriers to our products and serv-
ices. But in my formal statement I do cite, unfortunately, a prac-
tice that happens too frequently in this country in my experience,
and that is a company sending its lawyers down to Washington on
Monday, urging us to deal with foreign barriers to our products
and then on Wednesday the same lawyers come from the same
company urging the Congress to erect new barriers to imports from
other countries. And when we speak with such obvious forked
tongues, it makes our credibility a little weak.

Chairman GiBroNns. I realize that. I appreciate your coming in.
Thank you for a very constructive statement.

Mr. WemDENBAUM. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

[The prepared statement follows:]

StATEMENT OF HON. MURRAY WEIDENBAUM, CHAIRMAN, CounciL or Economic
ADVISERS

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee, I appreciate this opportunity to
participate in your comprehensive review of U.S. trade policy. The furthering of
freer trade and investment internationally is inextricably linked with the economic
health and vitality of our own nation.

My purpose today is to offer, from the broad, economywide perspective of the
Council of Economic Advisers, some suggestions on certain key issues and advice on
how we should be looking at the trade and investment flows in our balance of
payments.

1 want to stress three basic points:

growth in imports is no less important than export growth;

our trade or payments balance vis-a-vis one country is just a part of our total,
long-run picture, which should be the focus of our concern and policy; and

the basic principle of, and benefits from, freedom of the marketplace applies
as much to international investment as to flows of goods and services.

The case for freer trade is rooted in a basic economic law: the principle of
comparative advantage. The arguments in favor of freer trade are supported by
plenty of historical evidence. We had a fine example in the 1960’s: the acceleration
in world trade and economic growth in the 1960’s following a sharp, mutual reduc-
tion in tariff barriers.

Let me turn to our own economic history for another example. This country
began as a trading nation. In the 18th and early 19th centuries, the United States
was one of the most trade-oriented economies in the world. We were major supplies
of a wide variety of agricultural exports and raw materials (and of such delicacies as
rum). In addition, our service exports, such as shipping, were an important econom-
ic activity. We were a major importer of manufactured goods and a major recipient
of foreign capital. All this continued to play a critical role in the development of our
economy during the 19th century.

Around the turn of the century the dynamics of the American economy shifted.
Exports and imports became smaller shares of GNP and remained rather stable.
U.g.oinvestment abroad increased, gradually transforming us from an international
debtor into a world creditor. Increasingly we became a self-sufficient economy.

Only in the last 20 years has the international sector once again begun to
increase its relative importance in our economy. In 1960, exports of goods and
services were 5.7 percent of our GNP; and by 1980 they had reached 13.1 percent.
Imports rose comparably.

I anticipate that this trend, and the benefits which flow from it to all parties
involved, will continue. But that will be so only if we can successfully resist the
calls for protectionism by narrow-minded interests, both here and abroad. Increas-
ing trade restrictions risks setting us on a path back to the destructive “beggar-thy-
neighbor” policies of the 1930’s. In short, much of the progress which has come
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about through the reduction in tariffs in recent years is threatened by the increased
use of quantitative restrictions and other non-tariff barriers.

ADMINISTRATION’S TRADE POLICY

At this point, let me review the Administration’s trade and investment policies. I
will start with a summary of the Statement on Trade Policy or “White Paper” that
was carefully developed last summer.

First, the “White Paper” places trade policy within its proper context—as part of
the President’s Economic Recovery Program. As our White Paper makes clear, free
trade—based on mutually acceptable trading relationships—is both philosophically
and pragmatically the international counterpart of our domestic economic program.
Both in domestic and international markets, we are trying to reduce government-
imposed barriers to the free exercise of individual initiative, risk-bearing, and
entrepreneurship; that is, we strongly favor primary reliance of private enterprise
as the engine of economic growth and progress.

How does trade contribute to the objectives of our economic program?

Open trade contributes to lowering inflationary pressures. Thus, freer trade is
basically a consumer issue, and one of the most important of all.

Open trade minimizes the role of government in influencing private sector deci-
sions, thereby allowing individuals and business firms to respond to the needs and
pressures of the international marketplace. Thus, freer trade is key to promoting
economic freedom and private enterprise.

Open trade improves the efficiency with which we produce goods and services,
meaning more growth and an improved living standard for Americans. In so many
ways, freer trade makes for a healthier economy.

For these and other reasons, we spelled out in the White Paper a commitment to
pursue, at home and abroad, policies aimed at achieving open trade and reducing
trade distortions. We also outlined five central components of our trade policy.

1. Restoring strong non-inflationary growth at home.—Fundamental to any effec-
tive trade policy is carrying out domestic programs that increase the incentives to
invest, to raise productivity, and to reduce costs and so help lower inflation. These
policies will strengthen the ability of American firms to respond to constant
changes in domestic and international markets.

9. Reducing self-imposed disincentives.—We need to cut back confusing and unnec-
essarily complex laws and regulations that inhibit exports and imports.

3. Effective and strict enforcement of U.S. trade laws and international agree-
ments.—In a genuinely open system, trade must indeed be a two-way street.

4. A more effective approach to industrial adjustment problems.—In a healthy,
dynamic economy we must expect that some industries and regions will grow more
rapidly than others and that some sectors will experience more difficulty. We must
rely primarily on market forces, and not on government bail outs, to make appropri-
ate adjustments.

5. Reducing government barriers to the flow of trade and investment among
nations.—We must improve and extend international trade rules, particularly into
the areas of services and investment.

That is our trade policy—the long version. A short version was given by the
President in his recent address before the annual meetings of the World Bank and
the IMF: as he stated, his government “is committed to policies of free trade,
unrestricted investment, and open capital markets.”

IMPORTS AND EXPORTS

Let me play the professor for a moment. There is a close, but not generally
appreciated, connection between imports and exports. A strong trade position is
based on both a high volume of imports and a high volume of exports. In fact, the
only way in the long run to increase our exports is to increase our imports.

Let me explain this provocative point. Qur exporters need to find foreign buyers
with the dollars necessary to buy our goods and services. In general, these dollars
are obtained when Americans import and pay for foreign goods and services.

In the short run, it is true that we can and do lend foreigners the dollars with
which to buy our exports. When such loans are made at market rates of interest,
trade of course is properly advanced. But, when government-subsidized credit is
provided, such funds are denied to other, more productive uses.

Our imports thus put dollars in the hands of foreigners—which can then be used
to buy our exports. It follows that restrictions on imports will result in fewer dollars
in the hands of those in other countries who might wish to buy our wheat, aircraft,
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chemicals or machinery—unless we wish to make up the difference by lcans or gifts
to foreigners.

In some cases, the connection between imports and exports is even more direct.
Import restraints can reduce employment and profits in our more productive export
industries. The non-rubber footwear industry is one such example: U.S. exporters of
hides to foreign shoe producers suffered as a result of our restraints on the import
of foreign shoes.

THE DANGERS OF NEO-MERCANTILISM

I have just discussed the linkage between imports and exports. We understand
this link. But I fear there are many who do not. Indeed, I see a danger of drifting
into a mindset that I call “neo-mercantilism”.

Let me play the professor again. Mercantilism was an economic doctrine that
reached its heyday in the 18th century. It stressed the fallacious concept that the
road to economic health was to run large positive trade balances and receive the
difference from trading partners in gold bullion. To accomplish this objective gov-
ernments adopted widespread export subsidies, established foreign trade monopolies,
and imposed onerous import restrictions.

“Neo-mercantilism”, as I see it developing, stresses export expansion to the near
exclusion of all other factors in a healthy international trading climate. Under the
neo-mercantilist approach, a large surplus on the merchandise trade account is thus
considered to be an unmitigated “good” while a deficit is viewed as “bad”. And
excessive emphasis is placed on bilateral trade balances.

We must recognize that it is just as easy to waste taxpayer dollars and scarce
economic resources in the inappropriate promotion of exports as it is to waste them
in more traditional examples of federal profligacy. This Administration seeks less,
not more, government participation in th:e marketplace.

BILATERAL BALANCES

Statistically, a bilateral balance on trade account or, for that matter, any other
balance-of-payments account could be drawn between the U.S. and each of its
trading partners. In a world of convertible currencies and of increasingly mutually
interdependent trading relationships, however, such balances have little relevance.
A deficit, even a relatively enduring one with a particularly country, may enable
that country in turn to sustain a deficit with a third country with which we can
then maintain a surplus. The U.S. trade deficits with Japan, and some of the OPEC
countries are largely counterbalanced by U.S. trade surpluses with other nations.

One need only envision the complexity, to say nothing of the resultant distortion
of trade, of a world in which trade between each pair of countries had to be
balanced. In an open world economy, it is the aggregate position, not the compo-
nents that comprise it, that matters.

There are exceptions—where currencies are not convertible and where trading
relations are otherwise tenuous or constrained. But only in such limited situations
does consideration of bilateral balances have relevance.

TRADE DEFICITS

I fully expect concern over our overall trade balance to grow in the coming
months. Indeed, recent trade figures suggest that a decline in the balance has
already begun. The relatively strong dollar of recent months and a stronger U.S.
economy in 1982 make it likely that trade imbalances will continue. At the same
time, we will continue to have very large surpluses on our service accounts and to
attract major inflows of private capital. And that attraction is likely to grow as our
policies take hold. In other words we should not be alarmed if the trade deficit
increases as our economic policies begin to revitalize the American economy.

There was time—not long ago—when the hue and cry raised about trade deficits
would have evoked pressures for a shift in policy. A trade deficit was viewed as a
“burden” that showed failure of the system, and as a drag on the economy. That
might have been true when exchange rates were fixed, and needed adjustments
were not permitted.

But such intervention is not part of our policy, nor do we expect floating rates
automatically to eliminate a trade deficit. The shift in the trade accounts from
surplus to deficit simply reflects the adjustment process working as it should.

FOREIGN INVESTMENT IN THE UNITED STATES

Let me turn briefly to another aspect of increasing public attention: the issue of
foreign direct investment in the United States. I suspect that the dynamic role of
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foreign capital in this country in the 19th century has long been forgotten. And
today, particularly when contrasted with U.S. capital investment abroad, foreign
direct investment in the United States is relatively small—$65 billion in a more
than $2.6 trillion economy. We have traditionally welcomed such capital, because it
benefits us substantially. Indeed, it allows U.S.-based firms to expand and modern-
ize. It increases employment here, reduces burdens on our capital markets, and
helps ease pressure on our interest rates.

Both portfolio and direct investment flows into the United States are likely to
increase in the near future—as are the associated policy issues. This is so for two
main reasons:

The President’s Economic Recovery Program will, by design, improve the invest-
ment climate in this country. That improve climate will attract foreign as well as
domestic investment.

Some of the major oil-producing countries are continuing to run substantial
current-account surpluses. Their foreign investment outflows will therefore contin-
ue, anii a revitalized U.S. economy is likely to attract a good deal of that investment
capital.

To impose broad barriers to such inflows—as is suggested occasionally—is clearly
inconsistent with the economic philosophy of this Administration.

This is not to say that foreign investment should be absolutely unconstrained.
One obvious, and proper exception is foreign investments in domestic activities
integral to our national defense. Another exception may arise where the foreign
firm is controlled by its government, and subsidies may give that firm an unfair
advantage. We have a number of laws and regulations which limit foreign invest-
ment in certain critical activities in the U.S. Moreover, the Committee on Foreign
Investment in the U.S. (CFIUS) reviews foreign investments which might have
implications for the national interest.

But we must guard against too rigid interpretations of even these criteria. We
must avoid unwarranted limits on the free flow of capital which, like open trade,
raises standards of living both at home and abroad. The burden of proof should be
placed on those who advocate restricting trade and investment.

TRADE: A TWO-WAY STREET

Let me assure you that this Administration is not advocating a passive policy
toward other nations’ barriers to trade and investment or export subsidies. As laid
down in our White Paper, our policy is one of strong opposition to trade distorting
interventions by other governments. We will insist, as we are in our current
discussions with Canada, that our trading partners recognize that it is in their
interest as well as ours to make trade and investment a two-way street.

To this end we need to continue our efforts to improve the existing rules of the
game for trade in goods—particularly under the General Agreement on Tariffs and
Trade (GATT) and the codes developed in the Multilateral Trade Negotiations
(MTN). We look forward to the GATT Ministerial in 1982 where such issues might
well be considered. We might begin there, as well, the long process of developing
new sets of international rules relating to the rapidly expanding trade in services as
well as to investment flows.

Let me conclude with a few words about policymaking as it relates to trade issues.
One of the great difficulties in public policy discussions involving protectionist
measures is that the beneficiaries are usually few in number, but each has a large
individual stake in the outcome. Thus the incentive for vigorous and concentrated
political activity is strong.

On the other hand, the costs of protection may far exceed the benefits. But those
costs, such as higher prices to consumers, are widely diffused among 50 states and
225 million citizens. Any one individual’s stake in the outcome may be quite small.
The individual consumer almost surely is not aware of why the price of a given item
is going up. Consequently, resistance at the grass roots level to protectionist meas-
ures so often is considerably less than pressures for their adoption.

It is an educational challenge to make clear the true costs and benefits of
protectionist measures. That educational endeavor may, in some cases, need to
begin within the individual company. Sadly to say, I have been told of firms who
send their lawyers to Washington on Monday to seek the removal of import barriers
on one product. But on Wednesday, the same attorneys are sent back to Washington
to advocate imposing import restraints on another product.

Our “White Paper” calls for a strong national determination and a commitment
to rely on competition and free markets in trade policy. I can assure you that the
President’s Council of Economic Advisers will continue to advocate this position,
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and that the support that we are receiving from the entire economics profession is
bipartisan and enduring.

o L%hairman GiBBONS. The committee will stand in recess until
'[Whereupon, at 1:10 p.m., the subcommittee was recessed, to
reconvene at 2:30 p.m.]

AFTERNOON SESSION

Chairman GisBoNs. The meeting will resume.

Our next subject matter is the Trade Agenda for the 1980’s:
Multilateral and Bilateral Work Programs.

We have a panel consisting of the officers of the United States
Trade Representative. Ambassador Brock is here to represent his
office, accompanied by Michael Smith, Deputy U.S. Trade Repre-
sentative, who is principally stationed in Geneva with the GATT,
. and by David Macdonald, Deputy U.S. Trade Representative sta-
tioned here in Washington. The Department of Treasury is repre-
sented by Mr. Marc E. Leland, Assistant Secretary for Internation-
al Affairs; the Department of State is represented by Robert D.
Hormats, Assistant Secretary for Economic and Business Affairs;
the Department of Commerce by Mr. Raymond J. Waldmann, As-
sistant Secretary for International Economic Policy; and the De-
partment of Agriculture by Mr. Thomas A. Hammer, Deputy
Under Secretary for International Affairs.

PANEL CONSISTING OF: OFFICE OF THE U.S. TRADE REPRE-
SENTATIVE: AMBASSADOR WILLIAM E. BROCK, U.S. TRADE
REPRESENTATIVE, AMBASSADOR MICHAEL B. SMITH,
DEPUTY U.S. TRADE REPRESENTATIVE, AND AMBASSADOR
DAVID R. MACDONALD, DEPUTY U.S. TRADE REPRESENTA-
TIVE; DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY: MARC E. LELAND,
ASSISTANT SECRETARY FOR INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS; DE-
PARTMENT OF STATE: ROBERT D. HORMATS, ASSISTANT SEC-
RETARY FOR ECONOMIC AND BUSINESS AFFAIRS; DEPART-
MENT OF COMMERCE: RAYMOND F. WALDMANN, ASSISTANT
SECRETARY FOR INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC POLICY; AND
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE: THOMAS A. HAMMER,
DEPUTY UNDER SECRETARY FOR INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS

Chairman GiBBONSs. Ambassador Brock, do you want to lead off,
please, sir.

STATEMENT OF AMBASSADOR WILLIAM E. BROCK, U.S. TRADE
REPRESENTATIVE

Mr. Brock. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate the chance to
be back with you today. I think we had an excellent day yesterday,
and I thoroughly enjoyed it, and appreciate the opportunity for the
discussion. We have a very strong and balanced panel today, so if I
may I will just make a brief summary of some of the major trade
ifsues in the 1980’s, and then we can go to whatever questions you

ave,

First, I would like to stress the importance that we attach to the
GATT ministerial, which we expect to be called formally at the end
of this month for a session in November of 1982, the primary
purpose of which is to reveal the effectiveness of the various codes
negotiated in the Tokyo round with the view toward identifying
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areas where adjustments may be warranted, and in addition,
toward finding ways to begin resolving trade problems that we
have not dealt with or inadequately dealt with in previous negotia-
tions.

Second, I wish to mention the fact that, we have sought a 2-year
extension of our tariff negotiating authority under section 124 of
the Trade Act, which expires this coming January 1982.

I do believe that it is vital for the President to retain such
authority so that he may be able to take advantage of negotiating
opportunities as they develop, and to pursue them through market
access of U.S. goods abroad.

Third, I would like to stress the enormous need to build an
international framework for resolving trade problems in services,
which will establish internationally agreed upon rules and proce-
dures for services and provide for both bilateral and multilateral
approaches to issues. We have been working to lay the necessary
groundwork for the development of such a framework, and I intend
to vigorously pursue this objective.

Fourth, obviously a continuing fundamental goal of U.S. policy is
to remove obstacles to trade in agricultural products. As the
world’s most efficient producer of a whole host of farm products,
we have a great stake in assuring a free and open trading system
for these goods. We recognize that agricultural policy is often an
extension of social policy, and that actions that many governments
take in the farm sector are not necessarily the product of economic
logic. This makes our task infinitely more difficult, but it does not
reduce our resolve to eliminate distortions in agricultural trade.

It is a supportive attitude with respect to the GATT that we feel
is very important. There are some who say that the GATT simply
doesn’'t work for agriculture, who will cite export subsidies as an
area in which farm products are treated differently.

We, of course, feel that agriculture is as much a part of the
GATT as are industrial goods or services, and we will continue to
press for agriculture’'s inclusion in all aspects of the GATT. We
must convince all governments, including our own, that a more
open and economically rational agricultural system is in their own
self-interest. That is the challenge.

How do we get the issue addressed? How do we devise systems
that protect the socioeconomic interests of governments, and at the
same time open markets? This is the second part of the challenge.
The GATT ministerial will be an appropriate and excellent forum
for the first. Having agriculture discussed by the trade ministers
would be only the first step. The GATT would have to agree to
undertake a work program that would have as its ultimate goal the
substantial reduction of distortions to trade in agricultural prod-
ucts.

Fifth, an investment policy is an important area of growing
concern to us in the maintenance of an open trading system. As
you know, we have discussed in prior sessions the trade problems
we have in this area, which include export performance require-
ments, import substitution, local content, and any number of rapid-
ly evolving trade-distorting nontariff barriers.

This administration intends to pursue a vigorous and positive
investment policy emphasizing the liberalization of investment bar-
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riers to U.S. investment abroad, while maintaining an open invest-
ment climate domestically. An open investment environment is an
essential component of an open trading system.

Lastly, there is a growing concern that U.S. high technology
industries will face an unfair competitive disadvantage as a result
of foreign government policies, and they may suffer substantial loss
of international markets over the next few years unless the situa-
tion improves. U.S. high technology industries are competitive and
contribute disproportionately to U.S. export performance, growth
and productivity in the domestic economy. These industries provide
support to our national defense and hold the key to America’s
competitiveness in the 1980’s. We cannot afford to lose our lead in
this area.

The current three-way competition between Japan, the United
States, and the European Economic Community in semiconductors
foreshadows increasingly fierce competition in the high technology
area in the next decade.

Instead of taking a primarily reactive approach to sectoral prob-
lems, we will adopt a more forward-looking approach in the high
technology industries of preventative perspective both domestically
and internationally. Our objectives will be a mutual reduction of
trade distortions to insure a freer and more open trading system.

Mr. Chairman, the United States must respond to trade issues
promptly and forcefully within a cohesive overall national trade
policy framework based upon a commitment to continue liberaliza-
tion of global trade.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiBeoNs. Thank you, Mr. Ambassador.

[The prepared statement follows:]

STATEMENT OF AMBASSADOR WiLLiaM E. BrRock, UNITED STATES TRADE
REPRESENTATIVE

Mr. Chairman, I am pleased to appear before the Subcommittee this afternoon to
discuss the Trade Agenda for the 1980’s. I am joined by Ambassador Michael B.
Smith, who heads the USTR Office in Geneva, Assistant Secretary of State Robert
D. Hormats, Assistant Secretary of the Treasury Marc Leland, Deputy Under Secre-
tary of Agriculture Thomas A. Hammer, and Assistant Secretary of Commerce
Raymond J. Waldmann.

t yesterday’s session, I discussed the issues of U.S. competitiveness, export
credits, and the role of developing countries in international trade. These areas will
continue to be important during the 1980’s. In particular, the developing nations
will play an important part in the world trading system and must be considered as
we formulate our trade objectives. Today, I would like to discuss a series of addition-
al issues that will demand our attention during this decade.

GATT MINISTERIAL MEETING

Before I begin to discuss specific issues, I would like to stress this Administra-
tion’s strong support for the meeting of GATT at the ministerial level that is being
planned for November 1982. This will present an excellent opportunity for the
trading nations to reach consensus on the major trade issues of the 80's and to
initiate solutions to the problems we face. It will be important for the Ministers to
review the effectiveness of the various codes negotiated during the Tokyo Round of
Multilateral Trade Negotiations (MTN), with a view to identifying areas where
adjustments may be warranted. In addition, we must find ways to begin to resolving
trade problems that we have not dealt with, or inadequately dealt with, in previous
negotiation.

Planning for the Ministerial will continue at the meeting of the GATT Council on
November 3 and the matter will be brought to the meeting of the Contracting
Parties (CP’s) in Geneva during the week of November 23. We anticipate that the
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CP’s will unanimously endorse the Ministerial, just as the GATT Consultative
Group of Eighteen did at their meeting two weeks ago. We welcome the views of the
Congress as we prepare for the Ministerial meeting in the coming months.

In conjunction with Ministerial planning, the MTN codes on Technical Barriers to
Trade (Standards) and Government Procurement will be coming up for renegoti-
ation in 1983 and 1984, respectively. During this time period, we will also be
examining the possibility of negotiation of a new worldwide tariff nomenclature, the
Harmonized System. By the time of the Ministerial, I would also hope that we could
see the results of ongoing negotiations on commercial counterfeiting and safeguards.

TARIFFS

As you know, the Administration is seeking a two-year extension of the Presi-
dent’s tariff negotiating authority (under Section 124 of the Trade Act of 1974)
which expires on January 3, 1982. We believe that it is vital for the President to
retain such authority so that he may be able to take advantage of negotiating
opportunities as they develop and to pursue improved market access for U.S. goods
agroad. We also believe that the current limitations and procedural requirements of
the Section 124 authority are sufficient safeguards for those industries concerned
about injurious import competition. The recently concluded U.S.-Japanese semicon-
ductor negotiations, which will bring Japanese tariffs in conformity with U.S.
tariffs, are an outstanding example of an improvement in foreign market access
resulting from our use of Section 124. During the next 2 years the Administration
also plans to conduct a general review of its longer term needs for such tariff
authority.

As I mentioned earlier, another major trade issue during the 1980’s, and one
which could have far-reaching implications for U.S. and foreign tariffs, is the
Harmonized System for the classification of goods in international trade. This new
nomenclature system is scheduled to be considered for adoption by countries begin-
ning in 1983 but would not be put into effect before 1985. During the next few years,
the United States will need to thoroughly analyze the impact of the Harmonized
System. The President recently asked the U.S. International Trade Commission to
prepare a draft conversion of our Tariff Schedules into the format of the Harmo-
nized System so that we can assess the effects of adoption on U.S. tariffs and on
U.S. industries, workers, and trade.

SERVICES

The United States must continue its active leadership in seeking to liberalize
trade in services. Services trade accounts for a substantial portion of U.S. exports
and represents an area of rapid economic growth. Continued growth, however, will
depend upon our service industries having greater access to foreign markets. Pres-
ently there exists a wide variety of trade barriers to services which limit world
trade in services and the benefits which accrue from it. In the past there has not
been a systematic means of addressing services trade issues, resolving services trade
problems, or reducing services trade barriers. Unlike trade in goods, nations have
not established a body of international agreements concerning fair trade in services.

There is a great need to build an international framework for resolving trade
problems in services which would establish internationally agreed upon rules and
procedures for services and provide for both bilateral and multilateral approaches to
issues. We have been working to lay the necessary groundwork for the development
of such a framework and I intend to vigorously pursue this objective. It is a process
of familiarizing trading partners with our mutual interests in this area while
building a consensus among interested nations as to the best means of approaching
the problem.

Some have argued that there are too many problems to resolve in manufactures
and agricultural trade to undertake a complicated and time-consuming exercise in
services. I disagree. Countries are rapidly becoming more service-dominated, and
there is simply too much at stake for us to delay the inevitable process of insuring
that the world markets are open and the rules of trade are clarified in this area.

AGRICULTURE

One of our most important goals of the 1980’s is to remove obstacles to trade in
agricultural products. As the world’s most efficient producer of a whole host of farm
products, we have a great stake in assuring a free and open trading system for these
goods. We recognize, however, that agricultural policy is often an extension of social
policy and the actions that many governments take in the farm sector are not
necessarily the product of economic logic. This makes our task infinitely more
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difficult, but it doesn’t reduce our resolve that distortions in agricultural trade must
be eliminated.

Our exports—and those of other countries—are facing the double threat of import
barriers—both tariff and non-tariff—raised by a number of countries, as well as
displacement and reduced export potentials stemming from the subsidized exports of
other major trading nations. It is difficult to say which is the most detrimental to
our trade, but the export subsidies offend my sense of fair play.

It is the attitude with respect to the GATT that we feel is very important. There
are some who say that the GATT simply doesn’t work for agriculture and who will
cite export subsidies as an area in which farm products are treated differently. We,
of course, feel that agriculture is as much a part of the GATT as are industrial
goods or services, and we will continue to press for agriculture’s inclusion in all
aspects of the GATT. We recognize that for reasons of social policy, governments
will continue to undertake special programs in the agricultural area; therefore, we
need a way to convince all governments that a more open and economically rational
agricultural system is in their own self interest. I repeat . . . in their own self
interest. I'm emphasizing this because I frankly think that no amount of debate will
convince a nation to change any policy, particularly one so emotionally charged as
agriculture, unless it perceives some benefit for its citizens in doing so.

That is the challenge—how do we get the issue addressed, and how do we devise
systems that protect the socio-economic interests of governments and at the same
time open markets and reduce subsidized exports? I don’t have the answer to the
second J)art of the challenge, but I think the GATT Ministerial will be an appropri-
ate and excellent forum for the first. Having agriculture discussed by the trade
ministers would be only the first step. I think the GATT would have to agree to
undertake a work program that would have as its ultimate goal the substantial
reduction of distortions to trade in agricultural products.

There are a few specific areas where we will work to remove barriers in the earl,
years of this decade. One such area of concentration will be agricultural trade wit|
Japan. Two long-standing problems that we intend to resolve are Japanese limita-
tions on the importation of citrus and beef. Both were the subject of some liberaliza-
tion in the MTN and are scheduled for future discussions. We will press for the
removal of these barriers.

Other market access issues will be given high priority as well, but we will also
work to maintain the access that we have already negotiated and paid for. Qur
position has been made clear and I don’t wish to engage in rhetoric on the matter of
our market in the European Community for soybeans and non-grain feed ingredi-
ents. Suffice it to say that we value the concessions that we received in earlier trade
negotiations. We do not wish to bear the EC’s burden for structural adjustment. It is
the EC’s price support system that makes its domestic grain prices so high that the
lower-priced imported alternatives are attractive.

This Administration has proposed substantial changes in our own domestic agri-
cultural programs. The Congress has adopted an overall program that is different
from that which existed twenty years ago. More remains to be done, but we're
taking Uncle Sam out of farming and returning it to the people who know how to
do it best—the farmers. This will cause some upheaval and there are likely to be
some negative political consequences, but we and the Congress had to make some
courageous moves in order to put our economic house in order. The changes that
will come about as a result of these structural adjustments will be virtually univer-
sally positive. The result should be an agricultural machine driven by market
forces. The American farmer, unfettered by restraints on his productive capabilities,
will be in a position to take advantage of his productivity to produce increased
quantities of goods for the domestic and international market. Our economic pro-
gram should go a long way toward making this possible—but the other key element
in making this work is to assure the producer that he will have access to markets
for that production. I pledge myself to make every effort to assure that those
markets will be there.

INVESTMENT

Investment policy is an important area of growing concern to us in the mainte-
nance of an open world trading system. Government intervention in the investment
area increasingly threatens to negate the trade liberalization which has been accom-

lished over the past thirty years. Foreign governments impose disincentives and
arriers to investment and discriminate against foreign investors. These investment
problems, which exist both with LDC’s and some industrial countries, reflect and
economic protectionism and nationalism that is deterimental to the future vitality
of the world economy.
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Many developed and developing countries impose performance requirements as a
condition for approval of new investment or receipt of investment incentives. Exam-
ples include import substitution. Local content, and export performance require-
ments which distort or block trade as effectively as tariffs or non-tariff trade
barriers. These trade-related performance requirements are a new form of non-tariff
barriers which the GATT should address. We have begun preparatory work on
performance requirements in the OECD, the GATT, and the IMF/IBRD and we
hope to have countries address this issue seriously as part of any future work
program. Our objective is to obtain a consensus on rules to restrict the imposition of
performance requirements.

Addressing the need for additional foreign investment in developing countries is
also a particularly high priority issue for the Administration. We believe that freer
private capital flows can greatly improve the development prospects of third world
countries. We are attempting to coordinate a program of increased investment in
the Caribbean and other developing areas through strengthened OPIC activities, a
suggested multilateral approach to international investment insurance, and bilater-
al investment treaties. An approach which strengthens the private sector, both
domestic and foreign, in the LDCs will help stabilize their economies and govern-
ments and redound to the economic and political benefit of the United States.

This Administration intends to pursue a vigorous and positive investment policy,
emphasizing the liberalization of investment barriers to U.S. investment abroad
while maintaining our open investment climate domestically, and in particular
focusing on the positive development aspects of freer flows of investment to develop-
ing countries. An open investment environment is an essential complement to an
open trading system.

HIGH TECHNOLOGY GOODS

One of the major trade issues in the 1980s will be trade in high technology goods,
including computers, telecommunications, nuclear energy, robotics, fiber optics,
pharmaceuticals, and biotechnology.

Our key trade competitors recognize the importance of high technology industries
to their plans for economic growth and national security. Unfortunately many have
sought to foster development of such industries by interfering with the operation of
normal market forces to ensure special treatment of high technology industries.
Preferential tax policies, intervention in capital markets, as well as trade and
investment policies have all been used to accommodate these efforts.

In the EC, for example, the tariff on semiconductors is 17 percent as opposed to
the 4.2 percent as was recently negotiated by the United States and Japan. The EC
rules of origin add an equiva{ent of an additional 3-5 percent duty for U.S.-made
components. The EC telecommunication agencies are partially or wholly govern-
ment owned or controlled and were excluded from coverage in the Government
Procurement Code, resulting in very limited market access for U.S. exporters. These
protective measures are coupled with export promotion programs, such as subsidized
export financing.

In Japan there is a high degree of industry cooperation in research and develop-
ment, which is helped by government priority setting, which directs capital to high-
risk areas. Japanese government assistance to the computer industry has included
development of industry consortiums, government-funded development of a high-
performance computer, and tax benefits for computer users to encourage purchases.
All these actions have very profound trade effects.

There is a growing concern that U.S. high technology industries will face an
unfair competitive disadvantage as a result of these policies and they may suffer
substantial loss of international markets over the next few years. The U.S. high
technology industries are competitive and contribute disproportionately to U.S.
export performance, growth, and productivity in the domestic economy. These indus-
tries provide support to our national defense and hold the key to America’s competi-
tiveness in the 1980s and 1990s. We cannot afford to lose our lead in this area.

As opposed to taking a primarily reactive approach to sectoral problems, the U.S.
Government would like to adopt a more forward-looking approach in the high
technology industries—a preventive perspective both domestically and internation-
ally. Our objective will be a mutual reduction of trade distortions to ensure a more
free and open trading system. The current three-way competition between Japan,
the Unite(f States, and the EC in semiconductors foreshadows increasingly fierce
competition in the high technology arena in the next decade.

The high technology industries will be a major concern of U.S. trade policy in the
decade ahead. These are industries that we are competitive in, in terms of technol-
ogy, price, and quality. U.S. industries are not intimidated by competition, as long
as it is fair and they feel secure that they can maintain their lead in a free trade
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environment. The U.S. Government is committed to ensuring that a free trade
environment exists and to taking an aggressive posture where needed to further
that end.

CONCLUSION

I have addressed the priority trade issues that the United States will face in the
decade of the 1980’s. This is not an exhaustive inventory, as we must contend with a
myriad of problems on an ongoing basis. Furthermore, we must continue to main-
tain open markets at home as we seek to expand market access for U.S. goods and
services abroad. The United States must respond to trade issues promptly and
vigorously within a cohesive overall national trade policy framework, based on a
commitment to continued liberalization of global trade.

Chairman GiBBONS. Assistant Secretary Hormats, do you have a
statement?

STATEMENT OF ROBERT D. HORMATS, ASSISTANT SECRETARY
FOR ECONOMIC AND BUSINESS AFFAIRS, DEPARTMENT OF
STATE

Mr. HormarTs. Yes; I will be very brief and summarize the basic
points. First let me thank you very much for inviting me as Deputy
USTR emeritus to participate in this hearing. I would just like to
first discuss briefly the environment in which trade policy is going
to have to be conducted over the next several years and then touch
on what I believe to be a few of the major problems.

The next several years in my judgment pose an enormous chal-
lenge for U.S. trade policies, and major dangers to the internation-
al trading system. Pressures resulting from slow growth, high un-
employment and inflation in many countries, increased interna-
tional competition, and new trade and investment distortions are
imposing major and growing strains on the international trading
system. As a result, that system may be on the verge of its most
serious crisis in the post-war period.

It is particularly important, I believe, that the United States
develop, as Japan has already done, its own vision for the 1980’s in
order to define the longer-term objective of United States trade
policy. That vision should be based on an effort to expand our own
exports, and to support an international trading system which both
opens new opportunities for world trade and seeks a reduction in
the subsidies and other distortions which limit those opportunities.

The challenge before us is substantial. I think that our own
economic well-being increasingly depends on our actively and force-
fully promoting the trade interests of our citizens and strengthen-
ing the effectiveness of the international trading system in order to
insure the health of the international economy.

Years ago the United States took the view that, as the strongest
economy in the world, and as a country which had an international
leadership role, we could—either for political reasons or because
we did not think it would matter much to our economy—make
trade concessions, or ignore trade actions by others, which did in
fact adversely affect our economic interests. That day has long
since passed.

Today we are in a more competitive world, and roughly 12 per-
cent of our GNP and millions of U.S. jobs are accounted for by
exports. Other countries, both in order to stimulate jobs and offset
oil-related trade deficits, are utilizing governmental supports or
incentives to encourage exports or discourage imports. And invest-
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ment-related trade distortions are on the increase. In many cases
free trade today is more of a myth than a reality.

In light of this changed environment, what should be the basis
for our policies in the 1980’s—the vision of the 1980’s which we
should seek to promote?

First, we need to work toward reducing and eventually eliminat-
ing the many nontariff barriers and export subsidies which distort
international trade. This process was begun in the Multilateral
Trade Negotiations. It must be continued in this decade as well.
The types of distortion of greatest concern fall into the two most
important areas of American competitiveness—high technology
and agriculture.

Together these represent the strongest elements of U.S. trade
performance, and will likely continue to be so in the decade ahead.
But our performance in these areas will be strong only if we seek
vigorously to prevent others from imposing impediments or provid-
ing subsidies which limit our export opportunities.

Many countries protect or support high technology industries for
nationalistic reasons—believing that the capacity to produce the
newest generation of computers, integrated circuits, or similar
types of equipment, is necessary to their national economic health.
In so doing, they both limit U.S. export potential, and they reduce
the incentives of technological innovation in their own economies.
This is particularly the case in Western Europe.

Japan takes the problem one step further, using and abusing an
infant industry argument. It frequently builds up a domestic indus-
try through Government support or protection to the point that the
industry becomes a formidable international competitor, at which
time the Japanese call for free trade in that particular sector.
Assertive U.S. actions will be needed in order to achieve a greater
degree of international consensus to limit the extent of Govern-
ment intervention in these areas.

With respect to agriculture, the Multilateral Trade Negotiations
made some, but not nearly enough, progress. Agriculture exports
are vital to our domestic economy. We are the most efficient sup-
plier in the world. Other countries, for domestic social or political
reasons, protect their agricultural sectors or subsidize agricultural
exports.

The inefficiencies which result penalize their domestic consumers
and taxpayers, and seriously distort world trade. A hard look at
this issue will be needed in the future. Our goal for the 1980’s must
be a more open, and less interventionist, system of international
agricultural trade. In particular, we need a fresh and more effec-
tc;li.ve international approach to the problem of agricultural subsi-

ies.

Second, investment-related trade distortions pose an enormous
threat to the world economy. We risk today, in the international
investment arena, a deterioration in the climate similar to that
experienced in the world trading arena in the 1930’s. During that
period, countries adopted nationalistic trade policies based on
short-term economic perspectives.

Following World War II, the world made considerable progress in
developing an international framework for trade matters. Although
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we still have some distance to go, the direction and emphasis of our
effort is correct.

In the investment area, the same problem exists. However, no
comparable framework has emerged, largely because there was
after World War II an international consensus favoring a relatively
free flow of investment capital. Now, in the aftermath of the eco-
nomic downturns of the 1970’s, there is a tendency on the part of
developed and developing nations alike to move in the wrong direc-
tion—to increase intervention in the investment area to accomplish
short-term economic objectives. This can only come at the expense
of broader, long-term interests. A major goal of the 1980’s must be
to reverse this trend through international understandings and
rules upholding an open and less interventionist investment cli-
mate.

Third, a key obejective for the 1980’s will be to reduce barriers to
trade in services and prevent new ones. As in the case of invest-
ment, there are few understandings or rules which regulate the
degree to which governments can intervene to limit the access of
foreign service industries to their markets. In particular I am
concerned about barriers to the free flow of transmission of data
across borders.

A standstill on new impediments to transborder data flows and a
common effort to remove those which now exist will be beneficial
to our economy and the world economy in the decade ahead. Im-
pediments in this area, conversely, will be detrimental to business
in many countries.

Fourth, the GATT system needs to be strengthened. The GATT
code committees need to be made more effective. The GATT will
need to evolve new structures for dealing with trade barriers tied
in with domestic policies, including those related to trade in serv-
ices and to investment policies.

In addition, a major effort needs to be made to increase the
participation of the developing countries in the GATT, and in
particular in the various codes—according them greater responsi-
bility for the system and giving them commensurate benefits from
the assumption of that responsibility.

Finally, let me discuss for a brief moment the U.S. economy.
Over the next decade we will face a world which differs greatly
from the world in which the trade policies and rules of the past
were developed. Competition from Japan and the newly industrial-
ized nations will be particularly intense. We will need a strong
domestic economy to meet the competition.

Our own domestic competitiveness will require increased invest-
ment, research and development and productivity. New means of
producing energy, new generations of computers and semiconduc-
tors, and innovative methods of transmitting data are just some of
thf areas in which American technology has played the leading
role.

These developments, widely applied, can help to strengthen the
competitiveness of traditional American industries such a steel and
autos and provide major new lines of Amreican exports.

In order to take full advantage of our competitiveness and the
opportunities we hope to create internationally for expanding
trade, a major and highly creative export promotion effort will be
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required. Strong support for United States activities abroad, cre-
ative use of a host of U.S. export financing and promotion pro-
grams, and identification of growing markets in the developing
world for special promotional efforts and attention will be particu-
larly important.

[The prepared statement follows:]

STATEMENT OF ROBERT D. HORMATS, ASSISTANT SECRETARY OF STATE FOR
EconomMic AND BUSINESS AFFAIRS

I appreciate your having invited me to participate in these oversight hearings on
U.S. trade policy, and the opportunity to discuss the trade agenda for the 1980’s.

The next several years pose enormous challenges for U.S. trade policy and signifi-
cant dangers to the international trading system. Pressures resulting from slow
growth, high unemployment and inflation in many countries, increased internation-
al competition, and new trade and investment distortions are imposing major and
growing strains on the international trading system. As a result, that system may
be on the verge of its most serious crisis in the post-war period.

It will be important for the United States to develop—as Japan has already
done—its own vision for the 1980’s in order to define the longer-term objective of
U.S. trade policy. That vision should be based on an effort to expand our own
exports, and to support an international trading system which both opens new
opportunities for world trade and seeks a reduction in the subsidies and other
distortions which limit those opportunities.

The challenge before us is enormous. Qur economic well-being depends on our
actively and forcefully promoting the trade interests of our citizens and strengthen-
ing the effectiveness of the international trading system in order to ensure the
health of the international economy. Years ago the U.S. took the view that, as the
strongest economy in the world, and as a country which had an international
leadership role, we could—either for political reasons or because we did not think it
would matter much to our economy—make trade concessions, or ignore trade ac-
tions by others, which did in fact adversely affect our economic interests. That day
has long since passed. Today we are in a more competitive world, and roughly 8
percent or our GNP and millions of U.S. jobs are accounted for by exports. Other
countries, both in order to stimulate jobs and offset oil related trade deficits, are
utilizing governmental supports or incentives to encourage exports or discourage
imports. And investment related trade distortions are on the increase. In many
cases free trade today is more of a myth than a reality.

In light of this changed environment, what should be the basis for our policies in
the 1980’s—the vision of the 1980’s which we should seek to promote?

First, we need to work toward reducing and eventually eliminating the many non-
tariff barriers and export subsidies which distort international trade. This process
was begun in the Multilateral Trade Negotiations. It must be continued in this
decade as well. The types of distortion of greatest concern fall into the two most
important areas of American competitiveness—high technology and agriculture.
Together these represent the strongest elements of U.S. trade performance, and will
likely continue to do so in the decade ahead. But our performance in these areas
will be strong only if we seek vigorously to prevent others from imposing impedi-
ments or providing subsidies which limit our export opportunities.

Many countries protect or support high technology industries for nationalistic
reasons—believing that the capacity to produce the newest generation of computers,
integrated circuits, or similar types of equipment, is necessary to their national
economic health. In so doing, they both limit U.S. export potential, and they reduce
the incentives for technological innovation in their own economies. This is particu-
larly the case in Western Europe. Japan takes the problem one step further, using
and abusing an infant industry argument. It frequently builds up a domestic indus-
try through government support or protection to the point that the industry be-
comes a formidable international competitor, at which time the Japanese call for
free trade in that particular sector. Assertive U.S. actions will be needed in order to
achieve a greater degree of international consensus to limit the extent of govern-
ment intervention in these areas.

With respect to agriculture, the Multilateral Trade Negotiations made some, but
not nearly enough, progress. Agricultural exports are vitafto our domestic economy.
We are the most efficient supplier in the world. Other countries, for domestic social
or political reasons, protect their agricultural sectors or subsidize agricultural ex-
ports. The inefficiencies which result penalize their domestic consumers and taxpay-
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ers, and seriously distort world trade. A hard look at this issue will be needed in the
future. Our goal for the 1980’s must be a more open, and less interventionist, system
of international agricultural trade. In particular, we need a fresh and more effective
international approach to the problem of agricultural subsidies.

Second, investment related trade distortions pose an enormous threat to the world
economy. We risk today, in the international investment arena, a deterioration in
the climate similar to that experienced in the world trading arena in the 1930’s.
During that period, countries adopted nationalistic trade policies based on short-
term economic perspectives. Following World War II, the world made considerable
progress in developing an international framework for trade matters. Although we
still have some distance to go, the direction and emphasis of our effort is correct.

In the investment area, however, no comparable framework has emerged, largely
because there was an international consensus favoring a relatively free flow of
investment capital. Now, in the aftermath of the economic downturns of the 1970’s,
there is a tendency on the part of developed and developing nations alike to move in
the wrong direction—to increase intervention in the investment area to accomplish
short-term economic objectives. This can only come at the expense of broader, long-
term interests. A major goal of the 1980’s must be to reverse this trend through
international understandings and rules upholding an open and less interventionist
investment climate.

Third, a key objective for the 1980’s will be to reduce barriers to trade in services
and prevent new ones. As in the case of investment, there are few understandings
or rules which regulate the degree to which governments can intervene to limit the
access of foreign service industries to their markets. This will not be an easy
process. The United States is very competitive in this sector, and many other
countries do not share our desire to open up trade and services. On the contrary,
many seek to protect their service industries from having to compete with ours.

Services will also be difficult to negotiate because of their complexity and variety,
and because many in the United States are state, rather than nationally, regulated.

One area of particular importance—which is intimately related to our strength in
high technology—is insuring the free flow of data across borders. A standstill on
new impediments to transborder data flows and a common effort to remove those
which now exist will be beneficial to our economy and the world economy in the
decade ahead. Impediments in this area, conversely, will be detrimental to business
in many countries.

Fourth, the GATT system needs to be strengthened. The GATT code committees
need to be made more effective. The GATT will need to evolve new structures for
dealing with trade barriers tied in with domestic policies, including those related to
trade in services and to investment policies.

In addition, a major effort needs to be made to increase the participation of the
developing countries in the GATT, and in particular in the various codes. The
trading system, and the developing countries’ own economic prospects, would be
strengthened by their assuming greater responsibility for, and deriving commensu-
rate benefits from, increased participation in the world trading system.

THE U.S. ECONOMY

Over the next decade we will face a world which differs greatly from the world in
which the trade policies and rules of the past were developed. Competition from
Japan and the newly industrialized nations will be particularly intense. We will
need a strong domestic economy to meet the competition. Qur own domestic com-
petitiveness will require increased investment, research and development and pro-
ductivity. New means of producing energy, new generations of computers and semi-
conductors, and innovative methods of transmitting data are just some of the areas
in which American technology has played the leading role. These developments,
widely applied, can help to strengthen the competitiveness of traditional American
industries such as steel and autos and provide major new lines of American exports.

In order to take full advantage of our competitiveness and the opportunities we
hope to create internationally for expanding trade, a major and highly creative
export promotion effort will be required. Strong support for U.S. activities abroad,
creative use of a host of U.S. export financing and promotion programs, and identifi-
cation of growing markets in the developing world for special promotional efforts
and attention will be particularly important.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Thank you, Mr. Hormats.

Do other members of the panel have statements they wish to
make?
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Mr. WaLDMANN. Mr. Chairman, I have no prepared statement.
Obviously I agree with what Ambassador Brock and Ambassador
Hormats have said. I think we should just get to your questions.
Thank you.

Chairman GiBBONS. Ambassador Brock, as you know, this com-
mittee has expressed a lot of concern about subsidies. What we
want to know is what will be the U.S. policy, and what is the policy
now, on LDC subsidy commitments, in light of the recent Indian
commitment? What is your view as to the progress achieved overall
so far under the commitment policy in obtaining meaningful disci-
pline over developing countries’ subsidies?

Mr. Brock. The basic U.S. policy, Mr. Chairman, is to take every
possible step that we can to encourage the phasing out and ulti-
mate termination of all subsidies in all countries. In terms of the
evolving commitments policy of this and previous administrations,
we have sought to use the strength of U.S. law and our strength in
the GATT to require nations to make a commitment to engage in
that phasing out, in order to participate in the subsidies code and
the benefits which are derived therefrom under U.S. law through
the injury test.

We are the only country in the world that has such a policy, and
the difficulty we face is that as the sole defender of the faith, if you
will, we have very little support in the formal international coun-
cils. We have tried to engage in this action by political will in
negotiation, with varying degrees of success. I am not sure that we
can state that the Indian agreement does achieve in a substantive
fashion the goals we have established.

The choice, in all candor, was to avoid having the entire policy
terminated by effective challenge in the GATT. We feel that we
have made a good deal of progress in our negotiations with most
countries, and we feel that we have the opportunity to continue to
press for improvement in further negotiations with other countries
as they seek accession under the subsidies code. However, it is a
very difficult policy to sustain without adequate support in the
international community on a unilateral basis.

Chairman GiBeoNs. What is the Government’s policy on export
performance requirements by other countries, and upon that type
of restraint upon trade?

Mr. Brock. As I mentioned yesterday very briefly, we are not
only deeply concerned but vigorously opposed to export perform-
ance requirements, as we are to local content requirements. Both
are a clear distortion of trade. Both offer the prospect of damaging
the trading system, and both are in contradiction to the agree-
ments under the GATT.

We have some remedies available to us, but perhaps not enough.
One of the difficulties is that even in the GATT, where there is a
clear prohibition against these practices, there are other clauses of
the GATT which provide for escape or for waiver of the practice, so
it is very difficult to attack directly. The question comes to whether
or not U.S law is adequate to guard against an abuse of our own
domestic workers through the abuse of these practices.

Chairman GisBoNs. I think this committee would be most sympa-
thetic to any legislative proposal that you made concerning the
export performance or local content requirements that are imposed
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by other countries. I am afraid that is one of the new forms of
protectionism that is beginning to make itself known in a rather
sophisticated way, and I am anxious to put a stop to it. If our
countervailing duty laws, antidumping laws and 301 procedures are
not strong enough to get the attention of our trading partners and
our potential trading partners, I would be delighted to strengthen
our hand in dealing with that.

Mr. Brock. We do have some protection under existing law. We
are involved in the process of trying to evaluate whether or not
existing law is either adequate or sufficiently precise to deal with
the need in a fashion that would stop the practice without doing
violence to ourselves. One of the problems we have had in a
number of these areas is that when we take an action in an effort
to encourage others to be more responsible, sometimes it results in
more injury to us than it does to our trading partner, and that is
not wise.

That is the evaluation and discussion we are involved in at the
moment. If we can find an improved way to approach the problem
we would be delighted to do so, and we would welcome the Con-
gress suggestions.

Another part of the answer is that when we find these practices
are creating a problem for us, we must quickly and vigorously use
the laws that are already on the books, to defend our own interna-
tional interests. It is in our interest to discourage this practice, not
simply to defend this country, but to stop the practice per se. That
is the larger problem we are addressing.

Chairman GieBoNS. When you say to discourage the practice,
would it be your policy to depend upon American private business
to file cases, or would the Government have an activist policy in
initiating cases itself in this regard?

Mr. Brock. In all honesty, I believe that it is going to take both.

Chairman GiBBoNS. Mr. Frenzel.

Mr. FrReNzEL. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Gentlemen, thank you very much for your splendid testimony. I
have a couple of questions. Particularly I would like to suggest,
since you are all here, that a part of your job is serving up admin-
istration programs to the Congress in some kind of a reasonably
prompt way.

As I understand it, there are two bills that are of major interest
to me that the administration is supporting that are sort of kicking
around without any real push being put behind them.

I refer to the FCPA amendments and the export trading compa-
ny bill, and I would like to inquire as to which of the departments
ggﬁre put any effort in to try to promote the passage of those two

ills.

The last time this committee traveled, it seems to me, like the
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act amendments, was at least first on
the list of our business people abroad as an immediate remedy for
some difficulties they were having. I wonder if you could tell me
how that is moving along, or if anybody has any new readings on
it.

Mr. Brock. Let me start, and others may wish to add their own
perspectives. The administration has appeared before the Senate
Banking Committee on this issue. The bill, S. 708, Senator Chafee’s
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reform legislation, has been reported out of the Senate Banking
Committee after I asked for a meeting and had a very, very,
successful meeting with members of the committee privately.

In that particular exercise, I was joined by the Secretary of
Commerce among others, who has been very vigorous in his sup-
port. I believe the prospects for reforms are good now that we can
predict passage through the Senate of the improvements to FCPA
in the next month, barring some further major obstruction in the
form of other more pressing legislation, or a legislative ‘“hold”
placed on the bill.

The difficulty we have, Congressman, is in the House, where we
have been unsuccessful in getting hearings called on any piece of
legislation at all. The only action to date has been one oversight
hearing under Congressman Wirth’s subcommittee, but there has
been no active consideration of any proposed legislative changes. I
would welcome any support that we could receive from the mem-
bers of this body, because the administration position is very well
established.

We want that law improved so that it is workable, enforceable,
and comprehensible.

Mr. FrRENZEL. Maybe we should hire Prince Fahd to be our
lobbyist.

Mr. WaLbMANN. If I may, I'd like to touch for a minute on the
export trading companies legislation, which you also raised. When
the Trade Policy Committee decided earlier this year to attack this
legislative initiative, Secretary Baldrige became very much in-
volved in the process along with Ambassador Brock. He has had a
series of meetings on the Hill with people on both sides of the
Congress.

As you know, it passed the Senate 93 to nothing. It is now before
the House Judiciary Committee. There has been some discussion of
the certification procedures under that bill. We expect the bill,
following Judiciary, to go to the House Banking Committee, and I
understand that the House Foreign Affairs Committee is also con-
sidering the bill at a subcommittee level.

Mr. FrenzeL. By that time the day of jubilation will have ar-
rived. I mention it only because the administration has a reputa-
tion for being miracle workers in passing legislation, and one
might say that we have seen precious few miracles in this area. If
some more departmental work were to be expended, it would prob-
ably be well spent.

I might say further with respect to that kind of policy, some-
where drifting around the executive decisionmaking process is an
item that deals with our problems of broadcasting to the north.
The Ambassador has a proposal floating around, Treasury appar-
ently has some other ideas, and I am not sure that this committee
is thrilled about either one of them, but we think that sometime in
this century you probably ought to put forward a proposal. Is it
possible that this array of distinguished agency representatives
might put its act in order and present some kind of proposal to us
before we are all old and gray?

Mr. Brock. Anything is possible, Congressman.
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Mr. LeLanNDp. We agree, Mr. Congressman, that it is possible.

Mr. FrenzEL. You make our job a little harder. We talk to our
neighbors to the north with some frequency, and we are of a mixed
mind here, and we would appreciate some leadership from the
administration so there would be a response to what is obviously
an outrageous law on the part of Canada. If we can’t think of
something that is responsible, then let’s admit it and forget it, but
otherwise it would be nice if you would bring something up here.

Mr. Brock. I expect we will have an early answer for you,
Congressman. We have acted on this matter. We have considered
the 301 findings. There was a finding of discrimination, and clearly
we have a responsibility to act under the law as it is presently
written. The Trade Policy Committee has met on the subject, and
has reached a decision. We were requested to withhold presenting
that decision to the Congress while another piece of legislation was
being considered as one more precisely directed to the problem
area.

We have done so with some reluctance, but are willing to accom-
modate. We are now at the point where a decision is not only
imminent but is mandatory. That is my own personal judgment
and that is the recommendation I will make to the President.

We have a meeting set within the next several days at the
Cabinet level to present the arguments for the President’s final
decision. When he makes a decision we will be very quick to ask
you to be involved in the legislative resolution of the problem.

Mr. FreNnzeL. Thank you.

Secretary Hormats, this morning Secretary Rashish appeared
before us, and I found I took exception to some of his statements on
Cancun, and he and I had a little discussion about what the United
States did commit itself to in Cancun. He assured me that our four
conditions were going to be defended vigorously to the death, and
that global negotiations would not sacrifice the current institutions
such as the GATT, IMF, and others, which are of particular inter-
est to this panel. Yet we hear and see persistent reports that others
who were there, and people in your department also, who really
seem to want to capitalize the G and the N in global negotiations,
and although the Secretary stoutly denied this, I would feel better
if you denied it too.

Mr. HormaTs. I would be delighted to help you feel better on
this. One thing I learned in my tenure at USTR, and that is that
the GATT is and should be the intended institution in which trade
policy should be deliberated—in which international discussions on
trade policy should take place. It should not be the U.N. The GATT
has the expertise, and I can assure you that there is nothing that
we would be inclined to do or willing to do which would compro-
mise at all the integrity of the GATT.

Mr. FrENzEL. I will be comfortable for another 1% hours.

Mr. HorMaTs. I think you will also find, Congressman, that a lot
of other members in the developed country group feel the same
way. I think there is a lot of mythology about global negotiations.
There are some who pay lip service to the notion, and then once
involved in them would probably be willing to dig in their heels.
But I can assure you, speaking on behalf of myself and others who
are involved in this, there is no question in our mind but that the
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integrity of the GATT has to be preserved as well as the integrity
of the IMF and the IBRD.

Mr. FrenzEL. Does that mean that you will not suffer the GATT
to become a subcommittee of the UN.——

Mr. HormAaTs. Absolutely not.

Mr. FRenzEL. Whose decisions can be overridden?

Mr. HormATs. You can sleep easily on that one.

Mr. Brock. I would like to reinforce that. We have had countless
meetings within the administration in preparation for the discus-
sions at Cancun. At no time did any agency suggest weakening of
this resolve at all. Treasury’s position was absolutely as strong as it
could be. So was that of State, Commerce, and obviously USTR.

There is no disagreement in the administration in any quarter in
terms of the basic purpose of the United States to maintain the
integrity of the specialized agencies, and their ability to continue to
function as legitimate instruments to expand and liberalize both
trade and economic matters that affect our ability to be a part of
this world in a positive fashion.

Mr. FRenzEL. Thank you very much.

Mr. Chairman, I have a few more questions but I will yield.

Chairman GisBoNs. Mr. Hance?

Mr. HaNCE. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

Ihappreciate the panel being here and going over these matters
with us.

Ambassador Brock, this morning I asked Secretary Block a ques-
tion which falls primarily into your area. I asked him about his
interest in the long-term agreement with the Soviets on the grain
sales, and he said he was very enthusiastic.

b I asked him if he was encouraged by this agreement and he said
e was.

I believe that with the present farm bill that we have with this
administration and that we have had with the last three adminis-
trations, our only hope in agriculture is expanding our exports.

If you could comment on that briefly, I would greatly appreciate
it.

Mr. Brock. It would be difficult to pick a higher priority of this
administration than the expansion of agricultural markets around
the world.

We now export one-third of all that we produce.

It is essential not just to the well-being of our farmers, but our
consumers, because that spreading of the agricultural cost across a
wider market spectrum reduces cost and increases income for farm-
ers and consumers alike.

We all benefit from trade, and there just is no debate on that
point within this administration.

In terms of the specific question on the LTA, I did negotiate a 1-
year extension of the grain agreement with the Russian delegation
in Vienna in August.

We did that simply because we didn’t have time to debate all of
the difficulties of a completely new LTA in the short period before
the expiration occurred on the 30th of September.

It is generally accepted that a new LTA, does serve a useful
purpose in the fact that it provides some assurance to both sellers
and buyers in terms of market continuity.
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It is fair to say though that both the Russian buyers and the U.S.
sellers have become far more sophisticated in the knowledge of the
marketplace since the first agreement was established in the early
1970’s, so there is not the imperative consequence to an LTA that
would have occurred 8, 9, or 10 years ago.

We have a very skilled and sophisticated marketplace today,
both of buyers and sellers, who are well established and knowledge-
able, and it may be that we don’t have quite the compulsion that
we might have had in earlier years.

Those markets are going to be there with or without an LTA.

The LTA simply provides for more predictability and more assur-
ance. As for my thoughts on the continuation of that process, 1
wouldn’t use the word “enthusiastic.”

I would be hopeful that we could arrange for continuing trading
opportunities, but when and under what circumstances will depend
on how circumstances unfold.

We do have a larger context for the consideration of an issue like
this. It goes beyond the question of a particular product at a
particular point in time. We must keep that context in mind.

Mr. HANCE. One other question that I would direct to you.

In September I had the opportunity to visit China and meet with
some of their people involved in foreign trade, and I also had the
gp;lmgrtunity to visit with Deng Xiao-Ping for about an hour and a

alf.

On three different occasions he brought up the fact that they
would like to sell more textiles to the United States.

Mr. Brock. Everyone would like to sell more textiles, Congress-
man.

Mr. HANCE. Oh, yes, I understand that. His being very astute
and well briefed, he knew the area I was from, and said he could
buy more cotton from us if they sold us more textiles. Do you
agree?

Mr. Brock. Yes, I agree.

Mr. HanceE. You have got my support on that, coming from a
large cotton-producing area.

The thing that he suggested was the possibility that some agree-
ment be reached where they could sell more textiles in connection
with their buying more cotton from the United States, tied to that.

You were there, I believe, right after I was there. Did they
explore that with you?

Mr. Brock. No, I was not in China. I was in Asia, but I did not
go to the People’s Republic of China.

Mr. Hance. Have they explored that with you?

Mr. Brock. No, they have not.

Mr. Hance. I would hope that your people would look at that as
closely as possible, and I realize the problems with textile imports.

Mr. Brock. We are always willing to consider all offers, Con-
gressman, but the textile area is probably the most sensitive be-
cause we are in the middle of renegotiation of the multifiber ar-
rangement, and it is an important part of the world-trading
system.

MFA itself is a variation from the GATT and we must be careful
about how we pursue it so that it provides an opportunity for
continued growth of the U.S. industry and at the same time pro-
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vides a market opportunity for smaller and new entrants to the
marketplace. That is our negotiating goal, but in terms of specific
relationships, frankly it will have to wait until after we have
negotiated the MFA, because that is our authority to then engage
in particular bilateral trading opportunities.

Mr. HaNCcE. Thank you very much.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiBBoNS. First, Secretary Hormats, let me follow up
on my friend, Mr. Frenzel’s observation.

I certainly hope we will keep trade negotiations out of the U.N. I
applaud his position and what I understand to be your position.

Second, do we need better international rules on agriculture?

If so, where should we negotiate? When should we start negotiat-
ing on this?

Mr. Brock. We are all prepared to answer that one.

Chairman GiBBoNs. I just ask if anyone wants to volunteer.

Mr. HaMMER. I will make a few comments as to the need for
better agricultural rules, and then perhaps defer to our trade nego-
tiators on how we might begin that process.

Chairman GiBBoNs. I am sure they would like to have your
suggestions, so go ahead.

Mr. HamMER. First of all, let me say that as we look to the trade
agenda for the eighties, this problem becomes greater in my opin-
ion, not smaller, in terms of the fierce competition for the market-
place, even in our own domestic economy, as was mentioned by the
Ambassador here.

We expect continued expanded domestic production through
larger yields. We expect budget constraints which will cause still
further reductions in our already pared down farm programs.

We would expect costs of production to continue to rise for
petroleum and other inputs for agricultural products, and therefore
with the basically stable domestic demand, interchangeable per-
haps between various commodities, but basically stable. We are
looking to the export market as our way of continued improvement
in agriculture and also in terms of balance of payments and net
benefit to the economy.

There is no question that we are going to be competing more
vigorously for agricultural markets in the future. There is little
question in my mind that there will be continued protectionism out
there which we will face with our exports, but, in addition, in
many countries we are seeing where they are systematically
moving into the marketplace with subsidies, and all of these things
generally come back home to roost in the GATT, and I think here
we find that we do not have a particularly symmetrical approach
to agriculture and industry within the GATT.

There is a long line of historical events that have led up to that,
but I think at this point in time we have come to realize now more
than ever we must take a look at the GATT and get them in
conformity with the rules on all exports, and this includes subsidy
as well as many other practices that we face. '

There has been—I was not present at that meeting, but I know
that Ambassador Smith and Ambassador Macdonald were just in
Geneva where, for the first time, and in one of the smaller meet-
ings in GATT, a group of 18 or so countries, they began and I think
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if I am not mistaken almost historically are beginning to analyze
whether or not the agricultural rules in the GATT were sufficient
for dealing with the problems.

All T can say is that we support enthusiastically work toward
that with our trade negotiators, and, as I look to the future, as I
pointed out, the need will become increasingly greater and greater
to get these rules more appropriate to the kinds of trade, fair and
effective competition that we are looking for in our products.

Mr. Brock. If I might supplement that answer, from our own
perspective in the trade office, Mr. Chairman, since Tom Hammer’s
comments are on the market perspective.

If we are going to be successful in dealing with agriculture, we
must recognize that it is something more than just a domestic
economic program.

Agriculture is almost an emotional subject with every nation. All
would like to be self-sustaining, and the problem that we have
comes from efforts to achieve self-sustaining production resulting
in exportable products at a subsidized price which then displaces
third country markets. This is where not only this country faces a
problem but the developing nations face a problem because they
can’t compete with subsidized exports from highly developed indus-
trial societies.

We do face then a hazard to the entire trading system unless we
can come to grips with this problem.

I very much hope that this will be a significant item on the
GATT ministerial agenda for 1982. It is almost impossible to con-
sider a ministerial that doesn’t consider the question of agriculture,
but if we are going to go into it with any hope of success, we must
admit that we too are not innocent.

None are without sin in this area. We have our own problems.
We have just engaged in an export of subsidized product that puts
us in a difficult position when insisting that all others adhere to
absolute purity.

If we are going to deal with an issue of this difficulty, we must
accept the fact that it is going to require some rethinking of our
own approach.

Chairman GieBoNs. When do you think we ought to begin?

Mr. Brock. Yesterday.

Chairman Giesons. When are we going to begin?

Mr. Brock. Well, there is a farm bill before the Congress right
now.

Mr. MacpoNALD. Mr. Chairman, in a sense we have begun. The
GATT secretariat at the request of the consultative group of 18 in
the GATT prepared a 40-page memorandum outlining the differ-
ences between agriculture and industry as GATT law applies to
those two areas.

A discussion ensued at this last meeting of the CG-18 designed to
frame the issues for negotiation between those who would like to
see those differentials eliminated, in which I think we count our-
selves, and those who think that there are historical reasons for
those differences, and that those differences should remain as they
are.

That is about where we are now, probably not moving fast
enough, but at least the preliminary work has been done. The
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impetus of the GATT ministerial in 1982 may promote work in this
area.

Chairman GiseoNs. Do we have an international agency that
concerns itself with investment practices?

Mr. Brock. Practices?

Chairman Giseons. I am talking about something like the trou-
ble they are having with the Canadians. Do we have any agency
that involves itself actively in that?

Mr. LELaAnD. We don’t have anything that is really equivalent to
the GATT in this area as such. We have the basic OECD process
where we discuss a lot of these issues, and we have GATT proce-
dures which may apply for certain of the investment practices, for
example, as they exist in Canada. If we don’t have success in our
bilateral dealings with Canada, we can go through various GATT
procedures to try to resolve them.

As I said, it’s not as ideal as you have in the trade area, but
that’s the area that you have it.

Chairman Gieeons. I notice that Canada is always very active in
going to the GATT complaining they have a case. Why are we so
reluctant?

Mr. LELAND. We have noticed that, too, and we feel strongly that
if that’s the way we are going to get results, that’s the way we are
going to go. I think the only thing that gives us any reluctance to
go is that we want to use any procedure we think will be most
effective. As I said, in the GATT situation on trade issues, it’'s more
clear as to what procedures might be used. When you get into
investment, it’s less clear what the result will be and there may be
a possibility in that area that bilaterally we will have more chance.

I might add, because it’s now been 20 minutes since Congress-
man Frenzel’s question, I did not get a chance to say anything on
Cancun. I don’t think the global negotiations will have any effect
on that particular issue, and the only thing that might keep him
going to back up what Ambassador Brock said and what Mr. Hor-
mats said on the issue, is that even the President’s speech at the
Bank Fund meeting and what he said in Philadelphia and what he
did in Cancun should be sufficient reassurance that we intend to
deal with the issues that the GATT deals with in the GATT and
the monetary issues in the IMF.

He has repeated that in several areas. The four understandings
that he put down in Cancun—he was the only one that did really
say what these conditions were—were quite clear and to some
degree the results of the meeting accepted that fact.

So I think it’s well understood that the agencies that can best
deal with this will deal with it.

Chairman GiBBoNS. It appears to me that the Mexicans are
looking for a special deal as far as this injury test is concerned.
Under our countervailing duty and dumping laws and things of
that sort, what’s the policy toward Mexico about any kind of spe-
cial deals?

Mr. Brock. I mentioned yesterday, that the problem we have in
our current relationship with that particular country is that they
do not come under the GATT, or any dispute settlement mecha-
nism which would provide for predictable and speedy response to
resolve difficulties, which always occur between trading parties.
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Instead, as a result we have had to establish the Joint Commission
on Trade between the two countries which the Secretary of Com-
merce and I co-chair along with Secretary de la Vega from the
Mexican side.

The effort is to resolve differences on a bilateral basis, both at
the working and if necessary the administrative level. There is no
proposal before that commission or internally within this Govern-
ment for providing special benefits which would be in excess of
those available to other trading partners.

On the contrary, there would be very severe difficulties in
achieving the application of an injury test in the absence of any
accession to GATT and any commitments on subsidies.

Mr. WALDMANN. Mr. Chairman, speaking on behalf of the other
half of that joint commission, I can just second what Ambassador
Brock has said. There is no special exception or policy with respect
to Mexico on countervailing duty cases. One recent case was
grounded in a particular set of facts which probably would not be
repeated. '

Chairman GisBons. That's pleasant to know.

Let me talk about our bilateral relationships with Japan, and
this concerns our structure in dealing with Japan more than any
criticism of the Japanese or of us.

It seems that everyone in governments past and present has
wanted to do something about something we just generally define
as the Japanese question. It seems to me there has been a prolif-
eration of groups and subgroups set up fo consult with Japan. If I
am correct, there is a longstanding economic subcabinet group
chaired by the Department of State. There is a 4-year-old Trade
Facilitation Committee operated out of Commerce.

In recent months, an Executive Council of the Trade Facilitation
Committee has been established at Commerce as well as the sub-
group on trade chaired by the USTR, as part of the subcabinet
group.

Further, there has been talk of a USTR run trilateral conference
between the United States, Japan and the European Economic
Community. It seems to me that there is just an excessive number
of groups working on this problem. It occurs to me that there
might be some confusion with the Japanese as to who they should
deal with. I realize we don’t make it any easier when Members of
Congress go over there and they feel they have to deal with us, too.

Is there any consideration being given in the Government to
either abolishing some of these groups or getting them all together
and calling them under one name, or should we just let things go
as they apparently are as I outlined them?

Mr. Brock. We do have a central mechanism Mr. Chairman, and
that is the Trade Policy Committee. I am not troubled by these
changes that have occurred under this administration. If you look
at the problem in dealing with the Japanese Government for exam-
ple, it is very difficult to deal with trade matters, because so many
different agencies are involved. If we are dealing with farm prod-
ucts, obviously they come under the Department of Agriculture.
And industrial and investment policies are under USTR.

Our difficulty is in insuring the opportunity for serious dialog
with most of the agencies, and so we took the lead of the Economic
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Consultation Group which is chaired by the Under Secretary of
State to form the trade subcommittee, which can then reach into
all of the Japanese ministries and deal with them in a broader
approach.

The Executive Council that was set up in the Trade Facilitation
Committee was an effort to upgrade the level of government-to-
government contact in order to increase our opportunity to resolve
some of these problems. But there is a clear definition to the
responsibility of these groups that I think is understood at least by
all of us and I hope by the Japanese as well.

The Trade Facilitation Committee was set up to deal with specif-
ic problems in specific countries as they arise. It was not as suc-
cessful as we had hoped because neither side developed the level of
resources that we intended to develop. Any coalescing process for
all the Japanese ministries forced us to go to the Trade Subcom-
mittee as a subgroup of the economic consultative process. I don’t
believe there is a disagreement among us in terms of what we are
trying to do and how we are trying to achieve it.

Mr. Leranp. I would like to support that statement, because I
really do think that having watched it over the last few months,
that the different groups within our own Government really are
operating together. The TPC is the basic forum where the issues
are brought. Because of the nature of the Japanese Government in
many cases to be effective on a lot of the investment-banking-
insurance areas, we deal with them through the Minister of Fi-
nance, but in very close coordination with the TPC and with people
who have primary responsibility.

I don’t think the problem has been our own internal coordina-
tion. I think Ambassador Brock is totally correct. We are all con-
stantly discussing it. What it is is trying to deal with a very
difficult problem from as many directions as we possibly can.

Mr. WALDMANN. Mr. Chairman, if I might add a word, the TFC,
the Trade Facilitation Committee was set up originally as Ambas-
sador Brock said, to deal with specific cases and it did deal with
some 22 cases which were submitted to the Japanese Government,
and of those 19 were successfully resolved; that is, the United
States exporter was able to get his products through this system
and whatever barrier there was was removed.

But we felt that the pipeline had dried up a little bit and we
wanted to revitalize that by raising the level we had with the
Under Secretary of Commerce on our side, and the Vice Minister
on the MITI side to cochair the new Executive Council.

I don’t think any of us disagree about the relative specific func-
tions of these organizations you mention and we all do work very
closely together on them.

Chairman GieBons. Can we talk about the foreign commerce
counselors. How many of them do we have in China?

Mr. WALDMANN. Mr. Chairman, I am sorry I don’t know the
answer to that. We probably have no more than three or four in
even our largest areas and I would gather in China we would have
that many Americans supported by local nationals in many cases.

Chairman GiBeoNs. How many foreign commercial counselors do
we have all together?

Mr. WALDMANN. I believe the number is less than 200. It’s 162.
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Chairman GiepoNs. How many of those were just transfers out of
the State Department?

Mr. WALDMANN. Most of the original ones were in fact from the
State Department, but the hiring has in the last year been opened
up and we now have an increasing number of people from the
private sector and from other Government agencies.

Cl;airman GiseoNs. What’s our goal for foreign commercial offi-
cers?

Mr. WALDMANN. To make them effective salesmen for U.S. goods
and services abroad.

Chairman GisBoNs. How many people is that going to take?

Mr. WALDMANN. Well, Mr. Chairman, I think at some point I
had better ask your indulgence to submit some answers to these
questions for the record. This is not an area of the Commerce
Department that I oversee or am familiar with.

Chairman GissoNS. Fine. I am sorry to get off on that, but I am
interested in that area. There may have been some in China. I
think I met one. Maybe I just did not recognize all of them, I don’t
know how many I saw in Japan. There were not very many and it
seems to me that we have got a lot of problems in that area.

I know it’s a new agency. It’s a new department and it takes
time to gear it up.

Mr. WALDMANN. Yes, sir. We will have the Assistant Secretary
for Trade Development here for you tomorrow.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Yes, sir.

Mr. Brock. I would like to just comment on that. Every one of us
on this panel and every member on your committee has been
concerned over the years with the apparent lack of support our
business community has received in the international trade area. I
would like to state for the record that I believe we are trying and
consciously achieving some changes in that regard. If one looks at
the fact that the Congress did authorize this change, and it just
occurred this spring. So it is going to take some time to work its
way into a new management structure.

But the fundamental decision was made by the Congress, I think
appropriately, and it’s going to make a difference.

Second, the Secretary of State rescinded what was called cable
earlier this year after a great number of complaints. Third, the
Secretary of State has sent a cable to all U.S. ambassadors all over
the world suggesting that it is a priority to support the American
business person wherever they are in whatever fashion they can.

Changes have been made consciously in these last 10 months to
address that question, and to do so as actively and as consciously
and as quickly as we can. I think some results will begin to show
before too long.

Mr. HorMATS. May I say one thing, Mr. Chairman, to follow up
the point that Ambassador Brock made.

I believe that there is a very strong sense of common feeling here
that exports have to be one of the major priorities in terms of both
international economic policy and domestic economic policy, since
exports is such a large percentage of our GNP. One of the interest-
ing things that we have been trying to do and Ambassador Brock
and Secretary Baldrige and we at the State Department in particu-
lar have been doing is meeting with the ambassadors before they
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go out to the posts to try to convince them that this is a role they
have to play. In virtually every other country, the ambassador is a
salesman for the products of that country.

The French Ambassador also peddles air buses and the British
Ambassador peddles Rolls-Royce engines, and I think we are going
to have to have our ambassadors do more of this to offset the
enormous political pressures that other countries apply on behalf
of their exports.

I am very pleased to see that many of the ambassadors who have
gone out to these posts have been very enthusiastic about these
roles. It used to be considered a very dirty job, promoting exports,
and it’s now considered very vital to the American economy.

I think the attitude should be very helpful in promoting exports
in the future.

Mr. FRENZEL. Mr. Chairman, if I might comment, if that attitude
had prevailed in past years, there would not be any foreign com-
merce service because we probably would not need one. I have got
to say that it is true in some embassies and it is hopelessly untrue
in other embassies, and I hope the Department will not simply rely
on one set of cables and make that a continuing priority with its
ambassadors.

Mr. HormaTs. We are applying the full port press and it won’t
just be one cable but a lot of sustained efforts in this direction.

Mr. Brock. I have been a critic of the Foreign Commercial
Service for 10 years, Mr. Chairman, and I frankly have seen more
positive action from this Secretary of State than I have by anyone
else in all my years in politics. I would love to see this part of our
evaluative process of our people overseas.

Mr. FrenzeL. I share your enthusiasm. Our guys have been
normally shuffling papers while the Europeans and Japanese have
been in the States making sales calls.

Even now I think our largest number of FCS are in the Tokyo
Embassy spending a good deal of this time monitoring RFP’s from
N.T.& T. rather than out trying to move the merchandise. We have
a long way to go even when you put good guys out there or good
people out there. If you don’t arm them for battle, they are not
going to be able to do anything.

For instance, if they sit on the fourth floor of the Tokyo Embassy
in their office, people are not going to come in to see them. It
seems quite obvious to me that you have got to get your people out
into the marketplace and get them the heck out of the embassies if
they are going to do any work.

Mr. Brock. We have some awfully good people in the Agriculture
Department around the world.

Chairman GiBeBoNs. But we have a constant complaint from
American businessmen that foreign business people are intimidat-
ed to go to the embassy. It has a political significance that they
don’t want to be associated with. They would not hesitate to go to
some commercial office that’s outside of the embassy. I realize
there are security problems and everything else, but the people I
think have to give some consideration to their expertise and their
dedication and their constant word to us was to try to get those
folks outside the embassy.
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Not that there is anything wrong with the Embassy, but going to
an embassy could have political significance in some countries, and
business people just won’t go there. That's one of the words of
advice they gave to us.

Mr. HAMMER. Mr. Chairman, if I might add at least from Agri-
culture’s point of view, we have had people in the foreign countries
for 20 years or so, and I think they developed a relationship where
they have become an integral part of the embassy and have worked
hand in glove with the Ambassador and other members of the staff
over there, and have developed a reputation as shirtsleeve type
salesmen, and they are out there pushing our wares, and I would
just like to say that it is an effective tool and one which I think
basically we have kept rather stable in terms of the size of our
people overseas.

Primarily they are in the Foreign Agricultural Service and we
have about a 2 to 1 ratio of people back here working with U.S.
administration and about 250 of them or so overseas, and I would
say half of those are perhaps foreign nationals, and I can not
overemphasize the results that we feel we have achieved from
having our counselors and attaches overseas.

Mr. WALDMANN. Mr. Chairman, I think the total Foreign Com-
mercial Service is around 600 people in the embassies. Most of
those, of course, are foreign nationals. I don’t know how they spend
their time. Obviously the program is being developed as we are
working with the embassies and with the ambassadors who are
going out.

I would gather that more of their time is, in fact, spent putting
together trade shows and arranging visits for American business-
men and that is, in fact, pushing the wares even if it’s indirect
salesmanship.

Mr. LELAND. Mr. Chairman, I would like to add that part of it is
the willingness to support the American businessman abroad in
every facet, not just the trade but investors and the other things
we might have. Part of the reason for reluctance to go to embassies
is the attitude that they would not get much support. That was not
what they saw themselves as being there for.

I do think in the last 10 months, because of all the conversations
that have been had that there is clear indication that that is one of
the functions they are there for, if people are having investment
problems. We have been having a lot of bilateral discussions with
our major trading partners who put up barriers and problems to
investment. We also welcome hearing of the problems of the busi-
ness community that they have, so that we don’t deal just with the
problems in the abstract but we can deal with them specifically.

So if we do it all the way across the board and they see the
attitude is changing, we may get some results.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Do we need better trade rules on services,
international rules?

Mr. HormArTs. Yes, sir.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Does anybody have any suggestions as to
whether we ought to start trying to negotiate better trade rules?

Mr. Brock. We started that process about 8 months ago—literal-
ly in the first days of the administration. Through Mr. Macdonald
and Mr. Smith, I have been in touch with a high percentage of our
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trade partners. We have made achieving an international agree-
ment in services, a fundamental and intrinsic part of our agenda
for 1981 and 1982, particularly for the GATT ministerial. We had
some success with the ministerial in July. The Japanese, for the
first time, joined us in that particular exercise. We are trying to
develop a political constituency around the world of supportive
nations who have a vested interest in services trade.

We are trying to convince particularly the developing countries
that they, almost above all others, have an enormous stake and a
regime of clues that would provide for more orderly trade in the
services area. :

It is inconceivable to me that we can trade goods without a
strong service sector. We can’t do it without banking, insurance,
engineering, consulting, shipping, and all the rest. Particularly, as
Mr. Hormats mentioned, in the data flow and data transmission
area where we have such a superior product, that it’s in our
national interest. But we must convince others that it is in their
interest to develop a regime in the services area. It’s going to take
a long time. It’s a very complicated subject, but it has to be done
and it is a major priority of this administration.

Chairman GiBoNs. Good. I would say that for the 1980’s we are
going to have a good trade policy as I interpret the remarks of the
various witnesses that appeared here today. This administration is
dedicated to market-type economics, whether it be in agriculture or
industrial goods and certainly in services. Two, we are going to try
to strengthen all our opportunities around the world as well as our
responsibilities by entering at the appropriate time some kind of
international negotiation on what the rules ought to be for these
various emerging areas.

And, three, as I hear from you, we are dedicated to preserving
_ and strengthening the existing international institutions that we
have and not trying to develop a whole rash of new ones or convert
old ones, such as the UN or UNCTAD into new functions to negoti-
ate on commerce issues. I applaud all of that. I hope that the
interagency work in this administration will be smoother than it
has been in the past, and in other administrations.

I am not particularly being critical of any specific thing in the
past. There is always in every regime a scrambling for turf and I
realize some of these things overlap and turf is not real clear, even
when people are highly motivated and not particularly interested
in grabbing any new turf. But I want it clearly understood that the
Congress looks to the USTR as being the chief spokesman and our
representative in Government for international trade matters, and
I hope that in the future we won’t have any trouble in letting
everyone understand that.

I know each one of you at this table have your own particular
areas, Commerce, State, Treasury, Agriculture, that you are inter-
ested in and rightfully so, but I think we have got some real
problems ahead of us for the future.

What I think is now an overvalued dollar propped up mainly by
our interest rates is going to cause problems sure as heck next year
as far as trade deficits are concerned. As the headlines roll out the
people are going to be running here saying you have got to get the
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Japanese or the Europeans or the Canadians or the Mexicans off
our back. They are hurting this and they are hurting that.

We are going to need a very united and strong voice of leader-
ship, and I am very pleased at what I have heard here today. I look
forward to working with you again in the future.

Mr. Frenzel, do you have any comments you would like to make?

Mr. FrENzEL. I have a couple of questions I want to ask probably
of the Treasury or of the U.S. Trade Representative.

You talked about services as being a priority for the future. We
are now beginning to get complaints from engineer companies
particularly regarding taxation of services which are sold abroad
but performed within the United States. Apparently our competi-
tors are able to secure credits against that kind of foreign taxation
for their services and we, of course, do not. Have you been receiv-
ing those complaints, and is there an answer to them?

Mr. LeLanD. I will attempt to answer Congressman Frenzel. 1
think basically it is true that our system of taxation in many ways
differs from a lot of others. The long arm of our tax law is some-
what longer than it is in many other countries. We just had a very
major change which should really help exports. In the recent tax
bill an exemption for income earned overseas up to $95,000 was
included.

Mr. FrRENZEL. We made it in spite of the Department’s opposition.

Mr. LELaND. That was not the position by any stretch of the
imagination of our Secretary of the Treasury. The Department is
an ongoing institution. That is one reason why you get new faces at
certain points in history. But basically I think that would have a
good effect on a lot of other issues we are looking at in that area
because we realize that with this whole issue we have to support
our businesses overseas. It is just the same issue that the chairman
said and it is under constant review, the issue of what is called tax-
sparing, which is a very complicated one, and developing nations
feel very strongly about it. I cannot say there is any complete
conclusion. As I said, we just had a big change in the tax law as
you know, but these problems are ones that are brought to our
attention and we have paid attention to them.

Mr. FrReENZEL. The point I guess that I am making is that it will
not do any good for the USTR to develop the best kind of regimen
in the world for a good exchange of services if American business
people are going to be penalized and be noncompetitive because of
the tax system, and we expect the agencies to work together to see
that their work is complementary.

With respect to that, apparently there is going to be a meeting of
the COCOM group in the near future. Does anybody know any-
thing about it? Do we have any policy? Are we trying to do any-
thing with that, and if we achieve whatever we are trying to do,
what does it mean, and if we do not, what will happen to our
currently loused-up policy of export licensing?

Mr. HorMATs. I cannot speak to the latter part, but I can speak
to the former. The part of the question I can speak to is what we
are going to try to do at this COCOM meeting in the fall.

As you recall at the Ottawa economic summit one of the key
points the President raised was the need to develop a tighter set of
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export controls on high-technology exports to the Soviet Union and
Eastern Europe.

What we have been doing over the last several months and
indeed culminating in a trip which is now going on to consult with
our partners in COCOM is to try to gain international support for
a more restrictive approach for technology which is useful for
militarily critical industries in Eastern Europe and the Soviet
Union, and these products which are also critical to those types of
industries, the objective being here to try to broaden and tighten
the controls at the high-technology end of the spectrum, and we
are now in the process of trying to get some support for this. It is
more detailed than I can lay out to you, and I can lay out to you
perhaps in a closed session the various categories that we consider
to be militarily critical.

Mr. FrRENzZEL. Are the trading partners looking like they might
be cooperative?

Mr. HorMmarTs. It is a bit too early to tell, because we have not
gotten the responses of the individuals. They are still abroad. I will
say I think it is not going to be so easy to get support for this. As
you well know, many countries, particularly at a time when the
Western countries are weak, particularly as in Western Europe,
the East is a very important part of their overall exports. I think it
is going to be difficult to get support for the tightening of the
controls that we are asking for, but we do think it is important
particularly to support goods at the high-technology end of the
spectrum and particularly to prevent the transmission of the tech-
nology which the Soviets can use to produce these end-use items.

A good example is metallurgical technology. It is one thing to
sell a propeller for a commercial airplane. It is another thing to
sell the technology which the Soviets can use not only to produce
that propeller not only for a commercial airplane but also for a
military airplane. That is the sort of thing we are aiming at. The
meeting for the fall will be the followup of this trip. Hopefully we
will get some degree of consensus, although it is going to take a
long time and it will be a very difficult process.

Mr. FrReENzZEL. I am delighted that you at least have done some-
thing about it, and I do not want to belabor the subject because we
will have the gentleman in charge of the licensing procedure over
in Commerce in a little later on in our hearings, but I think it is
fair to say that the system has lacked certainty and the system has
been remarkable for its speed or lack thereof. I suppose that the
No. 1 complaint of business people in China, for instance, is that
they have been told it is a matter of U.S. policy that we are going
to increase our exports into China. The whole damned Department
cannot even find an application once it disappears inside the doors
of Commerce. It may come out 20 months later or it may not.

Mr. HormaTs. Well, I think having heard the same sorts of
complaints I have to say that some of them, indeed many of those
sorts of complaints are valid. The process has been too slow. There
has been a considerable amount of uncertainty. In some cases what
the private sector really wants is clarity. They want to know if
they apply they have a reasonable chance, not a guarantee, but a
reasonable chance. And they want to get responses so that they do
not lose the contract by default because they simply have not been
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able to respond. I think there is definitely a need for improving
this, and that is one of the things we are trying to do. We have a
lot of work to do.

Mr. FrenzerL. What happens is now everybody finds another
agency to do their casework for them. Their order gets lost at
Commerce and they go to STR or the National Security Council or
into your office and you have to run and try to find the darn thing.

Mr. HorMmATs. Right. But there is a genuine effort being made
now to streamline the system and shorten the turnaround time
considerably.

Mr. FreENZEL. I understand the streamlining process has resulted
in tripling the length of the form so far, but we will talk about that
a little later.

Mr. WALDMANN. Mr. Frenzel, I note that Larry Brady will be up
here to talk to you about that. I have heard Secretary Baldrige
speak many times on the same subject. I know he places a good
deal of emphasis on shortening these times, reducing the backlog.
It is one of the key areas that he has identified within the Depart-
ment for attention, even to the point of shifting resources from
other activities in the Department. It is obviously an interagency
clearance process. We do rely on State and Defense for advice in
granting these licenses, but I can assure you that he gives that a
great deal of thought.

Mr. FrENzZEL. Thank you very much.

The last question, Mr. Chairman, we have talked during these
hearings before of the classification harmonization. The Coopera-
tion Council I guess has about completed its work, and 1 wonder if
somebody out there could give us an idea of what kind of prospec-
tive timetable there might be for the ratification and the adapta-
tion of the TSUS at some point for the new harmonized code?

Mr. SmitH. Congressman, what we are looking forward to now is
the process starting in Geneva in late 1983, and probably taking 2
years. Obviously we will be working very closely with the Congress,
and we will come back to the Congress for authority to enter into
such a system. The problem will be extraordinarily complex be-
cause in our own system we will have roughly 7,000 TSUS line
items to compress into 2,000 line items which will mean that the
balance of concessions negotiated during the Tokyo round will have
to be very carefully balanced.

We have already programed in for the fiscal year 1983 budget
funds to do this. We are already looking into the computer system
necessary in Geneva to link up with both Brussels and Washing-
ton, and have consulted with the ITC. As far as the Geneva oper-
ation is concerned, we already have estimated that it will take
between 4 and 8 man-years per year from the U.S. side to complete
the harmonization.

One problem we have is that we will be doing at least the work
into the conversion at a time when the tariff cuts coming out of the
Tokyo round will be going into effect. So this will be a delicate
operation. Some people call it a mini-Tokyo round. I think that is
overstated, but it is a very complicated mathematical problem.

Mr. FrReNzZEL. So the earliest possible for the actual changing of
the TSUS or the completion of the change with congressional ap-
proval would be 19857
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Mr. SmitH. Yes, that is being even optimistic, sir.

Mr. FrenzEL. Well, we in this administration are optimistic.

Mr. Brock. Could I just add one thought?

Mr. FRENZEL. Yes.

Mr. Brock. I think in this particular frame it is important for
you to understand that while we are rigorously trying to reduce
our several agencies in budget terms, this is going to be an awe-
some task, and the statement that Mike Smith gave you is a very
small part of what our requirements are going to be to accomplish
it. The goal is worth pursuing, but I do want you to be aware of the
fact that at some point we are going to have to pay for it. And in
order for us to engage in this shrinking from 7,000 to 2,000 TSUS
items, we must computerize and weigh the various items in terms
of relative merit. If one considers the magnitude of 7,000 weights,
each of which is subject to varying opinions, it is an enormous job
and it either has to be done well or it should not be done at all. I
want to be sure that you are aware of the fact that that problem is
going to be before you in the next 2 or 3 years as we come to the
Congress for authorization.

Mr. FRENZEL. Once it gets adopted it is going to have to be done,
is it not?

Mr. Brock. Yes, but I am worried about how we adopt it because
the process by which we move is going to be particularly important
to us. If we place the wrong weights on these combinations we can
end up as severely disadvantaged or in fact losing some of the
opportunities we achieved in the Tokyo round. It is not something
we can put off for 5 years.

Mr. FrenzeL. I agree with that, but eventually we cannot have
U.S. manufacturers and users working with several different classi-
fications.

Mr. Brock. That is absolutely correct.

Mr. FreENzEL. Once the world goes that way we have to go that
way.

Mr. Brock. It is in our interest. We must be very sure that we do
it the right way going in, that is all.

Mr. FRENzEL. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiBeoNs. I thank each one of the members of this
panel for your very fine testimony. Thank you very much.

[Whereupon, at 4:15 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned, to
reconvene at 9:30 a.m., Friday, October 30, 1981.]
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The subcommittee met at 9:30 a.m., pursuant to notice, in room
1100, Longworth House Office Building, Hon. Sam M. Gibbons
(chairman of the subcommittee) presiding.

Chairman GiBeoNS. Good morning, ladies and gentlemen.

The meeting of the Trade Subcommittee of the Ways and Means
Committee will come to order.

I welcome all of you. I realize it is Friday. Don’t be in too big a
hurry. I have plenty of time and an awful lot to learn.

Mr. Newkirk, we will start with you.

STATEMENT OF W. DOUGLAS NEWKIRK, ASSISTANT U.S. TRADE
REPRESENTATIVE FOR GATT AFFAIRS, OFFICE OF US.
TRADE REPRESENTATIVE

Mr. NEwkIRK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Since the House Ways
and Means Subcommittee on Trade was among the principal draft-
ers of the Trade Agreements Act of 1979, there is no need for
detailed review of the content of the MTN agreements.

However, as we testified during the course of the Trade Agree-
ments Act debate, the significance of the MTN agreements will
become evident only as the agreements are put into force.

Today I want to focus on this process and describe where we
stand with regard to the international implementation of the MTN.

To begin with, it might be useful to clarify the role of USTR in
the MTN implementation process.

A major purpose of Reorganization Plan No. 3 of 1979 was to
centralize the policymaking and negotiating functions for interna-
tional trade in the Office of the U.S. Trade Representative.

The plan states that “USTR shall have primary responsibility,
with the advice of the Trade Policy Committee for developing, and
foxi_ cos),rdinating the implementation of U.S. international trade
policy.

The plan goes on to state that “USTR shall be the chief repre-
sentative of the United States for all activities of, or under the
auspices of, the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade.”

The plan also authorizes USTR to issue policy guidance to de-
partments and agencies on a broad range of trade matters.

My presentation to you this morning will focus on the overall
international aspects of MTN implementation: our efforts to en-
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courage 'participation in the agreements and monitor their imple-
mentation and operation, the activities of the code committees,
preparations for review of the codes, and the state of negotiations
on leftover items of business from the MTN.

My colleague from the Department of Commerce will focus on
the various programs undertaken to insure that U.S. businesses
have the opportunity to take full advantage of the new export
markets made possible by the MTN agreements.

In order to better explain where we stand internationally. with
regard to the implementation of the MTN agreements, I would like
to review briefly what we are trying to achieve in the implementa-
tion of the MTN agreements.

Although we reduced industrial tariffs around the world by some
33 percent and made significant progress in liberalizing agricultur-
al trade in the MTN, the real keystone of the MTN is the set of
nontariff measure codes which revise and expand GATT rules.

In all, seven codes were negotiated: government procurement,
customs valuation, technical barriers to trade—known as the
standards code—import licensing procedures, civil aircraft, subsi-
dies/countervailing measures, and antidumping.

These codes, along with the two agricultural arrangements on
meat and dairy and the framework understandings, set forth a
much-needed, modernized set of rules for the world trading system
that will govern world trade for at least the next decade.

Implementation of the MTN agreements is a more challenging
task than was implementation of previous multilateral agreements
that focused largely on the reduction of tariffs.

The implementation of agreed tariff cuts on the basis of agreed
schedules is largely an automatic process; the implementation of
the nontariff codes requires new and innovative approaches.

Procedures have had to be established for carrying out national
obligations under the codes, for managing the work of the code
committees, for considering new issues arising under the codes and
for settling disputes.

The code provisions, which often are formulated in terms of
general principles, have to be interpreted and applied to specific
cases. In practice this means making the agreements function as
they were intended to function in our interpretation of the text.

In order to make the MTN agreements work, we have done
several things.

First, we have encouraged broad-based international participa-
tion in the agreements. We have had considerable success in this
regard.

All of our major industrialized trading partners and some of our
major developing country trading partners have signed some or all
of the agreements. We are striving for and expect additional devel-
oping country signatures over the coming months, for example, the
- Philippines’ acceptance of the Government procurement code.

It is our objective to obtain the signatures of as many countries
as possible so that the agreements will be applicable on a world-
wide basis and that the structure of the trading system remains as
unified as possible.
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Second, we have taken care to insure that all laws, regulations
and administrative actions necessary to implement the agreements
domestically have been adopted by signatories.

We have examined these measures on a code by code, country by
country basis, and made appropriate representations when we be-
lieved that international obligations were not met.

Third, we have been striving to insure the effective administra-
tion of the agreements at the international level by doing all that
is necessary to facilitate the work of the various committees estab-
lished to administer the agreements.

Each of the code committees is active and meets on a regular
basis. We are currently in the midst of the annual, and in some
cases biennial review of the agreements.

The code committees are engaged in reviewing the implementa-
tion and operation of the agreements by examining the national
implementation material which has been submitted to the commit-
tees, reviewing the practical elements of implementation and dis-
cussing any trade problems that may have arisen.

The reviews of the codes have revealed that there have been only
a few flagrant violations, derogations or discrepancies in signator-
ies’ obligations under the agreements.

It is the U.S. position that the smooth and efficient functioning
of the GATT committee structure is essential if we and our trading
partners are to have a solid institutional framework within which
to pursue our rights and settle disputes.

Moreover, it is within these committees that the foundations will
be laid for further negotiation on, and improvement of, the agree-
ments in question.

In the case of the Government procurement and standards codes,
these reviews will aid in the preparations for the 3-year review of
these agreements that will begin next year.

Finally, we have made a concerted attempt to move forward with
the unfinished business of the Tokyo round, completing negotiation
of the safeguards and the counterfeit codes.

One of the major shortcomings of the MTN results is that it does
not include a safeguards code encompassing the various actions
taken by governments to protect domestic industry from damage
due to import competition.

During the MTN, considerable work was undertaken but no
agreement reached. .

The issue remains a pressing need of the GATT for, without an
understanding on commonly accepted safeguards practices, we will
likely see the gradual accumulation of arrangements and practices
that increasingly distort trade and undermine market-determined
international competition.

Discussions on safeguards are continuing, but we have not been
successful in finding a basic consensus among our major trading
partners on how to proceed.

It is interesting to note, however, that a safeguards arrangement
remains a priority objective of many of the developing countries.

In this regard our interests coincide.

Another item of unfinished business is completion of negotiations
on a commercial counterfeit code. During the MTN, the United



142

States and EC reached agreement on a text of a code which seeks
to stem international trade in goods bearing bogus trademarks.
The counterfeiting of trademarked commercial merchandise is an
international problem and a growing menace to legitimate trade
which affects trademark owners, manufacturers and consumers.
We are now in the process of negotiating with our other major
trading partners to expand participation in the code.

Japan, Canada and Switzerland are the primary focus of our
efforts at this time, and prospects appear good for their eventual
acceptance.

To summarize my general remarks before I turn to each code in
detail, the United States is actively engaged in implementing the
MTN agreements.

Our experience to date has been good, but it has shown us that a
continuous and vigorous effort is necessary to advance our objec-
tives and insure that our trading partners respect their obligations.

That is to say, if we don’t get out and push, no one will, and that
is what we are doing.

If T could talk a minute about the Government procurement
code, the agreement on Government procurement entered into
force on January 1 of this year.

Given the nature of this agreement and its potential commercial
importance, we have directed our resources towards close monitor-
ing of its operation.

Even before the code entered into force, we began monitoring the
progress of implementation among code signatories.

The day the code went into effect, we were talking about actual
dollar contracts. This code had a particular significance for us.

My colleague from the Commerce Department will be talking
about what we have done to insure that U.S. business has the
opportunity to benefit from this code. I won’t dwell on that element
of it, but I would like to say that I think the Commerce Depart-
ment has done an admirable job in setting up programs necessary
to insure that if the U.S. company is interested in participating
and taking advantage of this agreement, they have the opportunity
to do so.

I will just talk a bit about what we have done internationally to
try to insure that our trading partners are complying with the
provisions of the code.

Our first effort has been, of course, through the committee that I
mentioned, the committee of signatories.

In this context we have examined all the regulations and legisla-
tion the countries have put forward to implement the code.

We found with a couple of exceptions the countries have acted in
good faith and have done what is required by the code.

Since the beginning of the year, this year, when the code went
into effect, we have had over a thousand notices of proposed pur-
chases that have been published by our fellow code signatories.

Of this total of a thousand, over 450 notices were from countries
within the European Communities.

We have had over 350 notices from Japan. We have had about 75
notices from Canada, which has a smaller purchasing program
than the EC or Japan.
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These thousand notices represent first-time, new market opportu-
nities for U.S. firms.

These notices have never been published before. They are being
published now, and U.S. firms have the opportunity to compete for
these contracts, but even though there have been a thousand no-
tices, we really cannot make any determination on the effective-
ness of the code until we have seen how many U.S. firms are able
to win contracts in this new market.

While overall we are pleased with the operation of the code and
we think it has been working pretty well, there have been a
number of problems in the code implementation that we have been
working on.

For example, the European Community member state implemen-
tation of the code has been a little bit deficient in terms of the
amount of time allowed for bidding on a particular contract.

The code specifies it has to be a minimum of 30 days, between
the time a bid is let and the time that the contract is concluded.

Originally, about 50 percent of the European member state no-
tices didn’t provide for the 30 days required.

We went to the Europeans and complained about this. We find
now that the problem appears to be abating, and in our most
recent survey of the contracts let, it indicates the original 50 per-
cent failure rate has dropped down to about 20 percent, and the
trend .appears to be in our favor in this regard.

We also have been very dissatisfied with the lease implementa-
tion of the code.

We have found in fact Italy hasn’t implemented the code, and
this is very distressing to us.

We have approached them both bilaterally and multilaterally,
and demanded that they follow their international commitments
and implement the code. They have not done so yet, but we hope
they will be doing so shortly.

I don’t want to minimize the importance of these problems that
we have encountered.

We consider any problem with the Government procurement
code to be a major problem because it is denying actual sales to
U.S. firms.

We have pursued any breach of the code that we found with
considerable vigor, and we will continue to do so as the code
continues into force.

It is too early to judge what the effect of the Government pro-
curement code is because we don’t have any hard figures on con-
tracts let.

But at this stage we think the ball is largely in the court of the
private sector.

We have provided the market opportunities and it is up to U.S.
firms to exploit them. They are there, they are real.

They are of considerable commercial value. We have to find a
way now of getting U.S. firms to pursue and actively participate in
this new market.

That is what we are in the process of doing now.

Finally, we have placed a good deal of effort in this area focusing
on Japan, because Japan is one of the countries where we have a
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very large potential market, and in the past we have not been able
to exploit it.

In particular, we have a bilateral agreement with Japan on
access to their national telephone company, the Nippon Telephone
and Telegraph, NTT. This is an agreement that opened a $3.4
blillion market to U.S. firms. It is a market previously completely
closed.

As a result of our bilateral agreement, NTT was required to open
their purchasing to U.S. competition.

I would like to report today that so far we have been very
impressed with NTT’s compliance with the agreement. They have
done everything that they are required to do and in fact they have
done more. They have translated all of their purchasing proce-
dures, purchasing requirements, into English, distributed the texts
at their own expense—they have held seminars on how to sell to
NTT here in Washington and out on the west coast.

They have put on a week-long seminar in Tokyo where they
described in detail how to make a proposal, how to sell to NTT.

U.S. firms were shown around their research facilities, and also
taken step by step through their procurement process, so that any
firm interested in dealing with NTT at least now has all the
information that they need to participate in the procurement proc-
ess.

NTT remains willing to entertain individual U.S. firms that
approach them and explain step by step how to proceed in the
procurement process.

So the NTT seems to be taking the extra step and doing what
they obliged themselves to do, and in fact doing more.

To date we have only sold about $2 million worth of equipment
to NTT but, because of their procurement cycle, and because of the
adoption of the new procurement rules, they really have not let
any major contracts yet—just been sort of housekeeping contracts.

The test of the agreement and the test of NTT’s good faith will
rest in letting contracts for major highly sophisticated elements of
the telephone system. They have not issued any invitations to
tender on things like central switching equipment since the entry
into force of the agreement.

So we are watching very closely for that first major contract
invitation to see how U.S. firms are treated.

Once we see that, we will have some really firm impression of
how well the agreement is working. So we are watching NTT very
closely and on a daily basis.

Another of the agreements in force is the Customs valuation
code. That entered into force in 27 countries already, including the
United States, and, of course, all of her major trading partners.
Our experience so far has been quite good.

During the negotiations the United States pressed very hard to
have all customs valuations made on the basis of the price actually
paid or payable, the invoice value.

We have discovered in the United States about 94 percent of the
transactions coming in are being valued on that basis, and, more
importantly, in Europe, where we used to suffer uplifts in customs
valuations at the whimsy of Customs officials, we find there about
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95 percent of the individual Customs transactions coming in are
being valued on the basis of the price paid or payable.

So 95 percent of the transactions are being dealt with in the
manner that we sought in the negotiations.

That is a very encouraging figure considering the large amount
of trade between multinational companies that takes place between
the United States and European Communities.

XVe are quite pleased with the implementation of the valuation
code.

- In regard to the standards code, we have found internationally it
has been rather well received. We have 32 countries that have
accepted the standards code or applied it on a provisional basis.

We are particularly heartened by the fact that a number of the
major developing countries are applying the standards code.

Among them are Brazil, Chile, Korea, Pakistan, the Philippines,
Siggapore, Tunisia, and Hong Kong—all applying the standards
code.

We found initially that several countries which signed the code
were a bit tardy on their implementation. Unlike a code like the
procurement agreement, the standards code doesn’t deal with
direct commercial concerns, but rather with more indirect commer-
cial concerns.

So countries didn’t seem to be as active in their implementation
of the standards code as they were with the procurement code, but
in every case where we found a country that had signed the code
and not done what they promised to do, we went to them bilateral-
ly, talked to them, and tried to reach some accommodation on a
schedule for implementation.

As a result, we find today that the countries that have signed the
code have implemented it faithfully.

There has been sort of a trend that we have been able to monitor
to demonstrate the degree of acceptance of the code and the degree
of implementation of the code.

That is, one of the code requirements is that when a country is
getting ready to implement a new standard, they have to notify it
to the GATT, which then notifies it to anybody who is interested.

In 1980, the first year of the operation of the code, we only
;g((:)eived 120 notifications. So far this year we have received over

To us, these figures indicate that the code is coming into effect,
and that the trend is up in terms of accurate and faithful imple-
mentation of its provisions.

When we get these notifications, we disseminate them to Ameri-
can industry and to interested parties that would like to comment
on these proposed standards, and the Department of Commerce has
a very active program in this regard.

Another of the agreements that we are in the process of imple-
menting is the import licensing code.

We have 32 signatories to this agreement. It is an agreement
which we consider to be particularly important in developing coun-
tries because many of the developing countries use licensing as
their primary means of monitoring and adjusting import levels.

We are encouraging developing countries in particular to sign
this code. We have had some success, and we hope to have more.
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The agreement on trade in civil aircraft establishes a multilater-
al framework for the free and fair international trading in civil
aircraft.

It dwas the only industrial sectoral agreement in the Tokyo
round.

It had as its fundamental objective the creation of international
rules which would assure competition between manufacturers
worldwide on the basis of the product and not other considerations.

It is a more limited agreement, only 16 countries have signed it,
but they are the countries that produce and export aircraft, so that
is where our interest lies.

The code covers both the tariff and nontariff barriers to trade in
civil aircraft.

The agreement calls for the elimination of all customs duties and
similar charges for not only aircraft, but other equipment associat-
ed with aircraft, such as engines and flight simulators.

There are no duties on those items any more. The code also deals
wit? Government intervention in decisions to purchase civil air-
craft.

We have worked very closely with the other countries that have
signed this code to insure that it is effectively implemented.

In particular, we have had a very active committee in Geneva
working on civil aircraft to insure that the agreement is properly
implemented.

In the subsidy, countervailing and antidumping agreements, we
?ave had quite an active time since the agreements came into
orce.

Basically, what we have been doing internationally is focusing on
how the various code procedures should be interpreted.

We have tried to take our interpretation of the code and have it
accepted internationally.

In the last year Chile, India, Australia, and New Zealand have
acceded to the subsidies code, and Pakistan, Poland, and Spain
have joined the antidumping code.

We have recently had indications from a number of other devel-
oping countries concerning possible code acceptance.

We continue to encourage our trading partners to join the codes
anc(li undertake the international discipline that is provided in the
codes.

We are also requiring that developing countries that wish to sign
the subsidy code submit commitments to reduce or eliminate
export subsidies, in addition to the provisions that are required in
the code itself.

We have also begun to use the subsidy code disputes settlement
mechanism to seek redress against unfair and trade distorting
subsidy practices.

This fall we have taken the first step with the European commu-
nities on their common agricultural policy as regards export subsi-
dies on sugar and wheat flour.

We expect in addition to sugar and wheat flour there will be
more cases to come under the code.

The work this year has been largely refining the procedures and
refining the definitions in the subsidies and dumping codes. We
have had a group of experts, for example, looking at the way that
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individual countries calculate the amount of a subsidy, so that we
can have a better understanding internationally on how to do that.

In the dumping code, we have been working on an agreement
that would forestall the adoption of a basic price system abroad
which we feel would be very detrimental to U.S. export interests.

We have had quite a busy year in monitoring the import policy
practices of other countries. We have taken quite an interest in the
way that the European Community is administering their anti-
dumping law.

We have intervened with them in several instances when we
thought they were in violation of their obligation. We have also
taken a very close look at Canada because Canada is in the process
now of considering a new import policy to control what they consid-
er to be damaging imports.

We have been working with them to try to come up with an
import policy that we feel is consistent with their international
obligations and won’t be detrimental to U.S. exports.

This briefly summarizes where we stand on the international
side of MTN implementation.

[The prepared statement follows:]

StATEMENT OF W. DouGLAS NEWKIRK, AsSISTANT U.S. TRADE REPRESENTATIVE FOR
GATT Arrairs, OFFiCE OF U.S. TRADE REPRESENTATIVE

INTRODUCTION

Since the House Ways and Means Subcommittee on Trade was among the princi-
pal drafters of the Trade Agreements Act of 1979, there is no need for detailed
review of the content of the MTN agreements. However, as we testified during the
course of the Trade Agreements Act debate, the significance of the MTN agree-
ments will become evident only as the agreements are put into force. Today I want
to focus on this process and describe where we stand with regard to the internation-
al implementation of the MTN.

To begin with, it might be useful to clarify the role of USTR in the MTN
implementation process. A major purpose of Reorganization Plan No. 3 of 1979 was
to centralize the policy-making and negotiating functions for international trade in
the Office of the U.S. Trade Representative. The plan states that “USTR shall have
primary responsibility, with the advice of the Trade Policy Committee for develop-
ing, and for coordinating the implementation of, U.S. international trade policy.”
The plan goes on to state that “USTR shall be the chief representative of the
United States for all activities of, or under the auspices of, the General Agreement
on Tariffs and Trade.” The plan also authorizes USTR to issue policy guidance to
departments and agencies on a broad range of trade matters. My presentation to
you this morning will focus on the overall international aspects of MTN implemen-
tation: Our efforts to encourage participation in the agreements and monitor their
implementation and operation, the activities of the code committees, preparations
for review of the codes, and the state of negotiations on left-over items of business
from the MTN. My colleague from the department of Commerce will focus on the
various programs undertaken to ensure that U.S. businesses have the opportunity to
take fuﬁ) advantage of the new export markets made possible by the MTN agree-
ments.

In order to better explain where we stand internationally with regard to the
implementation of the MTN agreements, I would like to review briefly what we are
trying to achieve in the implementation of the MTN agreements.

Although we reduced industrial tariffs around the world by some 33 percent and
made significant progress in liberalizing agricultural trade in the MTN, the real
keystone of the MTN is the set of non-tariff measure codes which revise and expand
GX'I‘T rules. In all, seven codes were negotiated: government procurement, customs
valuation, technical barriers to trade (known as the standards code), import licens-
ing procedures, civil aircraft, subsidies/countervailing measures, and antidumping.
These codes, along with the two agricultural arrangements on meat and dairy and
the framework understandings, set forth a much-needed, modernized set of rules for
the world trading system that will govern world trade for at least the next decade.
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Implementation of the MTN agreements is a more challenging task than was
implementation of previous multilateral agreements that focuses largely on the
reduction of tariffs. The implementation of agreed tariff cuts on the basis of agreed
schedules is largely an automatic process; the implementation of the non-tariff codes
requires new and innovative approaches. Procedures have had to be established for
carrying out national obligations under the codes, for managing the work of the
code committees, for considering new issues arising under the codes and for settling
disputes. The code provisions, which often are formulated in terms of general
principles, have to be interpreted and applied to specific cases. In practice, this
means making the agreements function as they were intended to function in our
interpretation of the text. .

In order to “make the MTN agreements work”, we have done several things.
First, we have encouraged broad-based international participation in the agree-
ments. We have had considerable success in this regard. All of our major industrial-
ized trading partners and some of our major developing country trading partners
have signed some or all of the agreements. We are striving for and expect additional
developing country signatures over the coming months, for example, the Philip-
pines’ acceptance of the government procurement code. It is our objective to obtain
the signatures of as many countries as possible so that the agreements will be
applicable on a world-wide basis and that the structure of the trading system
remains as unified as possible.

Second, we have en care to ensure that all laws, regulations, and administra-
tive actions necessary to implement the agreements domestically have been adopted
by signatories. We have examined these measures on a code-by-code, country-by-
country basis, and made appropriate representations when we believed that interna-
tional obligations were not met.

Third, we have been striving to ensure the effective administration of the agree-
ments at the international level by doing all that is necessary to facilitate the work
of the various committees established to administer the agreements.

Each of the code committees is active and meets on a regular basis. We are
currently in the midst of the annual, and in some cases biennial review of the
agreements. The code committees are engaged in reviewing the implementation and
operation of the agreements by:

(a) Examining the national implementation material which has been submitted to
the committees;

(b) Reviewing the practical elements of implementation; and

(c) Discussing any trade problems that may have arisen.

The reviews of the codes have revealed that there have been only a few flagrant
violations, derogations or discrepancies in signatories’ obligations under the agree-
ments.

It is the U.S. position that the smooth and efficient functioning of the GATT
committee structure is essential if we and our trading partners are to have a solid
institutional framework within which to pursue our rights and settle disputes.
Moreover, it is within these committees that the foundations will be laid for further
negotiation on and improvement of the agreements in question. In the case of the
government procurement and standards codes, these reviews will aid in the prepara-
tions for the three year review of these agreements that will begin next year.

Finally, we have made a concerted attempt to move forward with the unfinished
business of the Tokyo Round: completing negotiation of the safeguards and the
counterfeit codes. One of the major shortcomings of the MTN results is that it does
not include a safeguards code encompassing the various actions taken by govern-
ments to protect domestic industry from damage due to import competition. During
the MTN, considerable work was undertaken but no agreement reached. The issue
remains a pressing need of the GATT, for without an understanding on commonly
accepted safeguards practices, we will likely see the gradual accumulation of ar-
rangements and practices that increasingly distort trade and undermine market-
determined international competition. Discussions on safeguards are continuing, but
we have not been successful in finding a basic consensus among our major trading
partners on how to proceed. It is interesting to note, however, that a safeguards
arrangement remains a priority objective of many of the developing countries. In
this regard our interests coincide.

Another item of unfinished business is completion of negotiations on a commer-
cial counterfeit code. During the MTN, the U.S. and EC reached agreement on a
text of a code which seeks to stem international trade in goods bearing bogus
trademarks. The counterfeiting of trademarked commercial merchandise is an inter-
national problem and a growing menace to legitimate trade which affects trade-
mark owners, manufacturers and consumers. We are now in the process of negotiat-
ing with our other major trading partners to expand participation in the code.
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Japan, Canada and Switzerland are the primary focus of our efforts at this time,
and prospects appear good for their eventual acceptance.

To summarize my general remarks before I turn to each code in detail, the U.S. is
actively engaged in implementing the MTN agreements. Our experience to date has
been good, but it has shown us that a continuous and vigorous effort is necessary to
advance our objectives and ensure that our trading partners respect their obliga-
tions.

THE AGREEMENT ON GOVERNMENT PROCUREMENT

The Agreement on Government Procurement entered into force on January 1 of
this year. Given the nature of this agreement and its potential commercial impor-
tance, we have directed our resources towards close monitoring of its operation.

Even before the code entered into force, we began monitoring the progress of
implementation among code signatories. Concurrently with these monitoring efforts,
we established mechanisms to assist U.S. firms in taking advantage of code opportu-
nities. My colleague from the Commerce Department will be Providing the Subcom-
mittee with a thorough briefing on this mechanism, so I won'’t linger on this point.
In short, however, I believe we have developed effective procedures to place informa-
tion on opportunities for foreign government business in the hands of interested
U.S. firms and to assist these firms in their efforts to sell their products.

Since January 1, we have continued and intensified our efforts to monitor the
code. Through the Committee on Government Procurement, which consists of repre-
sentatives from all code signatories, we have participated in a thorough examina-
tion of each signatories’ laws and ﬁractices. We also have been monitoring notices of
procurement opportunities and other foreign procurement documentation to ensure
that full code requirements are being met.

To date, we are reasonably satisfied with the operation of the code. Since the
beginning of the year, over 1000 notices of proposed purchases have been published
by our fellow code signatories. Of this total, over 450 notices were from the EC, over
350 notices were from Japan, and over 75 notices were from Canada. These notices
represent to a great degree, totally new export opportunities and, consequently, we
must await final awards before judging the success or failure of the agreement.

We have found that most of our fellow code signatories have adopted all necessary
changes in their procurement laws and practices. Likewise, we have been reason-
ably satisfied with the procurement documentation we have analyzed.

\%hile overall we are pleased with the operation of the code, there have been a
number of problems in code implementation. We have not been pleased with a
number of aspects of the EC and member state implementation of the code and are
using code procedures to deal with these problems. For example, we found that
almost 50 percent of the EC’s notices of bidding opportunities did not provide the
required 30 days for firms to respond. As a result of our intervention, I am pleased
to be able to report that this problem appears to be abating rapidly, with the latest
data showing that the 50 percent failure rate has dropped to under 20 percent. We
also have some difficulty with the EC’s method of calculating whether a contract
falls below the code’s threshold for coverage. Finally, we have been digsatisifed with
Italy’s overall implementation of the code and are pursuing redress through both
bilateral and code procedures.

I will not try to minimize the importance of particular problems we have encoun-
tered. We believe that any infraction of the code is a serious matter and have been
approaching each infraction as such. However, on the whole these problems are
limited and, we expect, temporary.

It is still too early to gauge the effect of the code on our trading interests. To a
large degree, the ball is now in the court of the private sector. We have won them
the opportunities and offer assistance in taking advantage of these opportunities—
but it is up to them to decide whether or not to go after these new markets.

As you know, we have placed a good deal of effort into negotiating and imple-
menting our agreement with Japan regarding Nippon Telephone and Telegraph
(NTT). The agreement has opened NTT’s $3.3 billion market to U.S. producers for
the first time. Thus far, we have been impressed with NTT's efforts toward imple-
mentation of the agreement. They have done all that is required of them under the
agreement and then some. They have revised their procurement practices, published
technical specifications in English and held a number of useful sales seminars for
U.S. businessmen on how to sell to NTT. Going beyond the agreement’s require-
ments, NTT has prepared extensive English translations of documents at consider-
able expense. To date, we have sold only a little over $2 million in equipment to
NTT and these sales were for relatively low technology products. However, due to
NTT's budget cycle, they have not yet purchased large amounts or any high technol-
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ogy equipment to date, but the bidding process has now begun and a number of U.S.
firms are participating. We will be monitoring these purchases closely, as they are
key to the success of the agreement.

AGREEMENT ON CUSTOMS VALUATION PROCEDURES

While the Agreement on Customs Valuation did not enter into force until Janu-
ary 1, 1981, the United States and EC have been applying it since July 1, 1980.
Twenty-seven countries have accepted the code to date. Our experience with the
implementation of the agreement has been quite good. Domestically, we have found
a dramatic decrease in the number of disputed valuation decisions. Internationally,
exporters are no longer subject to arbitary uplifts in dutiable value in signatory
countries. Overall, the implementation of the agreement has gone as smoothly as we
could have hoped.

AGREEMENT ON TECHNICAL BARRIERS TO TRADE

The Agreement on Technical Barriers to Trade, otherwise known as the standards
code, has been iplemented internationally with relatively few problems. To date, 32
countries have accepted the agreement or apply it provisionally. We are pleased, in
particular, by the fact that a number of newly industrialized developing countries
have accepted this code—among them are Brazil, Chile, Korea, Pakistan, the Philip-
pines, Singapore, Tunisia and Hong Kong.

Initially, several countries experienced delays in their internal implementation
work, especially with regard to the establishment of national inquiry points and
mechansims to make the notifications required by the code. As a result, the United
States urged these countries to accelerate their domestic implementation activities
and these problems were resolved.

A key element in the monitoring of the standards code has been the review of
information provided by the signatories. The code requires notifications of any
changes in standards. 120 notifications were received in 1980, thus far in 1981, we
have received over 250. These figures are a good indication of the extent to which
the agreement has ‘“taken hold” and is being applied internationally. We are
making the information contained in the notifications available to the private sector
through Executive Branch departments, most notably the National Bureau of
Standards of the Department of Commerce.

The Committee on Technical Barriers to Trade concluded its second annual
review of the implementation and operation of the agreement last week. At that
meeting the Committee discussed specific standards-related issues, including the
accession of non-GATT member countries to the code, the applicability of the code’s
dispute settement provisions to process and production methods, and activities of
regional standardizing and certifying bodies.

AGREEMENT ON IMPORT LICENSING PROCEDURES

There are 32 signatories to the licensing code and, like the standards code,
signatories include a number of developing countries. As the Subcommittee is
aware, the purpose of the licensing code is to harmonize, simplify and bring greater
international transparency to the procedures that importers must follow in obtain-
ing an import license so that the licenses themselves do not constitute a non-tariff
barrier to trade.

In an effort to enhance the transparency of the code, the code committee adopted
procedures that require all signatories to notify all aspects of their licensing sys-
tems. This material will form the basis of the biennial review of the implementation
and operation of the agreement, scheduled for the second week of November. Thus
far in our analysis of the implementation, there appear to be no major difficulties.

AGREEMENT ON TRADE IN CIVIL AIRCRAFT

The Agreement on Trade in Civil Aircraft establishes a multilateral -framework
for a more free and fair interantional trading environment for civil aircraft prod-
ucts. The only industrial sectoral agreement in the Tokyo Round, its fundamental
objective is tKe creation of international rules which assure that competition be-
tween manufacturers worldwide would be on the basis of product excellence, price
and delivery without trade-distorting influence of government intervention. Sixteen
countries have accepted the agreement.

The code covers tariff and non-tariff barriers to trade in civil aircraft. Customs
duties and similar charges levied on, or in connection with, the importation of civil
aircraft, engines and flight simulators are eliminated. Duty-free treatment is accord-
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ed to parts, components or subassemblies for use in civil aircraft. Duties on foreign
repairs of aircraft are also eliminated. The code also deals with government inter-
vention in decisions to purchase civil aircraft.

The United States has followed carefully each signatories’ implementation of this
agreement and has been an active participant in the Committee on Trade in Civil
Aircraft. To facilitate the Committee’s review of trade under the agreement, the
signatories agreed to provide statistical reporting of trade data on relevant products.

SUBSIDIES/COUNTERVAILING MEASURES AND ANTIDUMPING AGREEMENTS

Our activities in the subsidies and antidumping codes this past year have focused
on interpreting the code procedures and using these rules to further U.S. trading
interests.

This year, Chile, India, Australia and New Zealand acceded to the subsidies code
and Pakistan, Poland and Spain joined the antidumping code. We recently have had
indications from several other developing countries concerning possible code accept-
ance. We continue to encourage our trading partners to join the codes and under-
take disciplines on their subsidy and antidumping practices. It is the policy of the
United States to require developing countries to submit commitments to reduce or
eliminate export subsidies in addition to signing the subidies code, before they can
be considered a “country under the agreement” under our law.

We have begun to use the subsidies code dispute settlement mechanism to seek
redress against unfair and trade-distorting subsidy practices abroad. This fall, we
requested consultations—the first step in the process—in our case against the EC
Common Agricultural Policy export subsidies on sugar and wheat flour. There may
well be more cases to come.

Part of the work of the two codes is refining the procedures on subsidies and
dumping. For example, the Group of Experts in the subsidies code is working on
rules for the calculation of a subsidy. In the antidumping code, an understanding is
now under consideration that would forestall the adoption of basic price systems
abroad that would hurt some of our most competitive exports.

Monitoring import policy abroad is becoming an increasingly important part of
our work, as economic pressures abroad bring more countervailing and antidumping
cases. For example, USTR will continue to take an active role in assisting our
exporting industries hit by EC antidumping cases. Where there have been problems
with EC enforcement in particular cases, we have raised them with the EC both
bilaterally and under the antidumping code committee. With regard to Canada, we
have matained a dialogue—bilaterally and under the code—on Canada’s proposed
import legislation.

1 hope this briefly summarizes where we stand in the international implementa-
tion of the MTN. Deputy Assistant Secretary of Commerce Ann Hughes will now
describe the activities of her department in the MTN implementation process.

Chairman Gisons. Thank you, Mr. Newkirk. I think you are
engaged in the most far-reaching of all the things that we need to
do in international trade.

I applaud what you have outlined there. It is something this
committee, of course, is going to follow very vigorously. I feel very
strongly unless we can set a strong pace, the rest of the world will
not be interested in living up to these standards.

I think it is very important that we do it.

Chairman GiBBoNs. How many of the other members of the
panel have statements they want to make before we begin ques-
tioning?

Mr. Waldmann, would you like to make yours?

STATEMENT OF RAYMOND J. WALDMANN, ASSISTANT SECRE-
TARY FOR INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC POLICY, DEPART-
MENT OF COMMERCE

Mr. WALDMANN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. ] )

I appreciate the opportunity to meet with your committee again
to discuss today the question of implementation of our trade agree-
ments.
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Under the reorganization plan which Mr. Newkirk mentioned,
the Department of Commerce was given the responsibility for cer-
tain activities relating to trade agreements and the operational
implementation of those agreements, and we have prepared a de-
tailed statement of our activities which I would like to submit for
the record, and with your permission I would just like to highlight
a few of the points.

Ch?iirman GiBBoNs. We will put your entire statement into the
record.

Mr. WaALDMANN. Thank you.

The three general areas concerning MTN implementation that I
would like to touch on are accomplishments to date, the problems
we see, and the goals that we have set for ourselves.

A significant accomplishment has been the realization by other
signatories of these MTN agreements that we, that is, the U.S.
Government, intends to monitor very closely the letter and the
spirit of their implementation and administration of these agree-
ments.

As Mr. Newkirk said, these agreements are not self-executing in
the same sense as other trade agreements, and therefore they do
require this kind of continuous surveillance and monitoring.

We have established channels to provide an effective monitoring
program which include communication to our U.S. commercial
posts overseas, international meetings and exchanges such as the
committee meetings Mr. Newkirk referred to, bilateral consulta-
tions conducted by agencies at this table and others, and com-
plaints and information which we receive from the private sector
to let us know about the problems they have in taking advantage
of these opportunities.

We believe that our monitoring efforts are paying off. They have
provided us with the capability of enforcing our rights under these
agreements, and we have used both the formal dispute settlement
procedures and mechanisms, and in some cases we have gone fur-
{;)he; and had resolution of problems on a bilateral and multilateral

asis.

Our experience has shown that the informal approaches often
prove more successful, and in fact it is through the bilateral discus-
sions that many of our trade problems encountered to date have
been resolved.

Mr. Newkirk touched on many of those.

For example, one case, discrimination in Japan against U.S.
manufacturers of metal baseball bats, was handled by a demarche
to the Japanese under the standards code, and the Japanese ap-
plied pressure to the recalcitrant private certifying body, and they
are now taking steps to revise and open up their system.

Another accomplishment was the negotiation of the NTT agree-
ment, which gives new access to the Japanese telecommunications
market for U.S. firms.

The Japanese sponsored two seminars in the United States this
year to orient U.S. firms to their market. The Department of
Commerce organized a trade mission to Tokyo, which was led by
Under Secretary Olmer this year in which over 45 U.S. firms
participated with the objective of familiarizing our firms with the
NTT procedures and opportunities.
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The United States-Japan joint statement on standards, testing,
and certification activities is another example of a useful vehicle

for discussion of these bilateral product specific problems.

- We have also established mechanisms to insure that the informa-
tion which we receive from foreign governments is available to our
private sector so that they can fully utilize their rights under these
agreements.

The programs that we have established here are described in
more detail in my statement, but I would like to just highlight a
few of these activities.

Under the standards code, we have established a Standards In-
formation Center which handles all requests for United States and
foreign technical regulations and standards.

It is generally recognized that this Standards Information Center
is the most efficient and well organized center established by any
signatory under the code.

We are using personalized publications, articles, speeches, and
other communications means to get the word out to the private
sector.

The Commerce Business Daily is publishing proposed foreign
technical regulations, and more importantly, it is publishing ab-
stracts of foreign government procurement opportunities. Several
private trade publications are also picking up these notices beyond
the official Government publications.

We make U.S. business aware of foreign procurement tenders in
time for them to bid. We are disseminating the notices through the
trade opportunities program, a specialized program of the Depart-
ment of Commerce which targets particular firms with these inter-
ests.

And since January of this year we have published close to 1,000
notices of proposed Government purchases.

Although it is too early to document fully the results, we are
seeing what I think to be a significant trend, that is more U.S.
firms are becoming qualified bidders under the procurement codes.
In fact, to give you an example, 22 American firms have become
qualified suppliers to NTT, and 6 U.S. firms have won NTT con-
tracts.

Over 400 American firms have already succeeded in becoming
prequalified suppliers to other Japanese ministries, and have so far
won 22 contracts.

We believe that our industry advisory program established
during the MTN and continued under the 1979 Trade Agreements
Act provides another valuable resource for MTN implementation.

The committees which were established under that program
have about 500 members, and they are an effective forum for
seeking advice both on our initiatives and identifying for us prob-
lems and needs as they see them in the U.S. business community.

Some of the problems we have identified so far I would just like
to touch on.

As a result of our monitoring efforts we are aware of the slow-
ness with which some of the signatory governments are implement-
ing these agreements. And we have also seen haphazard implemen-
tation efforts by others of the obligations that they have assumed.
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We are serious about enforcing these code obligations, and as Mr.
Newkirk mentioned we have been pressing particular governments
to fully implement the procurement codes.

U.S. business must receive information on a timely and usable
basis from overseas if they are to take advantage of these opportu-
nities. Yet, we find ourselves facing translation problems, too short
a turnaround time, insufficient personnel devoted to this, both by
the Government and by the private sector, and probably many
other problems which we can discuss.

We want to do a better job of reaching the U.S. business commu-
nity. We want to let them know of the potential benefits that they
can obtain if they make use of these codes. And we are particularly
concerned about the small- and medium-sized firms which in many
ways, if properly informed, offer the greatest new export potential.

Part of the problem seems to be generally that it is companies
already familiar with the MTN and with government procurement
which have so far expressed an interest in our various programs.
We need to broaden that base of interest.

Lastly, we are concerned that American firms are not indepen-
dently moving more aggressively to take advantage of these oppor-
tunities. We are ready and able to assist them. But a large part of
the burden rests with the American business community to go out
and trv to make the sales.

In conclusion, let me just say that we are committed to making
the MTN agreements work for American industry, and our goals
are ambitious. We want to insure that, first, all countries are
notifying their procurement opportunities.

Second, that all proposed mandatory regulations are notified and
U.S. comments are taken into account.

Third, that our companies bids are given nondiscriminatory con-
sideration.

Fourth, that U.S. exporters no longer face discriminatory cus-
toms valuation and licensing procedures.

Fifth, that U.S. products can compete effectively in the world
market without an unfair advantage of government subsidization
or unfair pricing of foreign products.

And, finally, that our aircraft sector is able to compete fairly
with its foreign competitors.

I think in the future we will be less reluctant to invoke the
dispute settlement procedures, particularly as the agreements have
been in effect for a growing length of time, and the excuses of
startup problems will no longer hold water.

We want to continue to improve our information systems, and we
have to get more readily usable information to the private sector
more quickly.

For example, we are undertaking seminars, both here and
abroad, for U.S. companies on the Government procurement code
as a first step in this area, and we are considering other outreach
programs on the MTN codes.

Finally, of course, we must recognize this is still the beginning of
the program. As our experience with the MTN agreements ma-
tures, we will continue to develop new methods and avenues to
widen U.S. participation in the trade opportunities which these
agreements offer to the U.S. business community.
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Thank you.
[The prepared statement follows:]

STATEMENT OF RAYMOND J. WALDMANN, ASSISTANT SECRETARY FOR
INTERNATIONAL Economy PoLicy

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee, I appreciate the opportunity to
appear before you today to discuss implementation of the MTN agreements.

Implementing the Toyko Round of MTN agreements is a major responsibility of
the Department of Commerce. In carrying out this responsibility, we work closely
with other agencies represented on the panel. Responsible for operational imple-
mentation of non-agricultural trade agreements, Commerce’s MTN activities are
widely varied to encompass the range of agreements which came out of the MTN.
The agreements for which Commerce administers programs or shares responsibility
include the bilateral and multilateral tariff agreements, the nontariff measure codes
(government procurement, product standards, import licensing, subsidies and coun-
tervailing measures, antidumping duties, and customs valuation) and the Agree-
ment on Trade in Civil Aircraft. Following is a summary of our activities and our
overall approach to implementing the MTN.

SURVEILLANCE OF FOREIGN ACTIVITIES

Surveillance of other countries’ activities in the trade sphere is the first and
critical step in ensuring that U.S. rights are protected under the MTN agreements.
We have given this strong emphasis and are devoting much of our efforts to an
active monitoring program. Commerce’s program includes a number of activities:

We have drawn up detailed reporting requirements for U.S. posts overseas. These
reporting requirements are tailored to each of the nontariff codes and the Aircraft
Agreement, and appropriate versions have been issued to U.S. embassies in both
signatory and non-signatory countries. Reporting on foreign trade activities is car-
ried out by both Foreign Commercial Service and Foreign Service economic officers.
The result is regular reporting to Washington on other countries’ activities related
to the MTN agreements. Alert reporting is filed as problems arise or complaints
come to a post’s attention. Reporting includes anything from rumors of difficulties
with the certification procedures of a particular standards body to copies of new
foreign regulations for government procurement announcements.

Training is provided to FCS or Foreign Service officers on the MTN agreements
and problems to watch for, through periodic conferences (such as the USTR-orga-
nized MTN conferences in Geneva and Kuala Lumpur in 1980, or the periodic FCS
commercial officers conferences) and briefings of commercial or economic officers at
Commerce prior to taking up their overseas duties.

The Industry Sector Advisory Committees (ISACs) and associated Industry Func-
tional Advisory Committees (IFACs) enable Commerce and other agencies to gain
access to private sector knowledge of foreign government activities, and to share
U.S. Government information on foreign implementation. As an example, the IFAC
on Customs Matters frequently has good information on foreign implementation of
the valuation agreement because of the members’ ties with importers or customs
brokers in other countries.

Private sector complaints, received through ISACs, IFACs, under Section 301,
informally or directly from individual firms, are acted upon and investigated by
Washington and overseas staffs. An example was an apparent case of discrimina-
tion, actionable under the Standards Code, against a U.S. small business trying to
sell in West Germany. German standards officials were refusing to approve the
firm’s product (a machine for producing chocolate nut clusters) for sale in Germany;
the only competitor was a German producer. Our combined efforts, with the active
cooperation of the U.S. firm and its German agent, clarified the problem and
established that there was no discrimination on Germany’s part. The U.S. producer
was able to make a slight change in his product and is now selling in Germany.

We participate in the international committees established under the MTN agree-
ments that provide opportunities to question directly other governments on their
activities. We also use bilateral consultations, such as those held with Canada
earlier this month, and code procedures to gain more information. Certain required
information is received from other signatories, usually through the Secretariat of
the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT), including notifications of
official actions such as announcements of proposed mandatory standards, and aggre-
gate data on trade performance.

Information on foreign performance, whatever the source, is reviewed by Com-
merce staff for consistency with the MTN agreements or the GATT itself. Much of
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this must be done by hand. To the extent possible, we are automating the informa-
tion received through monitoring in Commerce’s Trade Policy Information System
(TPIS), for which a development contract has been let. In the meantime, the trade
policy agencies are using a fledgling system built from the data processing capabili-
ties of USTR, Commerce and other agencies. The TPIS is designed to include large
amounts of trade flow and tariff data (including changes wrought by the MTN), as
well as a comprehensive nontariff measure data base now under development. Qur
intention is to make any unclassified data available to the public once the TPIS is
operational. We are exploring options for the best ways in which to do this.

Similar in concept to the TPIS but not as comprehensive, a Subsidy Information
Library is being developed in conformance with the Trade Agreements Act of 1979.
The Library exists in rudimentary form; further development is under contract.

ENFORCEMENT OF U.S. RIGHTS

Enforcement is a corollary to our surveillance activities. Following investigation
of a trade complaint and development of a viable case, and after consultation with
involved U.S. parties, Commerce will recommend action to enforce U.S. rights and
preseve U.S. benefits whenever warranted by the facts of the case. While we still
have only limited experience with enforcing the MTN agreements, we have tried to
do so aggressively and thoroughly.

The combination of this aggressive approach and the availability of the dispute
settlement procedures of the codes and the GATT, have, we believe, led to successful
resolution of a number of trade problems at an early, informal, bilateral stage. In a
sense, the emergence of a trade problem into the glare of a formal dispute proceed-
ing represents a failure. We feel that the mere presence of the MTN agreements
may be leading countries to resolve trade problems at an early stage, with less
resort to brinksmanship. It seems clear that this has enabled us to resolve certain
problems, at an earlier stage than would otherwise have been possible. In a recent
case of discrimination in Japan against U.S.-produced metal baseball bats, our
demarche to Japan has resulted in steps to ensure the openness of its certifying
system.

yCommerce is active in the interagency process on dispute settlement or enforce-
ment actions and, depending on the case, Commerce personnel participate activel
in bilateral or international efforts to resolve the matter. Once a case is resolvegz
Commerce along with other agencies monitors the other country’s actions to provide
early warning of any recurrence of a problem.

TAKING ADVANTAGE

Taking advantage of the MTN agreements presupposes that the U.S. private
sector is aware of the agreements and their benefits. A massive public awareness
campaign was indicated. We feel that we have partially accomplished this task, but
much remains to be done in this area. We are going through a review within
Commerce on how we can do more to help our private sector—especially in the area
of Government Procurement.

Commerce has published eleven pamphlets describing the MTN agreements and
discussing actions to take when encountering trade difficulties caused by a foreign
government.

Extensive booklets on the agreements have been published or are awaiting publi-
cation. “Cookbooks” on subsidies and countervailing measures, government procure-
ment, standards, and trade in civil aircraft are now available. Booklets on the
remaining nontariff measure codes are written and should be printed soon.

Articles on the MTN agreements and Commerce’s programs appear frequently in
our house magazine, Business America. A recent example is an article on selling to
Nippon Telegraph and Telephone in the August 24, 1981 issue.

As resources and time allow, Commerce and other agencies’ personnel make
speeches on the MTN agreements and participate in conferences and seminars with
likely target audiences. We are also staging special MTN Seminar events around
the country. During the last year, MTN speeches have been made or seminars
conducted in New York, Baltimore, Boston, Los Angeles, Milwaukee, Honolulu,
Newark, Cleveland, Miami and elsewhere. During the coming month, we have
events planned in Seattle, Portland and Atlantic City.

Under Secretary Olmer led an official U.S. Trade Mission to Tokyo to participate
in a special seminar on how to sell to Nippon Telegraph and Telephone (NTT). So
far this year, the opening of NT'T's procurements has contributed to three contracts
for U.S. exporters and one for a U.S. firm manufacturing in Japan; we expect more
to be forthcoming and are watching NTT's actions closely. Commerce and USTR
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also encouraged participation by U.S. telecommunications equipment suppliers in
the NTT-sponsored seminars on selling to the private Japanese interconnect
market, which were held in Washington and Los Angeles last spring. At least one
firm, a maker of light-weight telephone headsets, feels that negotiation of the
interconnect agreement with NTT was instrumental in gaining access to the lucra-
tive Japanese interconnect market.

Enabling firms to take advantage of the MTN agreements requires more than just
general awareness.

As we have described to the Committee staff during informal sessions, commerce
has strengthened its Trade Opportunities Program (TOP) to cope with the increas-
ing number of foreign government procurement opportunities resulting from the
MTN. We are attempting to increase the number of subscribers to the TOP pro-
gram, while maintaining or improving the speed and quality of the service. To cut
down on the distribution time, we are beginning to work with the American Cham-
bers of Commerce overseas to disseminate foreign government tenders to U.S.
subsidiaries and agents/importers of American products.

To date over 1,000 notices of proposed government purchases have been published;
over 450 from the European Community, 350 from Japan, and 75 from Canada.
Although it is too early to know how many contracts U.S. firms have won, we do
have indications that they are actively investigating the opportunities created by
the Code. Major corporations have told us that they have identified important sales
opportunities. We have heard from the Swedes that American firms have made
numerous inquiries regarding Swedish procurement practices, although no U.S. bids
have been submitted. Our Embassy in Tokyo has had many inquiries and bid
submissions returned to it by the Government of Japan because they were improp-
erly prepared or U.S. firms were unaware of the need to submit information in
Japanese. We have received reports of similar experiences from our posts in Europe.

Commerce’s trade promotion personnel have been briefed on the MTN agree-
ments and, daily, whether in Washington, in the District Offices or in our Embas-
sies overseas, are counselling U.S. exporters on taking advantage of the agreements.

From scratch, Commerce has developed a program for disseminating the notices
being received of proposed mandatory standards in other countries. We are gaining
wide distribution of these notices, which enable interested U.S. parties to comment
on a foreign standard before it goes into effect, but we are not satisfied that we have
done enough. The National Bureau of Standards is trying to automate the dissemi-
nation program in order to speed the process and reach a greater audience. NBS
also houses the Standards Information Center and the Technical Office required by
Title IV of the Trade Agreements Act of 1979 and the Standards Code.

Extensive use is made of the Commerce Business Daily and Business America to
publicize actual procurement opportunities and proposed standards, as well as other
MTN activities as they occur. We also encourage trade associations and other
organizations to publicize MTN opportunities in their newsletters or magazines.

PROBLEMS

MTN implementation will never go as smoothly as we would like and we will
always be confronted with the problems of one sort or another. I am speaking not
gnly of troubles with other countries, but of the less obvious difficulties here at

ome.

The availability of resources for implementation will always be a problem, but
one we must learn to work with. More disturbing to us is the lack of awareness by
our own private sector to the opportunities raised by the MTN agreements. Perhaps
this is because the agreements are still a novelty and private industry has not yet
learned to deal with them or to come to us when they experience a problem with a
foreign government. We must have the help of the private sector if the United
States is to enforce or take advantage of these agreements. We must have a sharing
of information between government and industry on the trade activities of other
countries, so that we all have a complete picture of the trading environment and
the tasks that need to be done. Perhaps most importantly, I sense a need for more
aggressive marketing in the areas opened up by the MTN agreements.

We are constantly seeking to improve our MTN implementation programs, but we
still have a long way to go and a great deal left to do for the United States. Close
cooperation among U.S. government agencies is an essential element in our ap-
proach. It is impossible to do this without the willing help and participation of the
private sector and the Congress. We worked extremely will together in concluding
the Tokyo Round. We must continue that working relationship to get the most out
of what was negotiated.
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Chairman Gissons. Thank you.

You know, I get the impression as I listen to you gentlemen
sometimes the world must suffer and we must suffer from head-
lineitis. What you say is that things are going along pretty well.
But if we watch the news in the evening or read the newspapers,
we seem to think everything is going to hell.

I guess really the proper view is that neither one of them is
correct, and that we are somewhere in between. But I want to
applaud what has been done here.

As ] said, I think the codes are a fine step forward. From what
little I know about it, I think you have all done an effective job in
implementing them.

Mr. Newkirk, how many people do you have working with you
on this project?

Mr. NEwkirk. Well, we have——

Chairman Giseons. In the USTR office.

Mr. NEwkirk. We have 115 people in USTR.

Chairman Gisons. But they are not all doing that.

Mr. NEwkirk. Well, in my particular office we have eight people.

Chairman Giseons. Eight people.

Mr. NEwkIRk. Eight people. But we rely very heavily on the
support of the Commerce Department to carry out our require-
ments.

Chairman Giseons. How do the other people around the table fit
into this?

Mr. NEwkIRk. Well, everything we do in the implementation
process is done through the interagency mechanism. We have sub-
committees of the Trade Policy Staff Committee that deal with
each of the agreements and monitor the implementation process.

The way it works in practice is that we have meetings in USTR
where every agency is represented, to discuss how the implementa-
tion process is going on and try to identify the problems and deal
with them.

Chairman GieBoNs. Dr. Mayer, is this much of a problem over in
your department? What are you all doing?

STATEMENT OF DR. LEO MAYER, ASSOCIATE ADMINISTRATOR,
FOREIGN AGRICULTURAL SERVICE, DEPARTMENT OF AGRI-
CULTURE

Mr. Mayer. Well, we have some 46 people who worry specifically
about trade policy problems in the Foreign Agricultural Service.
We work very closely with STR on this. We participate in the
interagency process. We have people who follow all the different
commodities, all the complaints that are filed, and we work with
STR in providing them with technical information.

So we are very closely involved.

Chairman GiBeonNs. Mr. Waldmann, I guess most of the imple-
mentation falls on your agency. You said you didn’t have enough
personnel. Can you tell me how many you have got, and how you
operate? I am going to get into something about how the Govern-
ment procurement code works. But tell me something about the
personnel you have involved first.

Mr. WaLpManN. I would be glad to, Mr. Chairman.
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As you know, the Commerce Department has a lot of different
functions under these various codes. I would just like to summarize
the activities and then the people that we have working on each
aspect.

In the International Trade Administration, we have basically two
parts of the department, two agencies—the trade policy questions,
that is the questions that I was talking about that relate most
closely to the monitoring and surveillance and implementation of
the codes which are handled by our Office of Trade Agreements.

The Department’s Deputy Assistant Secretary for Trade Agree-
ments, Ms. Hughes, is sitting at my left. In that office we have 12
people who are involved in the implementation of these various
codes, and working with the private sector to get the advice that
we need on the problems that people see.

Our trade development operation within Commerce has basically
two different functions. First of all, communicating the major op-
portunities to the private sector. This is the trade opportunities
program.

And there are eight people who are involved in the trade oppor-
tunities program communicating the opportunities under the codes.

In addition, in the Office of Country Marketing, we have country
specialists. Approximately 40 people are in this office—in the
Office of Country Marketing, dealing with those countries which
are signatories of the various codes and are totally informed about
not just the rights under those codes, but the current opportunities.

Outside of ITA, within the National Bureau of Standards, the
National Center for Standards and Certification Information
[NCSCI] has eight staff members: Seven concerned with collecting,
maintaining and disseminating general standards and certification
information and one responsible for notifiying the GATT secretar-
iat of proposed U.S. regulations that may significantly affect trade,
maintaining information on foreign notifications and proposed reg-
ulations, and responding to inquiries on notifications.

We, of course, use the Foreign Commercial Service, which we
talked about yesterday, for the purpose of monitoring foreign im-
plementation of these codes. Obviously, this is concentrated in
Japan and in Brussels where the community activities are most
important.

But other signatory countries, where we do have foreign commer-
cial service posts, are involved in the process as well.

I don’t know how many people that adds up to, but we are
talking about substantial numbers of people in the Department of
Commerce.

Chairman GiBBoNns. Let me ask you about how long it takes one
of these notices under the Government procurement code, and how
does the process actually work?

Suppose a foreign country was going to buy something. Tell me
exactly what happens.

Mr. WaLDMANN. Well, the Government Procurement Code pro-
vides for and requires 30 days between the time of the announce-
ment of the bid and the closing of the bid. It could provide a longer
time. But you must have at least 30 days.

When we receive the notice at a foreign post that there is a
Government procurement, that notice is immediately transmitted



160

by cable from the U.S. Embassy to two places—to the Department
of Commerce in Washington, and also to the Commerce Business
Daily Publication Office in Chicago. It is published in the Com-
merce Business Daily as soon as possible.

When the notice 1s received in Washington it is communicated
directly by the TOP program, that is a part of trade development
in ITA, to those companies or associations which would be most
likely to be in a position to respond to that opportunity.

The time that it took initially when we first started this was on
the order of 12 to 13 days. It is now down to 8 to 10 days—between
the time that we receive the notice, or that it is published in a
foreign capital, and the time that an American businessman has it
on his desk.

Chairman GieeoNs. What burden is there upon the foreign coun-
try to get that into your hands?

Mr. WaLpMANN. Well, in most of these cases we have to track it
down ourselves. There are official publications which are specified
in the Government Procurement Code, which the foreign govern-
ments must use for publishing these opportunities.

Cha'i)rman GieBONS. The time starts from the time of their publi-
cation?

Mr. WaLDMANN. I believe that is correct. But Mr. Newkirk, I
think, could fill in some of those requirements.

Chairman GiBeoNs. Unless they publish, then, you have a right
to go back and protest. If you protest it, what action can be taken?

Mr. NEwkirk. That is right. What we did in the Government
Procurement Code was to start with the principle of free access to
the Government procurement market. But in order to insure that
that obligation is fulfilled, we set out very detailed rules in the
l(;‘rmlrernment Procurement Code on how particular contracts would

e let.

The publication requirement is the first step in the process. But
after that first step of publication, we have a whole series of
obligations that countries undertake when they sign the code in
terms of the process of letting a Government procurement contract.
That involves not only publishing the request for tender, but invi-
tation for tender too. It also includes providing information, provid-
ing full bid specifications, and answering any questions that the
potential bidders might have.

It is a whole series of procedural obligations that countries have
to follow. If they don’t follow those procedural obligations they are
in violation of the code, and we can take them to dispute settle-
ment.

Chairman Giseons. You say it takes you about 12 days from the
time you receive notice?

Mr. WAaLDMANN. That was the time it took earlier this year. We
have made some improvements in the program. It is now down to 8
to 10 days.

Chairman GiBBoNs. I assume any business entity could get on
your list, your TOP list or your other list, just by making applica-
tion to be notified?

Mr. WaLDMANN. Well, there are three different communication
means that the TOP program uses. There is a TOP bulletin, which
is a weekly bulletin that goes out to about 3,000 firms. About 6,500
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firms get notices through the mail. We also provide information to
private data base services, so that if you are on a computerized
data base system—there are several systems like this that pick up
these opportunities, the State Department has one, Lockheed has
one, and there are several other private systems—they pick up
these opportunities as soon as they are received in Washington and
put them on their computer systems.

That is in addition to the publication in the Commerce Business
Daily, which anyone can subscribe to.

Chairman GiBBoNs. I am just thinking about a small- or medium-
sized businessman.

It would take him at least 10 days to 2 weeks to get the notice.
Then what does he do? How does he get the details?

Mr. WALDMANN. The cable that comes back from the overseas
post summarizes the procurement in sufficient detail, so that some-
one can tell whether or not he is interested. It is not merely a one-
line announcement. It does provide some of the details of the
procurement.

The documentation, the full documentation could, of course, be
quite voluminous. That is where I think we need to think about
how the small- and medium-sized company can best take advantage
of those kinds of opportunities.

It is quite clear that if he starts off with information which is in
a foreign language, which may be highly technical, which is pro-
vided by a foreign government in a foreign place, he has some real
problems in responding to that. There is no question.

Chairman GisBonNs. He has to get on a plane and go there?

Mr. WaLbmaNN. I would think so, but perhaps not. There may be
other ways to deal with these things that do not require the bidder

.to do that. He could use an agent. He could perhaps pool his
resources with other companies.

We might be able to use the export trading companies we were
talking about yesterday to respond to these kinds of things on
behalf of American companies. It is not necessarily required that
he get on an airplane, although I am sure that is the most effective
way.

Chairman GiBeoNS. Let’s assume he does get on an airplane and
goes there. What does he do when he gets to the foreign country?

Mr. WaLbMANN. Well, if he is used to dealing with Government
procurement he would have to respond to that procurement offer
as best he can.

Chairman GieeoNs. We are trying to expand our operation to
more American businesses. Let's assume he is not very familiar
with it, but he thinks he has a good product and a good price.
Where does he go when he gets off the plane?

Mr. WaLbpMaNN. Well, T hope one of the places he considers
going to is the embassy and the Foreign Commercial Service. They
are, of course, in the market. They do know something about the
Government procurement programs and policies.

They may know something about the foreign competition. They
may be able to help him prepare his bid.

Chairman GisBons. He is going to have to do a lot of things. He
is going to have to put up some kind of bond, I guess, or something
like that. He is going to have to get his bid translated into the
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language. He is going to need a lot of support services, it appears to
me.

Are our foreign commercial attachés in a position to do that—to
help him with that?

Mr. WALDMANN. I think at some point we have to decide whether
or not that is an appropriate role for a Government agency.

Chairman GiBBoNS. I am not criticizing. I am just trying to find
out.

Mr. WaLbMANN. 1 would presume in most cases the embassy
would not provide those kinds of services.

Chairman GiBBoNs. We don't do it. Do other countries do that?

Mr. WaLDMANN. I doubt it. But perhaps others here are more
familiar.

Chairman GiBBoNS. I see people nodding and shaking heads.
What do other countries do? .

Mr. NEwkIRk. Well, the level of Government support of commer-
cial activities abroad differs greatly from country to country. Some
countries, like the United Kingdom or Japan, have very active and
extensive trade promotion programs that actually assist individual
firms with the detailed assistance you just described.

Other countries provide less support. But it really comes down,
as Mr. Waldmann says, to the role that the Government plays in
commercial activity.

Chairman GiBeBoNs. Where do we fit in this picture?

Mr. Newkirk. We are about in the middle.

Mr. WALDMANN. Mr. Chairman, I think our promotion activities,
that is getting the word to the American business community, is
probably equal to any of the other competitors.

What I find is that the sort of on-site support in the foreign
country, which is, of course, the thing that we are working on most
intensively in the Foreign Commercial Service, and about which I
know you are going to hear more today—I think. that may be
where we do tend to be a little bit more in the middle of the
spectrum.

Chairman GieeoNs. Mr. Jones?

Mr. JoNEs. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Let me ask Mr. Newkirk to comment on NTT. You said that
since NTT opened its procurement they are now printing their bids
in English; is that correct?

Mr. NEwkirk. That is right.

Mr. Jongs. I have been following very closely, and one American
manufacturer said NTT is still printing in Japanese and giving
them only 30 days to respond to the bids. Do you have any indica-
tions of that?

Mr. NEwkIRk. Well, the requirement in the code is only 30 days.
The initial publication in Japan is in something called Kampo,
which is the equivalent of our Federal Register. They publish the
invitation to tender. That is in Japanese, but simultaneous to that
they officially issue an invitation to tender in English.

Mr. JoNES. You are finding that is consistently adhered to. No
complaints?

Mr. NEwkIRK. The NTT has been more diligent than the Japa-
nese Government.

Mr. JoNEs. Has there been anyone besides Motorola sold to NTT?
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Mr. NEWKIRK. Six firms have been sold to NTT. What we found
with NTT is that the management of NTT, particularly Mr. Shinto,
the president of NTT, has told their procurement officers, you got
to start doing business in a different way. You can’t pick up the
phone any more and call your brothers-in-law in Osaka and order
" telecommunications equipment. You have to follow these proce-
dures. And it is not easy for the top management to say that; but
when it gets down to the actual procurement officers, telling them
to alter the way they have done business is rather difficult. Their
procurement has been rather slow since the agreement came into
force because of that.

Mr. Jones. On Government procurement in Europe when the
MTN was approved here, we reached a compromise that was not
satisfactory from our perspective, but we were going to keep a close
eye on whether or not the Europeans are opening up their market
in heavy electrical equipment.

Mr. NEwWkIRk. We have submitted to Congress a report required
under section 302(c) that analyzes the situation, and the conclusion
that we came to is the European market is closed to American
competition; that as a result of that, European producers are able
to sell domestically at a price sufficiently high to allow them to sell
at a lower price in third country markets, and this is very detri-
mental to our electrical industry.

Mr. JoNes. We have a very competitive one. What should we do
about it?

Mr. NEwkirk. We will be submitting a report that recommends
the actions that the administration deems appropriate to deal with
the countercyclical situation we face. If we are closed out in Euro-
pean markets, we have to face subsidized competition in third
country markets while at the same time our private market is
relatively open to foreign competition, so we will be submitting
what actions we deem appropriate to rectify that situation.

Mr. Jones. When will that be submitted?

Mr. NEwkIrk. Within the next 10 days.

Mr. Jongs. You also mentioned the relatively minor trade imbal-
ance on baseball bats imported to Japan. That is a very clear
signal of a nontariff barrier. Did I understand you to say that
problem was being worked out?

Mr. NEwkIrk. The problem has been tricky because we are deal-
ing with a private sports association in Japan. It is not a Govern-
ment operation; the standards don’t apply. But we went to them
any way and said, it is ridiculous that this private sports organiza-
tion says we will not certify imported products when we want to
deal with Japanese firms, and the Government of Japan intervened
on our behalf with this private sports organization and asked them
to begin certifying imported products as well.

Within the last week, the private sports association agreed to
abandon their previous system of certification and start a new
system of certification that would be open to imported products as
well. It is a very complicated solution.

Mr. JonEs. Within the last week?

Mr. NEwkirk. That is correct.
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Mr. JonEgs. You are familiar with the TFC, I assume—the Trade
Facilitation Committee. They have not had a new case in 2 years
or s0. Is there a reason for that?

Mr. WALDMANN. This program is run by the Commerce Depart-
ment, and one of the reasons we were concerned about the TFC
was, in fact, precisely that problem. We did not see new cases
coming along. We did discuss the problem with our Japanese coun-
terparts and we agreed to raise the level of representation on the
TFC to the undersecretary level, and the vice minister level, so
that we would give this program a little bit more visibility.

We also went to the private sector, the business community, and
as a result we now have presented seven new cases to the Japanese
just within the last 5 or 6 days. We will be discussing those cases in
detail in Tokyo in early December.

Mr. Jones. Thank you. I hope you will keep us posted on that,
because this subcommittee and the Japanese task force is particu-
larly interested in that mechanism or something similar to it, of an
informal nature, for working out these tariff or non-tariff barriers.

I should probably hold this for Mr. Heginbotham, but I keep
hearing that the commercial corps is not working, that the State
Department keeps sniping away at it, that there is all kinds of
interdepartmental bickering, that it is not getting off the ground,
and that it is not selling or promoting U.S. products.

Mr. WALDMANN. I am certainly glad you are going to be holding
that question for him.

STATEMENT OF WILLIAM EDGAR, ACTING DEPUTY ASSISTANT
SECRETARY FOR TRADE AND COMMERCIAL AFFAIRS, DE-
PARTMENT OF STATE

Mr. EpGaAr. I would like to address that on behalf of the State
Department. It is not true that we are continually sniping at the
Foreign Commercial Service. We are trying to support them in
every way we can in the implementation of these MTN agree-
ments. We consider this very important. This is something that is
handled in our posts overseas by the Foreign Commercial Service
o}f;ﬁcers and by economic officers. The burden is shared between
them.

The commercial officers largely concentrate on the Government
procurement code. In terms of the other codes, it depends what
resources are available to meet the need. In the 75 posts where
there are no Foreign Commercial Service officers, it is our embassy
economic officers who are engaged in the process of code implemen-
tation.

This is something that we attach very high priority to in the
State Department, and very high priority to working closely with
the Foreign Commercial Service to make the codes work.

Mr. WALDMANN. I didn’t mean to be totally facetious. I do agree
with what Mr. Edgar said. I have observed the commercial services
overseas, both in the private sector and in government, for prob-
ably 15 years. We did see some transitional problems last year.
Those are now all behind us, and I am very impressed with the
kind of support we are getting from all the Embassy teams and the
State Department.
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It is very clear now that the embassies do put high priority on
the export promotion activity.

Mr. Jones. Do we have 757

Mr. WALDMANN. There are 165 U.S. nationals in the Foreign
Commercial Service. There are about 650 total in the Foreign
Commercial Service, the rest being local employees, plus we have a
support staff here in Washington which you will probably hear
more about today.

Mr. JoNEs. On the valuation system with regard to Canada, some
industry representatives have raised the concern that the conver-
sion to the new valuation systems would be compensated for by
raising tariff rates. This would leave U.S. exporters in a net posi-
tion worse than the status quo. Could you comment on that?

Mr. NEwkIRK. The current Canadian valuation system is blatant-
ly protective, and that is why one of our key objectives in the
negotiations was to get them to adhere to the new valuation code.
Throughout the negotiation they refused to participate because
they said they were not going to give up their valuation system. In
sort of the closing minutes of the negotiation, Ambassador Strauss
convinced the Canadians that they ought to adopt the new system.
Well, the Canadians were very reluctant to do so, in part because
they had refused to participate in the negotiations, and also in part
because they saw that they would have to give up a very useful
tool for import control.

In the end they agreed to adopt the system, but on a longer term
basis than the other major countries. The Canadians are currently
studying how they are going to eliminate their current system and
adopt a new system and this study comes in two parts. The first
part was a study by their independent Tariff Board on what sort of
implementing legislation that they would need, and that first part
is completed. They have come up with a study that said how they
intend to implement it, and they gave us the opportunity to com-
ment on their study. We did, and we were able to reach a mutually
satisfactory piece of paper on their implementation.

The second part is the more important study, and they are
looking at their current level of actual protection; that is, not just
in tariff rate but how much duty is paid on a particular item. They
have got a dozen college students locked up in a warehouse with
the actual invoices for a year of imports and they are figuring out
the actual rate of protection.

When they complete that process, they will be publishing a
second study which will be how much protection per line item
actually existed. Now, we are going to——

Mr. NEwWKIRK. We are very interested in this part two study. If it
turns out that they want to raise all of their tariffs a great deal, we
are obviously going to say that is not acceptable, We dealt with the
ASP conversion, for example, by raising tariff rates to the actual
level of protection, but that conversion was a subject for negotia-
tion.

Mr. Jones. Now you are not concerned that by changing tariff
rates they will overcompensate and become even more protective
than they are now?

Mr. Newkigrk. Intuitively, I am concerned.
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Mr. JonNEs. Are there any safeguards that you have at your
disposal?

Mr. NEwWkKIRK. Yes; we have article 28 of the GATT to negotiate
any changes that they make, and we have sufficient resources to
analyze what they do and decide whether they are ovecompensat-
ing or not. When that part two comes out, we are going to go over
it with a fine-tooth comb.

Mr. JonEs. What complaints have you heard from foreign coun-
tries, leveled against the United States, about our implementation
of the MTN agreements, and have they been valid?

Mr. NEwkigrk. First, the United States has faithfully implement-
ed every MTN agreement to the letter, and there is not another
country in the world that can say that. Notwithstanding that, we
have received some complaints in the Government procurement
area in terms of coverage with regard to the Defense Department;
but beyond that, there really have not been any complaints against
the United States on implementation and, frankly, the complaints
on our procurement implementation are unfounded.

Chairman GiBBoNs. What part of our Government procurement
is not covered by the MTN?

Mr. NEwkIRK. Because we were unable to get the Europeans to
put their heavy electrical equipment sector, telecommunications
and transportation systems under the Government code, we with-
held the Government entities that buy those sorts of products from
our Government Procurement Code coverage.

In addition, any sort of security item, planes, tanks, that sort of
thing, they are excluded from coverage. Also the small minority
business program is excluded from coverage. Entities like the Ten-
nessee Valley Authority, Bonneville Dam, Department of Transpor-
tation, Department of Energy, they are all excluded.

Chairman GiBeoNns. Well, what is left?

Mr. NEWKIRK. What is left is about——

Chairman GisBons. State and local governments excluded?

Mr. NEwkIRk [continuing]. $17 billion of Federal procurement.

Chairman GisBons. That is annual?

Mr. Newkirk. Last year. That is quite a large market, and we
look at a market of about $30 billion of covered procurements.

Chairman GiBeons. Worldwide?

Mr. NEwkirk. Right, excluding the United States.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Just as a rough guess, what percent of the
potential market is not covered in either the United States or
outside the United States?

Mr. NEwkirk. Well, there are no figures available, but if we look
just at what is not covered in the European market, we are prob-
ably looking at about 50 percent more than current coverage, just
in Europe.

Chairman GiBBoNs. In our own market? I mean in the U.S.
market?

Mr. NEwkIrk. Of course——

Chairman GiBBons. I just want a rough guess.

Mr. NEwkirg. The total is about $100 billion a year, and $17
billion are now covered.

Chairman GieBoNs. How many billion dollars are covered?
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Mr. NEwkirk. $17 billion out of a total of about $100 billion, but
a large part of that is the Defense Department security procure-
ments.

Chairman GiBeons. Belt buckles, things like that?

Mr. NEwkIRK. Cruise missiles.

Mr. JonNes. The $30 billion you mentioned worldwide is that
covered by the procurement code?

Mr. Newkirk. Right. It is a $30 billion new market opportunity
for American exporters.

Chairman GiBeoNs. We know how many things are published,
and we know that you distribute them. How are we going to
measure how successful this has been?

Mr. Newkirk. The measure of success will be the actual con-
tracts won. We have found that, to date, U.S. companies are very
reluctant to talk to us about their actual business dealings, but the
code requires that countries keep records and statistics on which
countries they bought from, and once we get these statistics, we
will have some measure of the success of the agreement. It won't
tell us which companies sold and which failed, but it will tell us
the accurate figures of how much the United States sold to Japan
or Canada, which will give us some idea whether the agreement is
working.

Mr. WaLbMAaNN. In addition to those official foreign government
statistics, we will also survey U.S. firms early next year, to find out
whether or not they have had success under their procurement
opportunities, and other code opportunities.

Chairman Gieeons. Well, I think that is going to be important,
because when we go abroad and talk to people we constantly hear
the complaints that the U.S. businessman is really not out there
competing, and we come back and talk to American businessmen
and they say: “Oh, yes, we are competing but those foreigners are
discriminating against us in all kinds of ways.”

I realize that is always going to be a problem. There is a little
fudging on each side of that. How can we measure that? Are we
trying to measure that?

Mr. WALDMANN. I think probably the best thing we can do is to
keep the lines of communication open, then, on both sides. We
have got to hear from the business community what their problems
are and try to measure their success, and in those cases where we
find close cases, where we lose a major contract, we have to investi-
gate it. We have to keep talking to the governments to find out
how they are implemeriting their own procedures and to continue
to press them to improve them.

We have been very successful in a few cases in getting the
governments to live up to their obligations. We have got to contin-
ue to do that.

Chairman GiBBoNS. I have a whole host of other questions I
won't have time to go into.

I must ask you a question, Ambassador Smith, since you must
get back to Geneva. Recently a GATT panel issued a report on a
case brought by the United States against Spain on soybean oil.
This report was adverse because of the panel’s misinterpretation of
a GATT article as requiring a showing of injury to exports in
addition to the violation of the national treatment provision. What
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is your assessment of the impact of this case in terms of the
willingness of countries, including the United States, to bring cases
for GATT dispute settlement?

Mr. SmitH. Mr. Chairman, if that report were to be adopted by
the GATT Council, the impact would be very adverse to the trading
interests of a large number of countries in this world. That report
is not going to be adopted.

Chairman GiBBoNS. Do you have any idea how the GATT dispute
settlement process might be strengthened to avoid this kind of
mistake?

Mr. SmirH. Well, I think one, well, yes, I have some ideas on
that. First of all, we have had the practice in the last decade at
least, that in the disputes brought before the GATT, we have,
because either the United States, the Community, or Japan has
been a party to many of these disputes, the GATT Secretariat has
not used members, and in many cases rightly so, for these panels
coming from any of those three countries.

Indeed, there has been a general reluctance to use the Ameri-
cans, the Japanese or the Community. We think this is a mistake.
There is no reason, if the dispute is between the United States and
Zanzibar, there is no reason that the Japanese or the Community
could not participate in that panel.

We have been running short, if you will, of panelists. We have
traditionally gone to the Nordics, the Swiss, or the Austrians, and
indeed some of those ambassadors have told me that they feel as if
the only thing they are doing in Geneva is servicing the panels. We
have to broaden the scope of that.

I am not particularly concerned that the Spanish soybean deci-
sion will reflect negatively on the dispute settlement mechanism or
the willingness of countries to bring disputes to the GATT. One of
the problems which has also been a failing in the last decade has
been under the previous leadership the GATT Secretariat was not
brought in, in my view, in a way which was consistent with their
responsibility in these panels; that is to say, each of these panels
has a GATT Secretariat adviser and I believe that the proper role
of such an adviser is to draw to the attention of the panel members
themselves what is GATT precedent and, frankly, what is GATT
law and that is bad GATT law. I can assure you that since that
Spanish soybean decision came out, I have had a number of discus-
sions with the director general and the two deputy director gener-
als, and it is safe to say that henceforth, panel reports will receive
((:lloser attention by the GATT Council before they see the light of

ay.

éhairman GiBeoNs. How are these GATT dispute. settlement
p}a;mel?s constituted? How do you put one together, who serves on
them?’

Mr. SmitH. After the GATT Council has approved the establish-
ment of a panel under the—let’s take a GATT case as opposed to a
code case. Then the chairman of the Council, together with the
director general of the GATT, quietly go around and find out who
is available in the first place, and, second, talk with both the
plaintiff and the defendant, if I can use that legal term, to see if
Mr. Jones or Mr. Richards of Country X or Country Y would be an
acceptable panelist. This procedure goes on, oh, it takes normally a
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couple of weeks to do, and then when they have reached an agree-
ment privately with the plaintiff and defendant, then at the next
council meeting, and council meetings generally happen once a
month, the chairman will announce the composition of the panel.

There has been a situation until recently, and I am not sure if it
really happens today, where countries have their no list and yes
list, and in one case in which the United States was involved with
another major trading partner, that country came in with a list of
43 countries which it would not countenance being on a panel, and
since there were 86 members, we were able to find another 43 from
which that country could draw. We have tried to discourage coun-
tries from having a negative and a positive list. Obviously, there
are cases, and legitimate cases, why a country would not want a
particular, another particular country on a panel. o

The last thing I would say is that the United States, and it is
almost alone in this, has for a long time maintained the position
that panelists need not come from governments, that they could be
drawn from outside, people in the private sector, people from uni-
versities, former trade officials, things like thgt. I have had some
discussions with the director general about this in the past 3 or 4
days. Given the fact that it is likely that there will be more
recourse to the GATT dispute settlement mechanism, this I believe
is an option which will have to be seriously considered; that is to
say, countries will have to, as we sort of run out of panelists, so to
speak, from governments will have to go onto the outside.

One of the problems we have had, not being able to do that very
successfully, is the question of remuneration to the panels. If you
are going to pick three panelists and one came from South Amer-
ica, Asia and Europe, how do you pay those people to go to Geneva
and sit in a panel? Travel funds to Geneva are rather expensive
and so are the hotels and food.

Chairman. GiBeons. I have noticed that. As I say, I have a group
of other questions to present.

[The questions and answers follow:]

Question. The European Communities signed the MTN agreements, including the
government procurement code, on behalf of the Member States, thereby incurring a
legal obligation for their community-wide implementation. In some other cases
involving different Commission and Member State jurisdictions such as product
standards, the Member States also signed.

Mr. Newkirk, you mention in your testimony that the U.S. is not pleased with a
number of aspects of EC and Member State implementation of the government
procurement code and point out that Italy has not implemented the agreement.
What efforts to your knowledge is the EC Commission making to monitor and
ensure Member gtate implementation and compliance with this and other ee-
ments? What will be the U.S. response if the EC continues not to live up to its legal
obligation?

Will data be available in sufficient detail from foreign countries to judge the
results of the government procurement code with respect to individual countries,
particularly the EC Member States, as well as by industry?

What is the status of the leasing issue and the prospects for agreement that
government leased procurements are covered by the Code?

Answer. We understand the EC Commission officials have been monitoring, to
some degree, the implementation efforts of the member states, although it is diffi-
cult to judge the level of effort which the Commission has put into this endeavor.
We have been quick to raise any concern regarding member state compliance with
the Commission. A number of problems have been ameliorated through this consul-
tative process although, as we have said, several problems remain. If the EC does

not satisfacborily implement the MTN agreement we will make full and vigorous
use of the Codes’ dispute settlement mechanisms to ensure reciprocity.
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As required by the Government Procurement Code, data on Code covered procure-
ment will be exchanged by all the signatories next year. This data will not be as
detailed as we would like and we are continuing to discuss receiving more detailed
information from the EC. However, it is our belief that the data plus information
we are receiving from our Embassies and industry will provide a basis for judging
the results of the Code.

Our fellow Code signatories do not currently share our viewing that leasing is
covered by the Code. Pending a resolution of this issue we are treating leasing
transactions as non-Code covered in order to maintain reciprocity. We are continu-
ing to discuss this matter in the Government Procurement Committee in Geneva.
However, we may not be able to resolve this issue to our satisfaction until renegoti-
ation of the Code which must begin before 1984.

Question. To what extent have you received complaints from the private sector,
either through advisory committees or in meetings with individual companies, about
foreign noncompliance with the MTN agreements or erection of new barriers to get
around them? Do you detect a reluctance of U.S. business to complain about foreign
practices or noncompliance with the agreements for fear that they may lose future
business in that country, particularly government procurement contracts? What is
U.S. Government policy toward lodging complaints with foreign governments on
behalf of foreign subsidiaries of U.S. companies?

Answer. To date, we have received few complaints from the private sector regard-
ing Code compliance or evasion. In the standards area, as you are aware, we have
received complaints regarding the UK’s implementation of an EC directive on the
chilling of poultry. It is difficult to judge whether firms are reluctant to complain
about foreign Code infractions. We have encouraged firms to come forward if they
detect problems and have offered to treat their input as confidential if they are
concerned about loss of future business. It is our view that U.S. subsidiaries abroad
should be treated the same as any other local firm by their host government. Where
specific problems arise, we will decide based on the particulars of the case how best
to seek redress.

Question. As indicated in the Ways and Means Committee report accompanying
the Trade Agreements Act of 1979, it was Congress’ understanding that a primary
objective of the standards code was to provide that regional certification systems
grant access to foreign or nonmember suppliers on a nondiscriminatory basis. Are
U.S. suppliers to your knowledge getting that access? What are we doing to ensure
meaningful access?

Answer. There have been no formal complaints from U.S. industry concerning
denial of access to foreign certification systems. By and large, U.S. producers have
not complained about access to certification systems. Even in informal discussions,
there is only one instance of such a complaint. U.S. manufacturers of athletic
equipment have stated that Japanese private associations do not make their certifi-
cation marks available to foreign goods. However, since this issue was raised with
the U.S. Government in May, 1981, there has been significant progress made by the
Japanese central government to bring about a change in the practices of the
affected private associations.

There has also been a significant change in the practices of foreign national and
regional certification systems. For example, the European Standardization Commit-
tee (CEN, which maintains the CENCER certification system), is currently cooperat-
ing with the American National Standards Institute (ANSI) in order to make sure
that U.S. producers have an opportunity to comment on proposed CEN standards.
Similarly, a previously closed European electrical certification system (the CEE’s CB
system) has recently revised its rules to permit membership by any qualified coun-
try, and changed its name to reflect its newly attained international status.

The U.S. Government has raised the issue of access to foreign national and
regional certification systems within the Committee on Technical Barriers to Trade.
At the suggestion of the U.S. Delegation, the GATT Secretariat has compiled a list
of regional certification systems including an indication of their accessibility to
foreign producers. The pressure applied by the U.S. Delegation in Geneva has been
a significant factor in ensuring that foreign systems are indeed in compliance with
the standards code.

Question. The European Communities has proposed to enter into agreement with
European regional standards bodies to develop standards. What access would U.S.
suppliers have to those bodies if the Standards Code only applies to signatory
governments? Isn’t is possible that standards will be meaninglessly notified in the
GATT after they are set in concrete by regional standards or unofficial consulta-
tions amoung national governments and companies as in Japan?

Answer. Articles 2.9 and 2.10 of the standards code require central government
bodies of countries that participate in regional standards bodies to use their “best
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efforts” to ensure that the procedures of such bodies are in compliance with the
standards code. Therefore, although regional bodies themselves are not required to
conduct their activities in the “open”, they are to be pressured to do so by their
members. In addition, in case they do not, member countries are not to use any
standards prepared by noncomplying regional bodies. Therefore, U.S. suppliers have
a degree of access to bodies such as the European Standardization Committee (CEN).
In addition, as noted in the answer to the question above, the American National
Standards Institute has recently started a new program whereby they publish draft
CEN standards for comment by U.S. interests.

Question. Have the long outstanding issues with Japan of standards and certifica-
tion in the product areas of automobiles, cosmetics and pharmaceuticals been re-
solved? Does each U.S. car imported into Japan still have to be tested and individ-
ually certified or is company self-certification of model runs provided in Japan as it
is for Japanese cars imported into the U.S.?

Answer. The U.S. Government has established bilateral standards related discus-
sions under the auspices of the December, 1979, ‘“Joint Statement on Standards,
Testing and Certification Activities,” to resolve the issues related to processed foods
and cosmetics; discussions on automobiles are undertaken in a forum similar to this
one. The only discussions on pharmaceuticals have been persued under the auspices
of the Trade Facilitation Committee (TFC). While none of these issues have not been
resolved as of yet, significant progress has been made in each case. For example, the
Japanese have begun to publish a list of all ingredients permitted in cosmetics, so
that U.S. suppliers will have access to the same information that is available to
Japanese suppliers. With regard to automobiles, the Japanese Government issued a
statement in May, 1980, containing measures they would take to facilitate the
approval of U.S. imports into Japan. Thus far, the Japanese have implemented a
good portion of these measures, although significant progress has yet to be made on
the most important one, concerning certification for life-of-the-vehicle of catalytic
converters. Processed food discussions, and because they are related, discussions on
pharmaceuticals have moved forward in talks between the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration (FDA) and the Japanese Ministry of Health and Welfare. The FDA
has cooperated with USTR at every step along the way, and is a useful method of
achieving success in this area because of its highly technical nature.

Under Japanese law, U.S. vehicles must be tested and approved under the “type
approval” system, which does require individual inspection of each import. The U.S.
Government, recently submitted to the Japanese Government a new proposal which
would result in Japanese acceptance of test data generated in the United States to
Japanese specifications. This proposal is based upon U.S. practices of accepting
manufacturers’ self-certification to U.S. National Highway Traffic Safety Adminis-
tration (NHTSA) regulations. :

Question. Very few developing countries have signed the customs valuation agree-
ment despite the special and differential treatment offered these countries as incen-
tive. What are we and other signatories doing to gain more LDC adherence? What is
the status of our providing technical assistance to these countries for that purpose?

Answer. The number of developing country adherents to the Customs Valuation
Code has been increased and now includes major developing countries such as
Korea, India, Brazil, and Argentina. We, and other signatories, have been seeking
adherence by additional developing countries through bilateral consultations. To the
extent that limited budgetary resources allow, we will try to provide technical
assistance to developing countries as an inducement to sign the Code.

Questions. What is your assessment of how well the Section 301 and GATT
dispute settlement process is working?

To date there are only two cases which have been brought for dispute settlement
under the MTN agreements. Both cases have been brought recently by the United
States) under the Subsidies Code (against EC export subsidies on wheat flour and
sugar).

What are the reasons for this low activity under the codes, while at the same time
countries have used the general GATT dispute settlement provisions with their
looser time limits to a greater degree than before the MTN?

Answers. The GATT dispute settlement process is working quite well in encourag-
ing informal resolution of issues prior to formally instituting dispute settlement
procedures. About 90% of all disputes are settled in this manner, as was a 1980
Section 301 case involving Japanese export subsidies on rice.

There has been a great deal of recent activity in this area. At the present time,
there are seven section 301 cases pending before the Office of the U.S. Trade
Representative and four are proceeding under the Subsidies Code dispute settlement
process. The status of those cases is as follows:

86-595 O—81——12
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SUBJECT AND STATUS

EC wheat flour subsidies—Expect to take case to a Subsidies Code panel in
January, 1982.

EC citrus preferences—Expect consultations under GATT Article XXIII:1 to be
scheduled in near future.

EC sugar subsidies—Accepted on October 5, 1981. Have requested consultations
with EC under Subsidies Code.

EC poultry subsidies—Accepted on October 28, 1981. Have requested consultations
with EC under Subsidies Code.

Argentina hides export restrictions—Accepted on November 24, 1981. Have re-
quested consultations with Argentina.

EC pasta subsidies—Accepted on November 30, 1981. Have requested consulta-
tions with EC under Subsidies Code.

EC canned fruit and raisin subsidies—USTR must accept or reject petition by
December 14.

We believe it is too soon to predict how effective the MTN Codes, particularly the
Subsidies Code, will be in settling disputes. To date only one case involving EC
subsidies on wheat flour has reached the conciliation phase under the Code, and no
cases have yet reached a Code panel. However, all Code cases are on a tight time
schedule and we expect most of these cases to be completing dispute settlement by
S}]:ring or early Summer, 1982. We will be able to better assess the Code process at
that time.

Questions. What types of unfair foreign investment practices do you consider
would come within the section 301 definition of “an act, policy, or practice that is
consistent with a trade agreement or un}justiﬁable, unreasonable or discriminatory
and burdens or restricts U.S. commerce,” i.e., how broadly would you define invest-
ment for 301 purposes?

Secondly, to what extent does section 301 authorize retaliation in kind with
respect to foreign investment practices in terms of Presidential powers to act
without further legislative authority, or is his authority limited primarily to duties
or other restrictions on imports of goods or services in investment cases, for exam-
ple, in response to foreign local content or other performance requirements? To
what extent does the President have authority under section 301 to take reciprocal
action on services.

Is further Presidential authority under section 301 on investment and services
needed to deal with these problems and do you have plans to seek it?

Answers. There are no prescribed limits on the application of section 301 to
foreign investment practices. In our view any type of investment policy, act or
practice which satisfies the statutory criteria could be reviewed under section 301.
For obvious reasons, however, we would not want to state in advance what specific
types of practices would or would not result in initiation of an investigation under
section 301. Each situation is approached on a case-by-case basis and numerous
factors are taken into account.

While section 301 specificially authorizes retaliation in trade and services it does
not contain specific provisions in the area of investment. However, since section 301
permits the President to take any other actions within his authority, we are cur-
rently reviewing what other Presidential authority exists in the investment field.
Once we have determined what such authority exists outside of section 301, we will
be in :d better position to recommend whether additional Presidential authority is
required.

It is our view that section 301, as currently drafted, already provides sufficient
authority to deal with services issues, and it has, in fact, already been used effec-
tivelgv inlggo investigation involving Korean insurance practices, completed in De-
cember, .

Chairman GiBBoNs. I want to express my appreciation to the
panel. I have not heard from Ms. Hughes today. How do you feel
about leather?

Ms. HuGHEs. That was one of the highlights of my career.

Chairman. GiBBONs. Right; we won’t drag you through that
again.

Thank you very much for coming in.

This is a panel on export development, Foreign Commercial Serv-
ice, Foreign Agricultural Service, and U.S. Embassies’ roles and
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operations. Our first witness is listed as Mr. William Morris, the
Assistant Secretary of Commerce for Trade Development.

STATEMENT OF WILLIAM H. MORRIS, JR., ASSISTANT SECRE
TARY FOR TRADE DEVELOPMENT, DEPARTMENT OF COM
MERCE

Mr. Morris. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I have submitted a de
tailed report for the record, and I would like to give some brief
remarks if I might.

Chairman. GiBeons. Certainly; you go right ahead. Your entire
statement will be placed in the record.

Mr. Morris. I am pleased to present to you a panel of representa-
tives from the Departments of Commerce, Agriculture, and State.
With me today are Erland Heginbotham, Director General of the
U.S. Foreign Commercial Service of the Department of Commerce;
William Edgar, Acting Deputy Assistant Secretary for Trade and
Commercial Affairs, Department of State; and Richard A. Smith,
Administrator, Foreign Agricultural Service of the Department of
Agriculture. The subject of this panel is the role of trade develop-
ment, the Foreign Commercial Service, Foreign Agricultural Serv-
ice and U.S. Embassies in carrying out the challenging activities of
export development. ‘

We welcome this opportunity to present our views, especially at
this time. The eighties will be a decade of challenges on all eco-
nomic fronts, not the least of which will be to increase U.S. ex
ports. We in the trade development business view this as both &
problem and an opportunity.

Historically, U.S. economic policy has been made with little
regard for its impact in the international arena. The United States
has the largest domestic market in the world and the necessity for
business to look beyond our shores as we built our Nation’s indus
trial and agricultural strength was seldom recognized. Nor, in re
ality, was there an urgency to do so. Our predominance in world
markets and an almost perpetual trade surplus up until 1972 are
well known. It was only during the seventies that we faced our
first serious trade problems and we accepted the challenge to im-
prove our export base.

That international trade developments effect on our economy
was recognized by the past several administrations. During the lasi
few years the Departments of Commerce, State, Agriculture, Treas
ury, and others have begun to work together. This administration
is committed to increased interagency cooperation and views it as
vital if we are to reverse the trend of $120 billion of accumulated
trade deficits since 1975. This is critical at a time when we face ¢
predicted combined additional trade deficit of approximately $6(
billion in 1981 and 1982. The health of the domestic economy can
no longer be divorced from our international role. The creation of
new jobs and employment stability at home is directly linked tc
our ability to expand U.S. exports.

A major challenge in the eighties is to improve our trade imbal
ance by developing a consistent and sound trade policy and tc
assist firms to take advantage of the opportunities which exist ir
the world marketplace. We must respond agressively to these chal
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lenges or risk losing our leadership, especially in such areas as
high technology goods.

The trade environment which we are facing can be characterized
by increased competition for a limited number of foreign markets.
The dollar has appreciated against the currencies of many of our
competitors because of high U.S. interest rates and improved U.S.
prospects for reducing inflation. This has reduced demand for some
types of U.S. manufactures and reduced the dollar cost of foreign
imports. In spite of the dollar appreciation and worldwide economic
slowdown, there are world markets which offer excellent prospects
for U.S. business—if firms can be made aware of these opportuni-
ties and encouraged to take advantage of them. To help remedy the
trade imbalance, we in Government must do our part to motivate
U.S. firms to export and facilitate their doing so. We can succeed
only if U.S. firms adopt exporting as a natural extension of their
domestic marketing strategies.

We have only to look at the success of U.S. agricultural exports
to see that this is indeed possible. Qur agricultural trade surplus
was about $27 billion in fiscal year 1981. Thirty-nine percent of
U.S. cropland is devoted to production for export, in sharp contrast
to the less than 10 percent of our manufactured goods which are
exported.

This administration has established some basic principles and
new directions for our export development programs. We have
strengthened our efforts to encourage more U.S. firms, particularly
small and medium-sized firms to export.

We are directing our energies toward encouraging the private
sector to undertake increased export assistance activities and focus
our efforts on providing those necessary activities that the private
sector is unwilling or unable to provide.

We are directing our attention on areas where the Federal Gov-
ernment can really make a difference such as obtaining, analyzing,
and disseminating trade information, and providing government-to-
government representation for firms desiring to bid for foreign
government procurement activities resulting from the multilateral
trade negotiations [MTN].

We will undertake more extensive cooperation, program coordi-
nation, and information sharing with State agencies, with business
and trade associations, and overseas U.S. Chambers of Commerce.
These groups are generally closer in proximity to the individual
exporters and, therefore, can more effectively assist them in their
individual requests concerning exporting.

We will target our efforts on industries which have exceptional
export prospects but which require intensive support to take ad-
vantage of the export opportunity. Coal is an area where there are
excellent opportunities. Coal is the key to energy security for all oil
dependent nations. World demand for coal is increasing more rap-
idly than predicted. U.S. steam coal exports already this year are
ahead of 1985 predictions. For the first 6 months of 1981 we export-
ed 14.8 million tons. For the long-term balance of trade deficits,
coal exports are conservatively estimated at $6.5 billion by 1985
and $14.1 billion by the year 2000 in 1981 dollars. The Internation-
al Trade Administration is coordinating the implementation of the
national coal export policy. As chairman of the Coal Interagency
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Working Group [CIWG], I am responsible for assuring that the
potential impediments to the increased production, transportation,
and shipping of export coal are minimized. Within Commerce, a
coal export task force has also been formed. Overseas and domestic
promotions will be undertaken, coal export marketing information
assembled and provided, along with extensive industry liaison ac-
tivities. Expansion of coal exports will create jobs, have favorable
balance-of-trade effects, and reduce worldwide consumption of oil.

We will direct our program activities to countries with the great-
est export growth potential for U.S. business. An excellent example
of our efforts to do this, and of our efforts at greater cooperation
with the private sector, is our planned four-country African Trade
Mission. Participating in this mission will be Secretary of Com-
merce Baldrige, Secretary of Agriculture Block, and representa-
tives from State, Export-Import Bank, OPIC, and other agencies.

Finally, each of our agencies is reviewing its own programs and
its methods of doing business to determine how we can be more
productive and more creative. The challenge of the 1980’s is not
solely to increase our exports but to do so with proportionally
fewer taxpayer dollars.

At this time I will pass the microphone over to Director General
Erland Heginbotham of the U.S. Foreign Commercial Service, who
will share some of his thoughts with us. After he has completed his
remarks, the members of the panel will be happy to answer any
questions you might have about our individual or collective export
development activities.

[The prepared statement follows:]

STATEMENT OoF WILLIAM H. MORRIS, JR., ASSISTANT SECRETARY FOR TRADE
DEVELOPMENT, DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE

On behalf of the Departments of Commerce, Agriculture, and State, I welcome the
opportunity to testify before this Subcommittee regarding our role in formulating
and implementing U.S. export policy.

Expansion of U.S. trade is fundamental to the Administration’s overall economic
recovery plan. Private sector capital formation, job creation, productivity, and the
growth of the economy are all directly aided by export growth and, in turn, support
export growth. Without the steady expansion of export markets, downturns in the
domestic economy have an even heavier impact on U.S. firms, their employees, and
the economies of localities, states, and the nation as a whole. The importance of
exports to our economy cannot be denied. Although estimates of jobs created by
export sales vary within a range of from 20 to 40 jobs per million dollars of export
sales, the positive job creation effect is clear. The task of increasing U.S. exports is a
top priority of this Administration, and a cornerstone of the President’s Economic
Recovery Program. We must vigorously promote the export of U.S. goods and
services, provide new and innovative assistance to existing and potential exporters,
serve as a catalyst to expanded export activity and, where appropriate, provide
government representation necessary to support U.S. firms in their overseas mar-
keting. The Secretaries of Commerce, Agriculture and State have each adopted
expansion of U.S. exports as a major goal. Within Commerce, the International
Trade Administration (ITA), the Trade Development unit and Foreign Commercial
Service (FCS) in particular, are responsible for achieving this objective. The primary
mission of the Foreign Agricultural Service (FAS) is to help U.S. farmers and
agricultural traders increase agricultural export sales. Secretary Haig has also
instructed our Ambassadors to involve themselves personally in leading the U.S.
government commercial effort in their countries. While post commercial and eco-
nomic officers are their primary resource, their entire missions are being engaged in
this cause.

The trade environment in which both we and our competitors find ourselves in
the 1980’s is one characterized primarily by increasing competition for limited
markets. The dollar is currently at its highest level since 1971, because of high U.S.
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interest rates and improved U.S. prospects for reducing inflation. The appreciation
of the dollar against the currencies of many of our major competitors has signifi-
cantly reduced the competitive edge of U.S. manufacturers. Coupled with the world-
wide economic slowdown, this has reduced the demand for some U.S. products.
These factors have also increased international competition for those few markets,
particularly in the rapidly developing countries, which still represent excellent
export opportunties. While the recent MTN, tariff reductions have opened signifi-
cant new markets for U.S. firms, these too will be highly competitive. The Depart-
ments of Commerce, Agriculture and State are assisting firms to take advantage of
this and future policy breakthroughs. )

Overall annual U.S. export growth which reached 15.2 percent in real terms in
1978, had declined to only 9 percent in 1980. It is projected to average just 5 percent
annually over the 1980-84 period. The United States with manufactured exports of
$144 billion was once the leader in international trade in manufactures, but now
ranks second behind West Germany ($166.9 billion), and just ahead of Japan ($124.4
billion). The U.S. share of total manufactured exports has fallen from almost 30
percent in the late 1950’s to 21.3 percent in 1970. In 1975 it was 19.1 percent, but
has dropped to 18.3 percent by the end of 1980. Other major U.S. competitors
experienced similar declines over the 1970-1980 period, except France and Japan
which had modest increases.

The picture for agricultural exports is far more positive. In fiscal year 1981, we
estimate that agricultural exports reached about $44 billion, and that our agncul-
tural trade surplus approximated $27 billion. U.S. agricultural exports have in-
creased six times in value since 1970 (unadjusted for inflation), and our agricultural
trade surplus has increased by a factor of about 20 in that same period. Thirty-nine
percent of U.S. harvested cropland is devoted to production for export. Seventy
percent of our wheat production, sixty percent of our rice production, one-third of
U.S. corn, more than one-half of our cotton and one-half of our soybean production
are exported. This is in sharp contrast to the less than 10 percent of our output of
manufactured goods exported.

The success of our Agricultural exports offsets, to some extent, the decreasing
rate in manufacturers exports. As of the second quarter of 1981, the total U.S. trade
deficit reached an annual rate of $28.1 billion, a substantial increase from the total
1980 deficit of $24.2 billion. In looking at specific markets, the U.S. had its largest
trade surplus with Western Europe. The U.S. also recorded surpluses with commu-
nist countries and non-oil producing LDCs. As has been the case in recent years, the
most significant portion of our deficit is with OPEC nations, followed by Japan and
Canada. Illustrative of the deficits with OPEC countries is our $10 billion trade
deficit with Nigeria.

In spite of this environment, there are world markets which offer excellent
prospects for U.S. firms, if firms can be made aware of such opportunities and
assisted to take advantage of them.

For manufactures, the markets for computers, telecommunications equipment,
medical instruments, and instrumentation are strong in Asia. Best prospects for
U.S. exports to Latin America include computers, construction machinery, telecom-
munications equipment and electrical power equipment. Construction machinery
and electrical power generating and transmitting equipment have excellent poten-
tial export markets in the Middle East. In Europe, computers, medical instruments,
telecommunications equipment and instrumentation are prime targets for U.S.
firms seeking to expand their sales.

It is also essential that we continue our efforts to develop trade and economic ties
with communist countries, in a manner consistent with our broader political and
security interests. Though the volume of East-West trade grew rapidly in the 1970’s
(from $15 billion in 1970 to $106 billion in 1980), the current slowdown in economic
growth of most Eastern European countries and high levels of hard currency debt
have caused some of them to become more selective in importing from the West. As
a result, our trade promotion efforts will focus on trying to increase our share of
this market. The continued development of our commercial relations with China
will particularly have a high priority. We have recently established the U.S.-China
Joint Commission on Commerce and Trade. The Commission represents a new effort
by this Government to strengthen our commercial relations with China and to
advance American industries’ participation in China’s vast development program.

A consistent and steady trade policy, which is the aim of this Administration, is
critical if we are to take advantage of the opportunities which exist and overcome
impediments in the world marketplace. Congress, as well as the Executive Branch,
more than ever before, needs to know the outlook for trade and agriculture produc-
tion in making legislative and policy decisions.
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While there is a general awareness of the need to export, the business community
must be convinced to build on that awareness. The farmer or manufacturer today
who makes investment, production, and marketing decisions without reference to
the world market could well come face-to-face with failure. We must encourage U.S.
business to adopt exporting as a natural extension of their marketing strategies—as
a critical element of the health of their businesses—not as a one-time activity. We
must prime business to take advantage of significant policy breakthroughs, such as
those of the MTN, and assist them to do so. In addition to the counseling and
overseas events which we have traditionally offered, we must improve our informa-
tion collection and dissemination efforts to ensure that farmers and manufacturers
receive fast, accurate, global information on commercial developments. This is par-
ticularly important in rapidly developing or difficult to penetrate markets. Even in
developed markets we can do a better job of assisting experienced exporters to
market their new products and technologies. Within Commerce, Trade Develope-
ment accomplishes this by targeting our resources toward encouraging more firms,
particularly the small and medium-sized ones, and current exporters to enter new
markets and by providing more intensive support to industries which have excep-
tional export prospects. Agriculture is also focusing its efforts on three major
functions: providing information, gaining market access, and developing markets.

An example of our intensified efforts is a new multi-agency effort to promote U.S.
coal exports. Coal represents one of the most important opportunities for increasing
U.S. exports. America has more recoverable coal reserves than any other nation:
over 475 billion tons, about 28 percent of world reserves. The coal industy has more
than doubled exports in the last two years (from 41 million tons in 1978 to 92
million tons in 1980). Steam coal exports alone are forecast to double or triple in
volume by 1985 (up to 70 million tons). The Department of Commerce is coordinat-
ing the implementation of the National Coal Export Policy which includes promo-
tion of improvements and expansions in U.S. coal mining, processing, transporta-
tion, and port facilities, and provision of information on coal export opportunities to
companies in the industry. Overseas and domestic promotions will be undertaken,
coal export marketing information assembled and provided, along with intensive
industry liaison activities. Expansion of coal exports will create jobs, have favorable
balance of trade effects, and reduce world-wide consumption of oil.

The International Trade Administration is directing more of its resources toward
countries and regions such as Asia, Latin America and Africa where longer term
export prospects are excellent. Our belief is that we must focus our resources on
markets which offer exellent growth prospects but which require U.S. government
support if U.S. firms are to be successful in establishing a marketing presence. We
believe this targeted approach is the most effective way to expand U.S. exports and
contribute to economic growth. Consistent with Administration policy, all three
Departments intend to reach a greater number of U.S. fims by making better use of
state, private sector, and business and trade association export expansion groups.
Many of the states have become active in export expansion as an outgrowth of the
earlier efforts which were focused on encouraging foreign direct investment in their
states. They now view exports as we do, as a vehicle for job creation and economic
growth. We will be taking actions to encourage states and private sector groups to
take over activities which they can best do themselves, in order to concentrate our
efforts on providing the types of assistance which they cannot. The thrust of this
Administration’s efforts is to facilitate and promote; but also to complement and
supplement non-Federal efforts rather than duplicate them.

Agriculture’s FAS cooperator program is an excellent illustration of this ap-
proach. The FAS has established a comprehensive market development program
involving more than 50 nonprofit agricultural producer and trade groups organized
along commodity lines. These market develop cooperators stimulate exports of their
commodities by technical assistance, trade servicing, trade team exchanges, and
direct consumer promotion in foreign markets. The work is monitored by FAS, and
funding is shared. Cooperators have been at the forefront in establishing foreign
markets for U.S. agriculture.

The diversity of the U.S. industries served by the departments of Commerce and
State may preclude use of cooperator-type arrangements by these Departments.
Nevertheless, we are exploring ways in which the FAS model may be adapted to our

rograms and we will be making increasing use of overseas chambers of commerce,
gusiness and trade associations, and state export groups to expand exports.

We liken our interaction with firms to a parabola. We work closely with a
continuous flow of companies which are just beginning to export. As these firms
gain experience they tend to require less direct assistance; therefore, our level of
interaction diminishes. Experienced exporters come back to us for assistance in
penetrating new markets or for government-to-government representation support.
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Our level of support increases and diminishes over time as firms gain export
experience and expertise, and as their specific needs change. It is not our mission to
hand-hold or directly intervene in firms’ export marketing activities. We can offer
them information and services, provide a government presence to support them
overseas, and, through our efforts, encourage state governments, trade associations,
and business organizations to do the same. If we can convince them to export,
facilitate their entry into export markets, and, by our trade policy, support them in
their overseas marketing efforts we will have done our job.

The FAS is committed to a similar goal: to help American farmers and traders to
increase export sales. The U.S. Government has a unique role to play in a world
where state trading is so common and economic decisions are so often political. At
the same time, our economic system requires, in the final analysis, that the private
sector do the selling. We in Government do not carry order books, but work closely
with industry enlisting their help in carrying out our national goal of export
expanison.

hBroa;]ily stated, this Administration’s commitment is to expand U.S. exports
through:

A consistent trade policy;

Expanded use of states and the private sector; and

Enhanced inter-agency cooperation.

Let me highlight for you the trade promotion responsibilities and activities of
each of our Agencies. The Trade Development (TD) unit of ITA develops and, in
conjunction with the U.S. Foreign Commercial Service (FCS), administers programs
designed to promote U.S. trade and strengthen the U.S. international investment
posture. The objective of our activities is to expand the dollar volume of U.S.
exports. Our activities are performed in concert with the Departments of State and
Agriculture.

The three TD units, Export Development (ED), East-West Trade (EWT), and the
U.S. Commercial Service (USCS), together with the FCS provide a comprehensive
system of export promotion services for U.S. firms. These units are responsible for
motivating and facilitating U.S. business to export. Specific activities include:

Collection and dissemination of economic and commercial information on
overseas markets;

Provisions of expert consultation on both industry and country export oppor-
tunities, and export procedures and practices;

Sponsorship and coordination of overseas trade shows at which U.S. firms
display products or literature, make business contacts, and obtain sales and
trade leads;

Maintenance of 12 worldwide Export Development Offices, and four trade
development facilities in the USSR, Poland, Czechoslovakia and Hungary, to
provide regional marketing support to business in cooperation with the Depart-
?e_nt of State, as well as support of the American Institute in Taiwan office in

aiwan;

Government-to-government facilitative support for U.S. firms pursuing major
overseas contracts; and

Providing a forum for U.S. business to convey export-related problems to
Federal policy makers through the President’s Export Council (PEC) and, on the
local level, the District Export Councils (DEC).

In Washington, the Export Development unit is responsbile for planning and
directing trade development activities which require central coordination. East-West
Trade performs similar activities for communist countries, with the additional re-
sponsibility for policy development. The USCS is the domestic delivery arm for all
TD programs. The USCS maintains a network of 47 local District Offices serving the
50 gtates and Puerto Rico to provide counseling and information services, acts as
liaison for export assistance efforts undertaken by State and local entities, and
conducts Federal Procurement Conferences. USCS also works closely with 47 Dis-
trict Export Councils, composed of 1,800 volunteer representatives of primarily
small and medium-size businesses, who provide assistance to other businesses and
advice to the Federal Government on their export needs.

The FCS is the overseas service delivery arm for trade development services and
provides the overseas support required to implement ITA’s and many other agen-
cies’ export development activities. The FCS is a key link in a fully-integrated
Commerce system designed to provide trade development services in a more compre-
hensive manner than was previously the case. In addition to operating trade devel-
opment programs overseas, the FCS has the responsibility for counseling U.S. busi-
ness overseas, and for monitoring U.S.firms’ rights and opportunities created by
multilateral trade agreements. The FCS has a lead role in ensuring that U.S. firms
are able to take full advantage of MTN opportunities.
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The FCS, which experienced some start-up difficulties as a result of less than
adequate financing and the necessity to smooth out operating procedures both
within Commerce and with the Department of State, is sending fifty newly recruited
career FCS officers to their duty stations. They will augment and replace the
inherited DOS officers over the next three years as provided for in the terms of the
reorganization. Thus only in October, 1981 has the FCS begun operating in a
meaningful sense as a new organization with its own budget and one-third of its
career staff selected by its own management. Qur recruiting success is due in large
part to the assistance of U.S. Chambers of Commerce overseas and the District
Export Councils.

A few of the major accomplishments of Trade Development and the FCS during
the past year are:

Over 250 overseas trade events;

Responses to 750,000 overseas and 167,000 domestic counseling requests;
Seminars attended by over 250,000 business persons;

Assistance to 1,200 firms interested in pursuing major project opportunities.

In support of trade development ITA also jointly operates, with the Office of the
U.S. Trade Representative, the Industry Consultations Program. This is the center-
piece of the Department’s efforts to incorporate comprehensive industry advice into
the Executive Branch's formulation of U.g trade policy. Program changes instituted
in September 1980 resulted in improved operational procedures and a coordinated,
expanded work program. Approximately 100 meetings have been held since the
inception of the revised program. These major types of assistance reveal the inte-
grated nature of the ITA organization. Units of TD and the FCS are highly interde-
pendent. To a significant extent this is characteristic of the relationship between
ITA and the Department of State as well. It is also true of the interaction among
Commerce, State and the Foreign Agricultural Service. QOverseas, the FCS is the
focal point for coordinating efforts of the Department of Commerce with the policy
and mission of the country team in order to ensure that Commerce activities are
consistent with the overall country program established by the Department of State.
The senior FAS officer is also a member of this country team.

Turning to State, one of the traditional functions of that Department has been to
promote and protect American business interests abroad. Under Secretary Haig,
this objective has been expanded and established as a central priority for both the
Department in Washington and our missions overseas. Ambassadors, who are the
personal representatives of the President and who oversee U.S. Government pro-
grams and activities at their posts will be playing a more active role in support of
U.S. business efforts. The Secretary was very clear in his most recent instructions
sent to all Ambassadors last June: “I look to you to involve yourself personally in
leading the U.S. Government commercial effort in your country.” There can be no
“half-hearted, unsustained efforts or lip service. It must be a convinction and a
major purpose in your ambassadorial stewardship.”

This is a team effort and the Department is fully supporting the officers of the
Commerce Department’s Foreign Commercial Service who now operate in the 66
countries which comprise our largest export markets. In these countries, FCS offi-
cers form the leading edge of our export expansion efforts overseas. It is the clear
policy of both Departments to work together in the achievement of our national
objective of aggressively expanding export opportunities for U.S. business.

In the remaining 75 countries in which we maintain diplomatic relations, State
Department economic officers are responsible for carrying out our commercial pro-
grams. The embassies in those countries will seek to provide the best available
commercial services to businessmen operating in these countries. These are not
necessarily major markets, but they are often fast-growing and cumulatively they
account for approximately $16 billion in U.S. exports.

In all our embassies we are seeking to be more responsive to the needs of
companies which need political and economic background information to help them
assess the risks involved in making major investments or bidding on very large
projects. The posts’ economic and political sections can provide valuable insights.
The State Department is also being more supportive of U.S. corporations requiring
ambassadorial action to ensure that American firms compete on an equal political
footing with competitor companies from other industralized countries.

In Washington, the State Department has an Under Secretary for Economic
Affairs, who is responsible for all international economic issues. Increasingly, the
Under Secretary’s office is concerned with the overseas needs of American busi-
nesses.

The Assistant Secretary for Economics and Business heads a bureau of 225 people
who handle, in addition to trade and commercial affairs, issues relating to interna-
tional finance and development, food policy, commodities, transportation, telecom-
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munications and energy. Many of these issues have important commercial ramifica-
tions. Within the bureau, the Office of Commercial Affairs has been established as
the central point of contact for State Department assistance to the business commu-
nity. This office will aid in export promotion efforts, removal of export disincentives
and helping solve problems for business abroad by cutting through bureaucratic
tangles which sometimes prevent a timely solution to such problems.

In a very real sense, however, most of the State Department is concerned with
these issues. As the economic component of American foreign policy has grown so
have the economic elements of the State Department. There is at least one officer
on each country desk who follows economic activities in detail. In addition, each
geographic bureau has a commercial coordinator whose specific responsibility is to
ensure that commercial and business concerns receive priority attention. So, from
the very senior levels of the Department to the expert working level, and across a
wide range of bureaus and functions, there is a substantial body of professionals
who are contributing directly or indirectly to trade expansion efforts.

For the next few minutes I would like to discuss the organization of FAS: the
agency and its parts, and how they function as a unit. The Foreign Agricultural
Service is organized to provide three basic services to support export growth. They
are (1) to provide agricultural and trade information from around the world; (2) to
secure and maintain market access for U.S. product in foreign markets; and (3) to
assist in export market development. Over the years, the FAS has developed a
worldwide agricultural information network that is second to none. It is based on
field reports from agricultural attaches and counselors on conditions in more than
100 countries. these reports are augmented by crop assessments from computer-
aided analysis of satellite and meteorological data.

The FAS also works to maintain and improve access to foreign markets for U.S.
agricultural products through the International Trade Policy unit which coordinates
and directs USDA activities in international agreements and negotiations; it identi-
fies trade barriers, and negotiates to remove them, working with other U.S. govern-
ment agencies. A major responsibility has been that of monitoring the implementa-
tion of the tariff concessions and trading codes that were negotiated in the MTN.

The FAS also has a range of programs to help producer groups and private
exporters increase foreign sales which include:

The cooperator program which stimulates exports of commodities through
technical assistance, trade servicing, trade team exchanges, and direct consum-
er promotion in foreign markets;

The Trade Opportunity Referral Service (TORS), a computerized system that
relays foreign buyer product request to the appropriate American suppliers;

Trade shows for foreign buyers and in-store promotions in foreign markets to
attract attention to U.S. foods;

And about 40 private companies are participating in FAS Export Incentive
Programs to promote brand name foods overseas.

To augment the export assistance provided by U.S. agricultural attaches and
counselors overseas, the FAS also operates 7 overseas Agricultural Trade Offices.
Trade officers are posted at three more locations—Tunis, Lagos, and Beijing. The 10
locations cover the major trading regions of the world.

The FAS is also working closely with the individual state’s agricultural depart-
ments and with their four regional export organizations to coordinate and broaden
the base of its market development activities.

Cooperator-type agreements have been established with the regional groups and
the FAS depends heavily on state units to support Trade Opportunities Referral
System (TORS) supplier and contacts listings, trade show assistance, and perform
foreign market survey work.

Credit is also necessary to market expansion, and the Public Law 480 program
and the Commodity Credit Corporation (CCC) export credit and credit guarantee
programs have been integrated into the FAS market development structure.

The three separate functions of the FAS are brought together to accomplish its
mission of export expansion. The critical element in FAS essential to each of these
functions is the work of the agricultural attaches and counselors.

FAS’s objective is well-informed farmers and exporters who will have the informa-
tion they need to maximize their export opportunities. The FAS has taken signifi-
cant strides to increase the amount of up-to-date information available to U.S. firms
by using data communications and reporting that make optimum use of computer
technology. These include the following:

Establishment in FAS of a crop condition assessment unit in 1978 which uses
advanced computer and communications capabilities to collect and analyze satellite
weather and agricultural data to make crop assessments on a global basis;
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Installation of a terminal support system computer in Washington to link with
Foreign Crop condition Assessment Division (FCCAD) computers in Houston, Texas.
It gives Washington analysts access to automated data bases for target countries,
and also permits direct transmission of daily weather data to Houston for analysis;

More intensive use of the remote sensing capabilities provided by the Landsat and
meteorological satellites, which enables Agriculture to monitor crop and weather
conditions in major production areas around the world; and

FAS has obtained access to the State Department’s new global telecommunica-
tions network, which opened the way for worldwide data exchange via computer.
This Global Economic Data Exchange System (GEDES) will allow the attaches and
trade officers to transmit trade leads to FAS, which will be put into the TORS
system for same-day forwarding to U.S. exporters. This is a significant step in
.providing the U.S. exporter with a time advantage over his competitors.

In the near future, the attaches will also be able to make direct use of satellite
intelligence, by receiving reports on-line from FAS’ Foreign Crop Condition Assess-
ment Division in Houston. These will help in alerting the attache to developments
that should be closely monitored or crop areas that deserve a special visit.

In summary, the objective of the trade development activities of the Departments
of Commerce, State and Agriculture is better informed business executives, regard-
less of where they are located, their product or service line, who are committed to
exporting as an everyday business activity. We in Government must develop and
sustain a trade policy and program mix that allows them to take full advantage of
export marketing opportunities.

Chairman GisoNs. Thank you, Mr. Morris.

STATEMENT OF ERLAND H. HEGINBOTHAM, DIRECTOR GENER-
AL OF THE FOREIGN COMMERCIAL SERVICE, DEPARTMENT
OF COMMERCE

Mr. HeGINBoTHAM. Mr. Chairman, I welcome this opportunity to
relate briefly the role of the U.S. Foreign Commercial Service in
our export development activities, and to bring you up to date on
our progress.

The Trade Reorganization Act of 1979 established the U.S. For-
eign Commercial Service on April 1, 1980. The FCS represents the
primary means by which the U.S. Government provides overseas
support and assistance in response to the needs of the U.S. business
community. Located in 66 countries where U.S. international eco-
nomic and commercial interests are of major importance, the FCS
has a worldwide complement of approximately 162 commercial offi-
cers and 500 Foreign Service nationals. Our primary goal is to
improve our services to U.S. business in promoting U.S. exports.

In addition to providing direct counseling, help and commercial
information to U.S. business, the FCS is the overseas delivery arm
service for the Department of Commerce’s trade development pro-
grams, and also supports overseas the programs and operations of
the Export-Import Bank, the U.S. Trade Representative, Overseas
Private Investment Corporation [OPIC] and other agencies. The
FCS also works closely with the Department’s U.S. Commercial
Service—the domestic arm of trade development.

The FCS helps U.S. business abroad by developing commercial
information and business leads; advising and assisting business in
trade and investment matters; identifying and following up on
trade and investment opportunities, including those arising from
codes negotiated under the MTN; implementing trade promotion
events; monitoring and analyzing local laws, regulations, and prac-
tices that affect market access and overall business conditions; and
we safeguard U.S. commercial and investment interests by assur-
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ing host government and business compliance with bilateral and
multilateral trade agreements.

The FCS competes at a great disadvantage with the professional
commercial services of other industrial nations. The U.S. Foreign
Commercial Service has considerably fewer officers and staff than,
for example, France, the United Kingdom, Italy, or Japan. Our
service is roughly the same size as Australia’s. Allowing for the
much greater size of our economy and export sector, and for our
lack of many of the promotion techniques and resources compared
with those of our trading partners, our disadvantage is all the
greater. Because the United States suffers major structural disad-
vantages as an exporter, we must make every effort to compensate.
For this reason the FCS is trying to maximize its contributions by
major upgrading of personnel, by staffing with highly qualified
experts in marketing, promotion, and management; regrouping re-
sources into the most promising markets; intensifying efforts to get
the greatest export payoff per dollar, time and unit of effort ex-
pended; and by building closer, more collaborative working rela-
tions with U.S. business organizations concerned with foreign mar-
kets.

In this effort the FCS has succeeded in establishing new direc-
tions and in becoming a link in a fully integrated system to provide
export development services to U.S. business.

I have just returned from management meetings with 45 of our
66 senior officers and from joint meetings between our officers and
U.S. business leaders in Europe and Asia. These meetings have set
the stage for promising new departures. They produced ambitious
plans for cooperation between our officers and American Chambers
of Commerce in some 30 major country markets. They introduced
management techniques to help us measure and evaluate our costs
and effectiveness. They initiated decentralization of management
functions to permit and encourage officers abroad to improve their
operations through collegial efforts and local initiatives. And they
inaugurated a new FCS capability to support regional as well as
country marketing interests of U.S. business.

In addition to improving our performance in individual coun-
tries, we still face a compelling need to redeploy our limited per-
sonnel and budget resources to provide the greatest possible benefit
to U.S. business. First, we have underway now a detailed assess-
ment of worldwide staffing and progressive efforts to redeploy FCS
staffing according to need into international markets with the
greatest growth potential. Second, we are pursuing ways to in-
crease greatly the productivity of our efforts by contracting for our
fine commercial services, by greater use of the tremendous power
of word processing, by collaborating more closely with overseas
U.S. Chambers of Commerce, and by encouraging trade associ-
ations to underwrite market research or staff abroad which can
serve their industries by complementing the resources and capabili-
ties of the FCS, following the very successful cooperator formula
innovated by the Foreign Agricultural Service. However, our re-
sources are limited, but we can do an effective job within those
limits if we can overcome some restrictions on our ability to use
present budget resources.
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Overall, since the Congress indicated its intent to see created a
separate and independent Foreign Commercial Service, we have
gone far down that road. To create a separate and distinct service,
the originating State-Commerce memorandum of understanding
provided that senior commercial officers would report directly to
the Ambassador or the Deputy Chief of Mission and would be a
member of each Embassy’s country team. At the outset we defined
with the Department of State several instructions to clarify distinc-
tions in functional responsibilities between economic and commer-
cial sections. As a result, the reorganization has given the FCS a
separate identity and status and permitted us to realine functions
and establish clear commercial objectives and priorities.

Based on my recent meetings with 45 of our 66 senior officers I
am satisfied that in the vast majority of posts we have achieved
working and reporting relations within the Embassy which are in
those respects fully comparable to the separate status enjoyed by
the Foreign Agricultural Service.

At the same time, having inherited overseas staff levels signifi-
cantly lower than those of 6 years ago, FCS depends heavily for its
success and effectiveness on cooperative and closely coordinated
relations with sister services overseas. I am satisfied that through
the good will of all concerned we have struck a good balance
between separate status and cooperative relations. Secretaries Bal-
drige and Haig have recently reinforced the priority for effective
commercial work in posts abroad by urging all Ambassadors to
play an active part in promoting the trade and investment inter-
ests of the United States. Together we are working aggressively to
strengthen the international position of the United States and
thereby to help reinvigorate the U.S. domestic economy.

In closing, Mr. Chairman, I see the FCS making good progress
toward providing increasingly effective service to the business com-
munity. I was especially pleased to observe in the field the new
strength which our newly arrived private sector recruits are al-
ready beginning to bring to our service and the new spirit I find
among our experienced officers. While we face many difficult prob-
lems and have many shortcomings to conquer, I am satisfied, from
the increasing flow of letters of appreciation, that our direction is
right and that our progress is clearly discernable.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Cha‘i)rman GiBBoNS. Do we have others that have prepared state-
ments?

STATEMENT OF WILLIAM EDGAR, ACTING DEPUTY ASSISTANT
SECRETARY FOR TRADE AND COMMERCIAL AFFAIRS, DE-
PARTMENT OF STATE

Mr. EpcAr. Thank you. I would like to make a few oral remarks.
First of all, I would like to mention our relationship with the
Foreign Agricultural Service. We have enjoyed many, many years
of close cooperation with that service, and speaking on behalf of
my Department, our attitude toward them is one of very deep
admiration.

In my personal experience in Brussels at our Mission to the
European Communities and in our embassy in London and working
on U.S.-Soviet trade relations, I have worked very closely with our
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agricultural attachés. I can say that these are people who are
extremely well informed, very tough negotiators, and some of the
best salesmen for American products that I have ever seen.

Second, 1 would like to describe briefly what we at the State
Department have been doing in the interest of export development
ilgnBc(;a the Foreign Commercial Service came into being in April of

First of all, we have been managing the commercial function at
the 75 posts which remain our responsibility. These are not our
major trading partners. However, they do account for some $16
billion worth of our exports. We have developed in cooperation
with Commerce and with our geographic bureaus a Commercial
Activities Report which we have asked these posts to send in
describing what they feel their commercial program should be with
recommendations of specific events and activities.

In implementing these programs, we have received extremely
good cooperation from the Department of Commerce. They have
not taken the attitude that these 75 posts are outside their area of
responsibility. They have been giving us very good support in pro-
viding promotional materials and helping organize trade missions
and trade exhibits in these 75 countries.

Second, we have been working with the FCS, trying to give them
as much support as we can in getting them up and running and
engaged in all the activities that have been described. ,

S We transferred the 162 positions to the Foreign Commercial
ervice.

We have been providing Foreign Service officers to the FCS on a
transitional basis to fill these positions while the FCS is out re-
cruiting its own people. We were delighted to see that the FCS
recruited 40 Foreign Service officers to join their ranks.

We have been helping the Foreign Commercial Service with
their training programs, with their performance evaluation pro-
grams, with their inspection procedures, and we have worked out
an arrangement where we have been able to provide the FCS
people overseas with improved communications facilities between
Washington and the posts.

Finally, I would just like to mention that we feel that the com-
mercial function shouldn’t be seen necessarily in strictly commer-
cial terms that very often we find that businessmen overseas are
interested in coming into our embassies and talking with our eco-
nomic officers about the general economic conditions and prospects
of the country, and with our political officers about where the
country is going.

As you know, Secretary Haig has sent a cable out to ambassadors
urging them to attach very high priority to commercial operations.
I think a very important point of this cable was that every element
of the mission should be seen as part of this process. We are trying
to encourage our economic and political sections to be as responsive
as possible to businessmen who would like to talk with them about
what is going on in that country.

This is not just a matter of a single cable, as Bob Hormats said
yesterday. We are engaged along with Commerce and USTR in °
briefing ambassadors when they go overseas. At our level we are
doing this with economic officers going out to posts. As Bob said, .
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we see this not as a matter of sending out a cable or two, but as a
full court press on behalf of export promotion.

Thank you, sir.

Chairman GieBons. Thank you.

Mr. Smith?

STATEMENT OF RICHARD A. SMITH, ADMINISTRATOR, FOREIGN
AGRICULTURAL SERVICE, DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

Mr. SmitH. Mr. Chairman, I have a statement. To save some
time, I will just submit it for the record.

Chairman GiBBons. All right, sir. We will accept it for the
record.

Mr. SMITH. I just wanted to thank the chairman for having us at
this hearing.

I know you are fully aware agricultural exports are of immense
importance to American agriculture. We have had some statistics
cited here. One that 1 like to cite is over half of all of our grains
and soybeans are exported now. Without that business, our farmer
would have a hard time surviving. We put the greatest importance
on this. The President and the Secretary have given the highest
priority to our agricultural export program.

We look forward to working also with the Congress in any way
we can in carrying out this mission.

We certainly appreciate the support we have gotten from the
Congress over the years.

Thank you very much.

[The prepared statement follows:]

STATEMENT OF RICHARD A. SMITH, ADMINISTRATOR, FOREIGN AGRICULTURAL
ServICE, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

Mr. Chairman, we appreciate this opportunity to meet with the Subcommittee—to
discuss the export development work of the Foreign Agricultural Service and some
current issues in world trade.

Increasingly, the American farmer looks to export customers:

To provide markets for an expanding share of what he produces;

To make possible the most efficient use of his resources;

To maintain his income without undue dependence on U.S. government pro-
grams.

We are at the point where U.S. farmers now devote 110 million acres—a third of
their harvested cropland—to production for export. Half of all the grains and
soybeans they market are sold to foreign customers. About one-fourth of farm -
income is from export sales.

The most dynamic force in the farm economy is the growth in this overseas
business. Since 1970, U.S. agricultural exports have increased in value by almost six
times to more than $40 billion. Export volume has more than doubled—to more
than 160 million tons. The agricultural trade balance climbed to $23 billion in fiscal
1980—a 20-fold growth in 10 years.

These trends continue in the current year. We expect a substantial increase in
farm product exports this year—despite increasing competition from other suppliers
and a generally slow world economy.

THE WORLD ECONOMY

The world economy faces gloomy prospects this year, with restrained growth
expected for personal consumption expenditures and trade volume. Real economic
growth in the developed countries, including the United States, should average
about 1 percent, which would be near the 1980 rate. That average masks, however, a
deceleration from 2.3 to 1.0 percent in six major developed countries—Canada,
France, Italy, Japan, the United Kingdom, and West Germany.
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Most of these countries face high inflation and interest rates, large budget defi-
cits, rising energy prices, low levels of capital investment, lagging growth in capital
and labor productivity, and high unemployment rates. Most will be fighting infla-
tion with relatively tight monetary policies.

Less growth in real private consumption expenditures is predicted for all major
developed countries except the United States, Canada, and Japan. Average inflation
in the developed countries (excluding the United States) should fall from the 1980
rate of 11.5 percent to about 9.5. Unemployment rates are projected to rise in all
major developed countries this year and in early 1982.

The volume of goods exported by the developed countries as a group is forecast to
rise only 2.5 percent, with imports declining slightly. However, trade is expected to
be brisker in the second half of the year.

Except for the larger oil exporters, economic conditions in the rest of the world
are also depressed this year. Eastern Europe faces difficult economic problems;
Poland is particularly dependent on trade credits to finance imports and boost
economic growth. Many developing countries are squeezed between low growth in
export earnings—partly because of reduced demand by the recession-burdened de-
veloped countries—and sharply rising oil and food import bills and debt-service
payments. Their need for financial and food aid will increase.

The poor prognosis for growth in trade and personal consumption expenditures
abroad may dampen foreign demand for commodities, expecially livestock products,
feed grains, soybeans, and cotton, which are sensitive to changes in per capita
income. Also, any weakening of demand will be reinforced by the dollar’s recent
strength against many major foreign currencies. These factors make it more impor-
tant than ever that U.S. agriculture, trade, and governmental organizations put
forward an aggessive marketing posture in the years ahead.

EXPORTS: A HIGH PRIORITY

President Reagan and Secretary Block have made it very clear that agricultural
export programs are to have a high priority in this administration. This is evident
in their public statements and in the challenges placed before FAS. It is reflected in
the fact that the budget proposal for FAS is geared to maintain export program
levels in a year when many programs are being reduced, and in the fact that in the
same year CCC Export Credit guarantees are being increased by an additional $300
million and a total of $500 million in 1982.

We in FAS feel this responsibility most acutely. We understand that we are
expected to do a better job than ever within limited resources. In accomplishing
that, we expect to work more closely than ever with the private sector—to make our
programs more useful to farmers and traders—and to enlist their help in carrying
out our goal of export expansion.

The U.S. Government has a unique role to play in a world where state trading is
so common and economic decisions are so often political. At the same time, our
system requires in the final analysis that the private sector do the selling. We in
government do not carry order books.

Implicit in the present policy is a recognition that government’s contribution may
be as important for what it doesn’t do as for what it does do. The administration
takes the view that government should avoid export restraints except in extreme
situations and others artificial devices that restrict or allocate markets.

THE ATTITUDE TOWARD BILATERALS

One of the problems is that restriction generates restriction. For example, the
embarge of sales to the Soviet Union has made other customers uneasy and created
new pressures for bilateral agreements. A customer nation, when it becomes fearful,
wants to guarantee its future through a bilateral. And such an agreement, once
established, makes others want to follow suit before the total supply is allocated.

Secretary Block is on record many times opposing the proliferation of such
agreements. In his view, bilateral agreements generally run counter to the concept
of free market world trade and hinder trade growth. An increase in bilateral
agreements would make the job of developing new markets more difficult since
countries would be understandably reluctant to depend on U.S. supplies that might
already be largely committed elsewhere. In addition, potentially limited access to
supplies could discourage U.S. businessmen from seeking new markets outside areas
covered by agreements.

Secretary Block has indicated there is one exception, possibly two, to this posi-
tion—and that is where we are dealing with monopolistic economies such as the
Soviet Union and perhaps China and Mexico.
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A bilateral agreement with the Soviet Union may be needed once the embargo is
lifted—because of the way the Russians trade and their potential buying power.
China represent a different situation. The Chinese have not disrupted markets the
way the Russians have in the past, and their purchasing requirements are not
nearly so great. As for Mexico, there are pressures for a supply agreement, and here
again there are special factors to be considered. Any agreement with Mexico is
likely to be a best-intentions agreement without economic restrictions.

THE NEED FOR BETTER INFORMATICN

The primary mission of the Foreign Agricultural Service is to help American
farmers and traders increase export sales. FAS is organized to provide three basic
services to support export growth. These are to provide icultural and trade
information, to get and maintain market access for U.S. products, and to assist in
export sales.

The dynamic growth in agricultural trade and the increasing importance of
exports to farm income have made fast, accurate global information on crops and
trade increasingly crucial to farmers and traders. The same information is neces-
(slary to the Congress and Executive Branch in making farm legislation and policy

ecisions. -

FAS has developed a worldwide information network based on reports from its
attaches and counselors covering more than 100 countries. These reports are sent to
FAS Washington on both a scheduled and alert basis—about 5,000 reports a year.

In addition, information received by remote sensing (Landsat) and weather and
other agricultural data are analyzed, using advanced computer technology.

The global information from those and other sources is processed and analyzed by
FAS commodity and trade specialists in Washington for public dissemination.

THE NEED FOR GREATER ACCESS

Secondly, FAS works to provide and maintain access to foreign markets—an
effort that must be unrelenting if we are to deal with the protectionist pressures
that are all around us. The International Trade Policy staff coordinates and directs
the Department’s activities in international agreements and negotiations, identifies
trade barriers, and negotiates to remove them, coordinating with other U.S. govern-
ment agencies.

It represented U.S. agricultural interests in the Toyko Round of Multilateral
Trade Negotiations (MTN).

When the Trade Agreements Act of 1979 was passed approving the MTN agree-
ments, FAS was assigned the responsibility of monitoring the implementation of the
tariff concessions and trading codes that had been negotiated.

THE NEED FOR STRENGTHENING EXPORT PROGRAMS

Given information and market access, the final requirement in successful export-
ing is to develop the market, and FAS is working to strengthen our several pro-
grams.

We now have in our cooperator program some 55 nonprofit agricultural producer
and trade groups, organized along commodity lines. These groups stimulate exports
of their commodities through technical assistance, trade servicing, trade team ex-
chanies, and direct consumer promotion in foreign markets. The work is supervised
by FAS, and funding is shared.

About 40 private companies are now participating in an FAS Export Incentive
Program to promote brand name foods overseas.

FAS sponsors food-buyer trade shows and in-store promotions in foreign markets
to promote U.S. foods.

We have a computerized Trade Opportunity Referral Service (TORS), which
matches foreign buyers with American producers, and a parallel service (Contacts),
which does the reverse.

We continue to work with individual state departments of agriculture, and with
their four regional export expansion organizations. We are planning, with the state
agriculture departments, a major national trade show to bring potential buyers to
the United States in 1983.

Eight U.S. agricultural trade offices now provide one-stop service for U.S. export-
ers and foreign importers overseas. We expect to open three more trade offices by
the end of the year.

The Public Law 480 program and the Commodity Credit Corporation (CCC) Export
Credit Guarantee Program have been integrated into our market development
structurer. Public Law 480, a concessional sales program, is aimed primarily at

86-595 O—81——13
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balance of payment support in the economies of developing counries, many of which
have been cash customers for U.S. agricultural products. The CCC export credit
guarantees are made available for commerical exports of U.S. farm commodities.

STRENGTHENING GOVERNMENT-INDUSTRY COOPERATION

As we review these activities in light of budget restrictions and limitations on
government hiring, we are looking for ways to work more closely and more effec-
tively with the private sector.

For example, the improvement of our information/analysis system requires that
we be attuned to the needs of the end users in agriculture and industry. The
increasing sophistication of our collection system—better analysis—the speeding up
of dissemination—all of this will profit little unless we meet the needs of users.

Similarly, the negotiation of greater market access must be fitted to real market-
ing needs if it is to be worthwhile. When access problems develop, the private
exporter is usually the first to know. He is most directly affected and most interest-
ed in how the problem can be resolved. We are working with our cooperator
associations and with other private interests to assure a high degree of coordination
in the identification and resolution of access problems.

Finally, in all of our market development and credit programs, we are working
closely with private exporters, trade associations, as well as our cooperators to
strengthen our team approach to export expansion. As I mentioned earlier, the
public and private sectors each have particular roles to play in market development.
Many issues can only be dealt with on a government-to-government level, while
actual selling is the province of the private system. Also we are seeking ways in
which farm producers can participate more directly and contribute more directly to
export promotion efforts.

RECENT EXAMPLES IN MARKET DEVELOPMENT

There are many recent examples of successful government-industry cooperation.

Until five years ago, there were no identified soybean oil brands on the German
market, and no German oil processor was willing to take the lead in marketing an
identified brand. In fact, only 32 percent of the consumers in that country had even
heard of soybean oil. )

By putting up less than $300,000 in seed money, FAS was able to initiate a 3-year
promotion in which over $2 million was invested by the American Soybean Associ-
ation and a leading German oil firm. Now five years later, soybean oil accounts for
50 percent of total fats and oil consumption in Germany, and there are at least 10
identified soy oil brands in that market.

Another example of industry-government cooperation is the improved access for
U.S. high quality beef into European and Japanese markets. Before 1980, access for
U.S. beef was restricted by high tariffs and token quotas. Grain fed beef was limited
mostly to tourist class hotels in Europe and Japan. For the most part, native
consumers were unaware of U.S. quality.

Access for this beef (10,000 tons for the EC and up to 30,600 tons for Japan by
1983) was negotiated by the U.S. government. Promotion of this beef is the respon-
siblity of the U.S. Meat Export Federation, an FAS cooperator. As a result U.S. beef
had become well known in Japan, and U.S. beef is increasingly featured in Europe-
an stores.

There continue to be problems in expanding beef exports to Europe and Japan,
but much progress has been made as a result of government-industry cooperation.

Before 1979, the United States had never exported grain sorghum to Yugoslavia.
As a result of coordinated activity between the U.S. agricultural attache and the
U.S. Feed Grains Council, a $14 million sale was completed that year, and prospects
are good for further sales.

Following the 1979 purchase, a Yugoslav technical team came to the United
States to study livestock and poultry feeding. Growing out of that is a strong
interest among Yugoslavs in using a corn/sorghum blend for livestock and poultry.

In the past two years, nine of our cooperator associations have worked with FAS
in opening the Chinese market, which grew from $600 million in 1978 to $1 billion
in 1979 to almost $2 billion in 1980.

For example, the American Soybean Association has established market develop-
ment activities in China for consultation on oil refining, direct uses of soy foods,
soybean meal quality control, and the utilization of soybean meal in swine and
poultry production. A demonstration in Shanghai of saving male dairy calves by
feeding them soy-based milk replacer has also been intitiated.
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This undertaking to penetrate and expand the large new market of China is
typical of the complementary joint efforts of the Foreign Agricultural Service and
market development cooperators. At the government-to-government level, FAS offi-
cials, including the Agricultural Counselor stationed in Beijing, established a real-
tionship which opened the way for the joint FAS/ASA market development activi-
ties to get underway. The cooperators follow up to establish joint projects.

Before 1978, the Japanese would not let a significant quantity of U.S. oranges into
their country because of opposition from their own growers. With liberalization
negotiated in 1978 and 1980, Japan has now become one of the four largest foreign
markets for U.S. oranges. By 1983, the Japanese will be taking 83,000 tons of U.S.
oranges and increased amounts of orange juice and grapefruit juice. Trade groups
worked closely with FAS in the negotiation and in promoting U.S. oranges in the
Japanese market.

Mr. Chairman, we in FAS appreciate the forum that you and the subcommittee
are providing for a discussion of export issues. It is important that the American
people have a better understanding of the need for agricultural exports—and the
temendous stake we all have in maintaining a healthy climate for international
trade. It is really crucial that there be strong public support for a liberal trade
sistexg in a period when protectionist voices are growing louder at home as well as
abroad.

Thank you for the opportunity to meet with you.

Chairman GisBons. Fine, Mr. Smith.

I notice the Foreign Commercial Service has 175 officers em-
ployed overseas, and 507 nationals, 11 secretaries, and 693 total
people deployed overseas.

How does that compare with the deployment that you have
overseas?

Mr. SmitH. We have approximately 123 employees overseas. Of
those, roughly 100 would be professional.

Chairman G1BBONS. Are they concentrated in some areas and not
in others?

Mr. SmitH. We currently have about 70 posts around the world.

We tend to concentrate our people where we think the best
markets are.

Traditionally, that has been in your more developed countries
like Western Europe and Japan, and some of our Far East coun-
tries.

But that is starting to change now. We are starting to have to
make shifts in personnel as our markets shift around the world.

For example, this year Asia was our largest market for agricul-
tural products for the first time, exceeding Europe as a market.

Chairman GiBBONS. Are all your people engaged in selling oper-
ations, or are some of them doing other kinds of work?

Mr. SmitH. We approach the problem in an integrated fashion.
We think you have to do three things to do a successful job over-
seas.

One, you have to have good market information. You have to
know what is happening, what your markets are, what the compe-
tition is doing, what prices, qualities, and so forth are moving.

So we spend quite a bit of time keeping on top of the market
situation around the world for two purposes.

One, to keep our industry and trade apprised of what is happen-
ing, and also to keep our own policymaking machinery apprised.

The second effort that we think is extremely important is main-
taining access to markets. You have to get into the market in order
to be able to sell. Access involves two things. Sometimes opening
ﬁew markets, many times it is protecting access that you already

ave.
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So we spend quite a bit of time on that overseas.

Third, once you know what your market and what your strategy
is, and you have access to it, then we try to go in and sell the
products, and this takes many forms.

We have credit programs to assist our exporters.

We get involved sometimes with promotional work. We have
what I think is a unique program with our cooperators, over 50
organizations that represent U.S. producers and agribusiness
groups in the United States.

We work cooperatively with them. They go into countries and
perform all kinds of trade servicing functions. In some cases techni-
cal assistance to help develop, for example, a poultry industry that
would possibly lead to some increase in our exports of soybeans or
feed grains.

We do some actual promotional work. We do trade fairs, this
type of thing.

So those are basically our activities. We think they all go togeth-
er. It is very hard to separate them.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Do you operate out of the embassy or where
do you operate?

Mr. SmitH. Normally our agricultural attachés are in the embas-
sy. There are a few cases where they are in buildings outside the
embassy proper.

We also have 11 trade offices that are separated from the embas-
sies. In some cases they are colocated with our commerce col-
leagues. In other cases they are in private buildings.

These people concentrate basically on trade servicing and work-
ing directly with importers.

Sometimes security aspects of the embassy tend to inhibit people
coming into the embassy. That is one of the reasons we have
separated them out from the embassy.

Chairman GiBeoNs. I guess on a country by country basis it
would vary on security.

Mr. SmitH. Yes; that is correct. It would make a difference from
country to country.

Chairman GisBoNSs. How long have you been doing this and how
has your department grown?

Mr. SmitH. Well, actually in the present form it was in 1954 that
our program started, although you can trace it back further than
that.

In previous years it was mostly an information-gathering type
operation.

1954 is when we really went into the current concept of market-
ing and trade access.

In terms of numbers of people and budget, we are really not that
big. We have a total of 850 people in the Foreign Agricultural
Service. That has not really changed very much over the years.

Our budget is currently around $65 million. That has increased
with inflation and so forth, and also our programs are expanded.

Our agricultural exports 40 years ago were around $500 million.
Today they are close to $44 billion. Plus, we contribute quite a bit
to the balances of trade.

I think this has been one of the significant things.
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Chairman GiBBONS. Do you use the State Department’s commu-
nication network, or do you have your own?

Mr. SmiTH. We have opted from the beginning to tie directly into
the whole administrative setup of the State Department—their
communications. We also use on a reimbursable basis all of their
financial facilities and so forth.

We just felt given our size and numbers, it didn’t make sense for
us to have our own.

So we do use their facilities, except we do have a Telex system
which we can use for nonpolicy or unclassified communications,
and we do use this for a lot of the market development side of the
work, like trade leads, that type of thing.

Chairman GiBeoNs. Do your people have access to all of the
supporting facets around an embassy—health and all those?

Mr. SmiTH. Absolutely.

hC}}’airman GiBBONS. Any problems, any friction, anything like
that?

Mr. SmrTH. You always have certain instances, but on the whole
I think the relationship is excellent.

We have found, as was indicated in the testimony, Secretary
Haig, for example, on his own has sent out a message to all
ambassadors indicating the importance of agricultural exports and
asking them to cooperate and work with our agricultural attaches
and counselors.

I think the support from State has been excellent for us.

Chairman GieeoNSs. Do you have a head of a mission in each
country, or how are you structurally operating within a country?

Mr. SmitH. Well, we have what used to be called agricultural
attachés. Recently, we obtained authority to upgrade some of our
posts to the counselor rank. So we either have an agricultural
attaché or a counselor who is the top agricultural official at the
Embassy.

Depending on the size of the market and our activities, in our
larger posts we will have some assistant attachés. Japan is our
largest post, and we have one counselor and four assistants work-
ing there.

Most of our posts are one-man operations.

We also have staffs of local professionals which are I think a
very important part of our operation.

These are generally professionals that we hire locally. Most of
them have been educated in the States; many of them with ad-
vanced degrees, out of our best land-grant colleges who happen to
have come back to their country and worked with us for a number
of years.

We don’t have any what you would call very large operations.

The largest one is Japan, which is our largest market. We have a
total there of about 12 people, including secretaries, professionals,
and locals.

Chairman GiBeons. I asked all those questions about that be-
cause I wanted to get into our new department, and try to compare
the two. I realize comparisons are not really the proper way to
judge anything, but I just want to get a feel of this.

I run into your people quite often overseas, Mr. Smith, and have
been very impressed with them.
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Mr. SmrtH. Thank you.

Chairman Giseons. Mr. Heginbotham and Mr. Edgar, I know the
Foreign Commercial Service is relatively new. I think Congress
carved it out of the State Department really because we were
worried about the kind of hierarchial rating that commercial offi-
cers got in the whole State Department setup, and because we
thought perhaps there may be some slight conflict of interest in
these policies.

For some reason the State Department just was not getting the
kind of support that it needed in the whole operation.

I think people get mad at troubles around the world, and tend to
blame them all on the State Department. We try to separate that a
little. It is not a reflection upon the State Department. It is just a
fact that most of us get mad at the messengers when they deliver
the bad news.

That is the problem we had.

So we have a relatively new setup. None of us are sure it is the
right thing to do. I recognize, Mr. Edgar, what you said, the trade
has a lot of aspects other than just the commercial side.

I am interested in how this operation works.

First of all, I don't—Mr. Morris and Mr. Heginbotham—I don’t
think we have gotten nearly enough people over there to represent
us in the areas that need to be done.

Like you, I don’t want to do it all at the government level.

I have been trying to find ways to get export trading company
legislation enacted, and trying to even give scholarships for young
people to go over there and study and work with American busi-
ness and with the American Government.

. Uilfortunately, none of these things have been funded at any’
evel.

The scholarship programs and training programs are struggling
to get through the appropriations processes now.

I am not sure they are going to survive. The administration has
not been supporting them, but they have not been supporting a lot
of other things that we thought were useful either.

This is no criticism of the administration. I am very aware of the
dollar problems we have in our budget.

But it seems to me that we have got a necessity to expand our
export operations. I am not going to jump on you all because I
know you are new, and there is a transition going on, but when I
compare it, say, with France and other people, I am just shocked.

We either are going to be a heck of a lot better, or they have a
lot better people person for person or else we have got an entirely
different concept than they have.

Why do we feel that we can do the job with so few people
compared to what other countries are deploying around the world?

Mr. HEgINBoTHAM. Mr. Chairman I think it is useful to approach
that in an evolutionary way.

I think we have great opportunities to improve on what we are
doing presently in really quantum ways.

For example, I cited earlier the formula of the cooperator, which
Mr. Smith has also mentioned. I think it is worth the committee
noting what that relationship does in terms of effective availability
of resources to promote agricultural exports.
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Through this cooperator program, if I can speak in praise of the
FAS, some 24 of their 55 associations, have agreed to go almost in a
joint venture relationship with the Foreign Agricultural Service,
and have located, abroad some 120 cooperators. Those are staff
people out of the industry who work and are often colocated with
the Foreign Agricultural Service and provide support and direct
cooperative working relationships.

Now, through that program the FAS has managed in effect
almost to double its American staff by the presence of industry
cooperators, and has brought about in terms of resources a level of
total budget that is approximately triple what we have in the
Foreign Commercial Service.

So there is a beautiful illustration, Mr. Chairman, of how, by
achieving the kind of working relationship we would like to have
with American industry, you can multiply your effective capability
to work at promoting exports in that field.

This is a program for which we would like to provide the most
sincere form of flattery and imitate to the hilt, because I think it is
an excellent illustration of industry and government working to-
gether in a very close relationship.

Mention has been made of the telecommunications system of the
State Department, which is superb. We have found that by utiliz-
ing word processing equipment with a telecommunications capabili-
ty we can simplify many tasks and liberate our officers to a sub-
stantial extent, getting them away from their desks.

We are trying to introduce techniques to greatly reduce the desk
time of our officers, and get them out to do the market research,
secure the market access, and do the promotional work that Mr.
Smith has mentioned; this is an integral part of our operation as
well.

I think probably the most serious problem though, Mr. Chair-
man, that is worth highlighting, also—this is a long answer, but it
is an important question: Many of our competitors are able to go
out and promote their company’s interests in ways which we are
very limited at being able to do.

I think the best example of that is the minuscule trade and
development program that the United States has. This is a grant
feasibility program in which the United States presently has $4
million invested. Our competitors abroad have approximately 20
times that amount of money. It is a very small amount in global
terms, but what it does is to permit their officers to engage in very
direct types of promotional efforts with their industries.

It helps them to lock in on whole sectors of development that we
now find ourselves displaced from by the more effective programs
of other countries.

So, in sum, I think for us to multiply our effectiveness, we need
probably three things.

We need, first of all, the kind of working relationship that the
FAS has with its industry. We need, second, the legislation that
you have mentioned on export trading companies because, lacking
that, we simply don’t have the commercial infrastructure to help
us in our business, and, third, we could clearly use some improve-
ments in the kinds of Government programs that we can work
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with in competing with our very professional and skilled colleagues
from other industrial nations.

Chairman GisBoNs. I know you are just starting up. I know there
is a problem staffing these different offices, but I notice in the
People’s Republic of China you have three people altogether, for a
billion population.

In Singapore you have got 10 people for 2.5 million population.
In Hong Kong you have 11 people for about 2.5 million. I realize
that Singapore and Hong Kong are real commercial areas, and
there is lots of business around. I am not saying we have too many
there, but how about the People’s Republic of China? Why do we
have three there?

I could only find one when I was there.

Mr. HEGINBOTHAM. The Departments of State and Commerce
have been working for the better part of a year to work out
arrangements by which the FCS would enter into the People’s
Republic of China. That agreement was reached approximately 4
months ago now. Since that time we have moved as swiftly as
possible to put people into China.

We have at present an acting commercial counsellor in Beijing.
We have an officer assigned to Shanghai, and we will have a full—
a newly recruited commercial counselor with superb credentials
who will be arriving in Beijing before the end of the calendar year.

We are moving now with State’s cooperation and with the full
support of the Ambassador, to increase the number of FCS person-
nel in China.

As I say, we have evidence of their full support. The difficulties
arise out of housing and other very practical limitations, on how
many people you can locate in available housing.

By the middle of 1982, I would estimate that we will have ap-
proximately six or seven foreign commercial service personnel in
China as a whole.

With respect to Hong Kong, we had a total of 10 positions, 8 of
which are nationals. We only had two American positions in Hong
Kong, and we have subsequently added a third American position
to provide additional support for the regional marketing efforts of
American firms, and to strengthen our support of commercial ac-
tivities in southern China.

So we are moving along, I think, at a relatively good speed on
China at this point. There is not an overabundance of candidates
with expert language qualifications. So it does take a little time to
sort this out, but in the meantime, we are staffing with some TDY
personnel also.

Chairman GisoNs. You have previously 10 percent of all your
people in the whole service in Germany.

Mr. HecinBorHAM. That is correct. This situation exists because
Germany has more international fairs than any other nation in the
world, and a major part of our effort in Germany is to provide
support for getting more and more American companies to exhibit
at those international fairs in Germany.

As a result, in Germany we have not just a regional—I am
sorry—not just a country market staff, but also a regional support
base which covers not only all of Europe, but which reaches well
beyond to the Mideast.
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The second point. I have been concerned that the worldwide
distribution of positions that we inherited was not optimal.

As I mentioned earlier, we are now going through a very inten-
sive effort to reconsider and relocate personnel where the needs of
the market are greatest.

We are carrying that out in close coordination with the Depart-
ment of State and with the Embassies and expect to move an
increasing number of positions.

We have so far this year moved approximately 17 positions, or
have the movement in process through the mode system.

So I won't predict precisely what the number in Germany will be
at the end of this exercise. But I think that is one of the places we
are definitely looking at the utility of those personnel.

Chairman GisBoNs. What is your 1982 budget request for your
agency in terms of numbers of people and in terms of dollars?

Mr. HEGINBOTHAM. In terms of the request that is pending on the
Hill now, we have provided for an increase to staff the domestic
headquarters, and to increase our staffing in China. I believe that
is the total.

For this period I am satisfied that we have enough scope for
improving our present distribution of positions.

I think we can bring about a substantial improvement in our
performance with what is provided in that budget request.

Chairman GiBBONS. You have 175 officers on board now, 507
nationals, 11 secretaries, a total of 693 people.

What will you have at the end of 1982 if you get your budget
request?

Mr. HEcinBoTHAM. At the end of 1982 we will have approximate-
ly the same number of people. The number of 175 may be a little
high. I think we will be in that vicinity, but I would like to check
that number and give you a formal correction if I am wrong.

Chairman GiBBoNS. There is some disparity in the figures that I
see here, but it is roughly 175. We can’t do it on that. Only a
miracle with us running a trade deficit of—how many billions are
we going to run this year—nobody really knows—$12 billion,
maybe $20 billion on the commercial side, maybe $30 billion.

I don’t know what it is going to be.

It is going to be huge. I realize we cannot do it all through
Government employees.

I think you can see what I am thmkmg We are just not making
the effort.

I understand the problems that the Secretary has got, and OMB
has got, and the President has got, but we have a crisis on our
hands of major proportions in our balances of trade.

I don’t know—we are not meeting the crisis. I look at the drain
this balance is going to have on our country. I am surprised that
we are not just jumping up and down with this problem. It looks to
me like there ought to be White House conferences, there ought to
be everything else going on within our Government and every-
where else, and here I am one person in a hearing on Friday
afternoon, and nobody seems to give a damn.

Mr. HeEGINBOTHAM. Mr. Chairman, I think without any doubt
whatsoever, in terms of staffing and supporting American exports,
the one single thing that can be done that you are supporting, that
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we are supporting, is the passage of that export trading company
legislation.

By passing that bill, we will give the private sector an opportuni-
ty to begin to catch up with the competition.

I mentioned in earlier testimony that the U.S. exports only two
or less than 2 percent of its manufactured exports through trading
companies—because of obstacles to the creation of those companies.

The competition is exporting between 35 and 40 percent of its
exports through that means.

This means that a tremendous number of people in the private
sector in those economies are mobilized to carry out many of the
kind of services that we try and provide as a substitute.

So, without Government budget resources, in fact through a
means that will produce Government revenues, we have in the
export trading company legislation by far the quickest way of
addressing the lack of personnel and staffing needed to launch an
effective U.S. export program.

Certainly, the administration and you are very much in harmony
on that objective.

Chairman Giseons. I don’t want to make any promises, and
certainly no threats. I am going to have to be a lot more active in
calling attention to the fact that we have a major crisis on our
hands as far as our exports are concerned, as far as our balances
are concerned.

Some of it is an over-valued dollar. Some of it is years and years
of neglect. But I don’t detect the sense of urgency to get out and
solve the problem that I think we need to have.

I find the Members of Congress thrashing around aimlessly as to
how to solve the problem, but there is one obvious reason. We just
don’t have the effort out there that we need.

- Now, the effort is not going to solve all the problem, but we just
don’t have the effort.

I don’t know whether it is the fact that we have organized the
system wrong, or whether it is in a period of transition, or what,
but we are going to have to advertise this problem a lot more.

We, in our inspection trips overseas, when we talked to Ameri-
can business people and foreign nations, we ran into resistance
about going to the Embassy. Foreign nationals particularly will tell
you that going to the American Embassy has political connotations.

In some countries, they feel like they are being spied on with
people standing across the street taking the names of everybody
that goes into the Embassy. They don’t feel that restraint when
they go to someplace else that is away, a storefront or something
like that.

Maybe it is psychological, Marine guards and everything else.
Are we still operating out of embassies?

Mr. HEciNBoTHAM. Our response to that problem is as the FAS
has indicated, on a case-by-case basis. We have encouraged our
senior commercial officers to look actively at this question. In a lot
of locations, we are already in separate facilities, and that is par-
ticularly true in the Eastern European countries where the prob-
lem is most acute in political terms.

But in a number of other locations as well, we either already
have separate facilities or are looking actively at relocating.
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The reasons may be security. The reasons may be the inconven-
ience of the Embassy location compared to the commercial part of
town. A number of factors enter in.

We are located with the FAS in some locations.

We have just completed talks with the American chambers, and
I have asked both the chambers and our personnel to coordinate
their space planning, so that wherever there are opportunities to
colocate, either individual activities or the entire operations, and
when that makes sense, that we do so.

There are budget implications in this area, and we are looking at
a number of locations for which we are requesting funds to permit
relocation, but there is no uniform solution to this problem.

In some cases it makes more sense and is more advantageous to
be in the Embassy. In others, the contrary is true.

Chairman GiBBoNS. Let me talk about China a little while.

In China, the problem of housing both the commercial side and
family housing are impossible.

If we have to wait upon the Chinese to provide it or wait for it to
appear on the market, it would be a couple of centuries down the
road before we get it, I am afraid.

I made suggestions, and I am glad you are here, Mr. Morris,
because I think the only thing we can do is fly in prefabricated
structures, offices and housing, and that includes everything from
water purification to sewage disposal, and just set them up.

We are going to have to somehow get a piece of land to set them
up on, and that is complicated enough.

If we have to wait for the Chinese to provide them, for their
infrastructure to build them, I don’t see how they will ever get
there until after the turn of the century, really.

Why can’t we do that? There are no roads. You can’t bring them
in on ships and drag them any place to set them up. There is no
housing. Well, the housing of people is vastly overcrowded, and it
seems to me it is going to be vastly overcrowded until well past the
turn of the century. If you had 100 people, you wouldn’t have any
place to put them.

Mr. Mogrris. We have recently entered into an agreement with a
Chinese individual who is building a major hotel, as you know, in
Beijing, so that we will have space there short term for our people.

The Embassy is enlarging their compound, and they have given
us additional space when the new compound is available but I have
to say quite honestly, what you have suggested is very innovative
and something that we had not thought about and I would like to
look into that.

Chairman GiBeoNs. We've got a lot of C-5’s laying around Japan,
and I don’t know why we couldn’t borrow them and land some
prefabricated water purification systems and homes over there.

Of course, we've got to get permission from the Chinese to do all
of this and that will not be very easy, but one of the things we
need, as I see China, is people away from Beijing.

We visited Shenyang and Dalian and talked to the local officials
there, and a lot of their procurement is highly decentralized.

I don’t think China is as highly centralized, particularly on a
commercial basis, as we sometimes feel that it is, although I must
say I don’t understand their system.
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They have much more power and in the decisionmaking process,
the local manufacturers do, than I had imagined.

It is going to be necessary to get commercial people spread
throughout China.

‘We found in Shenyang that there was a lot of commercial oper-
ation already going on with the United States in machine tools,
and we have no one out there to help the American businessman
o}rlle way or the other, either purchasing or selling those kinds of
things.

The same in Dalian for diesel engines, and powerplant equip-
ment, and yet we found Japanese all over the place.

We found other foreign countries all over the place, not to the
extent the Japanese are, but not the American presence. I don't
know how we have gotten our trade up as high as we have with
China, unless it is all agricultural trade, with the kind of support
we have over there.

The trade opportunities are tremendous, but we are going to
hl';ive to have a lot of American business people on the ground
there.

Mr. Morris. There was a resurgence of American business people
there, and all of a sudden, the Chinese had the retrenchment.

We have lost a good bit of American presence which we are
trying to encourage them to go back, because long term, this is a
tremendous opportunity, and if we back off now, as they develop
their infrastructure, we are going to be losing.

We will have officers in Shenyang and Shanghai, and we already
have a commercial officer in Guangzhou, so we are moving in that
direction, but not as fast as any of us would like.

I would like to explore the possibility that you mentioned with
the prefab housing.

Chairman GisBons. We talked with the Chinese officials about it,
I think they understood what we are saying, and I don’t find that
they are resisting it.

I got the impression that they were anxious to cooperate, because
they realize that they have got to move rapidly. Every time you try
to build a big building, you've got to dislocate a heck of a lot of
people and they have such a tremendous demand for housing them-
selves, that they have got political problems. So I realize you are
going always to run into some bureaucratic problems getting a
piece of land.

I think that that is a way we can begin to penetrate that market.

Mr. Mogris. I would like to pursue that and come back to you
after the February visit.

[A letter follows:]

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE,
INTERNATIONAL TRADE ADMINISTRATION,
Washington, D.C., December 31, 1981.

Hon. SaAM M. GiBBONS,
Chairman, Subcommittee on Trade, Committee on Ways and Means,
House of Representatives, Washington, D.C.

DEAR MR. CHAIRMAN: Following up on your concern, expressed during the Sub-
committee’s oversight hearings on November 2, concerning office space and housing
for the Foreign Commercial Service in Beijing, I want to report to you the status of
our efforts to alleviate that problem. I have also explored the possibility of erecting
prefabricated structures to accommodate our personnel.
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On a number of occasions in the past, we have approached the Chinese govern-
ment to permit us to set up prefabricated buildings. Our requests were turned down.
However, we now have well advanced plans for construction of office facilities for
the FCS in the new Embassy compound. We are working closely with the Chinese
and hope to reach final agreement on the specific design and costs very soon. In the
meantime, we are also in the midst of negotiations to secure space in the new
Holiday Inn Hotel, which we expect to be available shortly. Consequently, I believe
that we are well on the way to resolving our most serious space problems.

I appreciate the Subcommittee’s concerns about the effective operation of the
Foreign Commercial Service in China, and would be pleased to discuss these matters
with you at any time.

Sincerely,
W. H. MoRRIs, Jr.,
Assistant Secretary for Trade Development.

Chairman GiBBONs. Let me ask about State Department coopera-
tion and interagency action.

I realize that other witnesses have said that there is an admon-
ishment or encouragement out from the Secretary of State to work
and to push all of these things, and I realize there is a little
resentment left in the State Department that they no longer have
this function.

In addition to the Secretary’s cable, how do these Agriculture
and Commerce people operate within the State Department?

The Ambassador is sort of the boss over there, in all these
countries. Well, how does this really work?

Mr. EpGAR. In terms of any kind of residual resentment, that is
well behind us. We are trying to do a job here and work with
Commerce, and we consider it extremely important.

In terms of how the system works overseas, that tends to vary
‘from post to post, depending on the size of the post, and on the
availlable resources and on the relationships between the various
people.

The Ambassador is the boss and the organization at the post is
for him to decide.

One element of trade reorganization which Mr. Heginbotham has
alluded to was an effort to give the commercial people more scope
to do their own thing in posts overseas, and I think that one of the
results of trade reorganization is that they are not burdened with
duties on the economic side. They can devote all their time and
energy to commercial promotion. That is one of the positive results
of reorganization.

I can appreciate the value of locating the commercial operations
outside the Embassy. I can see places where that is very important
for the reasons that you have said. However, I think it is also very
important for the economic and commercial and agricultural atta-
chés to work very closely together. I think their work often over-
laps. They have a lot of information ahd advice that they can
usefully give to each other. The economic officers can benefit a lot
from the experience that the commercial officers are having in a
country and vice versa. The commercial function is more clearly
defined as a result of trade reorganization, and that is a good
thing, but in our view, it is important not to carry that too far and
very close cooperation is necessary.

Chairman GiBBoNS. Let me call attention to a program we ran
into in Dalian. ’
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It is an excellent program. There were four U.S. college profes-
sors with their families over there teaching management to the
Chinese.

We had a very interesting session with those people and their
tflamilies, and we really appreciate the excellent work they were

oing.

We inquired about what other countries were doing, and we
found that everybody was doing far more in that area than we are.
I am talking about the Japanese, the Germans, and I don’t know
whether the French had anybody there, but everybody else that is
big in trade had lots of people over there trying to teach the
Chinese something about marketing, and about management and
those kinds of things. '

They seemed to be, from what we could determine, widely re-
spected and excellent ambassadors of this country.

Mr. Morris. It is operating under the Department of Commerce
irésozur East-West trade area and we are expanding it in fiscal year
1982,

Chairman GiseoNs. Well, good, I am glad to hear that because I
think it was very effective from what I could see.

The Chinese seemed to like it. Our own people were getting a lot
out of it, and I hope that we can expand that kind of operation into
something. It is something the State Department is out to try to
chip in on too.

It is an excellent program.
hCa})n you give me some idea about how much we intend to expand
that?

Mr. Morris. My understanding is that where you had four pro-
fessors teaching there at the time you were there, that will be
doubled in the next, well, in fiscal year 1982.

As you point out, it is a little, a very small amount, but it is a
start.

We are really monitoring it the first year to find out how suc-
cessful it would be and how they would accept us. Some of their
people were here about a month ago and we renegotiated for the
next year.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Do we do that anyplace else in the world
except in China?

Mr. Morris. No, sir, not to my knowledge.

Chairman GiBBONs. I say to you, Mr. Edgar, that is something
that you all ought to think about.

I would encourage you at the top levels to get together and talk
about that, because I think that is a program that offers a tremen-
dous amount of opportunity for us on a commercial basis, and on
just a goodwill basis.

Mr. Epcar. I agree with you fully. We will look into it and see
the extent to which it can be expanded to other areas.

Chairman GisBons. I have more questions but I know it is get-
ting late and I will submit them in writing.

Thank you very much.

[The questions and answers follow:]

Question. What ranks or titles are accorded to FCS personnel? How many: (1)
Ministers, (2) Counselors, (3) Secretaries, and (4) Attaches.

Answer. (1) Ministers—0, (2) Counselors—29, (3) Secretaries—42, (4) Attaches—31,
and (5) Consuls—17.
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Foreign Commercial Service Officers receive the rank of Counselor, Secretary of
Embassy or Attache when serving at Embassies. They receive the rank of Consul
when serving at constituent posts such as a Consulate or Consulate General.

Question. Many embassies have State Department economic officers with the rank
of Minister. Why is Commerce not represented at that rank? The Diplomatic List in
Washington has listed many foreign commercial officers with rank of Minister or
Minister-Counselor.

Answer. Prior to the Trade Reorganization Act of 1979 and the State-Commerce
Memorandum of Understanding, which transferred the commercial function from
State to Commerce for the major U.S. export market countries, some very large U.S.
Missions were structured in such a way that commercial interests were represented
at the highest level by an Economic/Commercial Minister. Since the Reorganization
and Memorandum of Understanding, establishing (1) that Senior Commercial Offi-
cers (SCO’s) report directly to the Ambassador and (2) that SCO’s are members of
the country team, the highest rank held by any SCO has been Commercial Counsel-
or. At the same time, Senior Economic Officers have retained their rank as Minis-
ters, while dropping the combined Economic/Commercial designation. In the near
future, the FCS plans to seek Minister titles for its Senior Commercial Officers in a
limited number of countries where U.S. commercial interests are critical and where
diplomatic rank often plays a decisive role in the advancement and safeguarding of
those interests.

Questions. 1 notice from my briefing material that in Japan Commerce has 42
employees, only one of which is a secretary. The poor girl must have to work 41
hours a day to handle the work of 41 officers and nationals.

Please explain to me the nature of the FCS work in Japan that justifies their
ratio.

My table shows only 11 FCS secretaries worldwide to serve 682 officers and
nationals. How can you get the work out with staffs like that?

Answers. We actually have 5 secretaries in Japan working in the Commercial
Section. Four are Japanese nationals and one is an American Secretary. The 11 FCS
Secretaries listed on the table are all Americans. In addition we have some 80
foreign nationals working as secretaries around the world. They are part of our
headcount of 488 Foreign Service Nationals. We think the ratio of officers to
Secretaries is satisfactory.

Question. 1 understand that the Foreign Agricultural Service and the Treasury
Attaches abroad have telex systems separate from the State Department’s commu-
nications system. Can Commerce communicate with its overseas posts directly as
Agriculture and Treasury apparently do?

If not, does Commerce consider it a handicap to have to communicate solely
through State Department channels?

Answer. Thirty-nine FCS posts abroad have telex systems separate from the State
Department’s communications system. The posts range in size from some of our
largest, such as Tokyo and Bonn, to some of our smallest, such as Quito and Abu
Dhabij. Within FCS’ limited resources, we hope to meet the needs of six other FCS
posts requesting telex installations in fiscal year 1982, and we will continue to
examine the need for telexes in the remaining posts. Overall, we do not consider it a
handicap to have to communicate through State Department channels, given the
nature of the worldwide service which we receive.

Question. Mr. Heginbotham, you listed in your testimony a number of ways in
which the FCS helps U.S. business abroad. Could you give us some idea as to your
relative priorities in these activities, how much of your limited resources and budget
are spent, for example, on trade fairs and other promotion events, as opposed to
MTN monitoring and reporting, and advising and developing opportunities for U.S.
business directly?

Answer. The FCS in conjunction with all elements of the International Trade
Administration is continually reassessing the relative priorities of its various activi-
ties designed to assist U.S. business abroad. We have attached a listing of FCS’
activities in fiscal years 1981 which shows the percentage of time and monies spent
on each activity. The table also shows our projections for fiscal years 1982 and 1983.
MTN activities are shown as part of the larger categories of “Non-Trade Promotion
Activity.” MTN activities, including government tenders, constituted 2.255 percent
of FCS activities in fiscal year 1981. We anticipate that this percentage will increase
in fiscal years 1982 and 1983.
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FCS PORTION OF FOLLOWING TP AREAS

Fiscal year 198{5 budget Fiscal year 1982 budget Fiscal year 1981 budget
reques

Activily — Percent of Percent of
w e om OO oq
Commercial intelligence...........ovovovecsvevesrorrsvssmnmmrenens $10,454,640 24 $8,372,880 24 $6,590,160 24
WTDR 3,484,880 8 2,790,960 8 2196720 8
ADS 2,178,050 5 1,744,350 5 1372950 5
TOP'S and tENDErS.........cocveereromrenrerrerssmonensacens 2,178,050 5 1,744,350 5 1,372,950 5
2] 435,610 1 348,870 1 274,590 1
Major projects 1,742,480 4 1395480 4 1,098,360 4
WITS 435,610 1 348,870 1 274,590 1
Event support 5,227,320 12 4,186,440 12 3,295,080 12
FBP 1,742,440 4 1,395480 4 1,098,360 4
Trade fairs 1,309,530 3 1,046,610 3 823,770 3
Trade missions 1,309,530 3 1,046,610 3 823,770 3
Other events
MR for 0/S events............oveermrreeeeveenrrerrssnnns ] 371,220 2 697,740 2 549,180 2
OTEXA events ‘
Nonevent market reSearch ..........cocoueeseeerervcerrvrnnienns 871,220 2 697,740 2 549,180 2
Business counseling 8,712,200 20 6,977,400 20 5,491,800 20
Trade promotion assistance to local business
community 6,098,540 14 4,884,180 14 3,844,260 14
Planning and support for trade promotion activity... 3,484,880 8 2,790,960 8 2,196,720 8
.. 1,306,830 3 1,046,610 3 823,770 3

Trade promotion support to other agencies
Nontrade promotion activity..... 7,405,370 17 5,930,790 17 4,668,030 17

Total 43,561,000 100 34,887,000 100 27,459,000 100

[=3
P=3

Chairman GiBoNs. We next go to a panel on trade-related in-
vestment. :
Well, Mr. Bale, we will lead off with you and you may proceed as

you wish.

STATEMENT OF HARVEY E. BALE, JR., ASSISTANT U.S. TRADE
REPRESENTATIVE FOR INVESTMENT POLICY

Mr. BaLk. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

My name is Harvey Bale. I am Assistant U.S. Trade Representa-
tive for Investment Policy. Testifying with me today are Mr.
Joseph Dennin to my right, Deputy Assistant Secretary for Finance
and International Services, with the Department of Commerce.

To my far left, Mr. John McCarthy, Director of the Office of
Investment Affairs, Department of State, and Mr. Frank Vuk-
manic, Director of the Office of International Investment Policy,
Department of the Treasury.

We all thank you for the opportunity to appear before you on
this committee, to address the question of U.S. investment policy
and its significance for international trade.

I might just say that we have delivered to you copies of our
written presentation, and we will perhaps extract and discuss from
the paper.

Chairman GiBBoNs. You may be assured that your full statement
Willhbe in the record, and you may proceed to summarize, as you
wish.

Mr. BALE. U.S. investment policy very much has a trade orienta-
tion. We see a very strong link between our investment position
abroad, which is quite substantial, and trade.



203

Last year in 1980, there was a total of $213 billion in direct U.S.
investment abroad. This figure exceeds our total exports for that
year, and according to Commerce Department figures, roughly one-
third of our exports abroad are between U.S. companies and affili-
ates of U.S. companies abroad.

Furthermore, I glean from some of the statistics produced by the
Commerce Department, the fact that for every $100 of imports of
manufactures from U.S. affiliates abroad, we export approx1mately
$160 worth of manufactures.

Our view is that there is a positive association between our
foreign investment abroad, and trade, our exports.

I would like to discuss briefly our overall investment policy, the
last summary statement on U.S. policy toward foreign investment
was issued in 1977 after an extensive policy review. The statement
indicates that it is U.S. policy neither to encourage nor discourage
the inflow or outflow of foreign investment.

This statement can be viewed as a noninterventionist, liberal
investment policy attitude—which this administration supports. It
is in the interests of our country and other countries of the world—
especially LDC’s—to have capital flowing as freely as possible. The
free flow of capital as well as goods, will tend to support the goals
of sound economic policy and maximize economic growth at home
and abroad.

Unfortunately, this 1977 neutrality statement leaves the impres-
sion that the U.S. Government takes a hands-off policy toward
international investment barriers. In fact, the administration
should not and does not have a neutral or benign-neglect attitude
toward foreign investment issues.

The administration is now actively pursuing three related objec-
tives. The first is the liberalization of barriers and reduced distor-
tions to international investment in both developed and developing
countries. Reduced obstacles to U.S. investment abroad is likely to
enhance U.S. competitiveness and exports.

The second objective is the particular encouragement of a great-
er role for private foreign investment in the economic development
of the less developed countries. Foreign aid alone cannot sustain
economic growth in the absence of greater participation by domes-
tic and foreign entrepreneurial capital.

The third is the maintenance of the maximum feasible degree of
openness of the U.S. economy to the contribution of foreign direct
investment.

We should maintain this general open policy. We do not want to
damage the reputation that the United States has for welcoming
foreign investment, with its benefits for creating jobs, introducing
Islew techniques and improving the financial vitality of the United

tates.

We will, of course, be in a stronger position to resist efforts to
restrict investment from overseas if we are successful in removing
foreign obstacles to U.S. investment abroad.

This non-neutral view toward the removal of obstacles to inter-
national investment by the United States characterizes our ap-
proach to this issue.

It is because of the strong linkage between trade and investment
that the administration has a particular concern about internation-

86-595 O—81——14
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al investment barriers and investment distorting policies. An open
international investment environment is essential for an open and
expanding network of international trade. Neverthless, while
successive rounds of negotiations have substantially reduced tariff
barriers and countries have begun to liberalize a number of nontar-
iff barriers, restrictive and trade-distorting investment policies
have become an increasing problem for the United States and
other investing countries. Because they have not been adequately
dealt with, certain trade-distorting investment policies have
become more commonly used internationally.

Furthermore, there is a certain urgency in dealing with the
problem because, as these policies become more widespread and
integrated into the global economic structure, it will be increasing-
ly difficult to gain discipline over their use.

There has been an absence of significant progress in dismantling
interventionist foreign investment policies—indeed, in preventing
at least until now, the further spread of new forms of intervention.

This country believes that liberal economic policies should gener-
ally apply to both international flows of goods and investment.

Many other countries, while accepting the rules of the GATT
which constrain the use of restrictive trade policies, intervene
heavily in the investment decision process by first, imposing obsta-
cles to the entry of foreign investors into their country; second,
discriminating against foreign investors in the administration of
tax, subsidy, and import and export licensing policies; and third,
frequently linking the permission for entry of foreign investment
or the provision of investment incentives to certain “performance
requirements.”

In a paper recently presented to the member countries of the
GATT, the United States listed a number of performance require-
ments and restrictions placed on foreign investors.

The ones that we are most concerned about in the trade environ-
ment are the so-called export performance requirements or import
substituting or local content requirements.

In the case of export performance requirements, foreign inves-
tors are required to export a minimum volume or percentage of
their output, often as a condition for an investment incentive—for
example, a tax holiday or cost subsidy.

This practice creates an export subsidy which we believe runs
counter to the recently negotiated GATT code on subsidies and
countervailing duties.

Local content and import substitution requirements divert pur-
chases of foreign-owned firms away from sometimes preferred for-
eign suppliers toward local producers.

These local content requirements are the functional equivalent of
quotas, which also run counter to the GATT.

A recently published benchmark “Survey of U.S. Direct Invest-
ment Abroad, 1977,” conducted by the Bureau of Economic Analy-
sis [BEA], questioned 23,641 U.S. nonbank affiliates of nonbank
parents about their experiences with foreign government practices
of granting investment incentives and levying performance require-
ments.

The survey found that on average 14 percent of U.S. affiliates
overseas were subject to one or more performance requirements.
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Chairman GiBBoNs. You are talking about export performance
requirements?

Mr. BaLE. Both types, export performance requirements in which
a company is required to export a minimum or import substituting
performance requirements in which case an investor is required to
sole source locally for some of his parts and components.

Chairman Giseons. If that is not an unfair trade practice, I
never saw one.

Mr. BaLE. Mr. Chairman, we agree with you on that point.

Chairman GiBBoNs. What are we going to do about it?

Mr. BaLe. Well, we have an effort under way now in the GATT
to bring the attention of the GATT member countries to the issue
of performance requirements.

The Secretariat of the GATT has recently issued a paper at our
request identifying some of the work that is going on in the OECD,
the World Bank, and the U.N., on this issue, as well as raising
certain questions that we think are appropriate for the GATT, for
example, the applicability of the GATT articles to these perform-
ance requirements.

Aside from getting the attention of other countries in a multilat-
eral forum such as the GATT, we have held and are holding a
number of bilateral consultations with countries which use these
performance requirements.

Most of the consultations we have held in the past on this issue
have been with our North American trade partners, Canada and
Mexico.

We need and are planning to become more aggressive pursuing
our liberalization objectives in this area. We think, as I mentioned
just now, that the performance requirements, in our view, are in
violation of the GATT and we intend to raise this matter in bilater-
al consultations, both outside and within the GATT context.

Chairman Giseons. I am sure we will want to come back to this.

I am sorry to interrupt you there. You may proceed.

Mr. Baik. I think in fact your question has taken me to the
bottom line of my message, which is that the administration,
through the agencies which are presented here today, and in co-
ordination, are working on this issue. The Trade Policy Committee
is developing a strategy on how to attack these problems.

Performance requirements are becoming more commonplace. As
the Commerce Department study indicates, we have an instance in
India where 60 percent of affiliates there are subject to perform-
ance requirements. Other developing countries are generally less of
a problem, but still a very significant problem.

In some of our developed country partners this is a very serious
problem. We point out in our testimony that we are very much
concerned about the trend of policy in Canada, which is our largest
trade partner, a country with whom we have had extensive trade
and investment relationships for many years. We are very much
concerned about the trend there.

We have had some bilateral consultations on the so-called foreign
investment review agency, which is the embodiment of the invest-
ment policy generally in Canada—a policy which has caused U.S.
investors a number of problems.
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We are now engaged in a major effort to deal with a major
nontariff barrier. The recognition of investment barriers as a trade
problem has only recently been recognized and dealt with, but I
must say, speaking for my colleagues, I think that you have in the
administration full attention to the problem of performance re-
quirements and other investment barriers that affect adversely our
trading relationship with our trade partners.

[The prepared statement follows:]

STATEMENT OF HARVEY E. BALE, JR., AssiSTANT U.S. TRADE REPRESENTATIVE FOR
INVESTMENT PoLricy

Mr. Chairman, I am Harvey E. Bale, Jr., Assistant United States Trade Repre-
sentative for Investment Policy. Testifying with me today are Joseph Dennin,
Deputy Assistant Secretary for Finance, Investment and Services, Department of
Commerce, John McCarthy, Director of the Office of Investment, Department of
State; and Frank Vukmanic, Director of Office of Investment Policy, Department of
the Treasury. I thank you and the members of this Committee for giving us the
opportunity to address the question of U.S. policy toward foreign direct investment
and its significance for international trade.

During the post World War II period there have been three dominant trends in
international investment flows. During the early post-war period U.S. capital, in-
cluding both debt and equity, was used to help rebuild the economies of Western
Europe and Japan. U.S. investment in developing countries also played a significant
role in the economic growth of many of those countries. The benefits of increased
direct investment to host countries have been additional employment; additional
capital to expand plant capacity or create new facilities; the facilitation of transfer
and application of new technology; and the encouragement of competition.

From the early 1960’s through the mid-1970’s rapid development of international
direct investment both in absolute terms and relative to the growth of trade,
domestic investment and GNP. Over the 1960-73 period, the average annual growth
rate of the total value of international direct investment from the thirteen largest
OECD countries was over 12 percent a year. This figure was approximately one and
one-half times the average growth of OECD output, and practically the same as the
growth of international trade (14 percent). The U.S. was the principal source of
foreign investment, although Europe began to be more active as a source.

U.S. direct investment abroad grew from $11.8 billion at year end 1950 to some
$140 billion by the mid-1970’s (and $213 billion by year-end 1980). Most of this
increase was channelled to the developed countries which, by the mid-1970’s, ac-
counted for some 70 percent of the total, compared with less than 50 percent in
1950. Investors have been attracted by the relatively prosperous and stable econo-
mies of the developed countries.

The period since the mid-1970’s stands in quite sharp contrast with the period
which preceded it in a number of important respects.

A slowdown in the real growth of direct investment flows has occured. The
average annual growth rate of the total value of outward direct investment from
the thirteen largest OECD countries in the period 1974-79 was slightly less than the
1960-73 period (11.9 percent versus 12.6 percent). After discounting for inflation
there has been a sharp deceleration in real terms. However, international direct
investment has grown more rapidly than domestic investment, suggesting that
multinational enterprises may have been better able to adapt to less favorable
investment opportunities in the developed nations where they had their traditional
operations.

While U.S. direct investment aboard still predominates, our share of total invest-
ment flows from OECD countries has fallen. As a percentage of outward direct
investment of the thirteen largest OECD countries, the U.S. share has decreased
from a peak approximately 60 percent in the mid-1960’s to about 35 percent in the
late 1970’s. West Germany'’s share of OECD direct investment flows grew from 7.2
percent during the 1961-67 period to 17 percent during the 1974-79 period. Japan’s
share grew from 2.4 percent to 13 percent, including extensive manufacturing
investments in the Pacific Basin, and France’s share expanded from 6.9 percent to
7.8 percent.

Recently, there has been a sharpening of differences in the ability of developing
nations to attract investment. The growth of international direct investment from
the fourteen major OECD countries to the developing countries has increased over
the last few years in current and real terms, reversing the generally declining trend
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of earlier periods. For example, the average annual growth rate of total direct
investment during the 1973-78 period was about 19 percent, up to 10 percent from
the previous five-year period. But this investment has been concentrated heavily in
a few countries, such as the Republic of Korea, Taiwan, Singapore, Hong Kong and
Brazil, which have emphasized export-led growth or offered a big protected market.
Such investment has played a major role in the rapid growth of manufacturing and
export receipts. In contrast to the experience of these countries, domestic and non
service sector international direct investment has tended to stagnate in other devel-
oping countries, with the exception of the oil producing countries.

U.S. private direct investment has contributed significantly to the economic devel-
opment of the LDC’s. U.S. investment in the LDC’s in 1980 reached $53 billion,
representing a 174 percent increase over the U.S. investment position in 1970. U.S.
investment flows to LDC’s have represented approximately 50 percent of the invest-
ment by all OECD countries into the LDC’s.

Our private direct investment in LDC’s represents. However, only 20 percent of
our total foreign investment; furthermore, the large majority of the increase in U.S.
investment in LDC'’s since 1970 has been concentrated in relatively few countries—
Bermuda, Brazil, Mexico, the Bahamas and Panama. These five countries account
for 75 percent of the increase in U.S. investment between 1970 and 1980. Further-
more, much of the increased U.S. investment in these countries is related to finan-
cial activities; for example, in; the Bahamas and Bermuda. While it should be
expected that special circumstances including the size and growth of the local
economy and special incentives should result in some concentration of investment in
these countries, there are obviously impediments working against greater U.S.
investment in other developing countries. Primarily, it is the current attitude of
many LDC governments toward foreign investment, as well as the perceived politi-
cal risks associated with investing in many of the LDC’s.

THE OVERALL U.S. INVESTMENT POLICY

A comment is in order on the official U.S. policy regarding international direct
investment. The last summary statement on the U.S. policy toward foreign invest-
ment was issued in 1977 after an extensive policy review. This statement indicates
that it is U.S. policy neither to encourage nor discourage the inflow or outflow or
foreign investment.

This statement can be viewed as a non-interventionist, liberal investment policy
attitude—which this Administration supports. It is in the interests of our country
and other countries of the world—especially LDC’s—to have capital flowing as
freely as possible. The free flow of capital as well as goods, will tend to support the
goals of sound economic policy and maximize economic growth at home and abroad.

Unfortunately, this 1977 “neutrality” statement leaves the impression that the
U.S. Government takes a hands-off policy toward international investment barriers.
In fact, the U.S. Government should not and does not have a neutral or benign-
neglect attitude toward foreign investment. The Administration is now actively
pursuing three related objectives. The first is the liberalization of barriers and
reduced distortions to international investment in both developed and developing
countries. Reduced obstacles to U.S. investment abroad is likely to enhance U.S.
competitiveness and exports. The second is the particular encouragement of a
greater role for private foreign investment in the economic development of the less
developed countries. Foreign aid cannot sustain economic growth in the absence of
greater participation by domestic and foreign entrepreneurial capital. The third is
the maintenance of the maximum feasible degree of openness of the United States
economy to the contribution of foreign direct investment.

We should maintain this general open policy. We do not want to damage the
reputation that the United States has for welcoming foreign investment, with its
benefits for creating jobs, introducing new techniques and improving the financial
vitality of the United States. We will, of course, be in a stronger position to resist
efforts to restrict investment from overseas if we are successful in removing foreign
obstacles to U.S. investment wherever possible. This non-neutral view toward the
removal of obstacles to international investment by and in the U.S. characterizes
our approach to this basic policy.

THE INVESTMENT-TRADE LINK

There is a close relationship between direct investment and trade. We believe that
U.S. investment abroad will have a net positive effect on U.S. trade and national as
well as international well-being.
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Part of the link between U.S. foreign investment and U.S. trade is provided by
U.S. affiliates. According to the Commerce Department, in 1977 roughly one-third of
all U.S. exports were traded between U.S. companies and affiliates of U.S. compa-
nies abroad.

For certain sectors of the U.S. Economy, there is an absolute necessity to invest
abroad in order to export. This is most clearly the case in the services sector; for
example, insurance, banking, and computer services. Even in the non-service sec-
tors, it is often essential to be able to establish foreign distribution and service
‘centers in order to be able to support sales in overseas markets.

BARRIERS TO INVESTMENT

It is because of the strong linkage between trade and investment that the Admin-
istration had a particular concern about international investment barriers and
distorting policies. An open international investment environment is essential for
an open and expanding network of international trade. Nevertheless. while succes-
sive rounds of negotiations have substantially reduced tariff barriers and countries
have begun to liberalize a number of non-tariff barriers, restrictive and trade
distorting investment policies have become an increasing problem for the United
States and other investing countries. Because they have not been adequately dealt
with, certain trade-distorting investment policies have become more commonly used
internationally. Furthermore, there is a certain urgency in dealing with the prob-
lem because, as these policies become more widespread and integrated into the
g}llobal economic structure, it will be increasingly difficult to gain discipline over
their use.

There has been an absence of significant progress in dismantling interventionist
foreign investment policies—indeed, in preventing at least until now, the further
spread of new forms of intervention. This country believes that liberal economic
policies should generally apply to both international flows of goods and investment.
Many other countries, while accepting the rules of the GATT which constrain the
use of restrictive trade policies, intervene heavily in the investment decision process
by (1) imposing obstacles to the entry of foreign investors into their country; (2)
discriminating against foreign investors in the administration of tax, subsidy, and
import and export licensing policies; and (3) frequently linking the permission for
entry of foreign investment or the provision of investment incentives to certain
‘“performance requirements.”

TRADE-RELATED PERFORMANCE REQUIREMENTS

In a paper recently presented to the member countries of the GATT, the United
States listed a number of performance requirements and restrictions placed on
foreign investors. These include:

(1) Export requirements;

(2) Requirements regarding minimum import and local content requirements;

(3) Requirements relating to size (e.g. capital invested or employment levels);

(4) Requirements regarding industrial sectors or specific industries;

(5) Requirements regarding location of industry;

(6) Requirements limiting foreign ownership (or providing for local participation);

(7) Requirements regarding employment of foreign nationals (or the employment
of nationals, especially in technical and managerial positions);

(8) Requirements relating to investor financing and access to local capital;

(9) Restrictions on the remittance of earnings and the repatriation of capital; and

(10) Requirements concerning the introduction of new products and new or high-
level technology.

Each type ogfy requirement or restriction is of concern to us in individual invest-
ment cases; however, the first two—export and import substitution requirements—
have a direct impact on U.S. trade.

In the case of export performance requirements, foreign investors are required to
export a minimum volume or percentage of their output, often as a condition for an
investment incentive—e.g., a tax holiday or cost subsidy. This practice creates an
export subsidy which we believe runs counter to the recently-negotiated GATT code
on subsidies and countervailing duties.

Local content and import substitution rzguirements divert purchases of foreign-
owned firms away from sometimes preferred foreign suppliers toward local produc-
ers. These local content requirements are, as witnesses in previous hearings have
argued, the functional equivalent of guotas, which also run counter to the GATT.

A recently published benchmark “Survey of U.S. Direct Investment Abroad,
1977,” conducted by the Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA) of the U.S. Department
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of Commerce, questioned 23,641 U.S. non-bank affiliates of non-bank parents about
their experiences with foreign government practices of granting investment incen-
tives and levying performance requirements. The survey found that on average 14
percent of U.S. affiliates overseas were subject to one or more performance require-
ments.

Affiliates in the mining industry were most often subject to performance require-
ments—27 percent on average. Manufacturing affiliates were second with 19 per-
cent. Within this group, affiliates manufacturing transportation equipment were
affected as often as those in mining equipment manufacturing—in 27 percent of the
cases. These percentages have probably increased since 1977. .

The Administration’s “Statement on U.S. Trade Policy,” issued last July, identi-
fies trade-related incentives and performance requirements as measures which can
distort trade as seriously as do tariffs and non-tariff barriers. These are a serious
threat to the international trading system because they have not been addressed
sufficiently in the GATT. The GATT, meanwhile, is the prime logical institution to
deal with this growing trade problem.

We are attempting to initiate a work program in the GATT to address perform-
ance requirements. There is a natural reluctance on the part of other countries
which use performance requirements to discuss the problems that they present. I
am hopeful that at the planned meeting of GATT trade ministers in late 1982 we
will see the launching of a multilateral work program to bring discipline to the use
of trade-related performance requirements.

Useful work is also going on elsewhere. We have launched an effort among the
developed countries in the OECD to extend the national treatment principle and to
examine ways that investment incentives, disincentives and investment barriers can
be effectively addressed in that institution.

A limitation of the OECD is that the greater number of countries—the LDC's—
which impose performance requirements and other disincentives to investment do
not participate in the OECD. However, much work needs to be done among devel-
oped countries. Furthermore, preparatory information-gathering and analysis can
})e done in the OECD in preparation for discussions among all countries in other

orums.

In the IMF/World Bank Development Committee where there is a participation of
both developed and developing countries, a study of the use and effect of investment
incentives and disincentives will soon get underway. This study is expected to be
completed late in 1982, and will hopefully shed further light on the impact and cost
of these policies to developing investment-host countries. It may provide a valuable
analytical base for making progress in dealing with incentives and disincentives.

The efforts that I have just described are multilateral in scope, designed to
achieve ultimately an international discipline for investment incentives and disin-
centives through multilateral consultations and negotiations. However, it will take
some time before they bear results. In the meantime, we must deal with the adverse
consequences of performance requirements and other investment problems. What
can we do while we work for general international agreements?

First, we can use the mechanisms of bilateral consultations to put forward our
problems with restrictions and burdensome investment policies in individual cir-
cumstances. We have used this mechanism; however, we need to become more
aggressive in informing our trade and investment partners of the degree of our
concern over performance requirements. And where our problems are serious
enough, we should consider linking our position in other trade issues. We should
seek an overall understanding on investment issues bilaterally with important
developed and developing countries. The Bilateral Investment Treaty Program,
which the U.S. Government is initiating, is an area where we will attempt to show
our concern. The model U.S. treaty contains provisions which would deal with the
problem of performance requirements.

Another avenue by which to address performance requirements is to test the
applicability of current GATT rules against the trade problems posed by perform-
ance requirements. We believe that mandated local content and export performance
requirements violate GATT provisions and agreements. We intend to test this belief;
if the current rules are inadequate, then we will be in a position to seek to
strengthen them.

In connection with attacking performance requirements in the GATT, we must
examine the use of U.S. law in regard to this problem. Section 301 permits the
President to take action against imports of countries whose policies restrict or
burden U.S. commerce. We interpret Section 301 to cover foreign investment restric-
tions and trade-distorting investment policies.

The Government has a problem, however, in dealing with performance require-
ments. Our success with actions in the GATT and under Section 301 is, however,
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constrained by the reluctance of U.S. investors to disclose details of their problems
with foreign investment authorities because of their fear of retribution by the host
government. Many performance requirements are levied administratively rather
than from written rules and regulations. We need the assistance of the private
sector in improving our information about the use of these performance require-
ments.

AN EXAMPLE: CANADIAN INVESTMENT AND ENERGY POLICIES

A number of the issues that I have raised arise in our investment relations with
Canada. We have had a large and mutually beneficial trade and investment rela-
tionship with Canada for many years. Canada and the United States are each
other’s largest trade partners. Two-way trade is approaching $90 billion this year.
%‘&ebt(l)fal investment that has been built up between the two countries now totals

illion.

While current figures would indicate a healthy bilateral trade and investment
condition, recent trends are disturbing. There is a divergence in the economic
philosophies of the Governments of Canada and the United States. Canada’s eco-
nomic policies aim at a greater role for government in the economy. Also, Canada is
pursuing a policy of economic nationalism, which is in reaction to the sizeable
degree of foreign ownershg) of Canadian industry.

We have to respect the differences in approach of our neighbors; however, Canadi-
an policies contain elements which are not consistent with Canada’s international
commitments. Our current major problems rest in the implementation of Canada’s
Foreign Investment Review Act of 1974 and the National Energy Program, an-
nounced last year.

1. Investment Policy: FIRA.—The Foreign Investment Review Agency (FIRA),
which implements the 1974 Act, was established to increase Canadian control and
ownership of investment in Canada and to ensure benefits for Canadian firms from
such investment. While we may disagree with it, we do not challenge either FIRA'’s
existence or its screening of new foreign investment. Nevertheless, we find its
administration objectionable.

As a condition for new foreign investment, FIRA signs legally-enforceable per-
formance requirement agreements with forelgn investors specifying that firms buy
Canadian goods. This is in violation of the provisions of GATT that require equal
treatment between imported and domestic products. FIRA may also require firms to
export a specific share of their Canadian production, which can distort trade flows.
Foreign firms may also be prevented from distributing their products in Canada,
which can seriously restrict trade. FIRA also prevents foreign firms from freely
selling their assets in Canada to other non-Canadian firms, even though there is no
glcregse in foreign ownership. This can reduce the value of foreign-owned assets in

anada.

2. The NEP—Canada’s National Energy Program (NEP) has as its aims: Increas-
ing Canadian ownership and control of the energy industry: achieving Canadian
self-sufficiency in energy by 1990, altering the distribution of revenue from energy
production; and increasing emphasis on exploitation—especially by Canadians—of
territories under the Federal Government’s jurisdiction. The major pieces of the
NEP implementing legislation are scheduled to be considered during this session of
Parliament.

Our concerns about the NEP relate to a number of aspects, including the lack of
adequate compensation for Canadian Government shares of leases on Canadian
Federal Lands, the lack of national treatment in providing incentive payments for
exploration and development activities in Canada and restrictions on export li-
censes. In connection with my earlier discussion of performance requirements, I
want to mention, in particular, another aspect of Canada’s NEP. Canada has previ-
ously removed objectionable implementing provisions of its NEP which would have
favored Canadian suppliers of oil and gas equipment and services. However, the
Government of Canada in August established a Committee on Industrial and Re-
gional Benefits (CIRB) as part of a new federal program to ensure that the benefits
of major energy industrial projects go to Canadian firms. In hght of our experlence
with FIRA, the CIRB appears to signal that when there are two * competltlve bids,”
energy firms are expected to “buy Canadian.” Energy firms who don’t select a
Canadian supplier will have to justify their selection. We believe that activities of
the CIRB would be in violation of the GATT.

The United States has responded to the FIRA and the NEP by holding a number
of high-level consultations with the Government of Canada. The President himself
has raised our concerns on several occasions. The Canadians so far have indicated
that they do not intend to extend NEP-like policies to other sectors; nor do they
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intend now to make FIRA more restrictive. In fact, it appears that FIRA is undergo-
ing a review. We cannot say at this time, however, that we will like it any more
later than we do now.

Work on this issue and bilateral consultations are continuing. Secretary Regan
recently visited Ottawa to discuss our concerns. The Trade Policy Committee has
been deliberating since the summer as to what our policy and approach to Canada
should be. Our approach to Canada will depend on its willingness to live up to its
international obligations. We would welcome a return to full cooperation in making
progress on a wide range of economic and trade issues.

THE ROLE OF PRIVATE INVESTMENT IN ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Foreign private direct investment can be a powerful impetus to the development
process and a major supplement to official development assistance (and other forms
of private and public resource transfers) in stimulating growth in developing na-
tions. Moreover, private flows are taking on added importance as the governments
of Aid donor countries face serious domestic budget challenges. Altogether, private
capital flows—commercial lending and portfolio and direct private investment—
account for approximately two-thirds of total financing flows to developing coun-
tries.

There appears to be a growing perception by many developing nations that
increasing foreign direct investment will be vital to their prosperity in the 1980’s,
particularly as aid prospects appear less promising. Many developing nations are
seeking actively to attract foreign investors. Their success will depend largely on
their investment climates and the steps that they take concerning it. As President
Reagan noted in his October 15 speech on development issues, improving the cli-
mate for private capital flows is critically important as investment is the lifeblood of
development. Clear and consistent investment-related laws and regulations, in con-
formity with the principles of international law, and according most-favored-nation
and non-discriminatory treatment of investment, along with other steps in the
direction of a more open investment environment, will be determining factors in the
decisions of many investors.

The U.S. Government can play a helpful role in facilitating private sector involve-
ment in those developing countries which seek to attract foreign investors. As a first
step, we are supporting efforts of individual developing countries to create a more
favorable internal climate for foreign and domestic private sector activity. In addi-
tion, we are:

Seeking ways to insure U.S. business against risk in these countries through a
renewal of OPIC’s legislation with a broadening of the scope of its activities;

Working to eliminate USG disincentives to U.S. private sector activities in devel-
oping countries (e.g., improved treatment of foreign-sourced personal income,
amendment of our Foreign Corrupt Practices Act so as to define better the pro-
scribed conduct);

Supporting pending export trading company legislation;

Increasing AID’s private sector orientation;

Improving other USG programs that support the private sector in developing
countries;

Increasing the involvement of individual U.S. firms and private business associ-
ations inl providing management and technical training for developing countries’
personnel;

Seeking more effective ways to bring together developing countries’ enterprises
and U.S. suppliers of appropriate technology; and

Considering proposals for the expansion of trade and development program grants
for project feasibility studies and project design.

Further, by maintaining a free and open U.S. economy, we provide a market for
nearly half of all developing countries’ exports of manufactured goods to industrial-
ized countries.

Another important step involves the negotiation of Bilateral Investment Treaties
(BITs) with developing countries desirous of attracting U.S. investors. Such treaties
would enhance the attractiveness of investing in those countries by establishing a
common frame of reference and commitment, as well as a legal base to deal with
the entry and duration of investment; arbitration and prompt, adequate and effec-
tive compensation in the event of expropriation; treatment of established invest-
ment; repatriation and other transfer of assets; and dispute settlement.

A U.S. draft BIT is now undergoing a final review. We will soon provide the final
text to the Congress for review. We will then begin negotiations with Egypt. We
hope to launch a series of negotiations with other developing countries desirous of
attracting U.S. investors.
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We are also seeking to give new vitality to and to broaden the international effort
to enhance private sector investment in those developing countries where the envi-
ronment is conducive to private sector growth. We believe the World Bank can play
a highly effective role as a catalyst for increasing international flows of direct
investment to developing countries. On a broad basis, its efforts to foster market-
oriented policies in developing countries and its support for basic infrastructure
help pave the way for profitable private investment. On a project-by-project basis, it
can attract additional private capital through co-financing and other formulas that
encourage U.S. banks and other investors to be more active in the developing
countries. Even if the Bank finances only a part of a project, its participation
improves the climate of confidence between foreign investors and the country in
which the investment is taking place. Within the Bank, the International Finance
Corporation has a particularly important role to play. For the last 25 years, the
International Finance Corporation has been working to encourage the growth of
productive private investment in developing countries through its direct participa-
tion in investment projects. The IFC should receive greater support from both
developed and developing countries.

Domestically, the new legislative authority for OPIC will permit it greater free-
dom to support private investment in middle income developing countries. At the
same time, we are considering the possibility of working with other developed and
developing countries to establish a multilateral insurance agency, which would
protect investors against certain political risks in developing countries. Such an
institution could help to facilitate investment in developing countries, and give
greater confidence to new investors from countries which do not have their own
national insurance agencies.

The Administration has given a high priority to encouraging greater private
investment and activity in the nations of the Caribbean whose economic and politi-
cal development objectives are compatible with our own. We have been designing
trade, aid and investment programs to improve the region’s investment climate and
to assist Caribbean countries in demonstrating private sector involvement. Some of
the tools we have been analyzing for the Caribbean, but with numerous potential
applications outside the region, include: Bilateral Investment Treaties (BITs) and
expanded OPIC insurance and loan programs and other incentives for U.S. invest-
ment in the region.

FOREIGN INVESTMENT IN THE UNITED STATES

Foreign investment in the United States, which reached $65 billion last year, has
been increasing rapidly.

This investment has had a positive effect on many sections of our economy. It has
helped to create jobs, add plant capacity and create new facilities, and brought in
advanced technology and management skills. Inward investment flows will assist
our economic revitalization efforts.

However, the growth of foreign investment in the United States, coupled with
restrictions on and discrimination against U.S. investment in other countries, has
generated pressures in the U.S. to control inward investment, or regulate it on a
more reciprocal basis. The reaction to Canada’s restrictions against foreign inves-
tors, particularly in the energy sector, and the spate of new investments sought by
Canadian firms in the United States have fed such pressures. There have been calls
for prohibition on investment in specific sectors, greater screening of foreign invest-
ment, and the establishment of a reciprocity principle in U.S. treatment of invest-
ment.

We need to be very cautious about limiting foreign investment because of the
benefits from such investment. A secure and stable investment climate is one of the
major strengths of our economy and a major source of our prosperity. Actions which
raise doubts among potential foreign investors would be harmful to our domestic
economic interests.

We must take into account the fact that the U.S. is also a large investor abroad
and has been a major force in international trade. United States policies concerning
foreign investment in the U.S. have a significant impact on the policies of other
countries and U.S. restrictions could invite further restrictions or retaliatory actions
from other countries.

We are better served by policies that aim at the elimination of foreign practices
that deviate from international norms than by policies of retaliation that could
weaken these norms. With this principle in mind, we intend to take steps necessary
to protect our rights and interests.
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CONCLUSION

On an individual country level there are pressures toward protectionism. When
each country is allowed to follow this course, we all end up net losers. For this
reason most countries see the need for a multilateral forum whose objective is to
reduce government imposed trade barriers.

For most of the developed countries the Kennedy and Tokyo rounds of the MTN
have effectively eliminated tariffs as a significant source of protectionism for manu-
factured goods. The average tariff rate for manufactured products is five percent.

The Tokyo Round also made significant progress in eliminating many of the non-
tariff barriers to trade. Codes of conduct were established for subsidies and counter-
vailing duties, anti-dumping, government procurement, standards, customs valua-
tion, and licensing.

It appears that countries are increasingly using investment as the means to
protect and develop their market. If we and our trading partners are to reap the
benefits of our previous efforts in the Kennedy and Tokyo Rounds then we must
arrest and push back trade-limiting and distorting investment policies which threat-
en the future of the open system of world trade.

Chairman GisBoNs. Do others at the table wish to make state-
ments?

STATEMENT OF JOSEPH F. DENNIN, DEPUTY ASSISTANT SEC-
RETARY FOR FINANCE AND INTERNATIONAL SERVICES, DE-
PARTMENT OF COMMERCE

Mr. DENNIN. Mr. Chairman, I have no separate statement. The
Office of International Investment, Department of Commerce, par-
ticipated in the preparation of the statement which Mr. Bale sub-
mitted, and from which he has read. We support it fully

I would like to note, however, that the Office of International
Investment has prepared a publication entitled ‘“The Use of Invest-
ment Incentives and Performance Requirements by Foreign Gov-
ernments.”

This is being publicly released today. I believe copies of it have
been sent to your office, Mr. Chairman, and to all the members of
the committee. .

I have several additional copies here with me today if anybody
would like copies.

Chairman GisBons. Could you give some of the highlights for us?
. I;I’Ir. DENNIN. I would be happy to mention a few of the high-
ights.

This was a study, a benchmark survey, conducted on a 1977
basis, involving questions directed at 24,000 U.S. nonbank affiliates
of nonbank parents, about their experiences worldwide with for-
eign government practices of granting investment incentives and
compelling the acceptance of certain performance requirements.

In the investment incentive area, among the highlights we found
that on average approximately 26 percent of U.S. affiliates over-
seas had received one or more incentives to invest. An almost equal
percentage of U.S. affiliates in developing countries and in devel-
oped countries received incentives upon investing.

There was a wide range, however, from country to country.

For example, Ireland, which was the high country on the list for
granting incentives, granted one or more incentives to about 70
percent of the U.S. affiliates which were there.

South Korea was second with 53 percent, and from there it went
down until you got to the lowest, Hong Kong, which our study
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showed only granted incentives to about 5 percent of the U.S.
affiliates.

Among the highlights we found in the area of performance re-
quirements, the survey showed that on the average 14 percent of
U.S. affiliates operating worldwide were subject to one or more
performance requirements.

Two percent of the U.S. affiliates reported being subject to mini-
mum export requirements, 3 percent to maximum import levels, 3
percent were required to utilize a minimum amount of inputs
locally, and 8 percent were subject to minimum local labor content
requirements.

Six percent of U.S. affiliates reported that their U.S. parents had
to limit the proportion of equity held in the affiliate.

A much larger percentage, I might note, of U.S. affiliates in
developlng countries were subject to performance requirements
than in the developed countries.

The difference was one of the magnitude of about 30 percent in
the developing countries and about 6 percent of the developed
countries.

All of South America, for example, except Argentina, subjected
at least one-third of U.S. affiliates to these requirements, and as
Mr. Bale noted in his testimony, India’s percentage was the highest
in Asia, and the highest worldwide. Sixty percent of all U.S. affili-
ates operating in India reported that they were subjected to one or
more performance requirements.

Only Hong Kong and Singapore were relatively low at 2 percent
and 11 percent respectively, and in the developed countries Portu-
gal and Turkey were the ones that most often imposed perform-
ance requirements on U.S. affiliates.

In this case it was 37 percent in both countries.

These are among the highlights found in this study which we
have here today.

Chairman GiBsoNs. That is 4-year-old data we are talking about?

Mr. DENNIN. Yes, sir. This is based on the latest benchmark
survey conducted for 1977 but completed early in 1981 by the
Bureau of Economic Analysis. From that, this particular analysis
was prepared recently.

Chairman GIBBONS. Are you trying to keep that up on a more
current basis?

Mr. DENNIN. We try to keep up on it, but there is a tradeoff
between keeping it up on more limited data and going with the
compulsory data that we get in the benchmark surveys where
people have to give it to us, and it can only be done as massive
amounts of information come in, and it takes a period of time to do
it.

We are trying to shorten the period of time involved between
receipt of data under a benchmark survey and when we can actual-
ly start getting it out.

Chairman GIBBONS. Some of that seems kind of low, just from my
eyeball observation, like on local content requirements.

Mr. DENNIN. We think it has gone up drastically since then—
19717.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Yes.
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Mr. BaLe. Mr. Chairman, on that we have asked the Commerce
Department to produce material which would show what the inci-
dence of performance requirements would be since 1970.

The data here reflects all U.S. affiliates whenever they were
established. Our view is that if you looked at the trend that you
would find a higher incidence of performance requirements in later
years.

There are some 26,000 affiliates involved here. Of course, many
of those were established some time back, before these performance
requirements became a tool of economic and investment policy.

So I think we will find the higher incidence.

Those numbers are low—if you think of the current period.

Chairman Gieons. How did Mexico rate in all of this?

Mr. DENNIN. Let me turn to one of the charts here under per-
formance requirements.

Mexico, 41 percent of U.S. affiliates operating in Mexico report-
ing to us on the basis of this 1977 information were subject to one
or more performance requirements.

You don’t have to extrapolate very far up from that figure,
which is already in the forties, until you can get some appreciation
of the magnitude of the problem in Mexico.

Chairman GieeoNs. Mr. Shannon?

Mr. SHANNON. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Ifwlant to thank the panel for their testimony. It was very, very
useful.

I represent a district in Massachusetts with a high concentration
of electronics and computer producers.

I think their contribution to both our regional and national
economies, particularly in the last few years, has been very, very
significant.

But their success relies to a great degree on their ability to
export.

The ADP telecommunications sector, after agriculture and aero-
space, is the leading U.S. exporting group. However, I think, that
in the near future this industry is really going to face some tough
problems in exporting and overseas investment.

Many nations, including some of our traditional trading part-
ners—France, Mexico, and Canada—are considering policies to re-
strict U.S. ability to invest within their borders.

These restrictions range from the traditional trade barriers of
tariffs and subsidies to newer policies requiring majority domestic
ownership and the transfer of U.S. technology.

It is certainly the view of many in the high tech industry that
these restrictions are a serious threat. I remember having discus-
sions myself with officials in Brazil about this transfer of technol-
ogy problem a couple of years ago.

What I would like to know is, whether the administration views
the problem to be as severe as I think it is, and what the adminis- -
tration might be doing about it.

Mr. Bale?

Mr. BALE. Thank you, Mr. Congressman.

We do view it as a very serious problem. Some of these problems
that you mention, which are particularly trade related, we think
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that we can approach in the context of the international institu-
tions, such as the OECD and the GATT.

Now, to the extent that they are developing country problems,
the OECD, of course, is a very limited forum.

In the GATT, we think that the extent to which the obstacle is
related to a trade-related requirement that might violate national
treatment in the GATT or come under the strictures regarding
quantitative restrictions in the GATT, we think we can approach
it.

Now, when a country is not a member of the GATT, then we
have to use the bilateral approach purely.

In the case of one or two countries that are not members of the
GATT, and, of course, Mexico is not a member, and there are some
problems on equity participation, and I know that some companies
that are in the high technology field are very concerned by the
technology transfer that might be carried through with such a
policy—the administration intends—can only use a bilateral con-
sultation mechanism to get at the problem.

There is a joint Commission that has been established to discuss
United States-Mexican trade issues in particular; that is, jointly
chaired by the Commerce Department and the USTR and we would
- expect that problems such as this can and will come up in that
Commission. _

Mr. SHANNON. The Mexican situation, Mr. Bale, I think is par-
ticularly pointed as far as the computer industry is concerned. The
Mexicans have put very high duties on computers, computer parts,
and very strict restrictions on the importing of computers and
computer parts, which reminds some people of what they did with
ahe auto industry during the sixties, when they began issuing their

ecrees.

Has the Commission undertaken or entered into discussions spe-
cifically about the computer industry with the Mexicans? Is that on
the agenda? When can we expect that to be discussed?

Mr. BaLE. The Commission is only now being set up. It was
established last month, in September, with the visits of Secretary
Baldrige and Ambassador Brock to Mexico, and this is an item—
and I must add we received from the Digital Corp., a copy of what
was a free translation of the new policy in the computer area, and
we have not, unfortunately, had sufficient time to digest that, to
see how we might bring it up, and what issues we might raise.

I think that you will find that the administation is very much
concerned about this problem from several perspectives.

First of all, the investment problem involved—there is an invest-
ment barrier.

Second of all, it has trade ramifications that are quite signifi-
cant. In particular, it is a trade problem in the service sector which
the administration is attempting to develop an aggressive policy
‘on.
So it combines, I think, the characteristics of an issue which
needs attention because of the service component of it, the trade
ramifications of it, and particularly because the high technology
sector for the United States is so important for the developing
competitiveness of the U.S. economy.
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One looks at agriculture, high technology, and capital goods sec-
tors as three leading sectors for future growth of U.S. exports—
that we absolutely must address these ownership and investment
restrictions that threaten the growth of these markets for U.S.
producers.

Mr. SHANNON. Opening up these markets I think is going to be
very important in dealing with our own productivity problem here
in the United States. I am very glad to hear that you are going to
be addressing this problem specifically with the Mexicans, and that
you will be dealing with it in the GATT as well.

Is there anything that we in the Congress should be doing—this
is kind of an open-ended question—specifically to address this
transfer of technology issue? Let me word it a little bit differently
perhaps.

Are there things that we have done here or are thinking about
doing here which might make it more difficult for you in the
course of the bilateral negotiations or in the GATT to deal effec-
tively with the transfer of technology problem?

Mr. BALE. Well, I don’t immediately see legislatively particularly
what can or should be done. We have to be careful about restrict-
ing our activities, whether they be in the form of placing limits on
companies’ ability to trade or invest or in some cases companies
find it advantageous in a world market situation to move some of
their technology abroad. We have to be careful about anything that
we do in a regulatory sense on anything coming in here, invest-
ment or technology. So at the moment to us it does not seem it is
appropriate at the time. Because I don’t think we have adequately
ourselves filled out the process of bilateral consultation in such a
way that we have clearly identified a need.

STATEMENT OF JOHN McCARTHY, DIRECTOR, OFFICE OF
INVESTMENT AFFAIRS, DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Mr. McCarTHY. If I may add a remark that is not exactly an
answer to your question, sir. There have been in the United Na-
tions as well a series of negotiations. There is a proposed code of
conduct on transnational corporations; there is a proposed code of
conduct in the transfer of technology itself.

Mr. SHANNON. At the U.N.?

Mr. McCarrHY. At the U.N. Those negotiations are still in prog-
ress. That on the code on transfer of technology has basically
broken down. But the position of the United States has been large-
ly one that you might describe as defensive, in the sense that what
we have been trying to do in these negotiations is to preserve the
rights of companies and to underscore the obligations of countries
toward treatment of companies operating within their borders.
With the transfer of technology code negotiation we have been very
careful to insure the proper degree of respect for contracts, for
instance. It has been largely a defensive kind of operation, trying
to make sure that any of the codes that emerge, in fact, are ones
that U.S. business can live with and operate under.

Mr. SHANNON. These restrictions on use of technology, these
transfer of technology policies, they have been a growing phenom-
enon around the world in the last several years, have they not?
And the position of the United States is basically to prevent it from
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spreading further or to deal with the most recalcitrant of our
trading partners on this issue?

Mr. McCartHY. In the general code negotiations our objective is
to obtain if at all possible a balanced code, one that would allow
the beginning of an internationally agreed set of rules. It is not
easy to get.

STATEMENT OF FRANK G. VUKMANIC, DIRECTOR, OFFICE
OF INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT, DEPARTMENT OF THE
TREASURY

Mr. VukManic. The complaints you have heard from businesses
we have also heard. In many of the bilateral discussions we have
had we have indicated to developed and developing countries alike
that this is a problem for U.S. business investing abroad. And to
the extent that the problem is a serious problem, it could result in
a lack of investment. This is particularly important for many of
the developing countries. In that regard, we have also initiated
consultations recently with the Government of France regarding
their investment policies. In France, in the high technology area,
there are some fairly severe restrictions. So we have been passing
this message along fairly pointedly in our bilateral consultations.
And I don’t think this message has been completely lost.

Mr. SHANNON. I appreciate your responsiveness on this. I have
sensed that there is a great deal of sensitivity within the adminis-
tration for this particular issue. It certainly is an important issue
to my part of the country. And I think to the economy as a whole. I
want to thank you and encourage you to continue in all of the
discussions that you have mentioned will take place.

Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiseoNs. I have a number of questions I will probably
submit in writing to you. But let me ask you one question here.

Would each member of the panel describe what your respective
responsibilities are on investment policy and negotiations and how
you coordinate?

Mr. BALE. Well, our responsibilities in the investment area follow
from the reorganization plan of 1979, implemented in January 1980
for, in particular, the trade-related aspects of investment issues.
These include performance requirements and similar trade distort-
ing investment policies. We work through the Trade Policy Com-
mittee mechanism on this. Members of that committee include the
State, Treasury, and Commerce Departments.

We also have responsibility for coordinating most recently our
bilateral investment treaty process, which is one of these elements
which we hope will be a mechanism to address some of the prob-
lems that we are discussing here today. We also coordinate with
our Treasury colleagues as members of the Committee on Foreign
Investment in the United States, what our inward investment
policy ought to be. But our lead on that we take from the Treasury
side,dwith our input and advice. That is a summary of where we
stand.

We, of course, have full coordination with other departments on
the development of our policy all along here. We think with our
office and USDR being just established in June of this year—I
might say my job was relatively recently developed, we are in the
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process of working with other offices and other departments, and it
is an area where there is a heck of a lot of work that needs to be
done. And I think a lot of people in the administration are anxious
to do that work. We are constantly on the phone and in meetings. I
see these gentlemen quite frequently—whether it be in the context
of the Treasury Department committee or USDR’s committee. That
is our focus.

Mr. DEnNNIN. Mr. Chairman, the Office of International Invest-
ment within the Department of Commerce has a responsibility for
looking at both inward and outward investment. And with respect
to the inward investment, many of the responsibilities it has were
given to it by Congress in the preparation of material such as the
publication I just read from, the benchmark surveys, most of the
analytical work done on tracking investment into this country. The
Department of Commerce is a member also of the Committee on
Foreign Investment in the United States which Treasury chairs.
But the Department of Commerce is the group that provides much
of the staff work for the analytical work done by that Committee.

There is, I think, a sense of more to be done in this area than
there are people to do it, so there is a frequent sharing of responsi-
bilities. Just in the last week or so, for example, Assistant Secre-
tary Waldmann, for whom I work and who just testified before you,
delivered the position of the U.S. Government at the OECD’s high-
level Executive Committee, in its special session on trade-related
incentives and performance requirements, national treatment, in-
vestment flows, et cetera. That was done—although the work itself
had been largely prepared in the State Department. There was a
cooperative effort. When Mr. Rashish was not able to be at this
particular session, Mr. Waldmann charged the U.S. delegation. I
think that is typical of the type of cooperation we have seen, pretty
much across the board.

As a final matter, there are, as you are no doubt aware, two
Cabinet Councils that frequently look at matters of investment or
business matters—the Cabinet Council on Economic Affairs, which
is chaired by the Secretary of the Treasury, and the Cabinet Coun-
cil on Commerce and Trade, which is chaired by the Secretary of
Commerce. Insofar as matters coming up in this area are being
looked at within the Cabinet Council on Commerce and Trade—the
Commerce Department does the initial staff work and tries to
make sure all interested people have an opportunity to participate.
And we find the same thing takes place when a similar issue arises
in one of the other Cabinet Councils.

Mr. VukmaNic. Treasury has a number of offices looking at
investment. We look at both the direct and portfolio investments.
But I would say from our perspective Mr. Bale’s characterization is
correct. Most of the work is done on an interagency basis. Most of
the work and positions are developed on an interagency consensus.
We share responsibility with other agencies in working on trade-
related matters through the TPRG-TPC framework. We have direct
responsibility for the Committee on Foreign Investment in the
United States. But again, even though that committee is chaired by
Treasury, it is an interagency framework. We also have responsi-
bility for gathering and disseminating data on portfolio investment,
and conduct a benchmark survey on portfolio investments. Treas-
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ury also has responsibilty for investments in the securities and
banking area.

Generally, we also have an overriding concern with foreign in-
vestments because we are concerned about balance of payments
and its macroeconomic effects. Our investments abroad at the end
of 1980 totaled about $213 billion. The income from those invest-
ments coming into the United States was about $37 billion, which
"represented a fairly sizable chunk. So in summary, those are our
responsibilities and our activities.

Mr. McCartHY. Mr. Chairman—State Department has a number
of specific and also a number of important general interests in the
field of investment. Specifically, the State Department leads U.S.
negotiating teams in non-trade-related investment negotiations on
an international level.

We have already mentioned several times OECD, which in fact
adopted an investment declaration in 1976, reviewed it in 1979, and
now is again beginning to take a look at that declaration and how
it is being applied, and how it is not being applied, and how it
might be extended.

Mr. Rashish led a U.S. delegation to a high-level meeting of the
OECD a few weeks ago, where in fact we presented a fairly exten-
sive position.

We also are active in other international negotiations, as I men-
tioned, in the U.N. context, on things like codes of conduct for
multinational corporations.

In this capacity, we chair an interagency committee which puts
together positions for these negotiations. _

Again, specifically, the State Department chairs an interagency
Committee on Expropriation, and we in fact have the responsibility
in areas of nationalization and compensation—not a growth indus-
try perhaps, but one that continues to cause a number of important
problems. v

Also in a specific sense, we coordinate the activities of the Over-
seas Private Investment Corporation with our embassies abroad,
and in general take a look at the relationship between investment
policy and development policy.

Then each of these issues which arise in the investment area
tend automatically by definition to involve the U.S. Government
witﬁ other governments around the world, bilaterally or multilat-
erally.

There is therefore an important State Department interest in
formulation of policy and in its carrying out by our embassies
abroad.

Chairman GiBoNs. I guess if I were a foreigner and 1 were
writing a book and came over here and said who should I talk to
?bo%t U.S. international investment policy, I would go away con-

used.

\INhg, speaks for America as far as international investment
policy?

Mry BaLE. Well, I think foreigners generally visit all four agen-
cies.

Chairman Giseons. I don’t blame them.

Mr. BaLE. They cover their bases pretty well, and then maybe
touch on a few other departments, too, just to be sure.
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It is an area where there is multidepartmental interest. And if
we, for example, were to be so bold as to say that all investment
issues were USTR’s issues, we would argue, for example, that all
investment leads to trade, and, therefore, everything is trade
related.

But as pragmatists, and as relative newcomers in investment
policy, we work very closely with our Commerce, Treasury, and
State Department colleagues and recognize that there are certain
advantages in each of the departments for certain activities.

Now, it may still confuse a foreigner, or even a U.S. citizen who
frequently writes to all four departments. But we think that we are
in this area, which is a burning problem area, and with our recent
responsibilities given in the trade-related area, we are beginning to
work out fairly well amongst ourselves the various areas where
activities are taken a lead on by either USTR or Treasury, or State
or Commerce.

It doesn’t solve the optical problem. But we think we have a
fairly good working relationship amongst the departments, and
there are always questions that arise, and we, like other people,
are never without our discussions about the jurisdictional issues.

But, nonetheless, for the importance of the issue we think it is
absolutely essential that we speak with one voice. And I think that
we very well do.

Chairman GiBeoNs. Mr. McCarthy.

Mr. McCarTHY. Just if I may add an international flavor to that.
I have attended half a dozen different meetings in the last year on
investment policy. The other governments represented have been
represented either by somebody from the equivalent of their State
Department or someone from the equivalent of any of the other
three agencies here this morning.

I think investment is in fact a very complicated issue that tends
to run across a number of areas of clear responsibility, and other
governments have the same kind of approach, a fairly collective
approach, to how they deal with the issue.

Chairman GiBeoNs. Mr. McCarthy, let me ask you a question not
directly related to this. On the code of conduct of multinational
corporations, what is happening?

Mr. McCArTHY. In the U.N., we are in the middle of the third set
of extended meetings of something called the Intergovernmental
Working Group on the Code of Conduct. This group has met now
about 14 times, 3 times a year and is in fact drafting a code,
paragraph by paragraph, attempting to achieve the kind of balance
between the obligations and rights of governments and companies
that I mentioned before.

It is a very difficult negotiation. I did participate in the working
group sessions last year. We spent endless hours in fact going over
the question of what information companies would be required to
disclose as a result of this code.

There were a number of different suggestions, I would say. And
in the end we were able to produce a set of paragraphs that,
unusually for this code, did not have a number of brackets, and in
fact contained by and large the same requirements for disclosure
that are mentioned in the OECD guidelines on the same subject.
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And those guidelines were in fact based largely on SEC require-
ments for U.S. corporations.

So that after a lot of pain we got a pretty good paragraph on this
particular aspect of the code.

I am not necessarily that sanguine about the rest of the code. We
are now looking at questions of treatment—things like nationaliza-
tion and compensation jurisdiction, and the right of contracts.

_ And we may very well break down. But we are at least negotiat-
ing.

My impression, sir, from a good deal of discussion with the
private sector in the United States is that although nobody is
terribly happy about the length of time that the negotiation is
taking or terribly happy about the idea of a code in general,
nonetheless a number of observers would concede that the process
has been very useful in an educational kind of sense. When the
debate began 4 or 5 years ago, people, those in the developing
ccl)untries at least, were talking about the sins of the multination-
als.

They now in fact are beginning to talk about how they can
accommodate themselves to the need for foreign investment. I
think we have made a good deal of progress.

Chairman GiBeoNS. Is this a sort of code that would have to be
adopted by the United States?

Mr. McCarTHY. One of our basic positions is that the code needs
to be voluntary.

It would not be a legally binding treaty or anything of that
nature and would be adopted by the U.N. General Assembly in the
form of a resolution, assuming that we would ever get to the stage
of having a code that we can accept.

Chairman GiBBONS. As a practical matter, if other countries
adopted it as their basic law, or statutory law, then we are bound
by it anyway?

Mr. McCartuy. All of the effective provisions of the code that we
have agreed to so far make the provisions of the code dependent on
national law and regulation which has been another one of our
basic positions.

Chairman GiBBONS. Are you sticking to the principle that a
business entity doing business in a foreign country would receive
the same treatment as the nation did? -

Mr. McCartay. That has been our position, sir.

In fact, that was one of the points that we discussed at length
last year and were not able to resolve, and we moved past that
paragraph with the expectation that we could come back to it
toward the end of this year’s round of sessions.

The problem was that we, and most of the other OECD countries,
supported a statement on national treatment very similar to that
accepted in the OECD declaration, namely, there could be excep-
tions only for reasons of public order or national security. The
developing countries in the negotiation also insisted on a phrase
which would have spoken about their needs for self-reliant develop-
ment, something that in the course of the negotiation we might or
might not have been able to accept.

The East Europeans insisted on the insertion as well of a clear
exclusion based on constitutional needs which basically would have
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excluded them from coverage in the paragraph and at that stage
we stopped the negotiation on that particular point.

Chairman GisBons. I think it is essential that if any kind of code
comes out, that it be based upon the premise that there be nondis-
criminatory treatment.

Mr. McCarTtHY. We agree with you.

Chairman GisBoNs. Well, if you wish to add anything, you may
do so.

We are going to adjourn now until Monday at 10 a.m.

We will hear Secretary of Commerce Baldrige and Under Secre-
tary of the Treasury Sprinkel and two other panels.

Thank you all very much for coming today. It has been very
helpful.

[Whereupon, at 1:07 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned, to
reconvene at 10 a.m., Monday, November 2, 1981.]
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Housg oF REPRESENTATIVES,
COMMITTEE ON WAYS AND MEANS,
SuBCOMMITTEE ON TRADE,
Washington, D.C.

The subcommittee met at 10:10 a.m., pursuant to notice, in room
1100, Longworth House Office Building, Hon. Sam M. Gibbons
(chairman of the subcommittee) presiding.

Chairman GiBBoNS. Good morning. Come to order.

This is a continuation of the Trade Subcommittee’s oversight
hearing on trade policy now and for the future.

This morning, in the fourth day of our session, we have Secre-
tary Baldrige with us. All of us know that Mr. Baldrige is the
Secretary of the Department of Commerce.

International trade policy is an important function of the De-
partment of Commerce, as well as it being a very important func-
tion of this U.S. Government.

Mr. Secretary, we know that you are back from a recent business
trip to the Far East, to Japan, namely, and we welcome you back.
We have a great deal of sympathy for the jet lag that you must
fe_el},1 and we will allow you to proceed in any manner in which you
wish.

Your statement and any appendices thereto will be made a part
of the record, and you may proceed as you wish, Mr. Secretary.

STATEMENT OF HON. MALCOMB BALDRIGE, SECRETARY OF
COMMERCE

Secretary BALDRIGE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I have got a longer statement that I would like to submit for the
record, but if I may just orally use a shorter one.

International trade and the improvement of our economy are
vital concerns to the Commerce Department. I would like to begin
by citing some of the trade challenges of the eighties as we see
them and discuss what we are doing to improve U.S. competitive-
ness and some of the steps we are taking to expand exports.

The U.S. competitive position is being challenged as never before.
Developed countries are increasingly moving into high technology
goods, such as aircraft, semiconductors and computers, and the less
developed countries are moving aggressively into the production
and export of low- and medium-technology goods. Meanwhile, the
U.S. share of world trade and manufactured goods has declined
from 25 percent in 1960 to 18 percent in 1980.

With the accumulated record of merchandise trade deficits total-
ing over $120 billion since 1975, despite some encouraging growth
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in U.S. manufactured exports over the past 8 years, the outlook for
1981 and 1982 is for increasing deficits; 1981 is expected to be
worse than 1980, and 1982 to be worse than 1981.

‘We must respond immediately and aggressively to these chal-
lenges, or we risk losing our leadership in such areas as high
technology goods, just as we have come under severe competitive
pressure in steel, automobiles, consumer electronics and a host of
other industries. Unless we get our act together, we risk entering
into a long-term period of economic decline. The process may be
slow, like soil erosion, but the long-term effects on our national
security and our international influence could be severe.

The road to recovery lies through creating a domestic economic
climate that will encourage greater investment and productivity,
and the first step down that road has already been taken by the
enactment of the President’s economic recovery program.

The second step is to remove the disincentives that are a drag on
our productivity and our own exports.

The third step is to expand U.S. exports. This is a high priority
of this administration, and a cornerstone of the President’s eco-
nomic recovery program. The Department’s actions are spread
across a broad front, but they have one principal goal—expanding
exports.

We are aggressively monitoring, implementing and enforcing
U.S. trade agreement rights and obligations. Unprecedented export
opportunities have been created by the MTN agreements, but busi-
ness and Government must work together to translate those oppor-
tunities into exports.

Unfair trade practices cannot be tolerated. We must use the
various dispute settlement mechanisms at our disposal where U.S.
trading interests are threatened or injured by unfair trade prac-
tices.

We are working to improve and expedite delivery of trade infor-
mation needed to increase U.S. exports.

We have established a comprehensive coal export program and
an interagency coal export working group to promote coal exports
and remove the impediments to such exports. Coal represents one
of the most important dollar export opportunities we have.

We are examining various ways to expand trade with the less
developed countries.

We are working to consolidate fully the Foreign Commercial
Service, the FCS, into our planning process and to establish a
motivated and potential staff. We now have 162 Foreign Commer-
cial Service officers on board, and we are about to implement a
professional career development and training program to assist in
their integration into the department. The intent of this training
program is to give these officers a full series of courses in market-
iqg, sales, commercial and business skills, and management tech-
niques.

We must provide effective and timely administration of the
Export Administration Act of 1979, and a consistent and predict-
able East-West trade policy.

We must put an end to predatory subsidized export financing by
certain industrialized countries.
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Ambassador Brock and others have already discussed our trade
agenda for the eighties, but I would be remiss were I not to reem-
phasize this administration’s support for amendments to the For-
eign Corrupt Practices Act and our commitment to the passage of
an export trading companies bill.

By amending the FCPA, we will give the U.S. businessman the
clarity he needs to proceed confidently in the international market,
and at the same time unburden himself of much unnecessary pa-
perwork.

By enacting an export trading companies bill, we will create
expanded opportunities for a great number of U.S. businesses
which heretofore have not entered the export market. We need
these small- and medium-size businesses in the export field as our
trading competitors have them, so as to reduce our trade deficit
and expand our domestic economic base.

Second, we must address the relationship between trade and
investment policies, particularly investment incentives and per-
formance requirements. These policies can have a greater effect
than tariffs and nontariff barriers.

Notable among our concerns in this area are the activities of
Canada’s Foreign Investment Review Agency, FIRA, and the provi-
sions of Canada’s national energy policies, NEP.

We have also undertaken a number of bilateral initiatives.

First, the Mexico-United States Joint Commission on Commerce
and Trade has been created, and we are working actively together
to find solutions to the many serious trade problems between our
two countries.

Second, we have established the United States-China Joint Com-
mission on Commerce and Trade. The Commission is intended to
strengthen our commercial relations with China and to advance
American industry’s participation in China’s vast development pro-
gram.

Finally, the continuing imbalance in United States trade with
Japan is a source of considerable concern to me and this adminis-
tration. Our bilateral trade deficit is expected to reach $15 to $16
billion this year, with projections for an even higher deficit in 1982,
perhaps $18 to $20 billion.

I have just returned from Japan, where I repeatedly pointed out
the political dangers of a large and growing bilateral trade deficit.
While emphasizing our continuing commitment to resist protection-
ist pressures, I left a clear message with all of the five cabinet
ministers connected with trade and the Prime Minister, that the
Japanese Government should take positive action at the highest
government level to promote more open access to Japan’s market.

Mr. Chairman, throughout my visit to Tokyo, I repeated this
message to government officials and business leaders. Japan ur-
gently needs to develop a consensus that importation of manufac-
tured goods is in its national interest and that laws, regulations
and a willing participation of its industry and citizens are required
to reflect this consensus.

This message was received with clarity, I can assure you, and
there is at least some reason to believe that it will be acted on with
dispatch.
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I would like to call to your attention a front-page article appear-
ing in the Asahi Evening News this past weekend, which is entitled
“Ministerial Council To Be Set Up To Expand Imports.”

Under the leadership of Prime Minister Tanaka, the Cabinet has
established a recognition that “increasing imports of our manufac-
tured goods would not be successful without the cooperation of
other government departments.”

The article refers to the fact that I had urged the government to
take immediate action on this matter, and of course there is an-
other story on the same front page headlined that I warn Japan of
this growing trade imbalance.

With your permission I would like to ask that both stories are
entered in the record at this point.

Chairman GisBoNs. Yes, sir, they will.

[The articles follow:]

[From the Asahi Evening News, Oct. 30, 1981]

BALDRIGE WARNS JAPAN OF GROWING TRADE IMBALANCE

U.S. Commerce Secretary Malcolm Baldrige expressed Thursday his “big concern”
over the expanding US.-Japan trade imbalance and urged Japan to remove nontar-
iff barriers, according to a spokesman for the Ministry of International Trade and
Industry (MITI).

Baldrige also hoped that the Japanese people would change their buy-Japanese
attitude and use more imported goods, the MITI spokesman said.

A protectionist trend will emerge not only within the U.S. Congress but also the
U.S. Government if Japanese imports continue not to increase, the spokesman

uotelc;l Baldrige as telling Minister of International Trade and Industry Rokusuke
'anaka.

“Now is no longer the time for negotiations. Action is necessary,” the U.S.

Secret,s’xry told Tanaka. “If Japan wants to export goods, it must import foreign

goods.

Baldrige arrived in Tokyo Wednesday from South Korea for a three-day visit. He
met with Tanaka and Finance Minister Michio Watanabe Thursday. The big trade
imbalance was the major topic during Baldrige’s meeting with the two Japanese
ministers.

Baldrige also urged Watanabe that Japan should import more to redress the
surging trade imbalance.

In reply, Watanabe said that a possible fall in U.S. interest rates may raise the
yen’s exchange value, slowing down Japanese exports and lifting imports.

Japan chalked up a $9.2 billion trade surplus before seasonal adjustments in the
first nine months of this year, according to Japan'’s official figures.

The U.S. Department of Commerce announced Wednesday that trade deficit with
Japan came to $1.4 billion on a seasonally-adjusted basis in September, bringing the
January-September total to $13.2 billion.

[From the Asahi Evening News, Oct. 30, 1981]

MinisTeRIAL CouNciL To BE Ser Up 1o ExPAND IMPORTS

The Ministry of International Trade and Industry (MITI) and the Economic Plan-
ning Agency (EPA) agreed Thursday to create a council of Cabinet ministers to
study ways to expand imports to prevent a worsening of the trade friction with the
United States and Western Europe.

The establishment of the ministerial council was proposed by EPA Director-
General Toshio Komoto when he met MITI Minister Rokusuke Tanaka. They agreed
that a policy of increasing imports of manufactured goods would not be successful
without the cooperation of other Government departments, including the Health
and Welfare, Transport, and Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries ministries.

There are indications that the friction with the U.S. and Europe may take a sharp
turn for the worse. Yoshihiro Inayama, president of the Federation of Economic
Organizations (Keidanren), who recently led a high-level Government-sponsored
economic mission to Europe, will shortly meet with Prime Minister Zenko Suzuki to
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report that Common Market nations are seriously concerned about increasing Japa-
nese exports.

Visiting U.S. Commerce Secretary Malcolm Baldrige has asked the Government
to take immediate action on the matter.

Inayama met with Tanaka and Foreign Minister Sunao Sonoda Thursday and
reported that European nations are in very serious economic and political trouble,
so much so that it is becoming an international political problem. Japan should
work out emergency measures to reduce tariff and nontariff barriers and boost
imports of European products to help these countries out of the present crisis.

Amending the original projections of fiscal 1981 balance of payments figures in
late September, the Government estimated the current-account balance at $7 billien
in the black, instead of $6 billion in the red projected originally, but the trade-
account surplus with the Common Market nations already rose to $7,950 million
during the first nine months of this calendar year, up 26 percent over a year ago,
and the surplus with the U.S. also doubled to $9,200 million.

The current-account surplus for the first half of this fiscal year (April-September),
after seasonal adjustment, also came to $4,326 million, and a ranking EPA official
predicted Thursday that, without some $5 billion in emergency imports, the surplus
would exceed $10 billion.

[From the Journal of Commerce, Nov. 2, 1981}
JapaN’s TRADE SurprLUs WitH UNITED STATES MAY CrimMB To NEw Recorp HigH

By A. E. Cullison)

Tokyo.—Japan’s trade surplus with the United States next year probably will
climb to between $13 billion and $20 billion for an all-time record high, U.S.
Secretary of Commerce Malcolm Baldrige warned at the weekend.

He reminded newsmen gathered in the American Embassy at the end of two days
of talks with Prime Minister Zenko Suzuki and other top-level Japanese cabinet
ministers that America’s trade deficit with Japan has climbed from $8 billion (1979)
to $10 billion last year and is likely to exceed $15 billion by the end of December.

The secretary of commerce added that this surplus growth cannot continue from a
practical point of view and should be considered by the Japanese as a very serious
problem. However, Mr. Baldrige stressed that the trade imbalance should be re-
dressed by expanded U.S. exports to Japan rather than by reduced Japanese exports
to the American market.

He told the press that the emergency imports apparently now being considered by
the Japanese government do not impress him as the right way to address the
problem. The secretary of commerce added that “we need to work out a long-range
policy” to correct America’s swelling trade deficit with Japan.

Mr. Baldrige charged that despite years of complaints registered by the U.S,, the
Japanese market still remains closed, either deliberately or unintentionally, and the
result is that American firms find it difficult to export to Japan even where U.S.
goods are highly competitive.

What is needed, he contended, is a long-range bilateral trade expansion program
which does not get so out of balance that it hurts one trading partner or the other.
The difficulty with the present U.S.-Japan trade imbalance is that it “could become
ummanageable” if the trend continues, Mr. Baldrige said.

Asked to provide specific examples of the barriers faced by American exporters,
the commerce secretary complained about Japan’s overly rigid testing requirements
and unusually stiff standards. High U.S. technology and advanced pharmaceuticals
already approved in America and Europe must face two years of testing in Japan,
he protested, adding that “during which time Japanese makers can catch up with
their own products.’

Mr. Baldrige said that he asked Prime Minister Suzuki and other ministers
during his visit to take ‘“some reasonably immediate actions” to correct the growing
trade imbalance before it gets out of hand.

Taking up possible remedies, the secretary said he suggested the possibilities of
Japan importing large volumes of steaming coal. The coal trade potential between
the two nations is large, he pointed out, and added that the U.S. will be a very
reliable long-term supplier. He also stressed that America’s West Coast ports even
now are being “fixed up” to handle this coal.

“When one of our large trading partners is seen (in the U.S.) as not providing
market access as we give it to them, we feel this is a serious problem,” Mr. Baldrige
advised. He pointed to an 8 percent unemployment figure for the U.S. and between
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8 percent and 9 percent in the Common Market region as factors which Japan must
take into consideration.

“I am concerned about the growing wall of protectionism around the world,” the
secretary told the press. “That is why I expressed (to the Japanese leaders) our
government’s concern over this issue.”

Mr. Baldrige said he recognized that over the past decade or so visiting American
government officials have repeatedly filed similar complaints with Japanese leaders
without any real effort to open Japan’s market resulting, but he said he thought
there was now a difference.

In the past it was mostly the U.S. Congress which was concerned about the
burgeoning Japanese trade surplus, he said. Now, however, it is the worry of
Congress and the American government as well, Mr. Baldrige explained.

Secretary BALDRIGE. In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, while reduc-
ing barriers to trade and gaining more access to foreign markets
are essential steps to improving the U.S. export performance, these
steps are not enough.

One of the reasons for our relatively poor export performance
has been insufficient commitment, resources and motivation, in the
business sector. We are responding to this situation in three ways.

First, we are encouraging the private sector, particularly our
medium and smaller sized companies, to do more.

Second, the State and local governments which are closer to the
individual exporter will be encouraged and assisted in their export
promotion efforts.

Third, in order to use our resources efficiently, we are directing
our program activities to country and product targets where the
opportunities and needs are the greatest.

To help us carry these efforts to the business community, the
President’s Export Council has been reconstituted and was sworn
in on October 15.

We will also rely heavily on the industry consultations program
jointly administered by Commerce and USTR, and working with
the business community through our 500 industry advisers.

Mr. Chairman, I believe that our partnership with industry will
allow the United States to become once again a pacesetter in
international markets. While our exporters are encountering and
will continue to encounter trade barriers and unfair trade prac-
tices, for the most part competition continues to be fair and con-
ducted on a commercial basis.

The only way to meet these commercial challenges is directly—
better products, better prices, and competitive terms of purchase.
While the Government can and will do its part to support the
private sector in these activities, we must never lose sight of the
fact that Government does not export, business does.

This concludes my statement, Mr. Chairman, and I will be
pleased to answer any questions that the committee may have.

[The prepared statement follows:]

StaTEMENT OoF HON. MALcoLM BALDRIGE, SECRETARY OF COMMERCE

Mr. Chairman and members of the Subcommittee, It is my pleasure to have this
opportunity to appear before you to discuss United States trade policy. International
trade, and the improvement of our economy, are of vital concern to the Department
of Commerce. The Administration’s “Statement on U.S. Trade Policy” issued in July
and discussed by Ambassador Brock, has my personal support and that of the
Department of Commerce.

I will begin by citing some of the trade challenges of the 1980’s as I see them.
Then I will discuss what we are doing to improve U.S. com;s)etitiveness. Finally, 1
will discuss some of the steps that we are taking to expand U.S. exports.
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TRADE CHALLENGES OF 1980’S

The U.S. competitive position is being challenged as never before. The developed
countries increasingly are moving into high technology goods such as aircraft,
semiconductors and computers. The less developed countries are moving aggressive-
ly into the production and export of low and medium technology goods. Meanwhile,
the U.S. share of world trade in manufactured goods has declined from 25 percent
in 1960 to 18 percent in 1980.

The reasons for this decline are clear:

U.S. productivity growth has lagged behind that of our major competitors for 20
years and productivity growth since 1977 has been close to zero;

Relative to the size of our economy, we save less, invest less and do less basic
research and development than our competitors;

Our inflation and interest rates in recent years have been higher than many of
our major competitors;

Other countries have been more aggressive in supporting their exporters and
promoting their exports; and

Newly industrialized countries have emerged to compete with us.

With this backdrop, it is little wonder that we have accumulated a record string
of merchandise trade deficits totalling over $120 billion since 1975. Despite some
encouraging growth in U.S. manufactured exports over the past three years, the
outlook for 1981 and 1982 is for increasing deficits. 1981 is expected to be worse
than 1980, and 1982 to be worse than 1981.

We must respond immediately and aggressively to these challenges or we risk
losing our leadership in such areas as high technology goods, just as we have come
under severe competitive pressure in steel, automobiles, consumer electronics and a
host of other industries. Unless we get our act together, we risk entering into a
long-term period of economic decline. Like soil erosion, the process may be slow, but
the long-term effects on our national security and our international influence could
be severe.

IMPROVING U.S. COMPETITIVENESS

The road to recovery lies through creating a domestic economic climate that will
encourage greater investment and productivity. The first step down that road al-
ready has been taken by the enactment of the President’s Economic Recovery
Program.

Accelerated depreciation allowances for modernizing plant and equipment will
encourage investment needed to increase productivity.

Accelerated depreciation for new R&D will encourage long-term gains in produc-
tivity growth.

Tax cuts will bring increased savings which provide new investment capital.

Government spending cuts will contribute to investment capital by reducing
heavy government borrowing that has raised interest rates and crowded out busi-
ness borrowing.

Reduced government regulations will reverse the trend toward increased non-
productive overhead costs which drain billions from potential investment funds.

Changes in taxation of Americans working abroad will increase management
productivity and, therefore, U.S. exports.

Maintenance of a stable monetary policy will qubstantlally reduce inflation.

The second step is to remove the disincentives that are a drag on our productivity
and on our exports. We must:

Clarify the Foreign Cerrupt Practices Act; enact the Administration’s Export
Trading Company legislation; and review environmental, safety and other laws and
regulations which impose unnecessary burdens on business.

EXPANDING U.S. EXPORTS

The third step is to expand U.S. exports. This is a high priority of this Adminis-
tration and a cornerstone of the President’s Economic Recovery Program. The
Department’s actions are spread across a broad front, but they have but one princi-
pal goal: expanding exports.

We are aggressively monitoring, implementing and enforcing U.S. trade agree-
ment rights and obligations. Unprecedented export opportunities have been created
by the MTN Agreements, but business and government must work together to
translate those opportunities into exports.

Unfair trade practices cannot be tolerated. We must administer effectively U.S.
antidumping and countervailing duty laws, enforce the steel Trigger Price Mecha-
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nism, and use the various dispute settlement mechanisms at our disposal where
U.S. trading interests are threatened or injured by unfair trade practices.

We are working to consolidate fully the Foreign Commercial Service (FCS) into
our planning process, to establish a motivated professional staff and to improve
operational effectiveness abroad. These efforts will yield improved service to our
business constituents and increased exports.

We are working to improve and expedite delivery of trade imformation needed to
increase U.S. exports. Our goal is to provide prompt and convenient access to
accurate information on foreign markets, potential customers, trade opportunities,
promotional events and sources of exporting assistance.

We have established a comprehensive coal export program and an Interagency
Coal Export Working Group to promote coal exports and to remove the impediments
flo such exports. Coal represents one of the most important export opportunities we

ave.

We are examining various ways to expand trade with the less developed coun-
tries. Trade plays an important role in their development process and their econom-
ic growth will create significant new export markets for U.S. products.

The Cabinet Council on Commerce and Trade will shortly begin a comprehensive
evaluation of the outlook for our high technology industries because of the increas-
ing evidence that these industries may be operating at an unfair competitive disad-
vantage globally.

We must provide effective and timely administration of the Export Administra-
tion Act of 1979 and a consistent and predictable East-West trade policy. We must
not allow the transfer of technology and critical equipment to increase the military
or strategic capabilities of a potential adversary. In tightening our own controls, we
will work closely with our COCOM partners to strengthen the multilateral system
of strategic trade controls. At the same time, we generally will relax export controls
on low technology goods which penalize U.S. exporters and fail to deny the Commu-
nist countries access to such goods.

We must put an end to predatory subsidized export financing by certain industri-
alized countries. Progress was made with the agreement recently reached in Paris,
but more progress toward eliminating government subsidization of export credits is
needed. In order to negotiate from a position of strength, we are exploring, for
example, the possibility of having the Export-Import Bank fund the difference
between the interest rate on a U.S. commercial bank loan for export financing and
the subsidized rate of a competing foreign export credit.

Ambassador Brock and others already have discussed with you our Trade Agenda
for the 1980’s, so I will highlight only two of these areas. First, international rules
must be developed to govern trade in services, as they already govern trade in
goods. U.S. firms earned $128 billion from their foreign activities last year. Trade in
services is continuing to grow and will be a major component in the growth of the
industrialized economies in the 1980’s.

Second, we must address the relationship between trade and investment policies,
particularly investment incentives and performance requirements. These policies
can have a greater effect than tariffs and nontariff barriers and can distort normal
trade and investment patterns. We are working in both the GATT and the OECD to
assess the impact of such practices and to reduce their use.

Notable among our concerns in this area are the activities of Canada’s Foreign
Investment Review Agency (FIRA) and the provisions of Canada’s National Energy
Policy (NEP). These issues are being discussed with the Government of Canada, as
are similar issues being discussed bilaterally and multilaterally as they arise.

We also have undertaken a number of bilateral initiatives. First, the Mexico-U.S.
Joint Commission on Commerce and Trade has been created. A new spirit has been
created. We and our third largest trading partner have many mutual interests. We
are working actively together to find creative solutions to the many serious trade
problems between our two countries.

Third, we have established the U.S.-China Joint Commission on Commerce and
Trade. The Commission represents another new initiative by the Administration,
one is intended to strengthen our commercial relations with China and to advance
American industries’ participation in China’s vast development program.

Finally, the continuing imbalance in U.S. trade with Japan is a source of consid-
erable concern to me and to this Administration. Our bilateral trade deficit is
expected to reach $15 billion this year, with projections for an even higher deficit in
1982. 1 have just returned from Japan where I repeatedly pointed out the political
dangers of a large and growing bilateral trade deficit. While emphasizing our
continuing commitment to resist protectionist pressures, I left a clear message that
the Japanese Government must take positive action to promote more open access to
Japan’s markets.
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In addition to putting greater emphasis on promoting U.S. exports to Japan, this
Administration is taking concrete steps aimed at ensuring that Japan reduces the
formal and informal barriers which limit access to its market:

In September the Executive Council of the Trade Facilitation Committee (TFC)
was established to expand the scope and effectiveness of the TFC and to provide a
forum for continuing high level consultations between the Commerce Department
and MITI. While the TFC will continue to deal with problems of market access on a
product-by-product basis, the Council, based on Commerce Department recommenda-
tions, will initiate soon a more comprehensive review of sectoral trade barriers in
Japan.

We are working closely with USTR and other agencies to prepare for the first
meeting of the newly formed U.S.-Japan Trade Subgroup, which will address select-
ed Japanese non-tariff barriers.

We are closely monitoring Japan’s adherence to the MTN codes, especially in the
areas of procurement by Japan’s Nippon Telegraph and Telephone Public Corpora-
tion (NTT) and “standards” for such products as automobiles, cosmetics, and food
additives.

We also are monitoring Japanese actions in the depressed industries area to
ensure that Japan does not resort to trade restrictive measures to assist these
industries.

We recently concluded a bilateral arrangement which calls for the United States
and Japan to accelerate the staging of their MTN tariff cuts on semiconductors to
4.2 percent, roughly five years ahead of schedule.

In July Minister of International Trade and Industry Tanaka stated his Govern-
ment’s intention to encourage increased imports of manufactured goods. We wel-
come Minister Tanaka’s statement and will continue to work actively with the
Japanese authorities to ensure its realization.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, while reducing barriers to trade and gaining more
access to foreign markets are essential steps to improving the U.S. export perform-
ance, these steps are not enough. One of the reasons for our relatively poor export
performance has been insufficient commitment, resources and motivation in the
business sector. We are responding to this situation in three ways:

First, we are encouraging the private sector to do more. Qur export assistance
programs will focus on those activities that the private sector—and particularly
small- and medium-sized firms—may not have the resources to undertake.

Second, State and local governments, which are closer to the individual exporter,
will be encouraged and assisted in their export promotion efforts.

Third, in order to use our resources efficiently, we are directing our program
activities to country and product targets where the opportunities and needs are
greatest.

To help us carry these efforts to the business community, the President’s Export
Council (PEC) has been reconstituted and was sworn in on October 15. It provides a
forum for discussion of current and emerging export expansion issues. The work of
the PEC will be supported by various subcommittees and by the 47 District Export
Councils, with some 1800 business persons involved in an active work program.

We also will rely heavily on the Industry Consulations Program, jointly adminis-
tered by Commerce and USTR, in reaching and working with the business commu-
nity through our 500 industry advisors.

Mr. Chairman, I believe that our partnership with industry will allow the U.S. to
become once again a pacesetter in international markets. While our exporters are
encountering and will continue to encounter trade barriers and unfair trade prac-
tices, for the most part competition continues to be fair and conducted on a commer-
cial basis. The only way to meet these commercial challenges is directly: with better
products, better prices, and competitive terms of purchase. While the government
can and will do its part to support the private sector in these activities, we must
never lose sight of the fact that government does not export—business does.

This concludes my statement, Mr. Chairman. I will be pleased to answer any
questions the Committee may have.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Mr. Secretary, I can’t find anything in your
statement that I have any serious disagreement with. I like the

general thrust of the statement. Let me ask you something,
though, about the administration of it.
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I am convinced, of course, that the Government has to cut down
on its spending, but of course when we start looking at the specifics
of that, we all can find areas in which cutting down on spending is
not perhaps the wisest policy.

In the Foreign Commercial Service—this is a service that we are
just gearing up—you said we had 160 some officers deployed
around the world. How many Foreign Commercial Service officers
do you feel it is going to take to adequately man the trade opportu-
nities and open trade opportunities out there for us?

Secretary BALDRIGE. I can’t answer that question specifically, Mr.
Chairman, because I haven’t seen the new system that we have at
work long enough yet. I have had a chance to visit several coun-
tries where I have seen them at work, and I have been impressed,
but the fact is that most of these individuals have not had the
professional training that they should have. ‘

We have had well over 1,000 applications for these jobs. I am as
impressed with the kind of personnel we are getting as I see
anywhere else in the Government. I think with training and lead-
ership, they are going to do an excellent job for us.

With the budget restrictions we have, what we are going to do is
give a 6-month correspondence course to the personnel in place,
one unit a month that they send back to us and we correct.

We are having seminars around the world for them where they
can get together, talk over each other’s problems with someone
fi'lom our department. We are trying to raise the professional level
there.

We are trying also to make some moves to strengthen the coun-
tries where we can do more and put less emphasis on the countries
where it is just inefficient to use that much personnel.

I would be able to answer your question specifically a lot better
in 6 months, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiBBONS. I prefaced my remarks by saying it was a
new service, and we want to see it in operation. Many of its
personnel are transfers from the State Department. As you remem-
ber, we transferred it from the State Department because we
thought the State Department had higher priorities than commer-
cial services.

We wanted to put it over in the department where we thought
the commercial services would receive more attention from the
Secretary. ‘

Mr. Secretary, it looks to me like we have, first of all, an inexpe-
rienced Foreign Commercial Service, and even though we are the
largest trading country in the world, we are going to have to
expand and trade a lot more if we expect to offset the deficits that
we have from importing.

I don’t know how we can do it with the goals that we have for
that Foreign Commercial Service. I realize that this country stress-
es the role of the private sector perhaps to a higher degree than
any other of the industrialized nations, but it appears to me that
the role of the service and the commitment to it is not adequate to
get the job done at any time in the future.

I sat here almost in terror when Friday afternoon I realized that
we have very little forces deployed out there, and next year and
the year after we are going to run balance of merchandise trade
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deficits that are horrendous, and then we are going to have the
political fallout of that, which always has been reflected in this
Congress by attempts to raise barriers selectively, or even across
the board, to international commerce, whether it be a particular
sector or a particular country.

I just feel that we are not yet moving vigorously enough, Mr.
-Secretary, in this area. The Foreign Commercial Service is only a
part of it, but it is a very important part of it. With the budget
restraints that are coming on now, I am very worried about where
we are going in the Foreign Commercial Service.

I hope that your silence is not from a lack of views on this, but 1
realize the frustrations you find, having to carve down budgets all
over.

Secretary BALDRIGE. I think if I could address my answer, Mr.
Chairman, to some of the things that we could do with what we
have to work with. As you know, 1 support the administration’s
budget program. I was part of it, and I think that the highest goal
we have to work toward now is to get our own industries competi-
tive again or there won’t be any use in having a Foreign Commer-
cial Service. So, I have got to say I support that.

When we can loosen up, I would make that one of my top
priorities in the department. I also say that, but right now we have
a role, if I could speak as a salesman for a minute, of the U.S.
Government in exports doing three things. We have got to motivate
people to export, we have got to facilitate their ability to do it, and
we have got to represent them once they have gotten started.

I think it is sometimes forgotten in the shuffle that on the
motivation part, where we have got to get more medium- and
small-sized businesses into exporting, as our trading partners do,
because they have had to. They have had their backs against the
wall and this country hasn’t yet.

We have had 4,200 seminars on how to export to the United
States, or will have by the end of 1982 from the time we got in
here. We are going to have 1,500 of those in cities of 50,000 or less,
to encourage companies to look into exporting.

On facilitation, we are working between our SCS people, market
identification, credit sources, shipping documentation, and on pro-
motion we have literally some hundreds of promotional events, 250
overseas trade promotion events.

We have literally responded to over 750,000 overseas counseling
requests just in the year 1981. Qur seminars in the United States
have been attended by over 250,000 businessmen, so we are not
exactly rolling over and playing dead.

It could be better. It always could be more professional, but I
gelieve we have some very good people there to work with. I really

0.

Chairman GiBeoNs. What worries me is trying to cover a place
like China with three people. Probably 300 would get lost in that
country, it is so huge. I don’t know how we can accept budget levels
in this particular department at the level at which they have been
in the past, or even a 12-percent cut.

Now, is the Foreign Commercial Service scheduled for a 12-
percent cut?

86-595 O0—81——16
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Secretary BALDRIGE. We are not cutting the number of people,
and I don’t think we are cutting the budget itself except by a
minimum amount. No, we are not cutting the FCS.

Chairman GisBoNs. Good.

Mr. Frenzel?

Mr. FrENzZEL. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Thank you, Mr. Secretary, for your testimony before us.

Like the chairman, I am nervous about FCS. It has taken us a
long time to gear it up, and we are most anxious that those people
be out in the field doing field kind of work.

We have heard many stories, and we have taken that up with
other witnesses, about FCS personnel shuffling papers in embassies
or buried on third floors of embassies, and it was our intention in
creating this service that those people be actually out on the street,
working with American businessmen.

I hope—and as I said before, we have discussed this with other
witnesses—that somehow we can purge the diplomacy from those
folks who came over to FCS from the FSO Service, and that we can
get them on the street. That those who don’t have business experi-
ence be encouraged to learn something, and that we can somehow
separate their presence from embassies and get them into commer-
cial locations, where they will be a part of the business world
rather than the diplomatic world.

Is that your intention for this group as well?

Secretary BaLDRIGE. I can almost say amen to everything except
the last point you made, so let me address that first.

It is really not all bad to have a SCS man in the Embassy. In the
first place, the Commerce Department, I think, got the short end of
the stick in the negotiations with the State Department on the
transfer of this service because we got the people but we did not
get enough of the support services that had been allocated to them.

That is water over the dam, although we have addressed part of
that, but between having a FCS person in a separate building or
having them in the Embassy, sometimes it is a question of cost that
we can save that way, but I think more importantly it is a function
of the importance of that person now in the Embassy.

I am not really trying to be over optimistic when I say this. They
have a greater role to play now—and it is acknowledged—than
they did in the past.

I talked to Al Haig earlier on in the administration about the
role of the Ambassadors in promoting trade, and he agreed com-
pletely, sent out a telegram to all Ambassadors, stating that was
one of the most important parts of their job and it would be
included in their annual review at the end of the year.

I have had perhaps 18 outgoing Ambassadors come in and call
the Secretary of Commerce. I think that has been unheard of
because they want to know what they can do about trade.

Now, in the embassies abroad, the Foreign Service chief has
much better access to the Ambassadors because of this. They
belong on the country team. They are included in the meetings.

The places I have been, like Mexico, Japan, Korea, Romania,
Brussels, so far, I see no evidence at the top two or three spots of
any disagreements or inabilities to having the FCS have the full
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backing of the Embassy and be allowed to work in a professional
way.

I think there are still some cases down below. People just aren’t
used to it because of the past practice that maybe some of us will
have to take out a two by four to get fixed up, but I really don’t
think that is the problem that it was before this transfer in this
administration.

I can guarantee you that I look on those people as a strong part
of our team, and they are going to be backed up by me at the
highest level in case of any difficulty, but I am honestly not seeing
any at the highest level.

I might add—I don’t want to take too long on this point, but I
think it is important to all of us—the Foreign Commercial Service
officers that have come from the State Department have come not
just at their choice, but at our choice.

We have a very professional review panel consisting of people in
industry, as well as inside the Government, from the Commerce
Department, to review people who want to be Foreign Commerce
Service officers.

We do not take all the State Department people. We have had
well over 1,000 applications for these 162 jobs, and we are trying to
fill the new ones, where we can, with people with some real experi-
ence in business in the outside world.

We are having success in so doing. That is not to say that this
has shaped up yet, but we are beginning to see the feelings of pride
and esprit that we have to develop if this is going to be successful.

I don’t mean it is going to be done overnight, but I think by the
time our tenure is up, you are going to see an entirely different
feeling in that outfit. _

Mr. FrenzeL. I thank you for those statements. I don’t mean to
say that these people cannot be very helpful within the Embassies.
Obviously they have to report to somebody. I think the FAS has
been a good example of American salesmanship abroad in coopera-
tion with the Embassies.

I am delighted to hear of your progress with Secretary Haig and
the fact that the Ambassadors are coming to see you. I will be far
more impressed if they are still coming to see you 6 months from
now when they come back from their various trips returning to
State. If they are still coming to see you, I will feel a lot better
about the program.

I guess what I had reference to is in some countries, particularly
where we have trade problems, the Embassy is not the place where
the foreign national comes to complain about some practice of his
own government, which he would like to call to our attention.

Sometimes the workplace in the commercial area is an advan-
tage even if it is just a storefront. At any rate, I am delighted with
your attitude about the Service, and I know that with your person-
al encouragement, it will be moving along well.

Mr. Secretary, we are going to talk about licensing later in the
day with Secretary Brady, and I will have some specific comment
then, but I did want to say as long as you were here that in some
of the countries we visit, particularly the nonmarket economies of
Eastern Europe and China, there is no greater complaint by Ameri-
can businessmen than the licensing program under which they are
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operating, and the greatest complaint is uncertainty and delays in
completing applications dealt with.

I know that Larry will have some things to talk with us about,
and I don’t want to cramp his act, but I did want you to know that
that is a major complaint. As a matter of fact, it has been some
disappointment to me that we haven’t speeded up that process.

From a departmental standpoint, is this a matter of priority with
you to see that we do accelerate the decisionmaking process?

Sgcretary BaLprIiGE. Congressman, can I gently disagree with
you?

Mr. FrRENZEL. Sure. You can even do it vigorously.

Secretary BaLprige. Well, I will do it vigorously. It is not rlght
that we haven’t speeded up that process. That was one of the first
things I took on when I came here. I called Larry Brady in with
Lionel Olmer and said here is what we are going to do. We have
about 75,000 export licenses to go through a year, applications. We
were 2,200 behind—that was about the height—when we took over
in January and February.

I explicitly said that we should have that down to as close to zero
as we can practically—I mean, you will never get to exactly zero—
by2 (?ctober 30. It is now down to 38 cases behind, that is all, from
2,200.

So I think Assistant Secretary Brady, his Department, along
with a lot of others, have done an awful lot of work, put in a lot of
overtime on that and stirred a lot of pots to get it done.

One of the first things we did on the Cabinet Council of Com-
merce and Trade was take up East-West trade controls, not the
policy part of it as much as the implementation, because our busi-
nessmen were confused, our trading partners were confused, and
that helped to smoke out a lot of the interagency disagreements
that have been holding this up.

So, by a combination of overtime on our part in our Department,
by a combination of the cooperation of the Department of Defense
by—at our request—moving people, technical experts they had all
through the country into Washington to help us, and by them
putting in some overtime and by some clarification of the actual
policy on those controls and in the intragency group, which I won 't
say we resurrected, but we made it work since we have been in
ofﬁce, we were able to get those down from 2,200 to 38 cases, and 1
don’t think we can do much better than that.

Mr. FrenzEL. I thank you, and I will take another look at the
complaints that I have been receiving because it is hard to argue
with a record of improvement, such as you have just indicated. I
will take it up a little later.

Mr. Chairman, I have overrun my time.

Chairman GisBoNs. Mr. Brodhead.

Mr. BropHEAD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Secretary, I am most interested in the problems of the auto
industry, and I was severely critical of the last administration for
what I felt was their lack of attention to the trade problems and
other problems of the auto industry. Frankly, I think that the
record of this administration is somewhat better, but it is not
really what I would like it to be.
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Now, there are a number of problems. Perhaps the best illustra-
tion of them would be a letter that I just received from a constitu-
ent who is involved in the sale of ball bearings. He is trying to sell
to the Japanese industry. He says:

They are buying U.S. parts but only those parts they can’t get in Japan. In the
case of our tapered bearings which we manufacture, they have three suppliers in

Japan who they say are close and very good and regardless of price they prefer to
deal with the Japanese source.

Complaint No. 1 is that the Japanese really aren’t very much
interested in dealing with American suppliers.

The second complaint, which he makes in the same letter, is
that: “the Post Office Department has just let a contract for a huge
number of mail trucks,” and these trucks will contain Japanese
bearings. This sort of crystallizes. These aren’t the only such in-
stances, as you know, where the Japanese seem to be dragging
their feet in terms of reducing barriers to American products.

It is very difficult for us to get into Japan, and at the same time
our market is open. We are about the only country in the world
with a truly open market for automobiles, and automotive prod-
ucts, and supplies, and yet we find our Government really not
doing very much to insist on reciprocal treatment for our products.
And I want to reiterate I am not talking about this administration,
it is even more true, I think, of the last administration. But our
Government is not doing enough to see that at least in its own
purchasing that these concerns are given regard. How do you re-
spond to that?

Secretary BALDRIGE. I think you are right. Now, the way I view
this problem, after having spent 3 days in Japan last week, is as
follows. I delivered just the message you brought up, to Foreign
Minister Sonoda, Minister Tanaka, Finance Minister Michio Wa-
tanabe, Prime Minister Suzuki, and Minister Amioka, the Fishing-
Agriculture Minister.

We see in Japan, despite what they say, a much less open
market system than we have. We see specifically beside the items
you mentioned, that in the areas where we are competitive—I
mean really competitive—for one reason or another, that we are
getting shut out, and let’s just look at it in this context.

If you take the raw materials, and I don’t want to call them low
end of the scale, but from a high-technology viewpoint some of
them might be considered, but raw materials or semiprocessed
materials, here we have a lower price than they do, and certainly
the same quality, petrochemical feedstocks, agricultural materials,
soda ash, we can land soda ash in Japan for less than $200 a ton,
and they pay almost $300 a ton for it; phosphate fertilizers.

So at the raw material end we get shut out of there through one
reason or another. Now, there are many different reasons. Some of
them are just industry buying practices like the one you men-
tioned. But we lost a chance to export where we are definitely
lower priced.

At the higher end of the high-technology scale, when you get into
computer software, data processing services, items like message
switching for electronic mail, the whole new global information
services area, high-technology medical equipment, pharmaceuti-
cals—just let me pick those last two. High-technology medical
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equipment we lead the world in. It is the standard. It has been
proven safe by all of our standards and many other places through-
out the world.

In Japan, they will take our high-technology medical equipment
and test it for their own standards for 2 years, and it is no coinci-
dence at the end of that 2 years the Japanese segment of that
industry has usually been able to catch up on the technology of the
new product or whatever it is, so that once again we are shut out.
We don’t have the headstart.

Pharmaceuticals the same way, 2 years of testing in some cases
while they are developing the same thing. So this covers the spec-
trum, and in the middle, where we are not competitive perhaps on
some items, that is what the Japanese say. We are not trying hard
enough. We don’t spend enough time at it. Qur quality or our price
is wrong. That is why you are not exporting to us. But within the
area we can, we get shut out.

Mr. BropHEAD. Yes; I don’t know whether this man is correct or
not, but if he is correct, what he is saying is that they are capable
of shipping ball bearings to Japan from Atlanta, and they can offer
a lower price than this large Japanese auto company can get from
firms right there in Japan, but yet the U.S. firm can’t even bid.
But by the same token the U.S. Government is buying products
containing a significant level of foreign content.

Your Department now has the responsibility for implementing
and coordinating the Reagan auto program, as I understand it. It
has been switched to your Department from the Department of
Transportation. I would urge you, Mr. Secretary, to take a look at
two things: To first of all take a look at the health of the auto
industry. I think that it is really hard for many Americans to
believe that this giant industry is in the severe difficulty that it is
in, but they are going to lose, as you know, in the current quarter
over $1 billion at the same time when everyone agrees what they
have to do is down size their cars and employ new technology, such
as robotics. Everyone agrees that this is what they have to do. But
I don’t know how anyone can expect them to do this when they are
losing $1 billion a quarter. That is one thing to consider.

While the administration has taken some steps to assist the auto
industry, and I am pleased with the steps that have been taken, I
don’t think you are doing anywhere far enough. I don’t sense that
there is the understanding within the administration of how deep
and how severe the problem is.

The second thing that I think you need to look at is in those few
areas where the American auto industry is competitive in the
world market, the degree to which they are discriminated against
and shut out of those markets by things like local content require-
ments, prohibitive tariffs, and quotas.

To a degree, there is an incentive for them to get parts from
overseas, but now they are being forced to do that, for example, by
Mexico and Brazil, and a whole list of other countries. If one traces
where parts are being produced today, a tremendous number are
coming from these countries which have local content require-
ments and export requirements, that is, where it is illegal to
import into those countries any more than one exports from there.
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We are sitting here with an open market and we are giving up
25 to 30 percent of our market to these countries, and we really
have no effective restrictions. If one compares, for example, what
one has to do to bring a Japanese car into the United States, the
paperwork and testing requirements, with what one has to do to
bring an American car into Japan, the price is practically doubled,
and there is a stack of paper this high with respect to each car. Yet
we have, I think, in an idealistic sense, a sensible and a reasonable
policy. We have a truly open market, but we are not being respond-
ed to that way. And it seems to me that our Government really
ought to be a lot more aggressive.

We should go in one of two directions: Either we are going to
have a truly open market in automobile parts and supplies, or
every country is going to protect its industry. Now we have the
worst of both worlds: We have an open market in the United States
and every other country is protecting its domestic industry. The
problem with respect to suppliers is even greater than it is for the
producers of the finished product.

That is very often, very frankly, we are not all that competitive
in our finished product. It is too big, but we certainly are competi-
tive in a whole range of parts and supplies that go into cars, and
we are being shut out of those markets.

As I think you are aware, in terms of American jobs, that is a
bigger factor than the costs of assembly. There are three jobs as
suppliers for every job with one of the companies that manufac-
tures cars.

I apologize to you for giving you a lecture. I think if you will
understand that my district is in the city of Detroit in the State of
Michigan, you will understand the concern I have about this, and
again I want to say I am pleased with the initial steps that this
administration has taken. However, I think you need to deepen—I
don’'t know about you personally but I think this administration
needs to deepen—its understanding of the problem, and I think it
needs to be a lot more aggressive in pursuing solutions, and I
certainly think that you will find me and the other members of
this committee most cooperative with you in that effort.

Secretary BALDRIGE. Mr. Congressman, I think the administra-
tion’s position is that we do not want to erect tariff barriers for
imports into this country. What we want is for other countries to
open up their markets the same way we are opening ours up, so
there will be fair competition worldwide.

Just mentioning Japan once more, that is the message I definite-
ly gave. It is not just a question of Congress being interested. It is a
question of the administration being interested, and if we have
open markets and Japan doesn’t, there is going to be a collision
coming somewhere down the road, that is very clear.

In a lot of the other countries that you mentioned, our auto-
mobile industry does not have the problem of market access but
rather they must get back on a competitive track, and until then,
it is going to be difficult. Until they get small cars, they just can’t
export large ones. We are going to have some troubles. The local
content that you mentioned is something we are continually trying
to negotiate on. This is a difficult program for us, because some of
the developing countries have equally severe problems in their
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businesses. But local content beyond a certain point is just not the
way to handle those problems, so I have to agree with you on that
point.

The automobile industry is really suffering in its ability to come
back because of our domestic economy. It is difficult for them to
make the capital investments that they planned. If they do, and I
think in most cases they will be able to, we will see a competitive
industry again. But the fact is we just weren’t competitive for
awhile. We can’t solve all those problems for them as a govern-
ment, but we can open up markets, as we should, to make sure we
get the same equal opportunity that other countries have in
coming here.

Mr. BropHEAD. If I might just briefly, Mr. Chairman, I thank you
for that statement, Mr. Secretary. But I think that what I urge you
to do is to, in your capacity as coordinating the administration’s
program in this regard, take a look at the problem facing the
industry. That is, what is it that they have to spend in order to
become competitive? Then ask yourself, in the face of the prevail-
ing interest rates, and in the face of their current profit and loss
statements, is it reasonable to expect that they are going to be able
to come up with that money?

I don’t know that you can answer that question in the affirma-
tive. I don’t know that you can definitely answer it in the negative.
It is very difficult. The path is not clear for Ford and Chrysler at
least, maybe General Motors, but it isn’t clear for Ford and
Chrysler. It seems to me that they are going to be able to come up
with the money that they need.

If you look at their financial statements, you have got to ask
where are they going to get the money?

Secretary BALDRIGE. They are going to have to come up with
reasonable prices that are competitive worldwide, and part of that,
aside from the raw material cost, is certainly the cost of labor. We
have got real problems compared to the rest of the world in that
area.

I think the cost to make a Japanese car now, and you can argue
about whether it is an innate labor advantage of $600 or $1,000—it
is hard to prove which one, means we have to see some cooperation
between all companies in their wage negotiations. I don’t mean
between the companies themselves but between the companies and
the unions in their wage structures if that problem is ever going to
get solved. I think that is as plain as anything. That is one of the
problems.

Another problem, of course, is the way the economy is running
now, and the ability to generate cash flow. But there is no question
that our industry has to be competitive if we are going to export.
We can’t achieve this by erecting import barriers on cars. That
would start off a chain worldwide on a bunch of other things. I
don’t think that is what you were suggesting.

Mr. BrobpHEAD. No; I guess what I am suggesting is that the
administration, I thlnk needs to do some realistic thinking about
what needs to be done in order to get this industry back on its feet,
and not just assume that it is going to happen, and the other thing,
getting back to what I was first talking about, what I am suggest-
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ing to you is that in addition to the carrot you ought to think about
using the stick. That is, if it is in fact true.

And you know this is just an allegation in a letter received by a
Congressman at this point from my constituent that his company
in fact has a lower price on ball bearings and they can’t bid on the
contract. If that is the case, then it would seem to me that it would
be the job of the administration to say: “OK, if that is what you are
going to do, then we are not buying any Japanese bearings.”

We may say this is going to be our policy 3 months from now or
something like that, not that we want that to be the outcome. 1
don’t want more and more restrictions all the time, but what I am
suggesting to you is we are being played for suckers here.

They are closing up their markets to us and we are not doing
anything about it. I think they will respond to a strong stand on
the part of the administration, and I am not criticizing, I want to
make it very clear. I think even less was done in the last adminis-
tration. I think you are beginning to do some things like this in
this administration, but I think you are not doing anywhere
enough and I just want to urge you to do more of this.

Secretary BALDRIGE. I would like to. I wish you would send me a
copy of that letter, because one of the reasons for my going to
Japan was to let them know the seriousness of just the kind of
problems you are talking about, and ask for the highest level of
cooperation at the highest level of the Japanese Government to
solve this through the ability of two of the committee meetings
that we are going to have with the Japanese in December.

One is the newly formed United States-Japan Trade Subgroup of
our subcabinet consultation. USTR will be chairing the U.S. inter-
agency delegation to the first meeting of the group. The other is
the Trade Facilitation Committee, between MITI and the U.S. Com-
merce Department. In the latter committee we are taking up spe-
cific cases like the one you mentioned on ball bearings. We have a
whole list of these cases to go through, and we also hope to be
considering sectoral issues. We are covering a broad range of trade
problems, and I would like to have the specifics of that problem
{:)hat you just mentioned too, because we will take it up in Decem-

er.

Mr. BrRopHEAD. Good. I will be in contact with my constituent
and ask him to write it up, and I will have it forwarded to you. 1
thank you for your attention to it.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman GiBBons. Thank you, sir. Mr. Schulze.

Mr. ScHurze. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Secretary, I would like to thank you for your testimony thus
far. I wonder, Mr. Secretary, if you would take a minute or two to
address the steel situation. I am sure yon are aware of the trau-
matic increase in imports, as well as the dumping cases. I am one
who strongly believes in vigorous enforcement. I think that you
agree with that, and I would just like to have your views on the
current situation and where we are going and what we could do
about it. '

Secretary BALDRIGE. We have taken a strong stand on that area.
1 think the steel companies would also make the same statement.
We initiated in June antidumping investigations on some steel
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products from Japan, Korea, and Yugoslavia. We are monitoring
surges now in some carbon steel products. We have seen—and this
has received a great deal of publicity, but not the same degree of
understanding. We have seen a surge in imports, particularly in
the month of August.

I think to put that in perspective, Mr. Congressman, the imports
until August, with the exception of semifinished shapes, and oil
country tubing, we are actually somewhat below what they were
last year, and last year was a very depressed year for imports into
the United States. The reason I made those exceptions is that we
cannot make enough oil country tubing because of the increase in
drilling going on.

We are building new plants now but a lot of that importing is
done by U.S. steel companies in order to take care of their custom-
ers, and hold their potential future customers. Semifinished shapes
are coming in from Canada mostly, because some of the steel
companies don’t want to open up old open hearths. Those are in
their self-interest, and they would say that. It is the other imports
that have been bothering them.

They went up in August, and there were clearly for the first
time, for the first time in August, a great many below TPM price
imports, possibly from the European countries. I have had several
talks with the European Communities, Vice President Davignon,
who is responsible for that as well as with the American steel
industry. We have seen in September a diminution of that. Imports
are down 25 percent in September, 21 percent maybe in September
from August.

If you took the first 9 months including September, and left out
the semifinished shapes and oil country tubing, imports are up 2
percent.

Now, that does not mean that we can look on that lightly,
because the TPM prices were violated on a very heavy scale in
August, and to some extent still in September. We are willing,
ready to self-initiate dumping and countervailing duty -cases
against the countries that came in below TPM, as soon as the
American steel industry tells us that they can show proof of injury.
There is no use in putting in a case unless you can prove injury, as
you know.

They know our feeling on that. That has been a steady, constant
feeling, and to the best of my knowledge, they have no complaints
about the way this administration has handled this particular
problem.

A lot of people seem to think that the TPM is just an automatic
penalty mechanism where if something comes in below TPM you
can immediately slap a countervailing duty on or slap a dumping
case on, and you can’t. The TPM is a monitoring system that
indicates when the system is in trouble. Then you have to investi-
gate, and if you think you can prove injury, then you can go ahead
with the cases, and as soon as the steel industry tells us they can,
we will self-initiate, and that may be very quickly. That may be at
the end of this month, but that is up to them, and I meet with
them next week on that.

Mr. Scuurze. I would, quite frankly, hope that that would
happen. I think, as you referred earlier to the mule and the 2 by 4,
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I think you can talk to our ambassadors. I think we need to use
that 2 by 4.

Secretary BALDRIGE. I didn’t mean the ambassadors, I meant
some of the staff down here. Please, don’t get me in trouble with
the ambassadors.

Mr. ScHuLze. My concern in this area, and I am sure yours also,
is that many of our domestic steel producers have made plans for
capital expansion and expenditures in the billions of dollars, and I
understand that they are now reconsidering a lot of these pro-
grams. I would hope that you would be as vigorous in enforcement
as it is absolutely possible to do, and even lean over backwards in
using that 2 by 4.

Secretary BALDRIGE. I will guarantee you we will, Mr. Congress-
man. The steel industry knows that too.

I have told them that. The TPM is not just a U.S. Government
regulation kind of a thing. We have no vested interest in keeping
the TPM. I mean, it is not a matter of national interest in that
sense as a unilateral policy. It was put in because the urban
communities, the Japanese and the American industry all wanted
this as a vehicle that would work, and as soon as any one of the
three don’t want it, it is going to fall. My opinion is they all still do
want it, and there is a chance to stop this below TPM stuff so that
the American industry is satisfied. But if not, we will just go ahead
and let it blow.

Mr. FRENzEL. Will the gentleman yield?

Mr. ScruLze. I will be happy to yield to the gentleman.

Mr. FRENZEL. I am inclined to agree with Congressman Schulze. 1
would be happier if we took some of these cases and prosecuted
them to the fullest extent, rather than simply warned our trading
partners from time to time and say, hey, ease up, and then they
ease up a little bit.

I think if our country has confidence in our antidumping and
countervailing laws, we have got to make them now and then when
everybody in the world knows that dumping does take place in
international commerce. We do it ourselves, and so I hope if you
get a case you will prosecute it vigorously, because those of us who
are the strongest believers in free trade are also the strongest
believers in making the laws that govern free trade work, and
applying them so that our trading partners know we are not afraid
to make them work.

Secretary BALDRIGE. Yes, sir. I am on record with the steel
industry since last February. As soon as they tell us they can prove
injury, we will self-initiate, no doubt about it.

Mr. Scaurze. I might even go a little further, Mr. Secretary, and
recommend that you keep your eyes open whether it is in steel or
in some other area. I think it is time to see that we use a 2 by 4
somewhere so that our trading partners know that we are going to
vigorously enforce the laws which are on the books.

Thank you very much. I yield back the balance of my time.

Chairman GieBoNs. Mr. Hance.

Mr. HANCE. Mr. Secretary, thank you very much for being here.
In your discussion with the Japanese and the FEC, you talked
about the need to open their markets, but did you have any specific
discussions concerning agricultural commodities?



246

Secretary BALDRIGE. I mentioned them but I didn’t get into the
specifics because Secretary Block had just been over there 2 weeks
before, and I will guarantee you he went into specifics. They heard
that message.

I talked more about industrial services area, but the overall,
whether it was agricultural services or manufactured goods, that
this was a problem, our growing trade imbalance that had been
around the $8 billion area in 1979, $10 billion in 1980, $15 to $16
billion in 1981, $18 to $20 billion next year, that that was some-
thing that needed the attention of the Japanese Government at the
highest level. Frankly, in my opinion, even if we could remove all
formal trade barriers, there would still be the significant problem
of informal barriers to foreign goods. For instance, there would still
be a cultural loyalty built up in that island country since the
recovery period after World War II, where it is indeed viewed by
their industry as patriotic to buy Japanese. And we have all kinds
of industrial associations to contend with, even if all the barriers
were removed.

That is why I was trying to get the point across that we need the
Japanese Government’s help on this, for their own sake, because if
that trend of imbalance continues, we will be heading for trouble
in our bilateral relations with them.

Mr. HANCE. Mr. Secretary, a farmer in Texas told me about an
idea he had on trade, and I told him I would bring this up with the
administration. I couldn’t answer his question exactly. It is a
simple question and seems to be a fairly good idea. He said that we
should examine the tariffs which Japan places on United States
beef, wheat, and other agricultural commodities, and calculate
what percentage this tariff is of the total price of the product. The
United States should then place a similar proportional tariff on
automobiles, televisions, and radios coming in from Japan. His
theory was that if this percentage was high, then the Japanese
would certainly drop the tariffs on agricultural commodities.

I told him I would pass this idea along. Do you have any re-
sponse to this proposal?

Secretary BALDRIGE. Every nation looks on their agricultural
sector as a different specific example. Japan, frankly, feels that it
is an island, they are not self-sufficient in food. They used to be,
and they are not anymore. They feel it is one of their primary
goals to protect that part of their economy.

There is no way the Japanese farmer is going to produce beef,
citrus, rice, and so forth, as inexpensively as we can and ship it
over there. But they don’t want to see their farming sector totally
eliminated.

Now, if we took the same view throughout our entire industrial
sector, we would see a return to high trade barriers that in our
opinion would move right around the world. It would hurt the
American farmer more, because as tariffs were raised around the
world there would be many places where he would not be able to
export.

Our farm export sector now is a tremendous sector. The percent-
age of farms or the percentage of land that is used in agricultural
exports is a very large one. I don’t remember exactly what it is, but
it is somewhere around 30 percent, I think, and we feel that would
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start off a kind of a worldwide trade war that could hurt the
farmer a lot more than it could help him on just the one problem
with Japan.

Mr. Hance. Do you think, then, that the Japanese, rather than
lowering any of their agricultural import tariffs, would just keep
them high and quit selling as many automobiles and televisions
and radios here?

Secretary BALDRIGE. It is less a question of tariffs in the agricul-
tural sector, and more an issue of quotas. They just won't let you
ship more than a specified amount of beaf annually. You just can’t
ship anymore, never mind what the tariff is. Their beef, as you
know, is $30 a pound. -

That farmer down in Texas, with a 40-percent tariff barrier, is
still price competitive. It is the actual import quota, used to save
Japanese farmers, that is the barrier. But in the meantime our
farmers have freedom to ship to so many other countries that I
think we would be shooting ourselves in the foot by beginning some
kind of trade war over this issue. There are just some inequities
that you have to put up with, because Japan wants to keep its
farm sector going.

We are trying and talking and talking and I think we will have
some success, but it is going to be limited success, in opening up
the beef and citrus markets. I don’t think it is going to be outstand-
ing by any means.

Mr. Hanci. Thank you very much. I have no other questions.

Chairman GiBBoNS. Mr. Secretary, I am worried about the self-
initiated cases. When we self-initiate a case, we are acting as both
judge and jury—excuse me, both judge and prosecutor. And I
wonder why do the steel companies really need us to self-initiate
the case? Aren’t they capable of initiating a case if they have one?

Secretary BALDRIGE. Yes. The jury in this case has to affect the
ITC, I guess you could put it in that sense as to whether there was
an injury.

Chairman GiBBoNs. I certainly want the industry to see prompt
and proper justice, but I don’t know that industry must depend
upon us to initiate its cases. I can see us initiating a case where a
small person has no Washington staff and has no Washington
lawyers and perhaps doesn’t even have an economist on the staff.
But I would imagine that a steel company, at least most of the
companies that I have come in contact with, are thoroughly capa-
ble of initiating their own cases.

I don’t know why we have to go out and solicit them to do it. I
think it puts us as a government in a rather untenable position.
We in effect are either saying we don’t know what we are talking
about, and I am sure that is not the case, or that we have already
made up our mind. I would think that the public perception of
what was happening would be better if the steel companies were
told, well, if you have got a case, certainly we are here to listen to
it and to give you prompt and honest treatment of your evidence.
But I don’t know whether it is good public policy to go out and
drum up controversies where you have got to be the judge in effect
as far as a decision is concerned.

Secretary BALDRIGE. Do you mean good international public
policy or domestic public policy?
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Chairman GieBoNs. Well, it wouldn’t be public policy with me, to
be real blunt. I don’t know why the steel companies aren’t capable
of doing their own legal work and their own economic work.

Secretary BALDRIGE. Well, they are.

Chairman GiBBoNs. Why do we have to go out then and dig up
business and say we are going to self-initiate a case if you tell us
you can prove Injury? That looks like, to me, you have already
made up your mind.

Secretary BALDRIGE. No, sir. I hold no brief about the Commerce
Department doing it instead of the steel industry or in lieu of——

Chairman GiBeoNs. I am saying I do. I object to the Commerce
Department bringing a case for the steel industry. I think the steel
industry is perfectly capable of bringing its own case. I want you to
know it is against my personal public policy. I don’t think the
Commerce Department ought to be going out for a perfectly capa-
ble American industry initiating a case. Now I look with disfavor
on it.

I have got some poor little company down there maybe picking
pecans or something like that. Maybe that is a different question.
But one of the largest industries in America which has, by and
large, been profitable, I think it can bring its own case if it has got
a case.

?ecretary BALDRIGE. I don’t have that as a fixed point of our
policy.

Chairman GiBBoNSs. Good; we are going to get along better now, I
can see that.

Secretary BALDRIGE. I want to reserve—before we start getting
along too good, Mr. Chairman—I want to reserve my judgment on
that, because you are right to bring that question up, but it is a
more complicated question. There are some other facets to it that I
would like to reflect on before I—

Chairman GiBBoNs. I would like for you to reflect on it, because I
think our Government ought to move expeditiously. One reason we
moved countervailing duty cases and dumping cases over there to
your department was because we weren’t satisfied with the way
the Treasury was moving on them. We make you the judge and the
juror of many of the decisions involved, and I want to see you move
fast. But it just kind of shocks my sense of fairness if the judge and
the juror is also going to be the prosecutor in the case.

Now on export performance, and local content requirements by
other nations, I am very disturbed about that. I think it is an
unfair trade practice, and I don’t know why some of our own local
producers don’t complain about it and bring those cases to you or
to the proper forum for decisionmaking.

How serious are these export performance local content require-
ments in your estimation?

Secretary BALDRIGE. I have to give you what I can’t call an
official opinion, because I learned this before I got with the U.S.
Government, so you can call it a hybrid opinion, Mr. Chairman. An
American company going into a foreign country usually knows the
content laws before he goes down there, A.

B, he usually gets something in return for putting up with the
content laws, and so he goes in with his eyes open and decides to
do it. That is why we don’t hear more kicks from the companies
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themselves, besides some mild complamt I mean, they don’t come
up, we don’t see a lot of them coming up, or any that I know of
c}(immg up and saying that we should sue or do something like
that.

Now, once they are down there ensconced, you see some coun-
tries raise the content, the local content requirements, and that
does create some real problems. It is a trend that I don’t like to see
any more than you, but most of the companies put up with it
because they have a way to make a profit and still are able to do it.

Chairman GiBBONS. I can understand that the local company or
the company that has gone into a country is kind of in an embar-
rassed position if they complain, but I would imagine their compe-
tition would complain in this country or around the world. It looks
to me like it is a classical well-disguised anticompetitive, unfair
trade practice.

If an automotive company in order to get into Mexico, for in-
stance, is required to export a part of its product to this country or
to the Third World, that is in effect sort of a silent, or not even a
silent, some kind of quid pro quo for their performance. And 1
would think that that meets the test of a classical unfair trade
practice.

They are getting some kind of reward or subsidy for, in effect,
pushing a product in another market, and that, to me, if you are
going to self-initiate cases, it seems like, to me, that would be the
place to self-initiate a case, because you have got someone who is
really conspiring against other people, perhaps even an American
concern conspiring with a foreign government to dominate a
market or to commit an anticompetitive practice in a market.

Secretary BALDRIGE. There are cases around the world where
U.S. companies, companies from many other of our major competi-
tors, have gone into the country with a certain product line, and if
they go in and start when there isn’t enough business and go
through some tough years, the country, the host country, guaran-
tees that they will close the borders and not let any other company
move in and compete with them.

That comes under the same definition, but that has been going
on for years, and companies that moved in under those bases, of
course, can always change. I have got to agree with you, Mr.
Chairman. We do. When we were in Mexico, Bill Brock and I, we
spent a lot of time on content, had the automobile people there,
listened to what they had to say about it, talked to the Mex1can
Government about it. We are still talking to them about it. I can’t
judge the success it will have, but that is part of our negotiating
procialss with them, because we think the last move was far too
much.

Chairman GiBBons. Mr. Secretary, I have got some other ques-
tions that I will submit in writing to you, because I don’t want to
take too much more time, and I know other Members have further
questions they would like to submit in writing.

[The questions and answers follow:]

Question. Various separate parts of the Commerce Department deal with export
development, the FCS, U.S. Commercial field offices, industrial analysis, private
sector liaison, and trade policy. Would you describe how these various interrelated
functions are coordinated and information flows to ensure (1) an overall export
program here and overseas which maximizes U.S. business opportunities and (2)
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trade Q)olicy development in Commerce which reflects input from these various
sources?

Answer. Coordination of the Department’s export development activities is a
primary concern of mine and is essentially the responsibility of ITA senior manage-
ment. Programs are coordinated and information exchanges facilitated among in-
dustry and government groups through a long-range planning system, the Depart-
ment’'s Management-by-Objectives (MBO) program, the Industry Sector Advisory
Program, and ITA’s working relationships with the National Governors Association
and private sector organizations.

As part of its planning process ITA: (1) gathers information on overseas markets
and domestic industry export potential; (2) develops short- and long-term industry
targeted export assistance programs; (3) reviews policy issues, such as the Multilat-
eral Trade Negotiations, which affect U.S. firms’ market opportunities; and (4)
determines the level of resources required to assist specific target industries or U.S.
firms in general.

The efforts of the Department are measured against milestones set forth by a
formal MBO process. This ensures that each unit pursues common objectives. Fur-
ther, it ensures that plans and workload commitments are coordinated across all
operating units, e.g., the Foreign Commercial Service, U.S. Commercial Service,
Trade Development, and International Economic Policy.

Overseas and domestic export development activities are coordinated through a
mechanism called the Post Commercial Action Plan (PCAP). The PCAP brings
together the export development workload and program goals of all government
agencies and requires an annual assessment of program activities, priorities and
accomplishments. Exchange of information among operating units and the private
sector occurs through industry consultation meetings which relay industry needs to
my managers; industry liaison activities with trade associations; a formal liaison
program with the National Governors Association, state development agencies and
District Export Councils; and through a variety of programs which collect and
distribute information, e.g., trade statistics, and market research.

The Department targets approximately half of its resources on industries with
high export potential. This focus on specific industries in terms of trade develop-
ment programs provides an additional mechanism for coordinating our program
activities. The balance of our resources are reserved to assist firms in non-target
industries that request assistance to export.

With respect to trade policy, the Trade Policy Committee structure is the primary
interagency mechanism for policy coordination. We are an active participant in this
process with the U.S. Trade Representative, the Department of State, and other
interested agencies. Before the Department takes a position on an issue, every effort
is made to ensure that our internal resources and expertise are fully utilized.
Papers are circulated internally for comments and appropriate individuals partici-
pate in inter- and intra-agency meetings as necessary.

The Industry Sector Advisory Program is the primary mechanism for coordinat-
ing our trade policy responsibilities with the private sector. Meetings of the commit-
tees established under this program are attended, as appropriate, by representatives
from the various functional areas within the Commerce Department as well as by
representatives from other agencies. This forum represents an important opportuni-
ty for industry representatives and government officials to exchange views and seek
solutions to important policy issues.

Question. What do you anticipate will be the effects of the overall 12 percent fiscal
year 1982 budget cut on operations of the International Trade Administration and
what specific functions and activities will be cut and by how much?

Answer. The 12 percent budget cut, as reflected in ITA’s fiscal year 1982 revised
Senate Appeal document would (1) eliminate a program increase which would

rmit the Foreign Commercial Service to increase current resources by 30 positicns
and $1,100,000 to provide an active tourism support service and (2) limit the Trade
Adjustment Assistance program’s ability to assist firms which have been adversely
impacted by imports by reducing direct loans by $16,243,000 to $13,757,000 and by
reducing loan guarantee authority by $7,500,000 to $35,000,000. The remaining
combined direct loans and loan guarantees should provide a capability of helping
between 50-60 firms, as opposed to about &0 firms.

Question. What will be the impact of the 12 percent budget reduction on the
export promotion program? For example, an October 20 article in the Daily News
Record states that the $2 million textile-apparel export promotion program may be
cut. What is your view on reducing government export promotion costs, particularly
f(;r }t;rag(ilgajrs and trade missions, by having the participating industries foot more
of the bill?
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Answer. As reflected in ITA’s fiscal year 1982 revised Senate appeal document,
the 12 percent reduction would have no impact on ITA’s export promotion costs. In
addition, ITA does not intend to cut the $2 million textile-apparel export promotion
program.

With respect to reducing government export promotion costs by having industry
foot more of the bill, ITA is always seeking to minimize government costs while at
the same time maintaining a viable program that is supportive of small and
medium-sized businesses interested in entering the export market. ITA is currently
reviewing its present fee structure in the interest of making trade promotion
programs more self supporting.

Question. Various separate parts of the Commerce Department deal with export
development, the FCS, U.S. Commercial field offices, industrial analysis, private
sector liaison, and trade policy. Would you describe how these various interrelated
functions are coordinated and information flows to ensure an overall export pro-
gram here and overseas which maximizes U.S. business opportunities?

Answer. The Department has instituted a Management by Objectives (MBO)
process to unify trade promotion (and other) activities. This approach allows us to
identify our major objectives, ensures that all units focus their activities on them,
and provides a means for assessing progress.

For its trade development functions, ITA uses a planning system which involves
ITA units worldwide to direct Department resources and activities to industries and
countries where U.S. business opportunities are greatest. This system permits maxi-
mum decentralization of program responsibilities while ensuring central manage-
ment control and program coordination.

Coordination of overseas and domestic functions is achieved through the Post
Commercial Action Plan (PCAP). Domestic USDOC units, other federal agencies,
and overseas posts identify the trade promotion activities that will be provided
overseas and supported domestically during a fiscal year. This approach resolves
any questions about work priorities and responsibilities, and ensures that overseas
and domestic program goals and required resources levels are properly matched.

Exchange of information among operating units and the private sector occurs
through industry consultation meetings which relay industry needs to ITA manag-
ers; industry liaison activities with trade associations; through special working
groups (e.g. MTN Implementation Task Force); and through a variety of programs
which collect and distribute trade statistics, market research and other information.
TD also has a formal liaison program with the National Governors Association,
state development agencies, and District Export Councils to ensure a two-way ex-
change of information between Federal and non-Federal groups and close coordina-
tion of activities.

Question. What do you view as the role of the U.S.-Japan Trade Facilitation
Committee (TFC) in relation to other bilateral groups with Japan headed by State
and by USTR and in relation to the USTR overall coordinating and negotiating
function?

Answer. The principal role of the TFC is to identify and resolve non-tariff access
problems of U.S. firms, industry associations, and industry sectors in the Japanese
market. Through its case work, the TFC can also identify generic problems suggest-
ed by the pattern of individua! complaints. The TFC works closely with other
agencies to develop its cases. The TFC thus plays a unique role in the total U.S.
government effort to improve U.S. access to the Japanese economy. TFC results are
coordinated with the multi-agency approach through the Japan Trade Subgroup, led
})g'd lbIS'IS‘R, which in turn reports to the U.S.-Japan Economic Subcabinet meetings,

y State.

Question. Would you tell us about what issues were discussed and the results of
your discussions with the Japanese under the Trade Facilitation Committee during
your recent trip? What are the next steps in terms of the agenda and our objectives
for the December and future meetings?

Answer. The Department of Commerce has recently presented to the Japanese
side of the Trade Facilitation Committee (TFC) seven new market access cases on
behalf of U.S. firms. During my trip to Japan I urged the Japanese to investigate
these cases and suggested possible solutions at the December 8 meeting of the TFC
Senior Review Committee in Tokyo.

At the December 8 TFC meeting, we discussed seven recently-submitted market
access cases on behalf of U.S. firms, steps which the Japanese Government is taking
to implement MITI Minister Tanaka's July 14 import promotion statement; the
second follow-up report on results of the September 1980 Japanese auto parts
buying mission to the U.S.; and procedures the TFC might follow to bring about the
most expeditious resolution of TFC cases.
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A meeting of the TFC Executive Council is scheduled for the spring of 1982. One
of the topics we wish to discuss at this meeting concerns U.S. industry sectors which
are competitive internationally, but whose share of the Japanese market is marked-
ly lower than in other comparable world markets. We have identified and have
begun work on three sectors: medical equipment, soda ash, and paper. We plan to
work with Japan to determine the reasons for these and other competitive U.S.
industries’ relatively low share of the Japanese market, and to determine ways to
increase U.S. access in these sectors.

Question. You testified that in addition to government barriers there are private
barriers in Japan, that is, private Japanese companies do not choose to purchase a
U.S. product even if it is better and cheaper. Since your position is that the U.S.
Government should “aim to eliminate government barriers to U.S. exports,” what
do we do about these private barriers that may be equally important?

Answer. Ingrained practices of the Japanese private sector discourage imports.
Chief among these is the close relationship many Japanese buyers have with their
traditional Japanese suppliers. At the November 1980 meeting of the U.S.-Japan
Trade Facilitation Committee (TFC) in Tokyo, agreement was reached that such
issues could be dealt with in the TFC forum. The TFC follow-up to the Japanese
auto parts buying mission of September 1980 is designed in part to help increase
U.S. sales of auto parts to Japan in the face of close traditional relationships
between Japanese automobile manufacturers and their family of suppliers.

During my visit to Japan, I met with the President of the Keidanren, and
addressed a high-level meeting of Japanese financial executives. In each instance, I
pointed out that these private sector biases were an important factor in keeping
down Japanese imports of manufacturers and making it impossible for us to reverse
our deficit. Under the Strauss-Ushiba agreement, the TFC has a designated role in
expanding Japanese manufactured imports and we have agreed to work with our
MII;H counterparts in implementing Minister Tanaka’s policy statement on this
subject. R

Question. Do (you) feel that U.S. high technology industries are on par with
Japanese treatment of their high technology industries with respect to tax policy
and support of R&D? If not, what do you propose?

Answer. Japanese tax programs provide a complicated range of incentives and
support for high technology development, making it very difficult to draw direct
parallels. On balance I believe that Japan’s high technology sectors still enjoy
greater R&D support and a lighter tax gurden than prevail in the U.S. The tax
treatment afforded new R&D spending and capital equipment under the Adminis-
tration’s Economic Recovery Program does promise improved American competitive-
ness as its benefits are gradually realized. It does not, however, compensate for the
direct support given by the Japanese Government as well as the subtler forms of tax
avoidance and public financial assistance.

Let me give some examples of Japanese Government activities. Japan’s Ministry
of International Trade and Industry (MITI) sponsored the recent international con-
ference on the fifth-generation computer and is considering setting up a new soft-
ware institute to help computer companies overcome their programming shortcom-
ings. MITI and other Japanese Government agencies directly fund substantial re-
search activities in high technology areas. MITI is estimated to have loaned private
industry, through the agency for Industrial Science and Technology, nearly $500
million in 1981 in no-interest loans. An additional $25 million was made available
through MITT’s Association of Information Processing Companies. The Development
Bank of Japan (DBJ) in 1981 reportedly lent the computer and electronics industry
$220 million and other high technology industries a further $210 million. DBJ loans
carry a preferential interest rate.

All this means that the United States Government needs to take a closer look at
the international environment in which U.S. high technology industries must oper-
ate. I have formed a Task Force to undertake this project with the goal of identify-
ing a set of U.S. Government policies that will provide maximum support to our
high-tech firms consistent with economic realities and the appropriate relationship
between government and industry in the United States. This Task Force will submit
its report within the next few months, and I will be prepared at that time to answer
your questions on what proposals I consider appropriate to support the efforts of
U.S. high technology firms to improve their competitive position.

In the meantime, we intend to press these issues in our bilateral discussions with
Japanese officials, and expect to secure improved access on a product-by-product
b